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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HERBALIFE LTD.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

  December 31,   June 30,  
  2005   2006  
     (Unaudited)  
  (In thousands, except  
  share amounts)  

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 88,248  $ 169,312 
Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,678 (2005) and $5,357 (2006)   37,266   48,365 
Inventories   109,785   110,146 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   40,667   44,783 
Deferred income taxes   23,585   20,150 

Total current assets   299,551   392,756 
Property, at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $30,819 (2005) and $44,205 (2006)   64,946   77,846 
Deferred compensation plan assets   13,149   15,987 
Other assets   7,510   10,542 
Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization of $3,749 (2005) and $4,233 (2006)   3,531   3,047 
Marketing related intangibles   310,000   310,000 
Product certification, product formulas and other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $17,792 (2005) and $19,342 (2006)   4,908   3,358 
Goodwill   134,206   127,478 

TOTAL  $ 837,801  $ 941,014 
 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:         

Accounts payable  $ 39,156  $ 37,117 
Royalty overrides   87,401   100,466 
Accrued compensation   32,570   34,377 
Accrued expenses   93,597   98,086 
Current portion of long term debt   9,816   6,558 
Advance sales deposits   10,874   18,657 
Income taxes payable   12,043   12,619 

Total current liabilities   285,457   307,880 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:         

Long term debt, net of current portion   253,276   241,388 
Deferred compensation   15,145   15,997 
Deferred income taxes   112,714   102,591 
Other non-current liabilities   2,321   4,744 

Total liabilities   668,913   672,600 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES         
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:         

Preference shares, $0.002 par value, 7.5 million shares authorized and unissued   —   — 
Common shares, $0.002 par value, 175 million shares authorized, 69.9 million (2005) and 71.1 million (2006) shares issued and outstanding   140   142 
Treasury shares, at cost   (210)   (210)
Paid-in-capital in excess of par value   89,524   115,481 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)   605   (850)
Retained earnings   78,829   153,851 

Total shareholders’ equity   168,888   268,414 
TOTAL  $ 837,801  $ 941,014 

See the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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HERBALIFE LTD.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  
  June 30, 2005   June 30, 2006   June 30, 2005   June 30, 2006  
  (Unaudited)  
  (In thousands, except per share amounts)  

Product sales  $ 331,399  $ 402,841  $ 651,623  $ 796,445 
Handling & freight income   53,268   63,146   105,104   125,330 
Net sales   384,667   465,987   756,727   921,775 
Cost of sales   77,373   92,640   153,110   184,006 
Gross profit   307,294   373,347   603,617   737,769 
Royalty overrides   137,089   167,351   272,257   332,649 
Selling, general & administrative expenses   117,817   140,881   227,846   275,925 
Operating income   52,388   65,115   103,514   129,195 
Interest expense, net   7,446   4,955   29,648   10,970 
Income before income taxes   44,942   60,160   73,866   118,225 
Income taxes   22,168   23,834   37,815   43,203 
NET INCOME  $ 22,774  $ 36,326  $ 36,051  $ 75,022 
Earnings per share:                 

Basic  $ 0.33  $ 0.51  $ 0.53  $ 1.07 
Diluted  $ 0.32  $ 0.49  $ 0.50  $ 1.01 

Weighted average shares outstanding:                 
Basic   68,678   70,647   68,661   70,297 
Diluted   71,860   74,220   71,833   73,954 

See the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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HERBALIFE, LTD.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

  Six Months Ended  
  June 30,   June 30,  
  2005   2006  
  (Unaudited)  
  (In thousands)  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:         
Net income  $ 36,051  $ 75,022 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   20,318   14,323 
Stock-based compensation expenses   2,170   5,547 
Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements   —   (14,164)
Amortization of discount and deferred financing costs   760   531 
Deferred income taxes   4,483   (6,344)
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain)   (2,036)   247 
Write-off of deferred financing costs and unamortized discounts   4,499   181 
Other   138   — 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
Receivables   (12,286)   (10,040)
Inventories   (8,954)   180 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   5,623   (5,171)
Changes in other assets   (975)   (2,695)
Accounts payable   11,403   (3,680)
Royalty overrides   (6,640)   12,190 
Accrued expenses and accrued compensation   (4,001)   5,964 
Advance sales deposits   5,878   7,528 
Income taxes payable   13,385   21,915 
Deferred compensation liability   (421)   851 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES  $ 69,395  $ 102,385 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:         

Purchases of property   (12,426)   (24,642)
Proceeds from sale of property   30   36 
Net changes in marketable securities   —   (38)
Deferred compensation plan assets   (631)   (2,839)

NET CASH (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES  $ (13,027)  $ (27,483)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:         

Borrowings from long-term debt   172   — 
Principal payments on long-term debt   (153,486)   (15,769)
Exercise of stock options   218   6,130 
Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements   —   14,164 
Other   (527)   — 

NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES   (153,623)   4,525 
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH   (3,594)   1,637 
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   (100,849)   81,064 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD   201,577   88,248 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD   100,728   169,312 
CASH PAID FOR:         
Interest   25,700   11,619 
Income taxes   12,970   28,656 
NON-CASH ACTIVITIES:         
Accrued capital expenditures  $ 413  $ 908 

See the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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HERBALIFE LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.  Organization

Herbalife Ltd., a Cayman Islands exempted limited liability company (“Herbalife” or the “Company”), incorporated on April 4, 2002, and its direct and indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries, WH
Intermediate Holdings Ltd., a Cayman Islands company (“WH Intermediate”), WH Luxembourg Holdings S.à.R.L., a Luxembourg unipersonal limited liability company (“Lux Holdings”), WH Luxembourg
CM S.à.R.L., a Luxembourg unipersonal limited liability company, and WH Acquisition Corp., a Nevada corporation (“WH Acquisition”), were formed on behalf of Whitney & Co., LLC (“Whitney”) and
Golden Gate Private Equity, Inc. (“Golden Gate”), in order to acquire Herbalife International, Inc., a Nevada corporation, and its subsidiaries (“Herbalife International”) on July 31, 2002 (the “Acquisition”).
Herbalife and its subsidiaries are referred to collectively herein as the Company.

IPO Recapitalization

On December 16, 2004, Herbalife completed an initial public offering of its common shares (the “IPO”), as part of a series of recapitalization transactions, including:

 • a tender offer for $159.8 million of the outstanding 113/4% senior subordinated notes due 2010 (the “113/4% Notes”), issued by Herbalife International;

 • the replacement of Herbalife International’s existing $205.0 million senior credit facility with a new $225.0 million senior credit facility;

 • the payment of a $139.8 million special cash dividend to the pre-IPO shareholders of Herbalife; and

 • the amendment of Herbalife’s Memorandum and Articles of Association to: (1) effect a 1:2 reverse stock split of Herbalife’s common shares; (2) increase Herbalife’s authorized common shares to
500 million shares; and (3) increase Herbalife’s authorized preference shares to 7.5 million shares, all of which took effect on December 1, 2004.

As a planned continuation of the IPO and the recapitalization, Herbalife exercised a contract provision in December 2004 to redeem 40%, or $110.0 million principal value (excluding a premium of
$10.5 million), of the 91/2% notes due 2011, (the “91/2% Notes”). After the required notice period, this redemption was completed on February 4, 2005. The redemption premium of $10.5 million and the write-
off of deferred financing fees of $3.7 million associated with this redemption are included in interest expense in the first quarter of 2005.

In connection with the IPO and the recapitalization, the Company incurred $24.7 million in fees and expenses of which $19.8 million were associated with the IPO (included in equity) and $4.9 million
were associated with the establishment of the new credit facility (included in deferred financing costs).

Secondary Offering

On December 19, 2005, Herbalife completed a secondary public offering of 13 million common shares held by certain existing shareholders. The selling shareholders received all net proceeds from the
sale of common shares sold in this offering. Accordingly, Herbalife did not receive any proceeds from the sale of common shares.

2.  Basis of Presentation

The unaudited interim financial information of the Company has been prepared in accordance with Article 10 of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Regulation S-X. Accordingly, it does not
include all of the information required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for complete financial statements. The Company’s financial statements as of and for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2006 include Herbalife and all of its direct and indirect subsidiaries. In the opinion of management, the accompanying financial information contains all
adjustments, consisting of normal recurring
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HERBALIFE LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

adjustments, necessary to present fairly the Company’s financial statements as of and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2006. Operating results for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2006 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2006.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123R, Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123R”),
which generally requires, among other things, that all employee share-based compensation be measured using a fair value method and that the resulting compensation cost be recognized in the financial
statements. The Company selected the modified prospective method of adoption. Under this method, compensation expense that the Company recognized for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006
included: (a) compensation expense for all share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original
provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (“SFAS No. 123”), and (b) compensation expense for all share-based payments granted on or after January 1, 2006, based on the grant
date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R. Results for prior periods were not restated. See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for more details on stock based
compensation.

As of June 30, 2006, FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes was issued in its final version. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes
recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. FIN 48 provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. Earlier application of the provisions of FIN 48 is encouraged if the enterprise has not yet
issued financial statements, including interim financial statements, in the period FIN 48 is adopted. Herbalife’s accounting for its income tax contingency reserves are not based on the provisions of FIN 48
because its financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2006 have been issued without the early adoption of the provisions of the Interpretation. Management is currently evaluating the impact of
adopting FIN 48.

In June 2006, the FASB ratified the consensuses of Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 06-3, “How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should
Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation)” (“EITF 06-3”). EITF 06-3 clarifies that the scope of this Issue includes any tax assessed by a governmental authority that is
directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a customer and indicates that the income statement presentation on either a gross basis or a net basis of the taxes within the scope of
the Issue is an accounting policy decision that should be disclosed. Furthermore, for taxes reported on a gross basis, an enterprise should disclose the amounts of those taxes in interim and annual financial
statements for each period for which an income statement is presented. The consensus is effective, through retrospective application, for periods beginning after December 15, 2006. Management is currently
evaluating the impact of adopting EITF 06-3.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications were made to the prior period financial statements to conform to current period presentation.

3.  Transactions with related parties

In 2004, Whitney acquired a 50 percent indirect ownership interest in Shuster Laboratories, Inc. (“Shuster”), a provider of product testing and formula development for Herbalife. For the three and six
months ended June 30, 2005, total purchases from Shuster, were zero and $0.02 million, respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, there were no purchases from Shuster.
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HERBALIFE LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

In 2004, Whitney acquired a 50 percent indirect ownership interest in TBA Entertainment (“TBA”), a provider of creative services to Herbalife. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2005
payments of $1.11 million and $5.70 million were made to TBA for services relating to the 25th Anniversary Extravaganza, of which the majority were reimbursements of Extravaganza expenses paid to third
parties. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, payments to TBA were $0.10 million.

In 2004, Golden Gate acquired a 47 percent ownership interest in Leiner Health Products Inc. (“Leiner”), a nutritional manufacturer and supplier of certain Herbalife products. For the three and six
months ended June 30, 2005, total purchases from Leiner were $0.03 million and $0.14 million, respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, there were no purchases from Leiner.

In January 2005, Whitney, together with its affiliates, acquired a 77 percent ownership interest in Stauber Performance Ingredients (“Stauber”), a value-added distributor of bulk specialty nutraceutical
ingredients. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, total purchases from Stauber were $0.36 million and $0.46 million, respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, total
purchases from Stauber were $0.18 million and $0.19 million, respectively.

4.  Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

  As of  
  December 31,   June 30,  
  2005   2006  
  (Dollars in millions)  

113/4% Notes  $ 0.1  $ 0.1 
Borrowings under senior credit facility   89.8   79.6 
91/2% Notes, net of unamortized discounts of $3.7 million (2005) and $3.4 million (2006)   161.3   161.6 
Capital leases   5.4   3.7 
Other debt   6.5   2.9 
   263.1   247.9 
Less: current portion   9.8   6.5 
  $ 253.3  $ 241.4 

During 2005 we prepaid approximately $109.0 million of our senior credit facility resulting in approximately $2.2 million additional interest expense from write-off of unamortized deferred financing
costs. In March 2006, the Company made a prepayment to the term loan borrowings under the senior credit facility of $9.8 million. Consequently, the Company expensed $0.2 million of related unamortized
deferred financing costs in the first quarter of 2006.

5.  Contingencies

We are from time to time engaged in routine litigation. We regularly review all pending litigation matters in which we are involved and establish reserves deemed appropriate by management for these
litigation matters when a probable loss estimate can be made.

Herbalife International and certain of its independent distributors have been named as defendants in a purported class action lawsuit filed February 17, 2005, in the Superior Court of California,
County of San Francisco, and served on Herbalife International on March 14, 2005 (Minton v. Herbalife International, et al). The case has been transferred to the Los Angeles County Superior Court. The
plaintiff is challenging the marketing practices of certain Herbalife International independent distributors and Herbalife International under various state laws prohibiting “endless chain schemes,” insufficient
disclosure in assisted marketing plans, unfair and deceptive
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HERBALIFE LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

business practices, and fraud and deceit. The plaintiff alleges that the Freedom Group system operated by certain independent distributors of Herbalife International products places too much emphasis on
recruiting and encourages excessively large purchases of product and promotional materials by distributors. The plaintiff also alleges that Freedom Group pressured distributors to disseminate misleading
promotional materials. The plaintiff seeks to hold Herbalife International vicariously liable for the actions of its independent distributors and is seeking damages and injunctive relief. The Company believes
that it has meritorious defenses to the suit.

Herbalife International and certain of its distributors have been named as defendants in a class action lawsuit filed July 16, 2003, in the Circuit Court of Ohio County in the State of West Virginia
(Mey v. Herbalife International, Inc., et al). On April 21, 2006, the court granted plaintiff’s motion for class certification in West Virginia. The complaint alleges that certain telemarketing practices of certain
Herbalife International distributors violate the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, or TCPA, and seeks to hold Herbalife International vicariously liable for the practices of these distributors. More
specifically, the plaintiffs’ complaint alleges that several of Herbalife International’s distributors used pre-recorded telephone messages and autodialers to contact prospective customers in violation of the
TCPA’s prohibition of such practices. Herbalife International’s distributors are independent contractors and if any such distributors in fact violated the TCPA they also violated Herbalife’s policies, which
require its distributors to comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws. The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the suit.

As a marketer of dietary and nutritional supplements and other products that are ingested by consumers or applied to their bodies, we have been and are currently subjected to various product liability
claims. The effects of these claims to date have not been material to us, and the reasonably possible range of exposure on currently existing claims is not material to us. We believe that we have meritorious
defenses to the allegations contained in the lawsuits. We currently maintain product liability insurance with an annual deductible of $10 million.

Certain of our subsidiaries have been subject to tax audits by governmental authorities in their respective countries. In certain of these tax audits, governmental authorities are proposing that significant
amounts of additional taxes and related interest and penalties are due. We and our tax advisors believe that there are substantial defenses to their allegations that additional taxes are owed, and we are
vigorously contesting the additional proposed taxes and related charges.

These matters may take several years to resolve, and we cannot be sure of their ultimate resolution. However, it is the opinion of management that adverse outcomes, if any, will not likely result in a
material effect on our financial condition and operating results. This opinion is based on our belief that any losses we suffer would not be material and that we have meritorious defenses. Although we have
reserved an amount that we believe represents the likely outcome of the resolution of these disputes, if we are incorrect in our assessment we may have to record additional expenses.

6.  Comprehensive Income

  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  
  June 30,   June 30,   June 30,   June 30,  
  2005   2006   2005   2006  

Net income  $ 22.8  $ 36.3  $ 36.1  $ 75.0 
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments  $ —  $ —  $ 0.5  $ 0.1 
Foreign currency translation adjustment  $ (1.6)  $ (1.4)  $ (1.2)  $ (1.5)
Comprehensive income  $ 21.2  $ 34.9  $ 35.4  $ 73.6 

7.  Segment Information

The Company is a network marketing company that sells a wide range of weight management products, nutritional supplements and personal care products within one industry segment as defined
under SFAS 131,
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HERBALIFE LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

“Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.” The Company’s products are manufactured by third party providers and then sold to independent distributors who sell Herbalife
products to retail consumers or other distributors.

The Company sells products in 62 countries throughout the world and is organized and managed by geographic region. The Company elected to aggregate its operating segments into one reporting
segment, as management believes that the Company’s operating segments have similar operating characteristics and similar long term operating performance. In making this determination, management
believes that the operating segments are similar with regard to the nature of the products sold, the product acquisition process, the types of customers products are sold to, the methods used to distribute the
products, and the nature of the regulatory environment.

Revenues reflect sales of products to distributors based on the distributors’ geographic location. Sales attributed to the United States are the same as reported in the geographic operating information.

The Company’s geographic operating information and sales by product line are as follows:

  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  
  June 30,   June 30,   June 30,   June 30,  
  2005   2006   2005   2006  
  (In millions)  

Net sales:                 
United States  $ 78.2  $ 82.8  $ 145.2  $ 164.2 
Mexico   50.1   93.2   87.5   176.7 
Others   256.4   290.0   524.0   580.9 

Total net sales  $ 384.7  $ 466.0  $ 756.7  $ 921.8 
Operating margin(1):                 
United States  $ 34.2  $ 37.7  $ 59.3  $ 65.5 
Mexico   21.3   41.6   37.4   79.0 
Others   114.7   126.7   234.7   260.6 

Total operating margin  $ 170.2  $ 206.0  $ 331.4  $ 405.1 
Selling, general and administrative expense   117.8   140.9   227.8   276.0 
Interest expense, net   7.5   5.0   29.7   10.9 
Income before income taxes   44.9   60.1   73.9   118.2 
Income taxes   22.1   23.8   37.8   43.2 
Net income  $ 22.8  $ 36.3  $ 36.1  $ 75.0 
Net sales by product line:                 
Weight management  $ 157.7  $ 197.2  $ 309.5  $ 389.1 
Inner nutrition   165.1   205.2   325.1   407.4 
Outer Nutrition®   43.4   38.0   86.0   79.2 
Literature, promotional and other(2)   18.5   25.6   36.1   46.1 

Total net sales  $ 384.7  $ 466.0  $ 756.7  $ 921.8 
Net sales by geographic region:                 
Americas  $ 166.8  $ 232.2  $ 307.4  $ 456.3 
Europe   141.8   145.2   286.4   286.7 
Asia/Pacific Rim (excluding Japan)   55.8   69.6   115.8   137.6 
Japan   20.3   19.0   47.1   41.2 

Total net sales  $ 384.7  $ 466.0  $ 756.7  $ 921.8 

(1) Operating margin consists of net sales less cost of sales and royalty overrides.
(2) Product buybacks and returns in all product categories are included in the literature, promotional and other category.
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HERBALIFE LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

  As of  
  December 31,   June 30,  
  2005   2006  
  (In millions)  

Total Assets:         
United States  $ 520.1  $ 627.7 
Mexico   52.5   57.2 
Others   265.2   256.1 

Total assets  $ 837.8  $ 941.0 

8.  Stock Based Compensation

The Company has six stock-based compensation plans which are the WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd. Stock Incentive Plan (“Management Plan”), the WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd.
Independent Directors Stock Incentive Plan (“Independent Directors Plan”), the Herbalife Ltd. 2004 Incentive Plan (“2004 Stock Incentive Plan”), the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (“2005 Stock Incentive Plan”),
the Herbalife Ltd. Executive Incentive Plan (“Executive Incentive Plan”) and the Herbalife Ltd. Independent Directors Deferred Compensation and Stock Unit Plan (“Independent Director Stock Unit Plan”).
The Management Plan provides for the grant of options to purchase common shares of Herbalife to members of the Company’s management. The Independent Directors Plan provides for the grant of options to
purchase common shares of Herbalife to the Company’s independent directors. The 2004 Stock Incentive Plan was intended to replace the Management Plan and the Independent Directors Plan and after the
adoption thereof, no additional awards were made under either the Management Plan or the Independent Directors Plan. However, the shares remaining available for issuance under these plans were absorbed
by and became available for issuance under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan. The 2005 Stock Incentive Plan authorizes the issuance of 4,000,000 common shares pursuant to awards, plus any shares that remain
available for issuance under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan at the time of the adoption of the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan. The terms of the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan are substantially similar to the terms of the
2004 Stock Incentive Plan. The purpose of the Executive Incentive Plan is to govern the award and payment of annual bonuses to certain company executives. The purpose of the Independent Directors Stock
Unit Plan is to facilitate equity ownership in the Company by its independent directors through the award of stock units and to allow for deferral by the independent directors of compensation realized in
connection with such stock units. The Company’s stock compensation awards outstanding as of June 30, 2006 include stock options, stock appreciation rights (“SARS”) and stock units.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company applied the intrinsic value method as outlined in Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 25”),
and related interpretations, in accounting for share-based awards made under these plans. Under the intrinsic value method, compensation expense is recorded on the date of grant to the extent the then current
market price of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price. On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123R. This statement replaces SFAS No. 123 and supersedes APB 25. SFAS No. 123R
requires that all share-based compensation be recognized as an expense in the financial statements and that such cost be measured based on the fair value of the awards granted. The Company adopted
SFAS No. 123R using the modified prospective transition method which requires the recognition of compensation expense on a prospective basis only. Accordingly, prior period financial statements have not
been restated. Under this transition method, stock-based compensation cost for the first and second quarters of 2006 include (a) compensation cost for all share-based awards granted prior to, but not yet vested
as of, January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123; and (b) compensation cost for all share-based awards granted subsequent to
January 1, 2006 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R.

SFAS No. 123R also requires the Company to estimate forfeitures in calculating the expense relating to share-based compensation as opposed to recognizing forfeitures as an expense reduction as they
occur. The adjustment to
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HERBALIFE LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

apply estimated forfeitures to previously recognized share-based compensation was considered immaterial and as such was not classified as a cumulative effect of a change of in accounting principle.
The Company records compensation expense over the requisite service period which is equal to the vesting period. For awards granted prior to January 1, 2006, compensation expense is recognized on

a graded-vesting basis over the vesting term. For awards granted on or after January 1, 2006, compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting term. For the three and six months
ended June 30, 2006, stock-based compensation expense was included in Selling, General & Administrative Expenses in the amount of $3.1 million and $5.5 million, respectively, as well as related income tax
benefits recognized in earnings in the amount of $1.2 million and $2.2 million, respectively.

As of June 30, 2006, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock awards was $31.1 million and the related weighted-average period over which it is expected to be recognized
is approximately 2.3 years.

As a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the Company’s net income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 was $1.5 million and $2.8 million lower, respectively, than it would have
been under the Company’s previous accounting method for share-based compensation. Basic and diluted net earnings per common share for the three months ended June 30, 2006 were both negatively
impacted by the change in accounting method by $0.02 per share. The negative impact on both basic and diluted net earnings per common share for the six months ended June 30, 2006 was $0.04 per share.
Prior to the Company’s adoption of SFAS No. 123R, benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation costs were reported as operating cash inflows. SFAS No. 123R requires that these excess
tax benefits be recorded as a financing cash inflow rather than as a reduction of taxes paid. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, tax benefits of $12.5 million and $14.2 million, respectively, were
generated from option exercises.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provision of SFAS No. 123 to options granted under the
Company’s stock-based compensation plans for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005. For purposes of this pro forma disclosure, the value of the options is estimated using the Black-Scholes-Merton
option-pricing model and amortized to expense using a graded vesting schedule with forfeitures recognized as they occur.

  Three Months   Six Months  
  Ended   Ended  
  June 30,   June 30,  
  2005   2005  
  (In millions)  

Net income as reported  $ 22.8  $ 36.1 
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net income, net of tax   0.2   1.3 
Less: Stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based methods for all awards, net of tax   (1.3)   (3.9)
Pro forma net income  $ 21.7  $ 33.5 
Basic earnings per share         

As reported  $ 0.33  $ 0.53 
Pro forma  $ 0.32  $ 0.49 

Diluted earnings per share         
As reported  $ 0.32  $ 0.50 
Pro forma  $ 0.30  $ 0.47 

The Company’s stock-based compensation plans provide for grants of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and stock units (collectively called the “awards”). Stock options typically
vest quarterly over a five-year period beginning on the grant date, and certain stock option grants vest over a period of less than five years.
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SARS vest quarterly over a five-year period beginning on the grant date. The contractual term of stock options and SARS is ten years. Stock unit awards under the 2005 Incentive Plan (“Incentive Plan Stock
Units”) vest annually over a three year period which is equal to the contractual term. Stock unit awards under the Independent Directors Stock Unit Plan (“Independent Director Stock Units”) vest at a 25% rate
on each of April 15, July 15 and October 15 of the calendar year in which the award is granted and January 15 of the calendar year following the year in which the award is granted. Unless otherwise
determined at the time of grant, the value of each stock unit shall be equal to one common share of Herbalife.

The fair value of each award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model based on the assumptions in the following tables. The expected term of the award is
based on observed historical exercise patterns. Because of the very limited historical data all groups of employees have been determined to have similar historical exercise patterns for valuation purposes. The
expected volatility of stock awards is primarily based upon on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock and, due to the limited period of public trading data for its common stock, it is also
validated against the volatility rates of a peer group of companies. The risk free interest rate is based on the implied yield on a U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issue with a remaining term equal to the expected term
of the award. The dividend yield reflects that the Company has not paid any cash dividends since inception. The following table summarizes the weighted average assumptions used in the calculation of fair
market value for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2006.

        Incentive Plan   Independent Directors  
  Stock Options   SARS   Stock Units   Stock Units  
  Three Months   Three Months   Three Months   Three Months  
  Ended June 30,   Ended June 30,   Ended June 30,   Ended June 30,  
  2005   2006   2005   2006   2005   2006   2005   2006  

Expected volatility   32.75%  —   —   37.89%  —   37.75%  —   38.16%
Dividends yield   zero   —   —   zero   —   zero   —   zero 
Expected term   6.3 years   —   —   6.3 years   —   2.5 years   —   3.0 years 
Risk-free interest rate   3.91%  —   —   5.04%  —   4.96%  —   5.00%

        Incentive Plan   Independent Directors  
  Stock Options   SARS   Stock Units   Stock Units  
  Six Months   Six Months   Six Months   Six Months  
  Ended June 30,   Ended June 30,   Ended June 30,   Ended June 30,  
  2005   2006   2005   2006   2005   2006   2005   2006  

Expected volatility   32.75%  37.03%  —   38.44%  —   38.45%  —   37.29%
Dividends yield   zero   zero   —   zero   —   zero   —   zero 
Expected term   6.3 years   6.3 years   —   6.3 years   —   2.5 years   —   3.0 years 
Risk-free interest rate   3.90%  3.94%  —   4.60%  —   4.05%  —   3.56%
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The following tables summarize the activity under the stock-based compensation plans for the six months ended June 30, 2006:

        Weighted     
     Weighted   Average   Aggregate  
     Average   Remaining   Intrinsic  
Stock Options & SARS  Shares   Exercise Price   Contractual Term   Value  

  (In thousands)         (In millions)  

Outstanding at December 31, 2005   10,197  $ 12.30         
Granted   1,079   33.78         
Exercised   (1,273)   4.81         
Forfeited   (99)   4.71         
Outstanding at June 30, 2006   9,904  $ 15.68   7.9 years  $ 239.9 
Exercisable at June 30, 2006   3,490  $ 12.18   7.9 years  $ 96.8 

     Weighted Average     
     Grant Date   Aggregate  
Incentive Plan and Independent Directors Stock Units  Shares   Fair Value   Fair Value  

  (In thousands)      (In millions)  

Outstanding and nonvested at December 31, 2005   —  $ —  $ — 
Granted   124.4   32.95   4.2 
Vested   (4.4)   31.81   (0.2)

Outstanding and nonvested at June 30, 2006   120.0  $ 32.99  $ 4.0 

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock awards granted during the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 was $18.46 and $17.39, respectively. The total intrinsic value of stock awards
exercised during the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 was $36.9 million and $41.2 million, respectively.

9.  Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company designates certain derivatives as cash flow hedges. The Company engages in a foreign exchange hedging strategy for which the hedged transactions are forecasted foreign currency
denominated intercompany transactions. The hedged risk is the variability of the forecasted foreign currency cash flows where the hedging strategy involves the purchase of average rate options. The Company
also engages in an interest rate hedging strategy for which the hedged transactions are forecasted interest payments on the Company’s variable rate term loan. The hedged risk is the variability of forecasted
interest rate cash flows, where the hedging strategy involves the purchase of interest rate swaps. As of December 31, 2005, and June 30, 2006, the Company did not have any outstanding cash flow hedges on
foreign exchange exposure. For the outstanding cash flow hedges on interest rate exposures at December 31, 2005 and June 30, 2006, the maximum length of time over which the Company is hedging these
exposures is approximately three years. The interest rate swap outstanding as of December 31, 2005, and June 30, 2006 was accounted for under the shortcut method, as defined by SFAS No. 133, which
assumes the hedge to be perfectly effective. Consequently, all changes in the fair value of the derivative are deferred and recorded in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) until the related forecasted
transaction is recognized in the consolidated statements of income. The estimated net amount of existing gains expected to be reclassified into earnings over the next three years, which related to cash flow
hedge, is $0.4 million.

The Company designates certain derivatives as free standing derivatives for which hedge accounting does not apply. The changes in the fair market value of the derivatives are recorded in the
Company’s statements of income. The Company purchases average rate put options, which give the Company the right, but not the obligation, to sell foreign currency at a specified exchange rate (“strike
rate”). These contracts provide protection in the event the
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foreign currency weakens beyond the strike rate. The Company also uses foreign currency forward contracts, which give the Company the obligation to buy or sell foreign currency at a specified time and rate.
The contracts are used to protect against changes in the functional currency equivalent value of inter-company or third party nonfunctional currency payables and receivables. In December of 2005, the
Company entered into a short term interest rate cap agreement, which is not designated under hedge accounting. The cap provides protection in the event the three month LIBOR rate were to increase beyond
4.75% and is in place, along with the interest rate swap, to fulfill the Company’s obligation to hedge at least 25% of the term debt notional amount. The fair values of the option forward contracts and interest
rate cap are based on third-party bank quotes.

10.  Subsequent Event

On July 21, 2006 (the “Closing Date”), the Company entered into a $300.0 million senior secured credit facility (the “New Credit Facility”) with a syndicate of financial institutions as lenders. The
New Credit Facility replaced the Company’s existing $225.0 million senior secured credit facility (the “Prior Credit Facility”), originally entered into on December 21, 2004. All commitments under the Prior
Credit Facility were terminated effective on the Closing Date. The Company repaid all amounts outstanding under the Prior Credit Facility amounting to $79.6 million. Consequently, the Company will
expense $1.4 million of unamortized deferred financing costs related to the Prior Credit Facility and will recognize $0.4 million, which was primarily related to cash flow hedges on interest rate exposures,
from OCI into earnings in the third quarter of 2006.

Also on the Closing date, the Company issued a notice to the trustee for the 91/2% Notes to redeem the outstanding 91/2% Notes on August 23, 2006. The aggregate principal amount of the 91/2% Notes
to be redeemed is $165.0 million. The 91/2% Notes will be redeemed at the mandatory redemption price of approximately $109.8 per $100 aggregate principal amount of the 91/2% Notes. Borrowings under
the New Credit Facility will be used to redeem the 91/2% Notes. Upon redemption of the 91/2% Notes, the Company expects to incur an after-tax one-time charge of approximately $14.0 million, representing
the call premium and the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs.
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Item 2.  Management’s Discussion And Analysis Of Financial Condition and Results Of Operations

Overview

We are a global network marketing company that sells weight management, nutritional supplement and personal care products. We pursue our mission of “changing people’s lives” by providing a
financially rewarding business opportunity to distributors and quality products to distributors and customers who seek a healthy lifestyle. We are one of the largest network marketing companies in the world
with net sales of approximately $1.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2005. We sell our products in 62 countries through a network of over one million independent distributors except in China, where
we currently use a retail business model with employed sales representatives because of regulatory restrictions on direct selling. We believe the quality of our products and the effectiveness of our distribution
network, coupled with geographic expansion, have been the primary reasons for our success throughout our 26-year operating history.

We offer products in three principal categories: weight management products, nutritional supplements which we refer to as “inner nutrition” and personal care products which we refer to as “Outer
Nutrition®”. Our products are often sold in programs, which are comprised of a series of related products designed to simplify weight management and nutrition for our consumers and maximize our
distributors’ cross-selling opportunities.

Industry-wide factors that affect us and our competitors include the increasing prevalence of obesity and the aging of the worldwide population, which are driving demand for nutrition and wellness-
related products and the recruitment and retention of distributors.

The opportunities and challenges upon which we are most focused are driving retailing of our product, recruitment and retention of distributors and improving distributor productivity, entering new
markets, further penetrating existing markets, pursuing local distributor initiatives, introducing new products, developing niche market segments and further investing in our infrastructure.

A key non-financial measure we focus on is Volume Points on a Royalty Basis (hereafter “Volume Points”), which is essentially our weighted unit measure of product sales volume. It is a useful
measure for us, as it excludes the impact of foreign currency fluctuations and ignores the differences generated by varying retail pricing across geographic markets. In general, an increase in Volume Points in
a particular region or country directionally indicates an increase in local currency net sales.

Volume Points by Geographic Region

  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  
  June 30,   June 30,      June 30,   June 30,     
  2005   2006   % Change   2005   2006   % Change  
  (Volume points in millions)  

The Americas   265.5   362.4   36.5%   490.1   699.4   42.7%
Europe   147.0   148.1   0.7%   292.2   297.0   1.6%
Asia/Pacific Rim   69.5   81.6   17.4%   141.9   158.7   11.8%
Japan   15.4   14.1   (8.4)%  34.2   31.2   (8.8)%
Worldwide   497.4   606.2   21.9%   958.4   1,186.3   23.8%

Another key non-financial measure on which we focus is the number of distributors qualified as supervisors under our compensation system. Distributors qualify for supervisor status based on their
Volume Points.

The growth in the number of supervisors is a general indicator of the level of distributor recruitment, which generally drives net sales in a particular country or region. Our compensation system
requires each supervisor to re-qualify for such status each year, prior to February. There is significant variation in the number of supervisors from the fourth quarter to the first quarter of any given year due to
the timing of the re-qualification process. This fluctuation is normal and consistent, does not reflect a dramatic underlying change in the business in comparing these two sequential quarters.
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The following tables show trends in the number of supervisors over the reporting period by region, and fluctuations within each notable country are discussed in the appropriate net sales section below
where pertinent.

Number of Supervisors by Geographic Region as of Reporting Period

  As of June 30,  
  2005   2006   % Change  

The Americas   115,323   162,578   41.0%
Europe   79,521   80,157   0.8%
Asia/Pacific Rim   47,043   56,811   20.8%
Japan   11,139   11,037   (0.9)%
Worldwide   253,026   310,583   22.7%

Number of Supervisors by Geographic Region as of Re-qualification Period

  As of February,  
  2005   2006   % Change  

The Americas   87,925   124,233   41.3% 
Europe   65,104   66,103   1.5% 
Asia/Pacific Rim   38,524   43,517   13.0% 
Japan   9,547   9,719   1.8% 
Worldwide   201,100   243,572   21.1% 

Supervisors must re-qualify annually. The re-qualification period covers the twelve months starting in February and ending the following January. For the twelve month re-qualification period ended
January 2006, 41.5% of our supervisors re-qualified, up from 39.7% a year ago. The number of supervisors by geographic region as of the reporting dates will normally be higher than the number of
supervisors by geographic region as of the re-qualification period because supervisors who do not re-qualify during the relevant twelve-month period will be dropped from the rank of supervisor in February.
Since supervisors purchase most of our products for resale to other distributors and consumers, comparisons of supervisor totals on a year-to-year, same period basis are good indicators of our recruitment and
retention efforts in different geographic regions.

We provide distributors with products, support material, training, special events and a competitive compensation program. If a distributor wants to pursue the Herbalife business opportunity, the
distributor is responsible for growing his or her business and personally pays for the sales activities related to attracting new customers and recruiting distributors by hosting events such as Herbalife
Opportunity Meetings or Success Training Seminars; by advertising Herbalife’s products, by purchasing and using promotional materials such as t-shirts, buttons and caps; by utilizing and paying for direct
mail and print material such as brochures, flyers, catalogs, business cards, posters and banners and telephone book listings; by purchasing inventory for sale or use as samples; and by training, mentoring and
following up (in person or via the phone or internet) with customers and recruits on how to use Herbalife products and/or pursue the Herbalife business opportunity.

Presentation

“Retail Sales” represent the gross sales amounts on our invoices to distributors before distributor allowances (as defined below), and “net sales” which reflects distributor allowances and handling and
freight income, is what the Company collects and recognizes as net sales in its financial statements. We discuss Retail Sales because of its fundamental role in our compensation systems, internal controls and
operations, including its role as the basis upon which distributor discounts, royalties and bonuses are awarded. In addition, information in daily and monthly reports reviewed by our management relies on
Retail Sales data. However, such a measure is not in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the U.S. (“GAAP”). You should not consider Retail Sales in isolation from, nor is it a
substitute for, net sales and other consolidated income or cash flow statement data prepared in accordance with GAAP, or as a measure of profitability or liquidity. A reconciliation of net sales to Retail Sales is
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presented below. “Product sales” represent the actual product purchase prices paid to us by our distributors, after giving effect to distributor discounts referred to as “distributor allowances,” which approximate
50% of retail sales prices. Distributor allowances as a percentage of sales may vary by country depending upon regulatory restrictions that limit or otherwise restrict distributor allowances.

Our “gross profit” consists of net sales less “cost of sales,” which represents the prices we pay to our raw material suppliers and manufacturers of our products as well as costs related to product
shipments, duties and tariffs, freight expenses relating to shipment of products to distributors and importers and similar expenses.

“Royalty Overrides” are our most significant expense and consist of:

 • royalty overrides or commissions, and bonuses, which total approximately 15% and 7%, respectively, of the Retail Sales of weight management, inner nutrition, Outer Nutrition® and promotional
products;

 • the Mark Hughes Bonus payable to some of our most senior distributors in the aggregate amount of up to 1% of Retail Sales of weight management, inner nutrition, Outer Nutrition® and promotional
products; and

 • other discretionary incentive cash bonuses payable to qualifying distributors.

Royalty Overrides are generally earned based on Retail Sales, and approximate, in the aggregate, about 22% of Retail Sales or approximately 35% of our net sales. Royalty Overrides, together with
distributor allowances, represent the potential earnings to distributors of up to approximately 73% of Retail Sales. The compensation to distributors is generally for the development, retention and improved
productivity of their distributor sales organizations and is paid to several levels of distributors on each sale. Because of local country regulatory constraints, we may be required to modify our typical distributor
incentive plans as described above. Because of restrictions on direct selling in China, our full-time employed sales representatives in China are compensated with wages, bonuses and benefits instead of the
distributors’ earnings — distributor allowances and royalty overrides. Consequently, the total distributor discount percentage may vary over time. We also offer reduced distributor allowances and pay reduced
royalty overrides with respect to certain products worldwide.

Our “operating margins” consist of net sales less cost of sales and royalty overrides.

“Selling, General & Administrative Expenses” represent our operating expenses, components of which include labor and benefits, sales events, professional fees, travel and entertainment, distributor
marketing, occupancy costs, communication costs, bank fees, depreciation and amortization, foreign exchange gains and losses and other miscellaneous operating expenses.

“113/4% Notes” refers to Herbalife International’s 113/4% senior subordinated notes due 2010. “91/2% Notes” refers to our 91/2% notes due 2011.

Most of our sales to distributors outside the United States are made in the respective local currencies. In preparing our financial statements, we translate revenues into U.S. dollars using average
exchange rates. Additionally, the majority of our purchases from our suppliers are generally made in U.S. dollars. Consequently, a strengthening of the U.S. dollar versus a foreign currency can have a negative
impact on our reported sales and operating margins and can generate transaction losses on intercompany transactions. Throughout the last five years, foreign currency exchange rates have fluctuated
significantly. From time to time, we enter into foreign exchange forward contracts and option contracts to mitigate our foreign currency exchange risk.

Summary Financial Results

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, net sales increased by 21.1% and 21.8%, respectively, as compared to the same periods in 2005, primarily driven by increases in the Americas and
Asia/Pacific Rim. Net sales in Europe increased 2.4% for the three months ended June 30, 2006 and were flat for the six months ended June 30, 2006 when compared to the same periods of 2005. Partially
offsetting the growth in these regions was a decline in Japan net sales. The overall increase in net sales for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 reflected the continued sales momentum generated from
the successful promotions in 2005 and 2006 and the enthusiasm and unity within our distributor organization.
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Net income increased for the three months ended June 30, 2006 to $36.3 million, or $0.49 per diluted share, from $22.8 million or $0.32 per diluted share, for the same period in 2005. Net income
increased for the six months ended June 30, 2006 to $75.0 million, or $1.01 per diluted share, from $36.1 million or $0.50 per diluted share, for the same period in 2005. Excluding the impact of a $3.7 million
tax benefit resulting from an international income tax settlement in the first quarter of 2006 and $14.2 million of recapitalization expenses incurred in the first quarter of 2005 associated with the $110.0 million
clawback of our 91/2% Notes, net income increased 41.9% for the six months ended June 30, 2006. The net income increase was due to net sales growth, lower interest expense and a lower effective tax rate,
partially offset by higher labor, promotional and professional fee expenses. Overall, the appreciation of foreign currencies had a $0.4 million and a $2.6 million favorable impact on net results for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively.

Results of Operations

Our results of operations for the periods described below are not necessarily indicative of results of operations for future periods, which depend upon numerous factors, including our ability to recruit
and retain new distributors, open new markets and further penetrate existing markets and introduce new products and develop niche market segments.

The following table sets forth selected results of our operations expressed as a percentage of net sales for the periods indicated.

  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  
  June 30,   June 30,   June 30,   June 30,  
  2005   2006   2005   2006  

Operations:                 
Net sales   100.0%  100.0%  100.0%  100.0%
Cost of sales   20.1   19.9   20.2   20.0 
Gross profit   79.9   80.1   79.8   80.0 
Royalty overrides   35.6   35.9   36.0   36.1 
Selling, general & administrative expenses   30.7   30.2   30.1   29.9 
Operating income   13.6   14.0   13.7   14.0 
Interest expense   1.9   1.1   3.9   1.2 
Income before income taxes   11.7   12.9   9.8   12.8 
Income taxes   5.8   5.1   5.0   4.7 
Net income   5.9   7.8   4.8   8.1 

Net Sales

The following chart reconciles Retail Sales to net sales:

Sales by Geographic Region

  Three Months Ended June 30,  
  2005   2006  
           Handling               Handling      Change  
  Retail   Distributor   Product   & Freight   Net   Retail   Distributor   Product   & Freight   Net   in Net  
  Sales   Allowance   Sales   Income   Sales   Sales   Allowance   Sales   Income   Sales   Sales  
  (Dollars in millions)  

The Americas  $ 274.9  $ (131.9)  $ 143.0  $ 23.8  $ 166.8  $ 388.2  $ (188.4)  $ 199.8  $ 32.4  $ 232.2   39.2%
Europe   231.4   (110.2)   121.2   20.6   141.8   239.8   (115.7)   124.1   21.1   145.2   2.4%
Asia/Pacific Rim   91.2   (41.8)   49.4   6.4   55.8   110.8   (48.5)   62.3   7.3   69.6   24.7%
Japan   34.5   (16.7)   17.8   2.5   20.3   32.3   (15.6)   16.7   2.3   19.0   (6.4)%
Total  $ 632.0  $ (300.6)  $ 331.4  $ 53.3  $ 384.7  $ 771.0  $ (368.2)  $ 402.8  $ 63.2  $ 466.0   21.1%
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  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2005   2006  
           Handling               Handling      Change  
  Retail   Distributor   Product   & Freight   Net   Retail   Distributor   Product   & Freight   Net   in Net  
  Sales   Allowance   Sales   Income   Sales   Sales   Allowance   Sales   Income   Sales   Sales  
  (Dollars in millions)  

The Americas  $ 506.1  $ (243.2)  $ 262.9  $ 44.5  $ 307.4  $ 760.8  $ (368.5)  $ 392.3  $ 64.0  $ 456.3   48.4%
Europe   467.9   (223.1)   244.8   41.6   286.4   472.1   (227.0)   245.1   41.6   286.7   0.1%
Asia/Pacific Rim   190.1   (87.8)   102.3   13.5   115.8   218.7   (95.8)   122.9   14.7   137.6   18.8%
Japan   80.9   (39.3)   41.6   5.5   47.1   70.6   (34.4)   36.2   5.0   41.2   (12.5)%
Total  $ 1,245.0  $ (593.4)  $ 651.6  $ 105.1  $ 756.7  $ 1,522.2  $ (725.7)  $ 796.5  $ 125.3  $ 921.8   21.8%

Changes in net sales are directly associated with the recruiting, retention and retailing of our distributor force, the quality and completeness of the product offerings that the distributor force has to sell
and the number of countries in which we operate. Management’s role, both in-country and at the corporate level is to provide distributors with a competitive and broad product line, encourage strong teamwork
and leadership among the Chairman’s Club and President’s Team distributors and offer leading edge business tools to make doing business with Herbalife simple. Management uses the marketing program
coupled with educational and motivational tools to incentivize distributors to drive recruiting, retention and retailing which in turn affect net sales. Such tools include corporate sales events — Extravaganzas
and World Team Schools — where large groups of distributors gather, thus allowing them to network with other distributors, learn recruiting, retention and retailing techniques from our leading distributors
and become more familiar with how to market and sell our products and business opportunities. Accordingly, management believes that these development and motivation programs can increase the
productivity of the supervisor network. The expenses for such programs are included in Selling, General & Administrative expenses. Sales are driven by several factors including the number and productivity of
distributor leaders who continually build, educate and motivate their respective distribution and sales organizations. We also use product event and non-event promotions to motivate distributors to increase
recruiting, retention and retailing activities. These promotions have ranged from our 2005 worldwide cup promotion to vacations or other qualifying events for distributors that meet certain selling and
recruiting goals. The costs of these promotions are included in Selling, General & Administrative expenses.

The factors described above have driven growth in our business. The following net sales by geographic region discussion further details some of the above factors and describes unique growth factors
specific to certain major countries. The Company believes that the correct foundation, coupled with ongoing training and promotional initiatives is required to increase recruiting and retention of distributors
and retailing of the product. The correct foundation includes strong country management that works closely with the distributor leadership, a broad product line that appeals to local consumer needs, a
favorable regulatory environment, a scalable and stable technology platform and an attractive marketing plan. Initiatives such as Success Training Seminars, World Team Schools, Promotional Events and
regional Extravaganzas are integral components of developing a highly motivated and educated distributor sales organization that will work toward increasing the recruitment and retention of distributors.

The Company’s strategy will continue to include generating and maintaining growth within existing markets. We expect to increase spending in Selling, General & Administrative expenses to maintain
or stimulate sales growth, while making strategic investments in new initiatives. In addition, new ideas are being generated in our regional markets, either by distributors, country management or corporate
management. Examples are the Nutrition Clubs in Mexico, the Total Plan in Brazil and GenerationH (“GenH”) in the U.S., as described in the net sales discussion below. Management’s strategy is to review the
applicability of expanding successful country initiatives throughout a region and/or globally where appropriate and financially support the globalization of these initiatives.

The Americas

Net sales in The Americas increased $65.4 million and $148.9 million, or 39.2% and 48.4%, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to the same periods of 2005. In
local currency, net sales increased by 37.4% and 44.0%, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to the
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same periods of 2005. The fluctuation of foreign currency rates had a favorable impact of $3.0 million and $13.5 million, respectively, on net sales for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006. The
overall increase was a result of net sales growth in Mexico, Brazil and the U.S. of $43.1 million, $6.6 million and $4.5 million, respectively, or 86.0%, 27.1% and 5.7%, respectively, for the quarter ended
June 30, 2006.

The net sales growth trend in Mexico reflects strong supervisor growth, up 100.7% at June 30, 2006, as compared to June 30, 2005, and the continued expansion of our Nutrition Clubs. We estimate
that distributors are operating approximately 33,000 Nutrition Clubs in Mexico. During the first six months of 2006 we opened an additional sales center in Mexico City, held a Presidents Team Tour attended
by approximately 9,000 distributors and held two Active Supervisor Schools, which approximately 4,300 distributors attended. Additionally, we relocated our Mexico headquarters and main warehouse in
Guadalajara and plan to open two distribution centers in key cities across the market to better support the increased sales.

The net sales growth trend in Brazil is a result of strong supervisor growth, up 23.0% at June 30, 2006, as compared to June 30, 2005, strong distributor leadership and a highly effective country
management team. In addition, expansion of the Total Plan lead generation method has been a key catalyst for growth. During the year we held a World Team School attended by over 4,500 distributors and
launched the NouriFusion basic line in individual use packets.

Net sales growth in the U.S. is primarily a result of strong supervisor growth, up 12.4% at June 30, 2006, as compared to June 30, 2005; the establishment of a dedicated U.S. country management
team; continued branding efforts such as sponsorship of the AVP Volleyball Tour, the Bay to Breakers Run and the 2006 Amgen Tour of California bicycle race; various new promotions including the 2006
Active World Team promotion and the 2006 President Team Challenge. To further support the retailing and recruiting efforts of our distributors, we plan to open two new sales centers in the U.S. during the
second half of 2006 to further support the overall sales growth and, in particular, to stimulate sales within the vicinity of the new sales centers. Additionally, we introduced in July 2006 at our North American
Extravaganza a water mixable version of our top selling Formula 1 shake, a reformulated version of our Garden 7 product and NouriFusion in individual use packets.

We believe that 2006 sales in the Americas region should continue its positive year over year growth primarily as a result of the expected continuation of the strong momentum in key markets.

Europe

Net sales in Europe increased $3.4 million and $0.3 million, or 2.4% and 0.1%, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to the same periods of 2005. In local
currency, net sales increased 2.7% and 4.1%, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to the same periods of 2005. The fluctuation of foreign currency rates had an
unfavorable impact on net sales of $0.5 million and $11.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006. Portugal, France, Italy and Spain continue to grow and experienced sales increases of
50.5%, 34.9%, 17.7% and 12.9%, respectively, while Germany and the Netherlands experienced decreases in net sales of 14.9% and 21.2%, respectively for the quarter ended June 30, 2006, as compared to
2005. During the first quarter we relocated our call centers to Italy, France and the Netherlands in an effort to improve service and support to distributors who previously were serviced out of the United
Kingdom. During this process we also opened our first sales center in the Netherlands.

The net sales increases in Portugal, France, Italy and Spain continued, primarily due to a well balanced performance across distributor retailing, recruiting and retention efforts, a united distributor
leadership working closely with the local management, and a program focus on the Total Plan. In addition, there has been an increasing emphasis on good health and nutrition in France, which is supported
and promoted by local nutritionists.

In Germany, a recently constituted strategy group has focused on turnaround initiatives, both in business activity as well as brand building. Significant distributor training has been undertaken,
concentrating on long term customers, nutrition clubs and wellness coaching. In addition, improved distributor communications has been a key focus and new online tools are being provided.

The decline in the Netherlands was primarily driven by lower recruiting of new distributors. A reconstituted distributor strategy group, working closely with regional management is focused on
initiatives to reverse that trend.
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These include a National Supervisor recruitment drive, the launch of Liftoff tm in June, a highly successful Spring Spectacular event and the appointment of a member of the Global Nutritional Advisory
Board.

While progress is being made, the turnaround is expected to be slow in both of the above markets and net sales for 2006 are expected to be below the level of 2005 for these countries.

We believe that 2006 sales in Europe should continue the positive year over year growth, as measured in local currencies, partly due to our global and local branding initiatives. This includes
sponsoring the London Triathlon, the Italian Beach Volleyball Championship, the Nice Ironman Triathlon and the Madrid Triathlon, which are intended to continually improve our corporate and brand
reputation in the market. We are also enhancing distributor communication processes and training, and, in addition, we have the introduction of some new products into the region, most notably Liftofftm.
Liftofftm was introduced in eight markets in the second quarter, and is scheduled for launch during the third quarter of 2006 in ten additional markets.

Asia/Pacific Rim

Net sales in Asia/Pacific Rim increased $13.8 million and $21.8 million, or 24.7% and 18.8%, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, as compared to the same periods of 2005.
In local currency, net sales increased 22.9% and 18.1%, respectively for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to the same periods of 2005. The fluctuation of foreign currency rates had a
$1.0 million and $0.9 million favorable impact, respectively, on net sales for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006. The overall increase was attributable mainly to increases in South Korea, China and
the opening of Malaysia in February 2006. During the quarter ended June 30, 2006, we held an extravaganza for the region in Bangkok, Thailand, which was attended by over 15,000 distributors from 13
countries.

Net sales in South Korea increased $2.3 million and $5.8 million, or 18.9% and 26.3%, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to 2005. This growth was a result of
positive momentum from the local events including leadership weekends and a unified focus by Korea’s country and distributor leadership. Also, during the first quarter of 2006 we made some modifications to
the local distributor compensation plan, which we expect to have a positive impact on recruiting in 2006.

Net sales in China increased by $5.5 million to $6.0 million and by $9.5 million to $10.2 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to the same periods of
2005. During the quarter ended June 30, 2006, approximately 1,300 distributors from China attended the Asia Pacific Extravaganza. Since March of 2005 we have opened 28 retail stores in 17 provinces
throughout China. We expect to increase the number of stores to cover approximately 20 provinces before the end of 2006.

Malaysia opened in February 2006 with over 10,000 attendees at various opening events. Net sales for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 was $7.4 million and $11.2 million, respectively.

Net sales in Taiwan decreased $0.9 million and $4.5 million, or 4.6% and 10.1%, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to the same periods of 2005. In local
currency, net sales in Taiwan decreased 2.2% and 7.9% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to the same periods of 2005. The fluctuation of foreign currency rates had an unfavorable
impact on net sales of $0.5 million and $0.9 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006. The decrease was primarily attributed to the local distributor leadership and some of their key members,
whose attention was focused primarily on the opening of Malaysia and the emerging business opportunity in China.

Overall, we believe that additional promotions, various branding initiatives including the sponsorship of several healthy lifestyle events in the region, the opening of Malaysia, the further expansion into
the Chinese market, the expansion of Nutrition Clubs within the region and new product introductions should continue the region’s positive year over year growth.

Japan

Net sales in Japan decreased $1.3 million and $5.9 million, or 6.4% and 12.5%, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to the same periods of 2005. In local
currency, net sales in Japan
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decreased 0.4% and 4.4% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to the same periods of 2005. The fluctuation of foreign currency rates had an unfavorable $1.2 million and $3.9 million
impact on net sales for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006. In spite of the decrease in net sales, the number of new distributors and the supervisor retention rate are improving when compared to the
same period last year. The improved retention rate was caused by an increase in the number of distributors taking advantage of the modified re-qualification criteria. We believe the modified re-qualification
criteria will lead to increased future sales. During the quarter ended June 30, 2006, approximately 1,200 distributors from the region attended the Asia Pacific Extravaganza in Bangkok and over 1,500
distributors attended nutrition club trainings hosted in three key cities. Additionally, Liftofftm and NouriFusiontm skin whitening foundation were launched. During the second half of 2006, we will be
launching several new products and promotions, which are expected to generate excitement among our distributors. Additionally, it is our plan to open another showroom and sales center in Osaka, which will
operate seven days a week.

Sales by Product Category

  Three Months Ended June 30,  
  2005   2006  
           Handling               Handling        
  Retail   Distributor   Product   & Freight   Net   Retail   Distributor   Product   & Freight   Net   % Change in  
  Sales   Allowance   Sales   Income   Sales   Sales   Allowance   Sales   Income   Sales   Net Sales  
  (Dollars in millions)  

Weight Management  $ 266.1  $ (130.9)  $ 135.2  $ 22.5  $ 157.7  $ 336.3  $ (166.6)  $ 169.7  $ 27.5  $ 197.2   25.0%
Inner Nutrition   278.6   (137.0)   141.6   23.5   165.1   349.6   (173.1)   176.5   28.7   205.2   24.3%
Outer Nutrition®   73.3   (36.0)   37.3   6.1   43.4   64.7   (32.0)   32.7   5.3   38.0   (12.4)%
Literature, Promotional and Other   14.0   3.3   17.3   1.2   18.5   20.4   3.5   23.9   1.7   25.6   38.4%
Total  $ 632.0  $ (300.6)  $ 331.4  $ 53.3  $ 384.7  $ 771.0  $ (368.2)  $ 402.8  $ 63.2  $ 466.0   21.1%

  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2005   2006  
           Handling               Handling        
  Retail   Distributor   Product   & Freight   Net   Retail   Distributor   Product   & Freight   Net   % Change in  
  Sales   Allowance   Sales   Income   Sales   Sales   Allowance   Sales   Income   Sales   Net Sales  
  (Dollars in millions)  

Weight Management  $ 522.8  $ (257.5)  $ 265.3  $ 44.2  $ 309.5  $ 658.8  $ (324.0)  $ 334.8  $ 54.3  $ 389.1   25.7%
Inner Nutrition   549.2   (270.5)   278.7   46.4   325.1   689.8   (339.2)   350.6   56.8   407.4   25.3%
Outer Nutrition®   145.3   (71.5)   73.8   12.2   86.0   134.2   (66.0)   68.2   11.0   79.2   (7.9)%
Literature, Promotional and Other   27.7   6.1   33.8   2.3   36.1   39.4   3.5   42.9   3.2   46.1   27.7%
Total  $ 1,245.0  $ (593.4)  $ 651.6  $ 105.1  $ 756.7  $ 1,522.2  $ (725.7)  $ 796.5  $ 125.3  $ 921.8   21.8%

Our increased emphasis on the science of weight management and nutrition during the past two years, illustrated by our assembly of the Scientific Advisory Board and the Medical Advisory Board,
has resulted in product introductions such as Niteworkstm and Garden 7tm and the introduction of ShapeWorkstm, a personalized meal replacement program. Due to the launch of these new products together
with the continued positive sales momentum discussed above, net sales of weight management products, and inner nutrition products increased at a higher rate than net sales of Outer Nutrition® products. We
expect shifts within these categories from time to time as we launch new products.

Gross Profit

Gross profit was $373.3 million and $737.8 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to $307.3 million and $603.6 million in the same periods of 2005. As a percentage of
net sales, gross profit for the three months ended June 30, 2006 increased slightly from 79.9% to 80.1%, as compared to the same period of 2005. The gross profit for the six months ended June 30, 2006
remained flat at approximately 80.0% of net sales, as compared to the same period of 2005. Generally, gross profit percentages do not vary significantly as a
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percentage of net sales other than due to ongoing cost reduction initiatives and provisions for slow moving and obsolete inventory. Additionally, we believe that we have the ability to mitigate price increases
by raising the prices of our products or shifting product sourcing to alternative manufacturers.

Royalty Overrides

Royalty Overrides as a percentage of net sales were 35.9% and 36.1% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to 35.6% and 36.0% in the same periods of 2005. Generally, this
ratio varies slightly from period to period due to changes in the mix of products and countries because full Royalty Overrides are not paid on certain products or in certain countries. Due to the structure of our
global compensation plan, we do not expect to see significant fluctuations in Royalty Overrides as a percent of net sales.

Selling, General & Administrative Expenses

Selling, General & Administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales were 30.2% and 29.9% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to 30.7% and 30.1% in the same periods
of 2005. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, Selling, General & Administrative expenses increased $23.1 million and $48.1 million to $140.9 million and $275.9 million, respectively, as
compared to the same periods of 2005. The favorable impact of foreign currency fluctuations was $3.2 million and $4.1 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively.

The increases in Selling, General, & Administrative expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 included $11.1 million and $22.1 million in higher salaries and benefits, due primarily to
normal merit increases, higher employee bonuses, higher stock based compensation expenses, increases related to the strengthening of the management team regionally and in the U.S; and higher compensation
costs associated with employee sales representatives in China; $3.7 million and $9.3 million in higher professional fees primarily associated with our technology infrastructure and legal expenses; $2.7 million
and $3.7 million in higher advertising and promotion expenses primarily associated with new promotions in 2006; and $2.2 million and $4.5 million in higher occupancy expenses due to new facilities,
respectively.

We expect 2006 Selling, General & Administrative expenses to increase over 2005 levels, reflecting general salary merit increases and the ongoing investments in our five key strategies — distributor,
direct-to-consumer, product development, China, and infrastructure strategies.

Net Interest Expense

Net interest expense was $5.0 million and $11.0 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, as compared to $7.4 million and $29.6 million for the same periods of 2005, reflecting the
lower level of debt from the redemption of 40% or $110.0 million principal amount of the 91/2% Notes in February 2005 and prepayments of the senior credit facility, partially offset by a higher weighted
average interest rate.

Income Taxes

Income taxes were $23.8 million and $43.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 respectively, as compared to $22.2 million and $37.8 million in the same periods of 2005. As a
percentage of pre-tax income, the effective income tax rate was 39.6% and 36.5% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively, as compared to 49.3% and 51.2% in the same periods of 2005.
The decrease in the effective tax rate for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 as compared to 2005 was caused primarily by higher pre-tax income, the impact of non-deductible recapitalization
charges in the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 and the settlement of an international tax audit in the first quarter of 2006. Excluding the completion of the international tax audit, the effective tax rate
would have been approximately 39.6% and 39.7% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively.
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Foreign Currency Fluctuations
Currency fluctuations had a favorable impact of $0.4 million and $2.6 million on net results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, when compared to what current year net results would

have been using last year’s foreign exchange rates. For the three months ended June 30, 2006, the regional effects of currency fluctuations were a favorable impact of $0.1 million in Europe, a favorable impact
of $0.2 million in Asia/Pacific Rim, a favorable impact of $0.4 million in The Americas and an unfavorable impact of $0.3 million in Japan. For the six months ended June 30, 2006, the regional effects of
currency fluctuations were an unfavorable impact of $1.3 million in Europe, zero impact in Asia/Pacific Rim, a favorable impact of $3.4 million in the Americas and a favorable impact of $0.5 million in
Japan.

Net Results

Net income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 was $36.3 million and $75.0 million, respectively, or $0.49 and $1.01 per diluted share, respectively, up from $22.8 million and
$36.1 million, or $0.32 and $0.50 per diluted share, respectively, for the same periods of 2005. Excluding the impact of a $3.7 million tax benefit resulting from an international income tax settlement in the
first quarter of 2006 and $14.2 million of recapitalization expenses incurred in the first quarter of 2005 associated with the $110.0 million clawback of our 91/2% Notes, net income increased 41.9% for the six
months ended June 30, 2006. The increase in net income was due to the net sales growth, lower interest expense and lower effective tax rate, partially offset by higher labor, promotional and professional fee
expenses. Overall, the appreciation of foreign currencies had a $0.4 million and a $2.6 million favorable impact on net results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically met our working capital and capital expenditure requirements, including funding for expansion of operations, through net cash flows provided by operating activities. Our principal
source of liquidity is our operating cash flows. Variations in sales of our products would directly affect the availability of funds. There are no material restrictions on the ability to transfer and remit funds
among our international affiliated companies.

For the six months ended June 30, 2006, we generated $102.4 million from operating cash flows, as compared to $69.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005. The increase in cash generated
from operations reflected an increase in net income of $39.0 million, which was primarily driven by a 21.8% growth in net sales, partially offset by higher royalty overrides and Selling, General &
Administrative expenses.

Capital expenditures, including capital leases, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 were $13.4 million and $25.6 million, respectively, as compared to $8.4 million and $12.8 million, for
the same periods in 2005. We expect to incur capital expenditures of approximately $55.0 million in 2006. The majority of these expenditures represented investments in management information systems, the
development of the Company’s direct-to-consumer platform, the expansion of our facilities in China, and for build-out and construction of new U.S. facilities.

2005 and 2006 are investment years for us in China as we expand our business there. The operating loss in China for 2005 was $2.2 million and we currently anticipate funding an operating loss of
approximately $4.5 million in 2006, in addition to total capital expenditures and working capital of up to $7.0 million for the planned build-out of retail stores, our offices and the expansion of the capabilities
of our manufacturing facility. In 2005 we invested approximately $4.5 million in capital expenditures in China.

We redeemed a $110 million principal amount, excluding discounts, or 40% of our outstanding 91/2% Notes in February of 2005 for the cash amount of $124.1 million, including a premium of
$10.5 million and accrued interest of $3.6 million. Interest expense in 2005 includes the redemption amount of $14.2 million, which represents $10.5 million of premium and $3.7 million of write-off of
deferred financing cost and discount.

The $225.0 million senior credit facility consists of a senior secured revolving credit facility with total availability of up to $25.0 million and a senior secured term loan facility in an aggregate principal
amount of $200.0 million. The revolver is available until December 21, 2009. The revolver bears interest at LIBOR plus 2%. In April 2005, the senior credit facility was amended whereby the interest rate was
reduced from LIBOR plus 21/4% to LIBOR plus 13/4%. In addition, the amount payable in connection with a partial or full refinancing of the loan within
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the first year of the amendment shall equal 101% of the principal amount. In August 2005, the senior credit facility was amended to permit the purchase, repurchase or redemption of up to $50.0 million
aggregate principal amount of the 91/2% Notes. In March 2006, we prepaid $9.8 million of our senior credit facility resulting in approximately $0.2 million additional interest expense from write-off of
deferred financing fees. With regard to the term loan, we are obligated to pay $0.2 million every quarter until September 30, 2010 and the remaining principal amount on December 21, 2010.

The senior credit facility and the 91/2% Notes include customary covenants that restrict, among other things, the ability to incur additional debt, pay dividends or make certain other restricted payments,
incur liens, merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets, or enter into various transactions with affiliates. Additionally, the senior credit facility includes covenants relating to the maintenance of certain
leverage, fixed charge coverage, and interest coverage ratios, and requirements to make early payments to the extent of excess cash flow, as defined therein.

The following summarizes our contractual obligations including interest at June 30, 2006 and the effect such obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flows in future periods:

  Payments Due by Period  
                    2011 &  
  Total   2006   2007   2008   2009   2010   Thereafter  
  (In millions)  

Senior secured term loan  $ 104.7  $ 3.3  $ 6.5  $ 6.4  $ 6.4  $ 82.1  $ — 
113/4% Notes   0.1   0.1   —   —   —   —   — 
91/2% Notes   243.4   7.8   15.7   15.7   15.7   15.7   172.8 
Capital leases   3.8   1.5   2.0   0.3   —   —   — 
Other debt   2.9   2.0   0.9   —   —   —   — 
Operating leases   95.0   10.4   15.4   11.2   9.6   8.7   39.7 
Total  $ 449.9  $ 25.1  $ 40.5  $ 33.6  $ 31.7  $ 106.5  $ 212.5 

As of June 30, 2006, we had positive working capital of $84.9 million. Cash and cash equivalents were $169.3 million at June 30, 2006, compared to $88.2 million at December 31, 2005.

In July 2006, we entered into a $300.0 million senior secured credit facility (the “New Credit Facility”) with a syndicate of financial institutions as lenders. The New Credit Facility replaced our
existing $225.0 million senior credit facility, originally entered into in December 2004. We have repaid all amounts outstanding under the senior credit facility amounting to $79.6 million. Also in July 2006,
we issued a notice to redeem our 91/2% Notes on August 23, 2006. The principal amount of the 91/2% Notes to be redeemed is $165.0 million. The 91/2% Notes will be redeemed at the mandatory redemption
price of approximately $109.8 per $100 aggregate principal amount of the 91/2% Notes. Borrowings under the New Credit Facility will be used to redeem the 91/2% Notes. Upon redemption of the
91/2% Notes, we expect to incur an after-tax one-time charge of approximately $14.0 million, representing the call premium and the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs.

We expect that cash and funds provided from operations and available borrowings under our existing revolving credit facility will provide sufficient working capital to operate our business, to make
expected capital expenditures and to meet foreseeable liquidity requirements, including the new senior credit facility. There can be no assurance, however, that our business will service our debt, including our
outstanding notes, or fund our other liquidity needs.

The majority of our purchases from suppliers are generally made in U.S. dollars while sales to Herbalife distributors generally are made in local currencies. Consequently, strengthening of the
U.S. dollar versus a foreign currency can have a negative impact on operating margins and can generate transaction losses on intercompany transactions. For discussion of our foreign exchange contracts and
other hedging arrangements, see the quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risks described below.
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Contingencies

We are from time to time engaged in routine litigation. We regularly review all pending litigation matters in which we are involved and establish reserves deemed appropriate by management for these
litigation matters when a probable loss estimate can be made.

Herbalife International and certain of its independent distributors have been named as defendants in a purported class action lawsuit filed February 17, 2005, in the Superior Court of California,
County of San Francisco, and served on Herbalife International on March 14, 2005 (Minton v. Herbalife International, et al). The case has been transferred to the Los Angeles County Superior Court. The
plaintiff is challenging the marketing practices of certain Herbalife International independent distributors and Herbalife International under various state laws prohibiting “endless chain schemes,” insufficient
disclosure in assisted marketing plans, unfair and deceptive business practices, and fraud and deceit. The plaintiff alleges that the Freedom Group system operated by certain independent distributors of
Herbalife International products places too much emphasis on recruiting and encourages excessively large purchases of product and promotional materials by distributors. The plaintiff also alleges that
Freedom Group pressured distributors to disseminate misleading promotional materials. The plaintiff seeks to hold Herbalife International vicariously liable for the actions of its independent distributors and is
seeking damages and injunctive relief. The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the suit.

Herbalife International and certain of its distributors have been named as defendants in a class action lawsuit filed July 16, 2003, in the Circuit Court of Ohio County in the State of West Virginia
(Mey v. Herbalife International, Inc., et al). On April 21, 2006, the court granted plaintiff’s motion for class certification in West Virginia. The complaint alleges that certain telemarketing practices of certain
Herbalife International distributors violate the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, or TCPA, and seeks to hold Herbalife International vicariously liable for the practices of these distributors. More
specifically, the plaintiffs’ complaint alleges that several of Herbalife International’s distributors used pre-recorded telephone messages and autodialers to contact prospective customers in violation of the
TCPA’s prohibition of such practices. Herbalife International’s distributors are independent contractors and if any such distributors in fact violated the TCPA they also violated Herbalife’s policies, which
require its distributors to comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws. The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the suit.

As a marketer of dietary and nutritional supplements and other products that are ingested by consumers or applied to their bodies, we have been and are currently subjected to various product liability
claims. The effects of these claims to date have not been material to us, and the reasonably possible range of exposure on currently existing claims is not material to us. We believe that we have meritorious
defenses to the allegations contained in the lawsuits. We currently maintain product liability insurance with an annual deductible of $10 million.

Certain of our subsidiaries have been subject to tax audits by governmental authorities in their respective countries. In certain of these tax audits, governmental authorities are proposing that significant
amounts of additional taxes and related interest and penalties are due. We and our tax advisors believe that there are substantial defenses to their allegations that additional taxes are owed, and we are
vigorously contesting the additional proposed taxes and related charges.

These matters may take several years to resolve, and we cannot be sure of their ultimate resolution. However, it is the opinion of management that adverse outcomes, if any, will not likely result in a
material effect on our financial condition and operating results. This opinion is based on our belief that any losses we suffer would not be material and that we have meritorious defenses. Although we have
reserved an amount that we believe represents the likely outcome of the resolution of these disputes, if we are incorrect in our assessment we may have to record additional expenses.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, which require us to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
year. Actual results could differ
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from those estimates. We consider the following policies to be most critical in understanding the judgments that are involved in preparing the financial statements and the uncertainties that could impact our
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We are a network marketing company that sells a wide range of weight management products, nutritional supplements and personal care products within one industry segment as defined under
SFAS 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information. Our products are manufactured by third party providers and then sold to independent distributors who sell Herbalife products
to retail consumers or other distributors.

We sell products in 62 countries throughout the world which are organized and managed by geographic region. In the first quarter of 2003, we elected to aggregate our operating segments into one
reporting segment, as management believes that our operating segments have similar operating characteristics and similar long term operating performance. In making this determination, management believes
that the operating segments are similar in the nature of the products sold, the product acquisition process, the types of customers products are sold to, the methods used to distribute the products and the nature
of the regulatory environment.

Revenue is recognized when products are shipped and title passes to the independent distributor or importer. Amounts billed for freight and handling costs are included in net sales. We generally
receive the net sales price in cash or through credit card payments at the point of sale. Related royalty overrides and allowances for product returns are recorded when the merchandise is shipped.

Allowances for product returns primarily in connection with our buyback program are provided at the time the product is shipped. This accrual is based upon historic return rates for each country,
which vary from zero to approximately 5.0% of retail sales, and the relevant return pattern, which reflects anticipated returns to be received over a period of up to 12 months following the original sale.
Historically, product returns and buybacks have not been significant. Product returns and buybacks were approximately 1.3%, 1.0% and 1.0%, 1.0%, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2006,
respectively. No material changes in estimates have been recognized for the three months ended June 30, 2005 and 2006.

We record reserves against our inventory to provide for estimated obsolete or unsalable inventory based on assumptions about future demand for our products and market conditions. If future demand
and market conditions are less favorable than management’s assumptions, additional reserves could be required. Likewise, favorable future demand and market conditions could positively impact future
operating results if previously reserved for inventory is sold. We reserved for obsolete and slow moving inventory totaling $8.0 million and $10.0 million as of December 31, 2005 and June 30, 2006,
respectively.

In accordance with Statement SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, long-lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment, and purchased intangibles
subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and
used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated
future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of would be separately presented in the
balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a disposed group classified as held for sale would be
presented separately in the appropriate asset and liability sections of the balance sheet.

Goodwill and other intangibles not subject to amortization are tested annually for impairment and are tested for impairment more frequently if events and circumstances indicate that the asset might be
impaired. An impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the asset’s fair value. This determination is made at the reporting unit level and consists of two steps. First, the
Company determines the fair value of a reporting unit and compares it to its carrying amount. Second, if the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized for any
excess of the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill and other intangibles over the implied fair value. The implied fair value is determined by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit in a manner
similar to a purchase price allocation, in accordance with SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations. The residual fair value after this allocation is the implied fair value
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of the reporting unit goodwill and other intangibles. As of June 30, 2006, we had goodwill of approximately $127.5 million, and marketing franchise of $310.0 million. Goodwill was reduced in the first and
second quarter of 2006 by approximately $4.7 million and $2.0 million, respectively, due primarily to the effect of the settlement of an international tax audit related to the pre-acquisition period and the
reduction of certain pre-acquisition income tax reserves.

Contingencies are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies (“SFAS No. 5”). SFAS No. 5 requires that we record an estimated loss from a loss contingency when
information available prior to issuance of our financial statements indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Accounting for contingencies such as legal and income tax matters requires us to use judgment. Many of these legal and tax contingencies can take years to be
resolved. Generally, as the time period increases over which the uncertainties are resolved, the likelihood of changes to the estimate of the ultimate outcome increases.

Deferred income tax assets have been established for net operating loss carryforwards of certain foreign subsidiaries and have been reduced by a valuation allowance to reflect them at amounts
estimated to be ultimately recognized. The net operating loss carryforwards expire in varying amounts over a future period of time. Realization of the income tax carryforwards is dependent on generating
sufficient taxable income prior to expiration of the carryforwards. Although realization is not assured, we believe it is more likely than not that the net carrying value of the income tax carryforwards will be
realized. The amount of the income tax carryforwards that is considered realizable, however, could change if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are adjusted.

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123R”). Under the fair value recognition provisions of this statement, share-based
compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the value of the award and is recognized as expense over the vesting period. Determining the fair value of share-based awards at the grant date requires
judgment, including estimating our stock price volatility and employee stock award exercise behaviors. Our expected volatility is primarily based upon on the historical volatility of Herbalife’s common stock
and, due to the limited period of public trading data for its common stock, it is also validated against the volatility of a company peer group. The expected life of awards is based on observed historical exercise
patterns, which can vary over time. As stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, the amount of expense has been
reduced for estimated forfeitures. SFAS No. 123R requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.
Forfeitures were estimated based on historical experience.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R, which generally requires, among other things, that all employee share-based compensation be measured
using a fair value method and that the resulting compensation cost be recognized in the financial statements. We selected the modified prospective method of adoption. Under this method, compensation
expense that we recognized for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 included: (a) compensation expense for all share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, based
on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and (b) compensation expense for all share-based payments
granted on or after January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R. Results for prior periods were not restated. See Note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements for more details on stock based compensation.

As of June 30, 2006, FASB Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN 48”) was issued in its final version. The Interpretation clarifies the accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. FIN 48 provides guidance on derecognition,
classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. Earlier
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application of the provisions of FIN 48 is encouraged if the enterprise has not yet issued financial statements, including interim financial statements, in the period FIN 48 is adopted. Our accounting for our
income tax contingency reserves are not based on the provisions of FIN 48 because our financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2006 have been issued without the early adoption of the
provisions of the Interpretation. Management is currently evaluating the impact of adopting FIN 48.

In June 2006, the FASB ratified the consensuses of Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 06-3, “How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should
Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation)” (“EITF 06-3”). EITF 06-3 clarifies that the scope of this Issue includes any tax assessed by a governmental authority that is
directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a customer and indicates that the income statement presentation on either a gross basis or a net basis of the taxes within the scope of
the Issue is an accounting policy decision that should be disclosed. Furthermore, for taxes reported on a gross basis, an enterprise should disclose the amounts of those taxes in interim and annual financial
statements for each period for which an income statement is presented. The consensus is effective, through retrospective application, for periods beginning after December 15, 2006. Management is currently
evaluating the impact of adopting EITF 06-3.

Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks, which arise during the normal course of business from changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. On a selected basis, we use derivative financial
instruments to manage or hedge these risks. All hedging transactions are authorized and executed pursuant to written guidelines and procedures.

We have adopted SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 133, as amended and interpreted, established accounting and reporting standards for
derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities. All derivatives, whether designated in hedging relationships or not, are required to be
recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. If the derivative is designated as a fair-value hedge, the changes in the fair value of the derivative and the underlying hedged item are recognized concurrently in
earnings. If the derivative is designated as a cash-flow hedge, changes in the fair value of the derivative are recorded in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) and are recognized in the statement of operations
when the hedged item affects earnings. SFAS No. 133 defined new requirements for designation and documentation of hedging relationships as well as ongoing effectiveness assessments in order to use hedge
accounting. For a derivative that does not qualify as a hedge, changes in fair value are recognized concurrently in earnings.

A discussion of our primary market risk exposures and derivatives is presented below.

Foreign Exchange Risk

We enter into foreign exchange derivatives in the ordinary course of business primarily to reduce exposure to currency fluctuations attributable to inter-company transactions and translation of local
currency revenue. Most of these foreign exchange contracts are designated as cash flow hedges for forecasted transactions.

We purchase average rate put options, which give us the right, but not the obligation, to sell foreign currency at a specified exchange rate (“strike rate”). These contracts provide protection in the event
that the foreign currency weakens beyond the option strike rate.

30



Table of Contents

The following table provides information about the details of our option contracts:

     Average   Fair   Maturity  
Foreign Currency  Coverage   Strike Price   Value   Date  

  (In millions)      (In millions)     

Purchase Puts (Company may sell peso/buy USD)                 
Mexican peso  $ 19.5   10.61 — 10.86  $ 1.1   Jul-Sep 2006 
Mexican peso  $ 18.5   10.69 — 10.94  $ 1.0   Oct-Dec 2006 
  $ 38.0      $ 2.1     
Purchase Puts (Company may sell real/buy USD)                 
Brazilian real  $ 6.0   2.24 — 2.38  $ 0.0   Jul-Sep 2006 
Brazilian real  $ 5.0   2.28 — 2.37  $ 0.1   Oct-Dec 2006 
  $ 11.0      $ 0.1     
Purchase Puts (Company may sell won/buy USD)                 
Korean won  $ 3.7   981.50 — 993.00  $ 0.0   Jul-Sep 2006 
Korean won  $ 3.8   980.75 — 992.25  $ 0.0   Oct-Dec 2006 
  $ 7.5      $ 0.0     
Purchase Puts (Company may sell pounds/buy USD)                 
British pound  $ 2.3   1.79 — 1.83  $ 0.0   Jul-Sep 2006 
British pound  $ 1.5   1.81 — 1.83  $ 0.0   Oct-Dec 2006 
  $ 3.8      $ 0.0     
Purchase Puts (Company may sell rand/buy USD)                 
South African rand  $ 0.8   6.08 — 6.09  $ 0.1   Jul-Sep 2006 
South African rand  $ 0.2   6.10 — 6.10  $ 0.0   Oct-Dec 2006 
  $ 1.0      $ 0.1     
Purchase Puts (Company may sell Taiwan dollar/buy USD)                 
Taiwan Dollar  $ 2.5   31.23 — 31.39  $ 0.1   Jul-Sep 2006 
Taiwan Dollar  $ 3.0   30.98 — 31.25  $ 0.1   Oct-Dec 2006 
  $ 5.5      $ 0.2     
Purchase Puts (Company may sell Australian dollar/buy USD)                 
Australian Dollar  $ 0.8   0.77 — 0.77  $ 0.0   Jul-Sep 2006 
  $ 0.8      $ 0.0     
Purchase Puts (Company may sell Euro/buy USD)                 
Euro  $ 1.5   1.28 — 1.30  $ 0.0   Jul-Sep 2006 
Euro  $ 1.5   1.29 — 1.30  $ 0.1   Oct-Dec 2006 
  $ 3.0      $ 0.1     

Foreign exchange forward contracts are used to hedge advances between subsidiaries. The objective of these contracts is to neutralize the impact of foreign currency movements on the subsidiary’s
operating results. The fair value of forward contracts is based on third-party bank quotes.
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The following table provides information about the details of our forward contracts:

  Contract   Forward   Maturity   Contract   Fair  
Foreign Currency  Date   Position   Date   Rate   Value  

     (In millions)         (In millions)  

At June 31, 2006                     
Buy SEK sell USD   06/28/06  $ 2.5   07/27/06   7.33  $ 2.6 
Buy EUR sell USD   06/28/06  $ 0.9   07/27/06   1.26  $ 1.0 
Buy GBP sell USD   06/28/06  $ 3.3   07/27/06   1.82  $ 3.3 
Buy USD sell TRY   06/28/06  $ 2.2   07/27/06   1.63  $ 2.2 
Buy USD sell KRW   06/28/06  $ 7.3   07/27/06   958.69  $ 7.4 
Buy JPY sell USD   06/28/06  $ 5.0   07/31/06   115.89  $ 5.1 
Buy KRW sell USD   06/28/06  $ 3.0   07/31/06   957.50  $ 3.0 
Buy INR sell USD   06/28/06  $ 5.3   07/31/06   46.47  $ 5.3 
Buy EUR sell USD   06/28/06  $ 16.8   07/27/06   1.26  $ 17.2 
Buy USD sell EUR   06/28/06  $ 16.6   07/27/06   1.26  $ 16.9 
Buy USD sell EUR   06/28/06  $ 33.0   07/31/06   1.26  $ 33.6 
Buy EUR sell USD   06/28/06  $ 18.2   07/30/06   1.26  $ 18.5 
Buy NZD sell EUR   06/28/06  $ 0.6   07/27/06   2.11  $ 0.6 
Buy TWD sell EUR   06/28/06  $ 5.0   07/30/06   40.71  $ 5.0 
Buy NOK sell EUR   06/28/06  $ 1.6   07/27/06   7.89  $ 1.6 
Buy DKK sell EUR   06/28/06  $ 1.4   07/27/06   7.46  $ 1.4 
Buy PLN sell EUR   06/28/06  $ 0.8   07/27/06   4.07  $ 0.8 
Buy USD sell EUR   06/28/06  $ 0.8   07/27/06   1.26  $ 0.7 
Buy EUR sell HUF   06/28/06  $ 0.6   07/27/06   280.75  $ 0.6 
Buy EUR sell SEK   06/28/06  $ 0.6   07/27/06   9.21  $ 0.6 
Buy YEN sell CHF   06/28/06  $ 18.0   07/27/06   93.20  $ 18.0 
Buy EUR sell GBP   06/28/06  $ 0.9   07/27/06   0.69  $ 0.9 

All our foreign subsidiaries, excluding those operating in hyper-inflationary environments, designate their local currencies as their functional currency. At June 30, 2006, the total amount of our
foreign subsidiary cash was $99.7 million, of which $4.1 million was invested in U.S. dollars.

Interest Rate Risk

We use interest rate swaps to hedge the interest rate exposure on the variable interest rate associated with our senior credit facility. They provide protection in the event the LIBOR rates fluctuate.
Interest rate swaps are designated as cash flow hedges. The table below describes the interest rate swap that was outstanding:

  Notional  Average  Fair  Maturity
Interest Rate  Amount  Rate  Value  Date

  (In millions)    (In millions)   

At June 30, 2006                 
Interest rate swap  $ 20.0   4.30%  $ 0.40   01/28/2008 

32



Table of Contents

The table below presents principal cash flows and interest rates by maturity dates and the fair values of our borrowings as of June 30, 2006. Fair values for fixed rate borrowings have been determined
based on recent market trade values. The fair values for variable rate borrowings approximate their carrying value. Variable interest rates disclosed represent the rates on the borrowings at June 30, 2006.
Interest rate risk related to our capital leases is not significant.

  Expected Maturity Date  
  2006   2007   2008   2009   2010   Thereafter   Total   Fair Value  

Long-term Debt                                 
Fixed Rate (in millions)  $ 0.1   —   —   —   —  $ —  $ 0.1  $ 0.1 
Average Interest Rate                           11.75%    
Variable Rate (in millions)  $ 0.4  $ 0.8  $ 0.8  $ 0.8  $ 76.8  $ —  $ 79.6  $ 79.6 
Average Interest Rate                           7.10%    
Fixed Rate (in millions)   —   —   —   —   —  $ 165.0  $ 165.0  $ 176.6 
Average Interest Rate                           9.5%    

Under the Company’s existing term loan in effect as of June 30, 2006, the Company is obligated to enter into (for a minimum of three years after December 21, 2004) an interest rate hedge for up to
25% of the aggregate principal amount of the term loan. On February 24, 2005 the Company entered into an interest rate swap, as discussed above, to fulfill this obligation.

Item 4.  Controls And Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.  Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)), as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on
such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.  There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) that occurred during the last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and Section 21E of the Exchange Act.. All statements other than
statements of historical fact are “forward-looking statements” for purposes of federal and state securities laws, including any projections of earnings, revenue or other financial items; any statements of the
plans, strategies and objectives of management for future operations; any statements concerning proposed new services or developments; any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance;
any statements of belief; and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Forward-looking statements may include the words “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “intend,” “continue,” “believe,”
“expect” or “anticipate” and other similar words.

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in any of our forward-looking statements are reasonable, actual results could differ materially from those projected or assumed in any of our
forward-looking statements. Our future financial condition and results of operations, as well as any forward-looking statements, are subject to change and to inherent risks and uncertainties, such as those
disclosed in this document. Important factors that could cause our actual results, performance and achievements, or industry results to differ materially from estimates or projections contained in our forward-
looking statements include, among others, the following:

 • our relationship with, and our ability to influence the actions of, our distributors;

 • adverse publicity associated with our products or network marketing organization;
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 • uncertainties relating to interpretation and enforcement of recently enacted legislation in China governing direct selling;

 • adverse changes in the Chinese economy, Chinese legal system or Chinese governmental policies;

 • risk of improper action by Chinese employees or international distributors in violation of Chinese law;

 • changing consumer preferences and demands;

 • the competitive nature of our business;

 • regulatory matters governing our products, including potential governmental or regulatory actions concerning the safety or efficacy of our products, and our network marketing program, including the
direct selling market within which we operate;

 • risks associated with operating internationally, including foreign exchange risks;

 • our dependence on increased penetration of existing markets;

 • contractual limitations on our ability to expand our business;

 • our reliance on our information technology infrastructure and outside manufacturers;

 • the sufficiency of trademarks and other intellectual property rights;

 • product concentration;

 • our reliance on our management team;

 • uncertainties relating to the application of transfer pricing and similar tax regulations;

 • taxation relating to our distributors; and

 • product liability claims.

Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our forward-looking statements are set forth in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including under the heading “Risk
Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in our Financial Statements and the related notes.

Forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q speak only as of the date hereof, and forward looking statements in documents attached are incorporated by reference and speak
only as of the date of those documents. The Company does not undertake any obligation to update or release any revisions to any forward-looking statement or to report any events or circumstances after the
date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See discussion under Note 5 in the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 1 of this report.

Item 1.a  RISK FACTORS

Our failure to establish and maintain distributor relationships for any reason could negatively impact sales of our products and harm our financial condition and operating results.

We distribute our products exclusively through over one million independent distributors, and we depend upon them directly for substantially all of our sales. To increase our revenue, we must
increase the number of, or the productivity of, our distributors. Accordingly, our success depends in significant part upon our ability to recruit, retain and motivate a large base of distributors. There is a high
rate of turnover among our distributors, a
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characteristic of the network marketing business. The loss of a significant number of distributors for any reason could negatively impact sales of our products and could impair our ability to attract new
distributors. In our efforts to attract and retain distributors, we compete with other network marketing organizations, including those in the weight management product, dietary and nutritional supplement and
personal care and cosmetic product industries. Our operating results could be harmed if our existing and new business opportunities and products do not generate sufficient interest to retain existing distributors
and attract new distributors.

In light of the high year-over-year rate of turnover in our distributor base, we have our supervisors re-qualify annually in order to help us maintain a more accurate count of their numbers. For the latest
twelve month re-qualification period ending January 2006, 41.5% of our supervisors re-qualified. Distributors who purchase our product for personal consumption or for short-term income goals may stay with
us for several months to one year. Supervisors who have committed time and effort to build a sales organization will generally stay for longer periods. Distributors have highly variable levels of training, skills
and capabilities. The turnover rate of our distributors, and our operating results, can be adversely impacted if we, and our senior distributor leadership, do not provide the necessary mentoring, training and
business support tools for new distributors to become successful sales people in a short period of time.

We estimate that, of our over one million independent distributors, we had approximately 244,000 supervisors after re-qualifications in February 2006. These supervisors, together with their downline
sales organizations, account for substantially all of our revenues. Our distributors, including our supervisors, may voluntarily terminate their distributor agreements with us at any time. The loss of a group of
leading supervisors, together with their downline sales organizations, or the loss of a significant number of distributors for any reason, could negatively impact sales of our products, impair our ability to attract
new distributors and harm our financial condition and operating results.

Since we cannot exert the same level of influence or control over our independent distributors as we could were they our own employees, our distributors could fail to comply with our distributor
policies and procedures, which could result in claims against us that could harm our financial condition and operating results.

Our distributors are independent contractors and, accordingly, we are not in a position to directly provide the same direction, motivation and oversight as we would if distributors were our own
employees. As a result, there can be no assurance that our distributors will participate in our marketing strategies or plans, accept our introduction of new products, or comply with our distributor policies and
procedures.

Extensive federal, state and local laws regulate our business, our products and our network marketing program. Because we have expanded into foreign countries, our policies and procedures for our
independent distributors differ due to the different legal requirements of each country in which we do business. While we have implemented distributor policies and procedures designed to govern distributor
conduct and to protect the goodwill associated with Herbalife trademarks and tradenames, it can be difficult to enforce these policies and procedures because of the large number of distributors and their
independent status. Violations by our distributors of applicable law or of our policies and procedures in dealing with customers could reflect negatively on our products and operations and harm our business
reputation. In addition, it is possible that a court could hold us civilly or criminally accountable based on vicarious liability because of the actions of our independent distributors. If any of these events occur,
the value of an investment in our common shares could be impaired. For example, in Mey v. Herbalife International, et al, the plaintiff seeks to hold the Company vicariously liable for actions of certain of its
distributors, each of whom is an independent contractor. While the Company vigorously denies such distributors were acting as agents of the Company, and although the court specifically did not rule on the
question of vicarious liability, on April 21, 2006 it did grant the plaintiff’s motion to certify the case as a class action. We believe that we have meritorious defenses and will continue to vigorously defend this
lawsuit.
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Adverse publicity associated with our products, ingredients or network marketing program, or those of similar companies, could harm our financial condition and operating results.

The size of our distribution force and the results of our operations may be significantly affected by the public’s perception of our Company and similar companies. This perception is dependent upon
opinions concerning:

 • the safety and quality of our products and ingredients;

 • the safety and quality of similar products and ingredients distributed by other companies;

 • our distributors;

 • our network marketing program; and

 • the direct selling business generally.

Adverse publicity concerning any actual or purported failure of our Company or our distributors to comply with applicable laws and regulations regarding product claims and advertising, good
manufacturing practices, the regulation of our network marketing program, the licensing of our products for sale in our target markets or other aspects of our business, whether or not resulting in enforcement
actions or the imposition of penalties, could have an adverse effect on the goodwill of our Company and could negatively affect our ability to attract, motivate and retain distributors, which would negatively
impact our ability to generate revenue. We cannot ensure that all distributors will comply with applicable legal requirements relating to the advertising, labeling, licensing or distribution of our products.

In addition, our distributors’ and consumers’ perception of the safety and quality of our products and ingredients as well as similar products and ingredients distributed by other companies can be
significantly influenced by national media attention, publicized scientific research or findings, widespread product liability claims and other publicity concerning our products or ingredients or similar products
and ingredients distributed by other companies. Adverse publicity, whether or not accurate or resulting from consumers’ use or misuse of our products, that associates consumption of our products or
ingredients or any similar products or ingredients with illness or other adverse effects, questions the benefits of our or similar products or claims that any such products are ineffective, inappropriately labeled
or have inaccurate instructions as to their use, could negatively impact our reputation or the market demand for our products.

Adverse publicity relating to us, our products or our operations, including our network marketing program or the attractiveness or viability of the financial opportunities provided thereby, has had, and
could again have, a negative effect on our ability to attract, motivate and retain distributors. In the mid-1980’s, our products and marketing program became the subject of regulatory scrutiny in the United
States, resulting in large part from claims and representations made about our products by our distributors, including impermissible therapeutic claims. The resulting adverse publicity caused a rapid,
substantial loss of distributors in the United States and a corresponding reduction in sales beginning in 1985. We expect that negative publicity will, from time to time, continue to negatively impact our
business in particular markets.

Our failure to appropriately respond to changing consumer preferences and demand for new products or product enhancements could significantly harm our distributor and customer relationships and
product sales and harm our financial condition and operating results and cause the loss or reduction in the value of your investment in our common shares.

Our business is subject to changing consumer trends and preferences, especially with respect to weight management products. Our continued success depends in part on our ability to anticipate and
respond to these changes, and we may not respond in a timely or commercially appropriate manner to such changes. Furthermore, the nutritional supplement industry is characterized by rapid and frequent
changes in demand for products and new product introductions and enhancements. Our failure to accurately predict these trends could negatively impact consumer opinion of our products, which in turn could
harm our customer and distributor relationships and cause
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the loss of sales. The success of our new product offerings and enhancements depends upon a number of factors, including our ability to:

 • accurately anticipate customer needs;

 • innovate and develop new products or product enhancements that meet these needs;

 • successfully commercialize new products or product enhancements in a timely manner;

 • price our products competitively;

 • manufacture and deliver our products in sufficient volumes and in a timely manner; and

 • differentiate our product offerings from those of our competitors.

If we do not introduce new products or make enhancements to meet the changing needs of our customers in a timely manner, some of our products could be rendered obsolete, which could negatively
impact our revenues, financial condition and operating results.

Due to the high level of competition in our industry, we might fail to retain our customers and distributors, which would harm our financial condition and operating results.

The business of marketing weight management and nutrition products is highly competitive and sensitive to the introduction of new products or weight management plans, including various
prescription drugs, which may rapidly capture a significant share of the market. These market segments include numerous manufacturers, distributors, marketers, retailers and physicians that actively compete
for the business of consumers both in the United States and abroad. In addition, we anticipate that we will be subject to increasing competition in the future from sellers that utilize electronic commerce. Some
of these competitors have longer operating histories, significantly greater financial, technical, product development, marketing and sales resources, greater name recognition, larger established customer bases
and better-developed distribution channels than we do. Our present or future competitors may be able to develop products that are comparable or superior to those we offer, adapt more quickly than we do to
new technologies, evolving industry trends and standards or customer requirements, or devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of their products than we do. For example, if our
competitors develop other diet or weight loss treatments that prove to be more effective than our products, demand for our products could be reduced. Accordingly, we may not be able to compete effectively
in our markets and competition may intensify.

We are also subject to significant competition for the recruitment of distributors from other network marketing organizations, including those that market weight management products, dietary and
nutritional supplements and personal care products as well as other types of products. We compete for global customers and distributors with regard to weight management, nutritional supplement and personal
care products. Our competitors include both direct selling companies such as NuSkin Enterprises, Nature’s Sunshine, Alticor/Amway, Melaleuca, Avon Products, Oriflame and Mary Kay, as well as retail
establishments such as Weight Watchers, Jenny Craig, General Nutrition Centers, Wal-Mart and retail pharmacies. In addition, because the industry in which we operate is not particularly capital intensive or
otherwise subject to high barriers to entry, it is relatively easy for new competitors to emerge who will compete with us for our distributors and customers. In addition, the fact that our distributors may easily
enter and exit our network marketing program contributes to the level of competition that we face. For example, a distributor can enter or exit our network marketing system with relative ease at any time
without facing a significant investment or loss of capital because (1) we have a low upfront financial cost (generally $50 to $75) to become a Herbalife distributor, (2) we do not require any specific amount of
time to work as a distributor, (3) we do not insist on any special training to be a distributor and (4) we do not prohibit a new distributor from working with another company. Our ability to remain competitive
therefore depends, in significant part, on our success in recruiting and retaining distributors through an attractive compensation plan, the maintenance of an attractive product portfolio and other incentives. We
cannot ensure that our programs for recruitment and retention of distributors will be successful, and if they are not, our financial condition and operating results would be harmed.

37



Table of Contents

We are affected by extensive laws, governmental regulations, administrative determinations, court decisions and similar constraints both domestically and abroad and our failure or our distributors’
failure to comply with these restraints could lead to the imposition of significant penalties or claims, which could harm our financial condition and operating results.

In both domestic and foreign markets, the formulation, manufacturing, packaging, labeling, distribution, importation, exportation, licensing, sale and storage of our products are affected by extensive
laws, governmental regulations, administrative determinations, court decisions and similar constraints. Such laws, regulations and other constraints may exist at the federal, state or local levels in the United
States and at all levels of government in foreign jurisdictions. There can be no assurance that we or our distributors are in compliance with all of these regulations. Our failure or our distributors’ failure to
comply with these regulations or new regulations could lead to the imposition of significant penalties or claims and could negatively impact our business. In addition, the adoption of new regulations or
changes in the interpretations of existing regulations may result in significant compliance costs or discontinuation of product sales and may negatively impact the marketing of our products, resulting in
significant loss of sales revenues.

On April 12, 2006 the Federal Trade Commission issued a notice of proposed rulemaking which, if implemented, will regulate all sellers of “business opportunities” in the United States. The proposed
rule would, among other things, require all sellers of business opportunities, which would likely include the Company, to (i) implement a seven day waiting period before entering into an agreement with a
prospective business opportunity purchaser, (ii) provide all prospective business opportunity purchasers with substantial information in writing at the beginning of the waiting period regarding the business
opportunity, including information relating to: representations made as to the earnings experience of other business opportunity purchasers, the names and telephone numbers of recent purchasers in their
geographic area, cancellation or refund policies and requests within the prior two years, certain legal actions against the company, its affiliated companies and company officers, directors, sales managers and
certain others. The Company, other direct selling companies, the Direct Selling Association, and other interested parties have filed over 17,000 comments with the FTC that are publicly available regarding the
proposed rule through the FTC’s website at http://www.ftc.gov/os/comments/businessopprule/index.htm. Based on information currently available, we anticipate that the final rule may require several years to
become final and effective, may differ substantially from the rule as originally proposed. Nevertheless the proposed rule, if implemented in its original form, would negatively impact our U.S. business.

Governmental regulations in countries where we plan to commence or expand operations may prevent or delay entry into those markets. In addition, our ability to sustain satisfactory levels of sales in
our markets is dependent in significant part on our ability to introduce additional products into such markets. However, governmental regulations in our markets, both domestic and international, can delay or
prevent the introduction, or require the reformulation or withdrawal, of certain of our products. For example, during the third quarter of 1995, we received inquiries from certain governmental agencies within
Germany and Portugal regarding our product, Thermojetics® Instant Herbal Beverage, relating to the caffeine content of the product and the status of the product as an “instant tea,” which was disfavored by
regulators, versus a “beverage.” Although we initially suspended the product sale in Germany and Portugal at the request of the regulators, we successfully reintroduced it once regulatory issues were
satisfactorily resolved. Any such regulatory action, whether or not it results in a final determination adverse to us, could create negative publicity, with detrimental effects on the motivation and recruitment of
distributors and, consequently, on sales.

On March 7, 2003, the FDA proposed a new regulation to require current Good Manufacturing Practices (cGMPs) affecting the manufacture, packing, and holding of dietary supplements. The
proposed regulation would establish standards to ensure that dietary supplements and dietary ingredients are not adulterated with contaminants or impurities, and are labeled to accurately reflect the active
ingredients and other ingredients in the products. It also includes proposed requirements for designing and constructing physical plants, establishing quality control procedures, and testing manufactured dietary
ingredients and dietary supplements, as well as proposed requirements for maintaining records and for handling consumer complaints related to cGMPs. We are evaluating this proposal with respect to its
potential impact upon the various contract manufacturers that we use to manufacture our products, some of whom might not meet the new standards. It is important to note that the proposed regulation, in an
effort to limit disruption, includes a three-year phase-in for small businesses of any final regulation that is issued.

38



Table of Contents

Should the final cGMP regulations be issued by the FDA in late 2006, this will mean that some of our smaller contract manufacturers will not be fully impacted by the proposed regulation until at least 2009.
However, the proposed regulation can be expected to result in additional costs and possibly the need to seek alternate suppliers.

Our network marketing program could be found to be not in compliance with current or newly adopted laws or regulations in one or more markets, which could prevent us from conducting our
business in these markets and harm our financial condition and operating results.

Our network marketing program is subject to a number of federal and state regulations administered by the Federal Trade Commission and various state agencies in the United States as well as
regulations on direct selling in foreign markets administered by foreign agencies. We are subject to the risk that, in one or more markets, our network marketing program could be found not to be in compliance
with applicable law or regulations. Regulations applicable to network marketing organizations generally are directed at preventing fraudulent or deceptive schemes, often referred to as “pyramid” or “chain
sales” schemes, by ensuring that product sales ultimately are made to consumers and that advancement within an organization is based on sales of the organization’s products rather than investments in the
organization or other non-retail sales-related criteria. The regulatory requirements concerning network marketing programs do not include “bright line” rules and are inherently fact-based, and thus, even in
jurisdictions where we believe that our network marketing program is in full compliance with applicable laws or regulations governing network marketing systems, we are subject to the risk that these laws or
regulations or the enforcement or interpretation of these laws and regulations by governmental agencies or courts can change. The failure of our network marketing program to comply with current or newly
adopted regulations could negatively impact our business in a particular market or in general.

We are also subject to the risk of private party challenges to the legality of our network marketing program. The multi-level marketing programs of other companies have been successfully challenged
in the past, and in a current lawsuit, allegations have been made challenging the legality of our network marketing program in Belgium. Test Ankoop-Test Achat, a Belgian consumer protection organization,
sued Herbalife International Belgium, S.V., or HIB, on August 26, 2004, alleging that HIB violated Article 84 of the Belgian Fair Trade Practices Act by engaging in pyramid selling, i.e., establishing a
network of professional or non-professional sales people who hope to make a profit more through the expansion of that network rather than through the sale of products to end-consumers. The plaintiff is
seeking a payment of €25,000 (equal to approximately $32,000 as of June 30, 2006) per purported violation as well as costs of the trial. For the year ended December 31, 2005, our net sales in Belgium were
approximately $15.9 million. Currently, the lawsuit is in the pleading stage. The plaintiffs filed their initial brief on September 27, 2005. An adverse judicial determination with respect to our network
marketing program, or in proceedings not involving us directly but which challenge the legality of multi-level marketing systems, in Belgium or in any other market in which we operate, could negatively
impact our business.

A substantial portion of our business is conducted in foreign markets, exposing us to the risks of trade or foreign exchange restrictions, increased tariffs, foreign currency fluctuations and similar risks
associated with foreign operations.

Approximately 82% of our net sales for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006, were generated outside the United States, exposing our business to risks associated with foreign operations. For
example, a foreign government may impose trade or foreign exchange restrictions or increased tariffs, which could negatively impact our operations. We are also exposed to risks associated with foreign
currency fluctuations. For instance, purchases from suppliers are generally made in U.S. dollars while sales to distributors are generally made in local currencies. Accordingly, strengthening of the U.S. dollar
versus a foreign currency could have a negative impact on us. Although we engage in transactions to protect against risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations, we cannot be certain any hedging
activity will effectively reduce our exchange rate exposure. Our operations in some markets also may be adversely affected by political, economic and social instability in foreign countries. As we continue to
focus on expanding our existing international operations, these and other risks associated with international operations may increase, which could harm our financial condition and operating results.
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Our expansion in China is subject to general, as well as industry-specific, economic, political and legal developments in China, and requires that we utilize a different business model from that we use
elsewhere in the world.

Our expansion of operations into China is subject to risks and uncertainties related to general economic, political and legal developments in China, among other things. The Chinese government
exercises significant control over the Chinese economy, including but not limited to controlling capital investments, allocating resources, setting monetary policy, controlling foreign exchange and monitoring
foreign exchange rates, implementing and overseeing tax regulations and providing preferential treatment to certain industry segments or companies. Accordingly, any adverse change in the Chinese economy,
the Chinese legal system or Chinese governmental, economic or other policies could have a material adverse effect on our business in China.

In August 2005, China published regulations governing direct selling (effective December 1, 2005) and prohibiting pyramid promotional schemes (effective November 1, 2005) and a number of
administrative methods and proclamations were issued in September 2005. These regulations will require us to use a business model different from that which we offer in other markets. To allow us to operate
under these regulations, we have created and introduced a model specifically for China. In China, we have Company-operated retail stores that sell through employed sales management personnel to customers
and preferred customers. We provide training and certification procedures for sales personnel in China. We also sell through independent direct sellers. These features are not common to the business model we
employ elsewhere in the world. The direct selling regulations require us to apply for approval to conduct a direct selling enterprise in China. There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain that
license. Additionally, although certain regulations have been published, others are pending, and there is uncertainty regarding the interpretation and enforcement of such regulations. The regulatory
environment in China is evolving, and officials in the Chinese government often exercise discretion in deciding how to interpret and apply regulations. As such, we have worked closely with governmental
agencies and advisors in interpreting both the existing regulations and the new regulations. However, we cannot be certain that our business model will be deemed by national or local Chinese regulatory
authorities to be compliant with these or other more general regulations. In the past, the Chinese government has rigorously monitored the direct selling market in China, and has taken serious action against
companies that the government believed were engaging in activities they regarded to be in violation of applicable law, including shutting down their businesses and imposing substantial fines. As a result, there
can be no guarantee that the Chinese government’s interpretation and application of the existing and new regulations will not negatively impact our business in China, result in regulatory investigations or lead
to fines or penalties.

Chinese regulations prevent persons who are not Chinese nationals from engaging in direct selling in China. We cannot guarantee that any of our distributors living outside of China or any of our
independent sales representatives or employed sales management personnel in China will not engage in activities that violate our policies in this market and therefore result in regulatory action and adverse
publicity.

As we expand operations in China, we anticipate that certain distributors will switch their focus from their home markets to that of China. As a result, we may see reduced distributor focus in Hong
Kong, Taiwan and possibly other of our markets as Chinese nationals that are distributors shift their attention to China, and a resultant reduction in distributor growth, leadership and revenue in these other
countries.

If our operations in China are successful, we may experience rapid growth in China, and there can be no assurances that we will be able to successfully manage rapid expansion of manufacturing
operations and a rapidly growing and dynamic sales force. There also can be no assurances that we will not experience difficulties in dealing with or taking employment related actions (such as hiring,
terminations and salary administration, including social benefit payments) with respect to our employed sales representatives, particularly given the highly regulated nature of the employment relationship in
China. If we are unable to effectively manage such growth and expansion of our retail stores, manufacturing operations or our employees, our government relations may be compromised and our operations in
China may be harmed.

Our China business model, particularly with regard to sales management responsibilities and remuneration, differs from our traditional business model. There is a risk that such changes and transitions
may not be understood by our distributors or employees, may be viewed negatively by our distributors or employees, or may not be correctly utilized by our distributors or employees. If that is the case, our
business could be negatively impacted.
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If we fail to further penetrate existing markets or successfully expand our business into new markets, then the growth in sales of our products, along with our operating results, could be negatively
impacted and investors could lose all or part of their investment in our common shares.

The success of our business is to a large extent contingent on our ability to continue to grow by entering new markets and further penetrating existing markets. Our ability to further penetrate existing
markets in which we compete or to successfully expand our business into additional countries in Eastern Europe, Southeast Asia, South America or elsewhere, to the extent we believe that we have identified
attractive geographic expansion opportunities in the future, is subject to numerous factors, many of which are out of our control.

In addition, government regulations in both our domestic and international markets can delay or prevent the introduction, or require the reformulation or withdrawal, of some of our products, which
could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. Also, our ability to increase market penetration in certain countries may be limited by the finite number of persons in a given
country inclined to pursue a direct selling business opportunity. Moreover, our growth will depend upon improved training and other activities that enhance distributor retention in our markets. We cannot
assure you that our efforts to increase our market penetration and distributor retention in existing markets will be successful. Thus, if we are unable to continue to expand into new markets or further penetrate
existing markets, our operating results would suffer and the market value of our common shares could decline.

Our contractual obligation to sell our products only through our Herbalife distributor network and to refrain from changing certain aspects of our marketing plan may limit our growth.

In connection with the Acquisition, we entered into an agreement with our distributors that provided assurances that the change in ownership of our Company would not negatively affect certain
aspects of their business. Through this agreement, we have committed to our distributors that we will not sell Herbalife products through any distribution channel other than our network of independent
Herbalife distributors. Thus, we are contractually prohibited from expanding our business by selling Herbalife products through other distribution channels that may be available to our competitors, such as
over the internet, through wholesale sales, by establishing retail stores or through mail order systems. Since this is an ongoing or open-ended commitment, there can be no assurance that we will be able to take
advantage of innovative new distribution channels that are developed in the future.

In addition, our agreement with our distributors provides that we will not change certain aspects of our marketing plan without the consent of a specified percentage of our distributors. For example,
our agreement with our distributors provides that we may increase, but not decrease, the discount percentages available to our distributors for the purchase of products or the applicable royalty override
percentages, including roll-ups, and production and other bonus percentages available to our distributors at various qualification levels within our distributor hierarchy. We may not modify the eligibility or
qualification criteria for these discounts, royalty overrides and production and other bonuses unless we do so in a manner to make eligibility and/or qualification easier than under the applicable criteria in
effect as of the date of the agreement. Our agreement with our distributors further provides that we may not vary the criteria for qualification for each distributor tier within our distributor hierarchy, unless we
do so in such a way so as to make qualification easier.

Although we reserved the right to make these changes to our marketing plan without the consent of our distributors in the event that changes are required by applicable law or are necessary in our
reasonable business judgment to account for specific local market or currency conditions to achieve a reasonable profit on operations, there can be no assurance that our agreement with our distributors will not
restrict our ability to adapt our marketing plan to the evolving requirements of the markets in which we operate. As a result, our growth, and the potential of growth in the value of your investment in our
common shares, may be limited.

We depend on the integrity and reliability of our information technology infrastructure, and any related inadequacies may result in substantial interruptions to our business.

Our ability to timely provide products to our distributors and their customers, and services to our distributors, depends on the integrity of our information technology system, which we are in the
process of upgrading, including
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the reliability of software and services supplied by our vendors. We are implementing an Oracle enterprise-wide technology solution, a scalable and stable open architecture platform, to enhance our and our
distributors’ efficiency and productivity. In addition, we are upgrading our internet-based marketing and distributor services platform, MyHerbalife.com. We expect these initiatives to be substantially complete
by 2008.

The most important aspect of our information technology infrastructure is the system through which we record and track distributor sales, volume points, royalty overrides, bonuses and other
incentives. We have encountered, and may encounter in the future, errors in our software or our enterprise network, or inadequacies in the software and services supplied by our vendors, although to date none
of these errors or inadequacies has had a meaningful negative impact on our business. Any such errors or inadequacies that we may encounter in the future may result in substantial interruptions to our services
and may damage our relationships with, or cause us to lose, our distributors if the errors or inadequacies impair our ability to track sales and pay royalty overrides, bonuses and other incentives, which would
harm our financial condition and operating results. Such errors may be expensive or difficult to correct in a timely manner, and we may have little or no control over whether any inadequacies in software or
services supplied to us by third parties are corrected, if at all.

Since we rely on independent third parties for the manufacture and supply of our products, if these third parties fail to reliably supply products to us at required levels of quality, then our financial
condition and operating results would be harmed.

All of our products are manufactured by outside companies, except for a small amount of products manufactured in our own manufacturing facility in China. We cannot assure you that our outside
manufacturers will continue to reliably supply products to us at the levels of quality, or the quantities, we require, especially after the FDA imposes cGMPs regulations.

Our supply contracts generally have a two-year term. Except for force majeure events, such as natural disasters and other acts of God, and non-performance by Herbalife, our manufacturers generally
cannot unilaterally terminate these contracts. These contracts can generally be extended by us at the end of the relevant time period and we have exercised this right in the past. Globally we have over 40
suppliers of our products. For our major products, we have both primary and secondary suppliers. Our major suppliers include Nature’s Bounty for protein powders, Fine Foods (Italy) for protein powders and
nutritional supplements, PharmaChem Labs for teas and Niteworkstm and JB Labs for fiber. In the event any of our third-party manufacturers were to become unable or unwilling to continue to provide us with
products in required volumes and at suitable quality levels, we would be required to identify and obtain acceptable replacement manufacturing sources. There is no assurance that we would be able to obtain
alternative manufacturing sources on a timely basis. An extended interruption in the supply of products would result in the loss of sales. In addition, any actual or perceived degradation of product quality as a
result of reliance on third party manufacturers may have an adverse effect on sales or result in increased product returns and buybacks.

If we fail to protect our trademarks and tradenames, then our ability to compete could be negatively affected, which would harm our financial condition and operating results.

The market for our products depends to a significant extent upon the goodwill associated with our trademark and tradenames. We own, or have licenses to use, the material trademark and trade name
rights used in connection with the packaging, marketing and distribution of our products in the markets where those products are sold. Therefore, trademark and trade name protection is important to our
business. Although most of our trademarks are registered in the United States and in certain foreign countries in which we operate, we may not be successful in asserting trademark or trade name protection. In
addition, the laws of certain foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. The loss or infringement of our trademarks or tradenames could
impair the goodwill associated with our brands and harm our reputation, which would harm our financial condition and operating results.

Unlike in most of the other markets in which we operate, limited protection of intellectual property is available under Chinese law. Accordingly, we face an increased risk in China that unauthorized
parties may attempt to copy or otherwise obtain or use our trademarks, copyrights, product formulations or other intellectual property. Further,
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since Chinese commercial law is relatively undeveloped, we may have limited legal recourse in the event we encounter significant difficulties with intellectual property theft or infringement. As a result, we
cannot assure you that we will be able to adequately protect our product formulations or other intellectual property.

If our distributors fail to comply with labeling laws, then our financial condition and operating results would be harmed.

Although the physical labeling of our products is not within the control of our independent distributors, our distributors must nevertheless advertise our products in compliance with the extensive
regulations that exist in certain jurisdictions, such as the United States, which considers product advertising to be labeling for regulatory purposes.

Our products are sold principally as foods, dietary supplements and cosmetics and are subject to rigorous FDA and related legal regimens limiting the types of therapeutic claims that can be made for
our products. The treatment or cure of disease, for example, is not a permitted claim for these products. While we train and attempt to monitor our distributors’ marketing materials, we cannot ensure that all
such materials comply with bans on therapeutic claims. If our distributors fail to comply with these restrictions, then we and our distributors could be subjected to claims, financial penalties, mandatory product
recalls or relabeling requirements, which could harm our financial condition and operating results. Although we expect that our responsibility for the actions of our independent distributors in such an instance
would be dependent on a determination that we either controlled or condoned a noncompliant advertising practice, there can be no assurance that we could not be held responsible for the actions of our
independent distributors.

If our intellectual property is not adequate to provide us with a competitive advantage or to prevent competitors from replicating our products, or if we infringe the intellectual property rights of others,
then our financial condition and operating results would be harmed.

Our future success and ability to compete depend upon our ability to timely produce innovative products and product enhancements that motivate our distributors and customers, which we attempt to
protect under a combination of copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions. However, our products are generally not patented domestically or abroad, and
the legal protections afforded by our common law and contractual proprietary rights in our products provide only limited protection and may be time-consuming and expensive to enforce and/or maintain.
Further, despite our efforts, we may be unable to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our proprietary rights or from independently developing non-infringing products that are
competitive with, equivalent to and/or superior to our products.

Additionally, third parties may claim that products we have independently developed infringe upon their intellectual property rights. For example, in two related lawsuits that are currently pending in
California, Unither Pharma, Inc. and others are alleging that sales by Herbalife International of (1) its Niteworkstm and Prelox Blue products and (2) its former products Woman’s Advantage with DHEA and
Optimum Performance infringe on patents that are licensed to or owned by those parties, and are seeking unspecified damages, attorneys’ fees and injunctive relief from the Company. Although we believe that
we have meritorious defenses to, and are vigorously defending against, these allegations, there can be no assurance that one or more of our products will not be found to infringe upon the intellectual property
rights of these parties or others.

Monitoring infringement and/or misappropriation of intellectual property can be difficult and expensive, and we may not be able to detect any infringement or misappropriation of our proprietary
rights. Even if we do detect infringement or misappropriation of our proprietary rights, litigation to enforce these rights could cause us to divert financial and other resources away from our business operations.
Further, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States.
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Since one of our products constitutes a significant portion of our retail sales, significant decreases in consumer demand for this product or our failure to produce a suitable replacement should we cease
offering it would harm our financial condition and operating results.

Our Formula 1 meal replacement product constitutes a significant portion of our sales, accounting for approximately 27%, 22%, and 23% of retail sales for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. If consumer demand for this product decreases significantly or we cease offering this product without a suitable replacement, then our financial condition and operating results
would be harmed.

If we lose the services of members of our senior management team, then our financial condition and operating results would be harmed.

We depend on the continued services of our Chief Executive Officer, Michael O. Johnson, and our current senior management team and the relationships that they have developed with our senior
distributor leadership, especially in light of the high level of turnover in our former senior management team, and the resulting need to reestablish good working relationships with our senior distributor
leadership, after the death of our founder in May of 2000. Although we have entered into employment agreements with many members of our senior management team, and do not believe that any of them are
planning to leave or retire in the near term, we cannot assure you that our senior managers will remain with us. The loss or departure of any member of our senior management team could negatively impact
our distributor relations and operating results. If any of these executives do not remain with us, our business could suffer. The loss of such key personnel could negatively impact our ability to implement our
business strategy, and our continued success will also be dependent upon our ability to retain existing, and attract additional, qualified personnel to meet our needs. We currently do not maintain “key person”
life insurance with respect to our senior management team.

The covenants in our existing indebtedness limit our discretion with respect to certain business matters, which could limit our ability to pursue certain strategic objectives and in turn harm our financial
condition and operating results.

Our 91/2% Notes and senior credit facility contain numerous financial and operating covenants that restrict our and our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things:

 • pay dividends, redeem share capital or capital stock and make other restricted payments and investments;

 • incur additional debt or issue preferred shares;

 • allow the imposition of dividend or other distribution restrictions on our subsidiaries;

 • create liens on our and our subsidiaries’ assets;

 • engage in transactions with affiliates;

 • guarantee other indebtedness; and

 • merge, consolidate or sell all or substantially all of our assets and the assets of our subsidiaries.

In addition, our senior credit facility requires us to meet certain financial ratios and financial conditions. Our ability to comply with these covenants may be affected by events beyond our control,
including prevailing economic, financial and industry conditions. Failure to comply with these covenants could result in a default causing all amounts to become due and payable under our outstanding notes
and/or the senior credit facility, which is secured by substantially all of our assets, which the lenders thereunder could proceed to foreclose against.

If we do not comply with transfer pricing, customs duties, and similar regulations, then we may be subjected to additional taxes, duties, interest, and penalties in material amounts, which could harm
our financial condition and operating results.

As a multinational corporation, in many countries including the United States, we are subject to transfer pricing and other tax regulations designed to ensure that our intercompany transactions are
consummated at prices that have not been manipulated to produce a desired tax result, that appropriate levels of income are reported as
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earned by our United States or local entities, and that we are taxed appropriately on such transactions. In addition, our operations are subject to regulations designed to ensure that appropriate levels of customs
duties are assessed on the importation of our products. We are currently subject to pending or proposed audits that are at various levels of review, assessment or appeal in a number of jurisdictions involving
transfer pricing issues, income taxes, customs duties, value added taxes, withholding taxes, sales and use and other taxes and related interest and penalties in material amounts. In some circumstances,
additional taxes, interest and penalties have been assessed and we will be required to pay the assessments or litigate to reverse the assessments. We have reserved in the consolidated financial statements an
amount that we believe represents the most likely outcome of the resolution of these disputes, but if we are incorrect in our assessment we may have to pay the full amount asserted. Ultimate resolution of these
matters may take several years, and the outcome is uncertain. If the United States Internal Revenue Service or the taxing authorities of any other jurisdiction were to successfully challenge our transfer pricing
practices or our positions regarding the payment of income taxes, customs duties, value added taxes, withholding taxes, sales and use, and other taxes, we could become subject to higher taxes and our earnings
would be adversely affected.

We may be held responsible for certain taxes or assessments relating to the activities of our distributors, which could harm our financial condition and operating results.

Our distributors are subject to taxation, and in some instances, legislation or governmental agencies impose an obligation on us to collect taxes, such as value added taxes, and to maintain appropriate
records. In addition, we are subject to the risk in some jurisdictions of being responsible for social security and similar taxes with respect to our distributors. In the event that local laws and regulations or the
interpretation of local laws and regulations change to require us to treat our independent distributors as employees, or that our distributors are deemed by local regulatory authorities in one or more of the
jurisdictions in which we operate to be our employees rather than independent contractors under existing laws and interpretations, we may be held responsible for social security and related taxes in those
jurisdictions, plus any related assessments and penalties, which could harm our financial condition and operating results.

We may incur material product liability claims, which could increase our costs and harm our financial condition and operating results.

Our products consist of herbs, vitamins and minerals and other ingredients that are classified as foods or dietary supplements and are not subject to pre-market regulatory approval in the United States.
Our products could contain contaminated substances, and some of our products contain innovative ingredients that do not have long histories of human consumption. We generally do not conduct or sponsor
clinical studies for our products and previously unknown adverse reactions resulting from human consumption of these ingredients could occur. As a marketer of dietary and nutritional supplements and other
products that are ingested by consumers or applied to their bodies, we have been, and may again be, subjected to various product liability claims, including that the products contain contaminants, the products
include inadequate instructions as to their uses, or the products include inadequate warnings concerning side effects and interactions with other substances. It is possible that widespread product liability claims
could increase our costs, and adversely affect our revenues and operating income. Moreover, liability claims arising from a serious adverse event may increase our costs through higher insurance premiums and
deductibles, and may make it more difficult to secure adequate insurance coverage in the future. In addition, our product liability insurance may fail to cover future product liability claims, thereby requiring us
to pay substantial monetary damages and adversely affecting our business. Finally, given the higher level of self-insured retentions that we have accepted under our current product liability insurance policies,
which are as high as approximately $10 million, in certain cases we may be subject to the full amount of liability associated with any injuries, which could be substantial.

Several years ago, a number of states restricted the sale of dietary supplements containing botanical sources of ephedrine alkaloids and on February 6, 2004 the FDA banned the use of such ephedrine
alkaloids. Until late 2002 we had sold Thermojetics® original green herbal tablets, Thermojetics® green herbal tablets and Thermojetics® gold herbal tablets, all of which contained ephedrine alkaloids.
Accordingly, we run the risk of product liability claims related to the ingestion of ephedrine alkaloids contained in those products. Currently, we have been named as a defendant in product liability lawsuits
seeking to link the ingestion of certain of the aforementioned products to
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subsequent alleged medical problems suffered by plaintiffs. Although we believe that we have meritorious defenses to the allegations contained in these lawsuits, and are vigorously defending these claims,
there can be no assurance that we will prevail in our defense of any or all of these matters.

A few of our shareholders collectively exert significant influence over us and have the power to cause the approval or rejection of all shareholder actions and may take actions that conflict with your
interests.

As of February 1, 2006, affiliates of Whitney & Co., LLC and Golden Gate Capital own approximately 41.5% of the voting power of our share capital. Accordingly, Whitney & Co., LLC and Golden
Gate Capital collectively will have the power to exert significant influence over us and the approval or rejection of any matter on which the shareholders may vote, including the election of directors,
amendment of our memorandum and articles of association and approval of significant corporate transactions as well as our management and policies. This influence over corporate actions may also delay,
deter or prevent transactions that would result in a change of control. Moreover, Whitney & Co., LLC and Golden Gate Capital may have interests that conflict with yours.

We are subject to, among other things, the attestation requirements regarding the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. These requirements have increased our compliance costs,
and failure to comply in a timely manner could adversely affect the value of our securities.

We are required to comply with various corporate governance and financial reporting requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as new rules and regulations adopted by the
Securities and Exchange Commission, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and the New York Stock Exchange. In particular, we are required to include management and auditor reports on the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as part of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We expect to
continue to spend significant amounts of time and money on compliance with these rules. Our failure to correct any noted weaknesses in internal controls over financial reporting could result in the disclosure
of material weaknesses which could have a material adverse effect upon the market value of our stock.

Holders of our common shares may face difficulties in protecting their interests because we are incorporated under Cayman Islands law.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association, and by the Companies Law (2004 Revision) and the common law of the Cayman Islands. The
rights of our shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directors under Cayman Islands law are not as clearly established as under statutes or judicial precedent in existence in jurisdictions in the
United States. Therefore, shareholders may have more difficulty in protecting their interests in the face of actions by our management, directors or controlling shareholders than would shareholders of a
corporation incorporated in a jurisdiction in the United States, due to the comparatively less developed nature of Cayman Islands law in this area.

Unlike many jurisdictions in the United States, Cayman Islands law does not specifically provide for shareholder appraisal rights on a merger or consolidation of a company. This may make it more
difficult for shareholders to assess the value of any consideration they may receive in a merger or consolidation or to require that the offer give shareholders additional consideration if they believe the
consideration offered is insufficient.

Shareholders of Cayman Islands exempted companies such as ourselves have no general rights under Cayman Islands law to inspect corporate records and accounts or to obtain copies of lists of our
shareholders. Our directors have discretion under our articles of association to determine whether or not, and under what conditions, our corporate records may be inspected by our shareholders, but are not
obliged to make them available to our shareholders. This may make it more difficult for you to obtain the information needed to establish any facts necessary for a shareholder motion or to solicit proxies from
other shareholders in connection with a proxy contest.

Subject to limited exceptions, under Cayman Islands law, a minority shareholder may not bring a derivative action against the board of directors. Maples and Calder, our Cayman Islands counsel, has
informed us that they are not aware of any reported class action or derivative action having been brought in a Cayman Islands court.
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Provisions of our articles of association and Cayman Islands corporate law may impede a takeover or make it more difficult for shareholders to change the direction or management of the Company,
which could adversely affect the value of our common shares and provide shareholders with less input into the management of the Company than they might otherwise have.

Our articles of association permit our board of directors to issue preference shares from time to time, with such rights and preferences as they consider appropriate. Our board of directors could
authorize the issuance of preference shares with terms and conditions and under circumstances that could have an effect of discouraging a takeover or other transaction.

In addition, our articles of association contain certain other provisions which could have an effect of discouraging a takeover or other transaction or preventing or making it more difficult for
shareholders to change the direction or management of our Company, including a classified board, the inability of shareholders to act by written consent, a limitation on the ability of shareholders to call special
meetings of shareholders and advance notice provisions. As a result, our shareholders may have less input into the management of our Company than they might otherwise have if these provisions were not
included in our articles of association.

Unlike many jurisdictions in the United States, Cayman Islands law does not provide for mergers as that expression is understood under corporate law in the United States. However, Cayman Islands
law does have statutory provisions that provide for the reconstruction and amalgamation of companies, which are commonly referred to in the Cayman Islands as “schemes of arrangement.” The procedural
and legal requirements necessary to consummate these transactions are more rigorous and take longer to complete than the procedures typically required to consummate a merger in the United States. Under
Cayman Islands law and practice, a scheme of arrangement in relation to a solvent Cayman Islands company must be approved at a shareholders’ meeting by each class of shareholders, in each case, by a
majority of the number of holders of each class of a company’s shares that are present and voting (either in person or by proxy) at such a meeting, which holders must also represent 75% in value of such class
issued that are present and voting (either in person or by proxy) at such meeting (excluding the shares owned by the parties to the scheme of arrangement).

The convening of these meetings and the terms of the amalgamation must also be sanctioned by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands. Although there is no requirement to seek the consent of the
creditors of the parties involved in the scheme of arrangement, the Grand Court typically seeks to ensure that the creditors have consented to the transfer of their liabilities to the surviving entity or that the
scheme of arrangement does not otherwise have a material adverse effect on the creditors’ interests. Furthermore, the Grand Court will only approve a scheme of arrangement if it is satisfied that:

 • the statutory provisions as to majority vote have been complied with;

 • the shareholders have been fairly represented at the meeting in question;

 • the scheme of arrangement is such as a businessman would reasonably approve; and

 • the scheme or arrangement is not one that would more properly be sanctioned under some other provision of the Companies Law.

There is uncertainty as to shareholders’ ability to enforce certain foreign civil liabilities in the Cayman Islands.

We are incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability under the laws of the Cayman Islands. A material portion of our assets are located outside of the United States. As a result, it may
be difficult for our shareholders to enforce judgments against us or judgments obtained in U.S. courts predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States or any state
of the United States.

We have been advised by our Cayman Islands counsel, Maples and Calder, that although there is no statutory enforcement in the Cayman Islands of judgments obtained in the United States, the courts
of the Cayman Islands will — based on the principle that a judgment by a competent foreign court imposes upon the judgment debtor an obligation to pay the sum for which judgment has been given —
recognize and enforce a foreign judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction if such judgment is final, for a liquidated sum, not in respect of taxes or a fine or
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penalty, is not inconsistent with a Cayman Islands judgment in respect of the same matters, and was not obtained in a manner, and is not of a kind, the enforcement of which is contrary to the public policy of
the Cayman Islands. There is doubt, however, as to whether the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands will (a) recognize or enforce judgments of U.S. courts predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the
federal securities laws of the United States or any state of the United States, or (b) in original actions brought in the Cayman Islands, impose liabilities predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the federal
securities laws of the United States or any state of the United States, on the grounds that such provisions are penal in nature.

The Grand Court of the Cayman Islands may stay proceedings if concurrent proceedings are being brought elsewhere.

Item 2.  UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.

Item 3.  DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

Item 4.  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

At the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, the Company’s 2006 annual meeting, held on April 27, 2006, 53,074,314 shares were present either in person or by proxy.

At this meeting, the shareholders voted as set forth below on the following matters:

              Broker  
Proposition  For   Against   Abstain   Withheld   Non-Votes  

1. To elect four directors, each for a term of three years.                     
David D. Halbert   53,006,864   N/A   N/A   67,450   0 
Colombe M. Nicholas   52,501,163   N/A   N/A   573,151   0 
Valeria Rico   53,006,691   N/A   N/A   67,623   0 
Leon Waisbein   52,073,442   N/A   N/A   1,000,872   0 

2. To ratify the appointment of the Company’s independent registered public accountants for fiscal year
2006   52,519,122   509,853   45,339   N/A     

Item 5.  OTHER INFORMATION

(a) None.

(b) None.

Item 6.  EXHIBITS

(a) Exhibit Index:

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit     
Number  Description  Reference

 2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated April 10, 2002, by and among Herbalife International, Inc., WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd. and WH Acquisition Corp.  (a)
 3.1  Form of Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of Herbalife Ltd.  (d)
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Exhibit     
Number  Description  Reference

 4.1
 

Indenture, dated as of June 27, 2002 between WH Acquisition Corp., WH Intermediate Holdings Ltd., WH Luxembourg Holdings SàRL, WH Luxembourg Intermediate
Holdings SàRL, WH Luxembourg CM SàRL and The Bank of New York as Trustee governing 113/4% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2010  

(a)

       
     

 4.2
 

Indenture, dated as of March 8, 2004 between WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd., WH Capital Corporation and The Bank of New York as trustee governing 91/2% Notes
due 2011  

(a)

       
     

 4.3  Form of Share Certificate  (d)
       

     
 9.1

 

Shareholders’ Agreement dated as of July 31, 2002, by and among WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd., Whitney V, L.P., Whitney Strategic Partners V, L.P., WH
Investments Ltd., CCG Investments (BVI), L.P., CCG Associates-QP, LLC, CCG Associates-AI, LLC, CCG Investment Fund-AI, L.P., CCG AV, LLC-Series C, CCG AV,
LLC-Series E, and certain other persons  

(a)

       
     

 9.2

 

Voting Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2004 by and among Whitney V, L.P., Whitney Strategic Partners V, L.P., Whitney Private Debt Fund, L.P. and Green River
Offshore Fund, Ltd., on the one hand, and CCG Investments (BVI), L.P., CCG Associates-QP, LLC, CCG Associates-AI, LLC, CCG Investment Fund-AI, LP, CCG AV,
LLC-Series C, CCG AV, LLC-Series E and CCG CI, LLC on the other hand  

(f)

       
     

 10.1  Form of Indemnity Agreement between Herbalife International Inc. and certain officers and directors of Herbalife International Inc.  (a)
       

     
 10.2  Office lease agreement between Herbalife International of America Inc. and State Teacher’s Retirement System, dated July 11, 1995  (a)
       

     
 10.3#  Herbalife International of America, Inc.’s Senior Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, effectivex January 1, 1996, as amended  (a)
       

     
 10.4#  Herbalife International of America, Inc.’s Management Deferred Compensation Plan, effective January 1, 1996, as amended  (a)
       

     
 10.5  Master Trust Agreement between Herbalife International of America, Inc. and Imperial Trust Company, Inc., effective January 1, 1996  (a)
       

     
 10.6#  Herbalife International Inc. 401K Profit Sharing Plan and Trust, as amended  (a)
       

     
 10.7  Trust Agreement for Herbalife 2001 Executive Retention Plan, effective March 15, 2001  (a)
       

     
 10.8#  Herbalife 2001 Executive Retention Plan, effective March 15, 2001  (a)
       

     
 10.9#

 
Separation Agreement and General Release, dated as of May 17, 2002, between Robert Sandler and Herbalife International, Inc. and Herbalife International of America,
Inc. and Clarification  

(a)

       
     

 10.10
 

Agreement for Retention of Legal Services, dated as of May 20, 2002, by and among Herbalife International, Inc., Herbalife International of America, Inc. and Robert A.
Sandler  

(a)

       
     

 10.11
 

Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 21, 2002, by and among WH Acquisition Corp., Herbalife International, Inc., WH Intermediate Holdings Ltd., WH Luxembourg
Holdings SàRL, WH Luxembourg Intermediate Holdings SàRL, WH Luxembourg CM SàRL and UBS Warburg LLC  

(a)

       
     

 10.12
 

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2002, by and among WH Acquisition Corp., WH Intermediate Holdings Ltd., WH Luxembourg Holdings SàRL, WH
Luxembourg Intermediate Holdings SàRL, WH Luxembourg CM SàRL and UBS Warburg LLC  

(a)

       
     

 10.13  Notice to Distributors regarding Amendment to Agreements of Distributorship, dated as of July 18, 2002 between Herbalife International, Inc. and each Herbalife Distributor (a)
       

     
 10.14

 

Indemnity Agreement dated as of July 31, 2002, by and among WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd., WH Acquisition Corp., Whitney & Co., LLC, Whitney V, L.P.,
Whitney Strategic Partners V, L.P., GGC Administration, L.L.C., Golden Gate Private Equity, Inc., CCG Investments (BVI), L.P., CCG Associates-AI, LLC, CCG
Investment Fund-AI, LP, CCG AV, LLC-Series C, CCG AV, LLC-Series C, CCG AV, LLC-Series E, CCG Associates-QP, LLC and WH Investments Ltd.  

(a)
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Exhibit     
Number  Description  Reference

 10.15#  Independent Director’s Stock Option Plan of WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd.  (a)
       

     
 10.16#  Employment Agreement, dated as of March 10, 2003 between Brian Kane and Herbalife International, Inc. and Herbalife International of America, Inc.  (a)
       

     
 10.17#  Employment Agreement dated as of March 10, 2003 between Carol Hannah and Herbalife International, Inc. and Herbalife International of America, Inc.  (a)
       

     
 10.18#  Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement, dated as of March 10, 2003 between WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd. and Brian Kane  (a)
       

     
 10.19#  Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement, dated as of March 10, 2003 between WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd. and Carol Hannah  (a)
       

     
 10.20#  WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd. Stock Incentive Plan, as restated, dated as of November 5, 2003  (a)
       

     
 10.21#  Side Letter Agreement dated as of March 10, 2003 by and among WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd., Brian Kane and Carol Hannah and the Shareholders listed therein  (a)
       

     
 10.22#  Employment Agreement dated as of April 3, 2003 between Michael O. Johnson and Herbalife International, Inc. and Herbalife International of America, Inc.  (a)
       

     
 10.23#  Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement, dated as of April 3, 2003 between WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd. and Michael O. Johnson  (a)
       

     
 10.24#  Side Letter Agreement dated as of April 3, 2003 by and among WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd., Michael O. Johnson and the Shareholders listed therein  (a)
       

     
 10.25#  Employment Agreement dated as of July 14, 2003 between Matt Wisk and Herbalife International of America, Inc.  (a)
       

     
 10.26#  Employment Agreement dated as of July 31, 2003 between Gregory L. Probert and Herbalife International of America, Inc.  (a)
       

     
 10.27#  Employment Agreement dated October 6, 2003 between Brett R. Chapman and Herbalife International of America, Inc.  (a)
       

     
 10.28#  Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (Non-Executive Agreement)  (a)
       

     
 10.29#  Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (Executive Agreement)  (a)
       

     
 10.30  Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2004, by and among WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd., WH Capital Corporation and UBS Securities, LLC  (a)
       

     
 10.31  Indemnity Agreement, dated as of February 9, 2004, among WH Capital Corporation and Gregory Probert  (a)
       

     
 10.32  Indemnity Agreement, dated as of February 9, 2004, among WH Capital Corporation and Brett R. Chapman  (a)
       

     
 10.33  Stock Subscription Agreement of WH Capital Corporation, dated as of February 9, 2004, between WH Capital Corporation and WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd.  (a)
       

     
 10.34  First Amendment to Amended and Restated WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd. Stock Incentive Plan, dated November 5, 2003  (a)
       

     
 10.35#  Separation Agreement and General Release dated May 1, 2004, among Herbalife International, Inc., Herbalife International of America, Inc. and Carol Hannah  (a)
       

     
 10.36#  Consulting Agreement dated May 1, 2004 among Herbalife International of America, Inc. and Carol Hannah  (a)
       

     
 10.37#  Employment Agreement dated June 1, 2004 among Herbalife International of America, Inc. and Richard Goudis  (a)
       

     
 10.38  Purchase Agreement, dated March 3, 2004, by and among WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd., WH Capital Corporation and UBS Securities LLC  (a)
       

     
 10.39

 

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2002, by and among WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd., Whitney V, L.P., Whitney Strategic Partners V, L.P., WH
Investments Ltd., CCG Investments (BVI), L.P., CCG Associates-QP, LLC, CCG Associates-AI, LLC, CCG Investment Fund-AI, L.P., CCG AV, LLC-Series C and CCG
AV, LLC-Series E.  

(b)
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Exhibit     
Number  Description  Reference

 10.40

 

Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2002, by and among WH Holdings (Cayman Islands) Ltd., Whitney Strategic Partners V, L.P., WH Investments Ltd.,
Whitney V, L.P., CCG Investments (BVI), L.P., CCG Associates-QP, LLC, CCG Associates-AI, LLC, CCG Investment Fund-AI, LP, CCG AV, LLC-Series C and CCG
AV, LLC-Series E.  

(b)

       
     

 10.41  Form of Indemnification Agreement between Herbalife Ltd. and the directors and certain officers of Herbalife Ltd.  (c)
       

     
 10.42#  Herbalife Ltd. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, effective December 1, 2004  (c)
       

     
 10.43  Termination Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2004, between Herbalife Ltd., Herbalife International, Inc. and Whitney & Co., LLC.  (d)
       

     
 10.44  Termination Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2004, between Herbalife Ltd., Herbalife International Inc. and GGC Administration, L.L.C.  (d)
       

     
 10.45

 
Termination Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2004, by and among Herbalife Ltd., Whitney V, L.P., Whitney Strategic Partners V, L.P., CCG Investments (BVI), L.P.,
CCG Associates-QP, LLC, CCG Associates-AI, LLC, CCG Investment Fund-AI, LP, CCG AV, LLC-Series C, CCG AV, LLC-Series E and CCG CI, LLC.  

(d)

       
     

 10.46

 

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2004, by and among Herbalife Ltd., Herbalife International, Inc., Whitney V, L.P., Whitney Strategic Partners V,
L.P., CCG Investments (BVI), L.P., CCG Associates-QP, LLC, CCG Associates-AI, LLC, CCG Investment Fund-AI, LP, CCG AV, LLC-Series C, CCG AV, LLC-
Series E, CCG CI, LLC and GGC Administration, LLC.  

(d)

       
     

 10.47#  Amendment No. 1 to Herbalife Ltd. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan  (e)
       

     
 10.48#  Form of Stock Bonus Award Agreement  (e)
       

     
 10.49#  Contract for Services of a Consultant between Herbalife International Luxembourg S.á.R.L. and Brian Kane dated as of October 18, 2004  (f)
       

     
 10.50#  Compromise Agreement between Herbalife International Luxembourg S.á.R.L. and Brian Kane dated as of October 18, 2004  (f)
       

     
 10.51

 

Credit Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2004, by and among Herbalife International Inc., Herbalife Ltd., WH Intermediate Holdings Ltd., HBL Ltd., WH Luxembourg
Holdings S.á.R.L., HLF Luxembourg Holdings, S.á.R.L., WH Capital Corporation, WH Luxembourg Intermediate Holdings S.á.R.L. and the Subsidiary Guarantors party
hereto, and certain lenders and agents named therein.  

(g)

       
     

 10.52

 

Security Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2004, by and among Herbalife International, Inc., Herbalife Ltd., WH Intermediate Holdings Ltd., HBL Ltd., WH
Luxembourg Holdings S.á.R.L., HLF Luxembourg Holdings, S.á.R.L., WH Capital Corporation, WH Luxembourg Intermediate Holdings S.á.R.L., and the Subsidiary
Guarantors party thereto in favor of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, as Collateral Agent.  

(g)

       
     

 10.53

 

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2005, by and among Herbalife International Inc., Herbalife Ltd., WH Intermediate Holdings Ltd., HBL Ltd.,
WH Luxembourg Holdings S.á.R.L., HLF Luxembourg Holdings, S.á.R.L., WH Capital Corporation, WH Luxembourg Intermediate Holdings S.á.R.L. and the Subsidiary
Guarantors party thereto, and certain lenders and agents named therein.  

(g)

       
     

 10.54#  Employment Agreement Effective as of January 1, 2005 between Herbalife Ltd. and Henry Burdick  (h)
       

     
 10.55#  Form of 2004 Herbalife Ltd. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Stock Option Agreement  (i)
       

     
 10.56#  Form of 2004 Herbalife Ltd. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement  (i)
       

     
 10.57

 

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2005, by and among Herbalife International, Inc., Herbalife Ltd., WH Intermediate Holdings Ltd., HBL
Ltd., WH Luxembourg Holdings S.á.R.L., HLF Luxembourg Holdings, S.á.R.L., WH Capital Corporation, WH Luxembourg Intermediate Holdings S.á.R.L. and the
Subsidiary Guarantors party thereto, and certain lenders and agents named therein.  

(k)
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Exhibit     
Number  Description  Reference

 10.58  Service Agreement by and between Herbalife Europe Limited and Wynne Roberts ESQ, dated as of September 6, 2005.  (l)
       

     
 10.59#  Amendment to employment agreement between Michael O. Johnson and Herbalife International, Inc. and Herbalife International of America, Inc., dated May 15, 2005.  (m)
       

     
 10.60#  Herbalife Ltd. Independent Directors Deferred Compensation and Stock Unit Plan  (n)
       

     
 10.61#  Herbalife Ltd. Independent Directors Deferred Compensation and Stock Unit Plan Independent Directors Stock Unit Award Agreement  (n)
       

     
 10.62#  Form of Herbalife Ltd. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan Stock Unit Award Agreement  (o)
       

     
 10.63#  Form of Herbalife Ltd. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan Stock Appreciation Right Award Agreement  (o)
       

     
 10.64#  Form of Herbalife Ltd. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan Stock Unit Award Agreement applicable to Mr. Michael O. Johnson  (p)
       

     
 10.64#  Form of Herbalife Ltd. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan Stock Appreciation Right Award Agreement applicable to Mr. Michael O. Johnson  (p)
       

     
 10.65#  Amendment to Herbalife Ltd. Independent Directors Deferred Compensation and Stock Unit Plan  (q)
       

     
 10.66#  Form of Herbalife Ltd. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan Stock Unit Award Agreement applicable to Messrs. Gregory Probert, Brett R. Chapman and Richard Goudis  (r)
       

     
 10.67#

 
Form of Herbalife Ltd. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan Stock Appreciation Right Award Agreement applicable to Messrs. Gregory Probert, Brett R. Chapman and Richard
Goudis  

(r)

       
     

 10.68#  Amended and restated employment agreement effective April 17, 2006 between Herbalife International of America, Inc. and Paul Noack  (s)
       

     
 10.69

 

Form of Credit Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2006, by and among Herbalife International Inc., Herbalife Ltd., WH Intermediate Holdings Ltd., HBL Ltd., WH
Luxembourg Holdings S.á.R.L., Herbalife International Luxembourg S.á.R.L., HLF Luxembourg Holdings, S.á.R.L., WH Capital Corporation, WH Luxembourg
Intermediate Holdings S.á.R.L., HV Holdings Ltd., Herbalife Distribution Ltd., Herbalife Luxembourg Distribution S.á.R.L., and the Subsidiary Guarantors party thereto,
and certain lenders and agents named therein.  

*

       
     

 10.70

 

Form of Security Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2006, by and among Herbalife International, Inc., Herbalife Ltd., WH Intermediate Holdings Ltd., HBL Ltd., WH
Luxembourg Holdings S.á.R.L., Herbalife International Luxembourg S.á.R.L. HLF Luxembourg Holdings, S.á.R.L., WH Capital Corporation, WH Luxembourg
Intermediate Holdings S.á.R.L., HV Holdings Ltd., Herbalife Distribution Ltd., Herbalife Luxembourg Distribution S.á.R.L., and the Subsidiary Guarantors party thereto in
favor of Merrill Lynch Capital Corporation, as Collateral Agent.  

*

       
     

 31.1  Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer  *
       

     
 31.2  Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer  *
       

     
 32.1  Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer  *
       

     
 99.1

 

Disposition Agreement dated as of December 13, 2004 is by and among Whitney V, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, Whitney Strategic Partners V, L.P., a Delaware
limited partnership, Whitney Private Debt Fund, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership and Green River Offshore Fund, Ltd., a Cayman Islands company on the one hand,
and CCG Investments (BVI), L.P., a British Virgin Islands limited partnership, CCG Associates-QP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, CCG Associates-AI, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company, CCG Investment Fund-AI, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, CCG AV, LLC-Series C, a Delaware limited liability company, CCG
AV, LLC-Series E, a Delaware limited liability company and CCG CI, LLC a Delaware limited liability company on the other hand.  

(d)

 * Filed herewith.
 # Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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(a) Previously filed on October 1, 2004 as an Exhibit to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-119485) and is incorporated herein by reference.
(b) Previously filed on November 9, 2004 as an Exhibit to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-119485) and is incorporated herein by reference.
(c) Previously filed on December 2, 2004 as an Exhibit to Amendment No. 4 to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-119485) and is incorporated herein by reference.
(d) Previously filed on December 14, 2004 as an Exhibit to Amendment No. 5 to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-119485) and is incorporated herein by reference.
(e) Previously filed on February 17, 2005 as an Exhibit to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-122871) and is incorporated herein by reference.
(f) Previously filed on March 14, 2005 as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 and is incorporated herein by reference.
(g) Previously filed on May 9, 2005 as an Exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005 and is incorporated herein by reference.
(h) Previously filed on May 13, 2005 as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
(i) Previously filed on June 14, 2005 as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
(k) Previously filed on August 23, 2005 as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
(l) Previously filed on September 23, 2005 as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
(m) Previously filed on August 3, 2005 as an Exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005 and is incorporated herein by reference.
(n) Previously filed on February 28, 2006 as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 and is incorporated herein by reference.
(o) Previously filed on March 29, 2006 as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
(p) Previously filed on March 29, 2006 as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
(q) Previously filed on March 30, 2006 as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
(r) Previously filed on March 31, 2006 as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
(s) Previously filed on May 3, 2006 as an Exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 and is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

HERBALIFE LTD.
(Registrant)

 By: /s/  Richard Goudis
Richard Goudis
Chief Financial Officer

Date: August 3, 2006
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CREDIT AGREEMENT

Dated as of July 21, 2006

among

HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL, INC.,
as Borrower,

`
HERBALIFE LTD.,

WH INTERMEDIATE HOLDINGS LTD.,
HBL LTD.,

WH LUXEMBOURG HOLDINGS S.à.R.L.,
HLF LUXEMBOURG HOLDINGS S.à R.L.,

WH CAPITAL CORPORATION,
WH LUXEMBOURG INTERMEDIATE HOLDINGS S.à.R.L.,
HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL LUXEMBOURG S.à.R.L.,

HV HOLDINGS LTD.,
HERBALIFE DISTRIBUTION LTD.,

HERBALIFE LUXEMBOURG DISTRIBUTION S.à.R.L.,
THE SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS PARTY HERETO,

as Guarantors,

THE LENDERS PARTY HERETO,

COOPERATIEVE CENTRALE RAIFFEISEN-BOERENLEENBANK, B.A. 
“RABOBANK INTERNATIONAL”, NEW YORK BRANCH,

HSBC BANK USA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
FORTIS CAPITAL CORP.,

and
CITICORP USA, INC.

as Co-Documentation Agents,

J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES INC.
and

MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC.,
as Co-Syndication Agents,

MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INCORPORATED,

J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES INC.,

and
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CREDIT AGREEMENT

     This CREDIT AGREEMENT (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, this “Agreement”), dated as of July 21, 2006, is among
HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Nevada corporation (“Borrower”); HERBALIFE LTD., a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability (“Holdings”);
WH INTERMEDIATE HOLDINGS LTD., a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Holdings (“Parent”); HBL
LTD., a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“Cayman III”); WH LUXEMBOURG HOLDINGS
S.à.R.L., a Luxembourg corporation and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“Luxembourg Holdings”); HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL LUXEMBOURG
S.à.R.L., a Luxembourg corporation and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Luxembourg Holdings (“HIL”); HLF LUXEMBOURG HOLDINGS, S.à.R.L., a Luxembourg
corporation and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Luxembourg Holdings (“New Lux”); WH CAPITAL CORPORATION, a Nevada corporation and a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of New Lux (“WH Capital”); WH LUXEMBOURG INTERMEDIATE HOLDINGS S.à.R.L., a Luxembourg corporation and a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of WH Capital (“Luxembourg Intermediate Holdings”); HV HOLDINGS LTD., a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability and a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of Parent ( “HV”); HERBALIFE DISTRIBUTION LTD., a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of HV ( “Cayman Distribution”); HERBALIFE LUXEMBOURG DISTRIBUTION S.à.R.L., a Luxembourg corporation and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of HIL
(“Luxembourg Distribution”); EACH OF THE SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS LISTED ON THE SIGNATURE PAGES HERETO OR FROM TIME TO TIME
BECOMING A PARTY HERETO BY EXECUTION OF A JOINDER AGREEMENT (together with Holdings, Parent, Cayman III, Luxembourg Holdings, HIL, HIL Swiss,
New Lux, WH Capital, Luxembourg Intermediate Holdings, HV, Cayman Distribution, Luxembourg Distribution and each other Subsidiary Guarantor from time to time
executing a Guarantee (defined herein) as required hereunder, the “Guarantors”); THE LENDERS PARTY HERETO; MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INCORPORATED, J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES INC. and MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC., as joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners (in such
capacity, the “Arrangers”); COOPERATIEVE CENTRALE RAIFFEISEN-BOERENLEENBANK, B.A. “RABOBANK INTERNATIONAL”, NEW YORK BRANCH,
HSBC BANK USA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., FORTIS CAPITAL CORP. and CITICORP USA, INC., as co-documentation agents (in
such capacity, the “Co-Documentation Agents”); J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES INC. and MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC., as co-syndication agents (in
such capacity, the "Co-Syndication Agents”); MERRILL LYNCH CAPITAL CORPORATION, as administrative agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, the
“Administrative Agent”); MERRILL LYNCH CAPITAL CORPORATION, as collateral agent for the Secured Parties (defined herein) (in such capacity, the “Collateral
Agent”); and RABOBANK INTERNATIONAL, as Issuing Bank.

WITNESSETH:

     WHEREAS, Borrower has requested that the Lenders extend certain credit facilities to Borrower hereunder, the proceeds of which will be used to (a) repay all outstanding
obligations under that certain Credit Agreement dated as of December 21, 2004 (as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified as of the date hereof,
the “Existing Credit Agreement”) among Borrower, the guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, Rabobank International, as documentation agent, Merrill Lynch,
Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Incorporated, as
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syndication agent, Morgan Stanley Funding, Inc. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Incorporated, as joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners, Morgan Stanley
Senior Funding, Inc., as administrative agent, and Morgan Stanley & Co., Incorporated, as collateral agent (the “Refinancing”); (b) redeem all of the Holdings Senior Notes
(as defined herein) (the “Redemption” and, together with the Refinancing and all other transactions contemplated hereby and in connection therewith, the “Transactions”);
(c) repay the related fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Transactions (collectively “Transaction Costs”); and (d) fund ongoing working capital and general
corporate needs of Holdings and its Subsidiaries, all subject to the terms and conditions contained herein;

     WHEREAS, each of Holdings, Parent, Cayman III, Luxembourg Holdings, HIL, HIL Swiss, New Lux, WH Capital, Luxembourg Intermediate Holdings, HV, Cayman
Distribution, Luxembourg Distribution and the other Subsidiary Guarantors desires to guarantee Borrower’s obligations hereunder and under the other applicable Loan
Documents, as each will benefit from the Loans (as defined below) made hereunder; and

     WHEREAS, the Lenders are willing to make such credit facilities available upon and subject to the terms and conditions contained herein.

     NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the agreements, provisions and covenants contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

Definitions

     SECTION 1.01. Defined Terms. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings specified below:

     “ABR,” when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are bearing interest at a rate determined
by reference to the Alternate Base Rate.

     “ABR Borrowing” means a Borrowing comprised of ABR Loans.

     “ABR Loan” means any ABR Term Loan or ABR Revolving Loan.

     “ABR Revolving Loan” means any Revolving Loan bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the Alternate Base Rate in accordance with the provisions of
Article II.

     “ABR Term Loan” means any Term Loan bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the Alternate Base Rate in accordance with the provisions of Article II.

     “Additional Lender” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.18.

     “Additional Term Loan Commitment” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.18.

     “Additional Term Loans” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.18.

     “Administrative Agent” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.
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     “Administrative Agent Fees” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.05(b).

     “Administrative Questionnaire” means an Administrative Questionnaire in the form of Exhibit A, or such other form as may be supplied from time to time by the
Administrative Agent.

     “Affiliate” means, when used with respect to a specified person, another person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls, is Controlled by or
is under common Control with the person specified; provided, however, that, for purposes of Section 6.06, the term “Affiliate” shall also include any person that directly or
indirectly owns more than 10% of any class of Equity Interests of the person specified or that is an officer or director of the person specified.

     “Agents” means each of the Co-Syndication Agents, the Co-Documentation Agents, the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent.

     “Agreement” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

     “Alternate Base Rate” means, for any day, a rate per annum (rounded upward, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) equal to the greater of (a) the Base Rate in effect on
such day and (b) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect on such day plus 0.50%. If the Administrative Agent shall have determined (which determination shall be
conclusive absent manifest error) that it is unable to ascertain the Federal Funds Effective Rate for any reason, including the inability or failure of the Administrative Agent to
obtain sufficient quotations in accordance with the terms of the definition thereof, the Alternate Base Rate shall be determined without regard to clause (b) of the preceding
sentence until the circumstances giving rise to such inability no longer exist. Any change in the Alternate Base Rate due to a change in the Base Rate or the Federal Funds
Effective Rate shall be effective on the effective date of such change in the Base Rate or the Federal Funds Effective Rate, respectively.

     “Applicable Commitment Fee Percentage” means an amount per annum equal to (i) with respect to the Revolving Commitment, 0.375% and (ii) with respect to the Term
Loan Commitment, 0.75%.

     “Applicable Margin” means (i) for the first two full quarters after the Closing Date (A)(I) 1.25% in the case of Revolving Loans maintained as Eurodollar Loans and
(II) 0.25% in the case of Revolving Loans maintained as ABR Loans and (B)(I) 1.50% in the case of Term Loans maintained as Eurodollar Loans and (II) 0.50% in the case of
Term Loans maintained as ABR Loans and (ii) for the period after the first two full quarters after the Closing Date (A) the Applicable Margin for Revolving Loans shall be
determined by reference to the Debt Rating and the Applicable Percentage set forth below; provided, in the event of a split rating, the higher of such Debt Ratings shall be
used to determine the Applicable Margin, except that, if there is a two-tier difference in the Debt Ratings, the Debt Rating one notch higher than the lower of the two Debt
Ratings shall be used to determine the Applicable Margin and (B)(I) 1.50% in the case of Term Loans maintained as Eurodollar Loans and (II) 0.50% in the case of Term
Loans maintained as ABR Loans.
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Senior Credit  Applicable Percentage

Facilities Rating  (Revolving Loans)
Moody’s/S&P  Eurodollar  ABR
³ Ba1/BB+  1.25%  0.25%
<Ba1/BB+  1.50%  0.50%

     “Arrangers” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

     “Asset Sale” means (a) any conveyance, sale, lease, sublease, assignment, transfer or other disposition (including by way of merger or consolidation and including any sale
and leaseback transaction) of any property (including stock of any of Holdings’ Subsidiaries by the holder thereof) by Holdings or any of its Subsidiaries to any person other
than a Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof (other than sales and other dispositions of inventory in the ordinary course of business) and (b) any issuance or sale by any
Subsidiary of Holdings of its Equity Interests to any person other than a Loan Party.

     “Assignment and Acceptance” means an assignment and acceptance entered into by a Lender and its assignee, and accepted by the Administrative Agent, in the form of
Exhibit B, or such other form as shall be approved by the Administrative Agent.

     “Attributable Indebtedness” means, when used with respect to any sale and leaseback transaction, as at the time of determination, the present value (discounted at a rate
equivalent to Borrower’s then-current weighted-average cost of funds for borrowed money as at the time of determination, compounded on a semi-annual basis) of the total
obligations of the lessee for rental payments during the remaining term of the lease included in any such sale and leaseback transaction.

     “Bankruptcy Code” means Title 11 of the United States Code entitled “Bankruptcy,” as now and hereafter in effect, or any successor statute.

     “Base Rate” means, for any day, a rate per annum that is from time to time published in the “Money Rates” section of the Wall Street Journal as being the “Prime Rate”
(or, if more than one rate is published as the Prime Rate, then the highest of such rates). The Base Rate will change as of the date of publication in the Wall Street Journal of a
Base Rate that is different from that published on the preceding Business Day. In the event that The Wall Street Journal shall, for any reason, fail or cease to publish the Base
Rate, Administrative Agent shall choose a reasonably comparable index or source to use as the basis for the Base Rate.

     “Board” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States of America.

     “Borrower” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

     “Borrowing” means Loans made of the same Class and Type and, in the case of Eurodollar Loans, as to which a single Interest Period is in effect.

     “Borrowing Request” means a request by Borrower in accordance with the terms of Section 2.03 and substantially in the form of Exhibit C, or such other form as shall be
approved by the Administrative Agent.
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     “Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or day on which banks in New York City are authorized or required by law to close; provided, however, that
when used in connection with a Eurodollar Loan, the term “Business Day” does not include any day on which banks are not open for dealings in dollar deposits in the
London interbank market.

     “Capital Expenditures” means, with respect to any person, for any period, the aggregate of all expenditures of such person and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for the
acquisition of fixed or capital assets which should be capitalized under GAAP on a consolidated balance sheet of such person and its Consolidated Subsidiaries.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Capital Expenditures shall not include (i) expenditures up to the amount of Net Cash Proceeds from Asset Sales (other than through leases) in
accordance with this Agreement, (ii) expenditures of Net Cash Proceeds from a Casualty Event in accordance with this Agreement, and (iii) expenditures made in connection
with Permitted Acquisitions.

     “Capital Lease Obligations” of any person means the obligations of such person to pay rent or other amounts under any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right
to use) real or personal property, or a combination thereof, which obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as capital leases on a balance sheet of such person
under GAAP, and the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP.

     “Cash Equivalent” means, as to any person: (a) securities issued or directly, unconditionally and fully guaranteed or insured by the United States or any agency or
instrumentality thereof (provided that, the full faith and credit of the United States is pledged in support thereof) having maturities of not more than one year from the date of
acquisition by such person; (b) time deposits and certificates of deposit of any Lender (or affiliate thereof) or any commercial bank having, or that is the principal banking
subsidiary of a bank holding company organized under the laws of the United States, any state thereof, the District of Columbia or any country (or political subdivision
thereof) which is a member of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development having, capital and surplus aggregating in excess of $500 million with maturities
of not more than one year from the date of acquisition by such person; (c) repurchase obligations with a term of not more than 30 days for underlying securities of the types
described in clause (a) above entered into with any bank meeting the qualifications specified in clause (b) above; (d) commercial paper issued by any person incorporated in
the United States rated at least A-2 or the equivalent thereof by S&P or at least P-2 or the equivalent thereof by Moody’s, and in each case maturing not more than one year
after the date of acquisition by such person; (e) investments in money market or mutual funds substantially all of whose assets are comprised of securities of the types
described in clauses (a) through (d) above; (f) demand deposit accounts (including the deposit accounts identified on Schedule 1.01(a)) maintained in the ordinary course of
business; (g) investments in tax-exempt obligations of any state of the United States of America, or any municipality of any such state, in each case rated “AA” or better by
S&P, “Aa2” or better by Moody’s or an equivalent rating by any other credit rating agency of recognized national standing, provided that, such obligations mature within six
months from the date of acquisition thereof; and (h) investments in mutual funds or variable rate notes that invest primarily in tax exempt obligations of the types described in
clauses (a)-(g) above.

     “Casualty Event” means, with respect to any property (including Real Property) of any person, any loss of title with respect to such property or any loss of or damage to or
destruction of, or any condemnation or other taking (including by any Governmental Authority) of, such property for which such person or any of its subsidiaries receives
insurance proceeds or proceeds of a condemnation award or other compensation. “Casualty Event” includes any taking of all or any part of any Real Property of any person
or any part thereof, in or by condemnation or other
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eminent domain proceedings pursuant to any law, or by reason of the temporary requisition of the use or occupancy of all or any part of any Real Property of any person or
any part thereof by any Governmental Authority, civil or military.

     “Cayman III” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereof.

     “Cayman Distribution” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereof.

     “CERCLA” has the meaning assigned thereto in the definition of “Environmental Law.”

     A “Change in Control” is deemed to have occurred if: (a) Holdings at any time ceases to own, directly or indirectly, 100% of the capital stock of Borrower and each
Guarantor (other than Holdings); (b) any “person” or “group” (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act), other than one or more Permitted
Holders, is or becomes the beneficial owner (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act, except that for purposes of this clause (b) such person or group is
deemed to have “beneficial ownership” of all securities that any such person or group has the right to acquire, whether such right is exercisable immediately or only after the
passage of time), directly or indirectly, of Voting Stock representing more than 35% of the voting power of the total outstanding Voting Stock; (c) a Change of Control (as
defined in the Holdings Senior Note Agreement) or a “change of control” or similar event, however denominated shall occur under and as defined under any other indenture
or Material Agreement to which Borrower or any Subsidiary is a party; or (d) during any period of two consecutive years, individuals who at the beginning of such period
constituted the Board of Directors of Holdings (together with any new directors whose election to such Board of Directors or whose nomination for election by the
stockholders of Holdings was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors of Holdings then still in office who were either directors at the beginning of such
period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved) cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the Board of Directors of Holdings.

     “Change in Law” means (a) the adoption of any law, rule or regulation after the date of this Agreement, (b) any change in any law, rule or regulation or in the
interpretation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority after the date of this Agreement or (c) compliance by any Lender or Issuing Bank (or for purposes of
Section 2.12(b), by any lending office of such Lender or by such Lender’s or Issuing Bank’s holding company, if any) with any request, guideline or directive (whether or not
having the force of law) of any Governmental Authority made or issued after the date of this Agreement.

     “Charges” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.13.

     “Class” when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are Revolving Loans or Term Loans.

     “Closing Date” means the date of the initial Credit Extension.

     “Co-Documentation Agent” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

     “Co-Syndication Agent” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

     “Collateral” means all of the Security Agreement Collateral and all other property of whatever kind and nature pledged as collateral under any Security Document.
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     “Collateral Account” has the meaning assigned to such term in the U.S. Security Agreement.

     “Collateral Agent” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

     “Commercial Letter of Credit” means any letter of credit or similar instrument issued for the account of Borrower for the benefit of a Loan Party or any of their
respective Subsidiaries, for the purpose of providing the primary payment mechanism in connection with the purchase of any materials, goods or services in the ordinary
course of business of such Loan Party or Subsidiary, as the case may be.

     “Commitment” means, with respect to any Lender, such Lender’s Revolving Commitment or Term Loan Commitment, as the context shall require.

     “Commitment Fee” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.05(a).

     “Commitment Letter” means the Commitment Letter, dated June 27, 2006, among Herbalife International, Inc., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Incorporated,
Merrill Lynch Capital Corporation, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., as amended.

     “Companies” means Holdings and its Subsidiaries; and “Company” means any one of them.

     “Consolidated Companies” means Holdings and its Consolidated Subsidiaries.

     “Consolidated Current Assets” means, with respect to any person as at any date of determination, the total assets of such person and its Consolidated Subsidiaries that
are properly classified as current assets on a consolidated balance sheet of such person and its Consolidated Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP.

     “Consolidated Current Liabilities” means, with respect to any person as at any date of determination, the total liabilities of such person and its Consolidated Subsidiaries
that are properly classified as current liabilities (other than the current portion of any Loans or Capital Lease Obligations) on a consolidated balance sheet of such person and
its Consolidated Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP.

     “Consolidated EBITDA” means, with respect to any person for any period, Consolidated Net Income for such period, adjusted, in each case only to the extent (and in the
same proportion) deducted in determining Consolidated Net Income, without duplication, by (x) adding thereto (i) Consolidated Interest Expense, (ii) provision for taxes
based on income, (iii) depreciation, (iv) amortization (including amortization of deferred fees and the accretion of original issue discount), (v) all other noncash items
subtracted in determining Consolidated Net Income (including any noncash compensation charge arising from any grant of stock, stock options or other equity-based awards
of such person or any of its Subsidiaries and noncash losses or charges related to impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets and excluding any noncash charge that
results in an accrual of a reserve for cash charges in any future period) for such period, (vi) nonrecurring expenses and charges, (vii) aggregate cash payments made in respect
of the Tax Indemnity in respect of any period prior to the Closing Date, not to exceed $15 million for any fiscal year and (viii) Transactions Costs; and (y) subtracting
therefrom the
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aggregate amount of all noncash items, determined on a consolidated basis, to the extent such items were added in determining Consolidated Net Income for such period.

     “Consolidated Indebtedness” means, with respect to any person as at any date of determination, the aggregate amount of all Indebtedness (including the then outstanding
principal amount of all Loans, all Capital Lease Obligations and all LC Exposure) of such person and its Consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis as determined in
accordance with GAAP.

     “Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio” means, as of the last day of any fiscal quarter of Holdings, the ratio computed for the period consisting of such fiscal quarter and
each of the three immediately preceding fiscal quarters of: (a) Consolidated EBITDA (for all such fiscal quarters) to (b) Consolidated Interest Expense (for all such fiscal
quarters).

     “Consolidated Interest Expense” means, with respect to any person for any period, the total consolidated cash interest expense (including that portion attributable to
Capital Leases Obligations) of such person and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for such period (calculated without regard to any limitations on the payment thereof and
including commitment fees, letter-of-credit fees and net amounts payable under Interest Rate Protection Agreements) determined in accordance with GAAP.

     “Consolidated Net Income” means, with respect to any person for any period, the consolidated net after tax income of such person and its Consolidated Subsidiaries
determined in accordance with GAAP, but excluding in any event (a) net earnings or loss of any other person (other than a Subsidiary of Holdings) in which such person or
any of its Consolidated Subsidiaries has an ownership interest, except (in the case of any such net earnings) to the extent such net earnings shall have actually been received
by such person or any of its Consolidated Subsidiaries in the form of cash distributions and (b) the income (or loss) of any other person accrued prior to the date it becomes a
Subsidiary of such person or any of its Consolidated Subsidiaries or is merged into or consolidated with such person or any of its Consolidated Subsidiaries or that other
person’s assets are acquired by such person or its Consolidated Subsidiaries after the Closing Date.

     “Consolidated Subsidiaries” means, as to any person, all subsidiaries of such person that are consolidated with such person for financial reporting purposes in accordance
with GAAP.

     “Contested Collateral Lien Conditions” means, with respect to any Permitted Lien of the type described in Sections 6.02(a), (b) and (d), the following conditions:

     (a) any proceeding instituted contesting such Lien shall conclusively operate to stay the sale or forfeiture of any portion of the Collateral on account of such Lien;

     (b) the appropriate Loan Party shall maintain cash reserves in an amount sufficient to pay and discharge such Lien in accordance with GAAP; and

     (c) such Lien shall in all respects be subject and subordinate in priority to the Lien and security interest created and evidenced by the Security Documents, except if and
to the extent that the law or regulation creating, permitting or authorizing such Lien provides that such Lien is or must be superior to the Lien and security interest created
and evidenced by the Security Documents.
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     “Contingent Obligation” means, as to any person, any obligation of such person guaranteeing or intended to guarantee any Indebtedness, leases, dividends or other
obligations (“primary obligations”) of any other person (the “primary obligor”) in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, including any obligation of such person,
whether or not contingent, (a) to purchase any such primary obligation or any property constituting direct or indirect security therefor; (b) to advance or supply funds (i) for
the purchase or payment of any such primary obligation or (ii) to maintain working capital or equity capital of the primary obligor or otherwise to maintain the net worth or
solvency of the primary obligor; (c) to purchase property, securities or services primarily for the purpose of assuring the owner of any such primary obligation of the ability of
the primary obligor to make payment of such primary obligation; or (d) otherwise to assure or hold harmless the holder of such primary obligation against loss in respect
thereof; provided, however, that the term “Contingent Obligation” shall not include (w) endorsements of instruments for deposit or collection in the ordinary course of
business, (x) any product warranties issued on products by Holdings or any of its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business, (y) any obligation to buy back products in the
ordinary course of business made pursuant to the buyback policy of Holdings and its Subsidiaries or pursuant to applicable Requirements of Law, and (z) any operating lease
guarantees (other than in respect of Synthetic Lease Obligations) executed by Borrower in the ordinary course of business. The amount of any Contingent Obligation shall be
deemed to be an amount equal to the stated or determinable amount of the primary obligation in respect of which such Contingent Obligation is made (or, if less, the
maximum amount of such primary obligation for which such person may be liable pursuant to the terms of the instrument evidencing such Contingent Obligation) or, if not
stated or determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof (assuming such person is required to perform thereunder) as determined by such person
in good faith.

     “Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a person, whether through the
ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise, and the terms “Controlling” and “Controlled” have meanings correlative thereto.

     “Control Agreement” has the meaning assigned to such term in the U.S. Security Agreement.

     “Credit Extension” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.01.

     “Debt Issuance” means the incurrence by Holdings or any of its Subsidiaries of any Indebtedness after the Closing Date (other than as permitted by Section 6.01).

     “Debt Rating” means the Moody’s Rating and/or the S&P Rating, as the context may require.

     “Default” means any event or condition that is, or upon notice or lapse of time would constitute, an Event of Default.

     “Delayed Draw Closing Date” means the date that the Lenders with a Term Loan Commitment make the initial Term Loans hereunder.

     “Designated Subsidiaries” means Herbalife (China) Health Products Ltd., Herbalife Dominicana, S.A., Herbalife Del Ecuador, S.A., Herbalife International SDN. BHD.
and Herbalife International Products N.V.
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     “Dividend” with respect to any person means that such person has paid a dividend or returned any equity capital to its stockholders or made any other distribution,
payment or delivery of property (other than common stock of such person) or cash to its stockholders as such, or redeemed, retired, purchased or otherwise acquired, directly
or indirectly, for consideration any shares of any class of its capital stock outstanding on or after the Closing Date (or any options or warrants issued by such person with
respect to its capital stock), or set aside any funds for any of the foregoing purposes. Without limiting the foregoing, “Dividend” with respect to any person also includes all
payments made by such person with respect to any stock appreciation rights, plans, equity incentive or achievement plans or any similar plans or setting aside of any funds for
the foregoing purposes.

     “dollars” or “$“means the lawful money of the United States of America.

     “Domesticated Foreign Subsidiary” means a Foreign Subsidiary which has become domesticated into the United States.

     “environment” means ambient air, surface water and groundwater (including potable water, navigable water and wetlands), the land surface or subsurface strata, natural
resources such as flora and fauna, the workplace or as otherwise defined in any Environmental Law.

     “Environmental Claim” means any written accusation, allegation, notice of violation, investigation or potential liability claim, demand, order, directive, cost recovery
action or other cause of action by, or on behalf of, any Governmental Authority or any person for damages, injunctive or equitable relief, personal injury (including sickness,
disease or death), Response action costs, tangible or intangible property damage, natural resource damages, nuisance, pollution, any adverse effect on the environment caused
by any Hazardous Material, or for fines, penalties, restrictions or modification of operations or equipment, resulting from or based upon (a) the existence, or the continuation
of the existence, of a Release (including sudden or non-sudden, accidental or non-accidental Releases of Hazardous Material); (b) exposure to any Hazardous Material; (c) the
presence, use, handling, transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Material; or (d) the violation or alleged violation of any Environmental Law or
Environmental Permit.

     “Environmental Law” means any and all applicable present and future treaties, laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances, orders, decrees, judgments, injunctions, notices
or binding agreements issued, promulgated or entered into by any Governmental Authority, or the common law relating in any way to the protection or preservation of the
environment (including preservation or reclamation of natural resources), the management, Release or threatened Release of any Hazardous Material or to public or
occupational health and safety matters, including The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the Superfund
Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq. (collectively “CERCLA”), the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 and Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments of 1984, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq., the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as
amended by the Clean Water Act of 1977, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq., the Clean Air Act of 1970, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq., the Toxic Substances Control Act of
1976, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2601 et seq., the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended, 29 U.S.C. §§ 651 et seq., the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-
Know Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§ 11001 et seq., the Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 300(f) et seq., the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49
U.S.C. §§ 5101 et seq., and any similar or implementing state,

14



 

local or foreign law, and all amendments to or regulations promulgated under, any of the foregoing.

     “Environmental Permit” means any permit, approval, authorization, certificate, license, variance, filing or permission required by or from any Governmental Authority
pursuant to any Environmental Law.

     “Equity Interest” means, with respect to any person, any and all shares, interests, participations or other equivalents, including membership interests (however designated,
whether voting or non-voting), of capital of such person, including, if such person is a partnership, partnership interests (whether general or limited) and any other interest
(other than an interest constituting Indebtedness) or participation that confers on a person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or distributions of assets of,
such partnership, whether outstanding on or issued after the Closing Date.

     “ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as the same may be amended from time to time.

     “ERISA Affiliate” means, with respect to any employer any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that, together with such employer, is treated as a single
employer under Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Tax Code.

     “ERISA Event” means (a) any “reportable event,” as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA or the regulations issued thereunder, with respect to a Plan (other than an event for
which the 30-day notice period is waived by regulation); (b) the existence with respect to any Plan of an “accumulated funding deficiency” (as defined in Section 412 of the
Tax Code or Section 302 of ERISA), whether or not waived, the failure to make by its due date a required installment under Section 412(m) of the Tax Code with respect to
any Plan or the failure to make any required contribution to a Multiemployer Plan; (c) the filing pursuant to Section 412(d) of the Tax Code or Section 303(d) of ERISA of an
application for a waiver of the minimum funding standard with respect to any Plan; (d) the incurrence by any Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability under
Title IV of ERISA with respect to the termination of any Plan; (e) the receipt by any Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates from the PBGC or a plan administrator of any
notice relating to the intention to terminate any Plan or Plans or to appoint a trustee to administer any Plan, or the occurrence of any event or condition that could reasonably
be expected to constitute grounds under ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any Plan; (f) the provision to an affected party by the
administrator of any Plan pursuant to Section 4041(a)(2) of ERISA of a notice of intent to terminate such plan in a distress termination described in Section 4041(c) of ERISA;
(g) the withdrawal by any Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates from any Plan with two or more contributing sponsors or the termination of any such Plan resulting in
liability to any Company or any of their respective Affiliates pursuant to Section 4063 or 4064 of ERISA; (h) the receipt by any Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates of
any notice, concerning the imposition of Withdrawal Liability or a determination that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, insolvent or in reorganization, within the
meaning of Title IV of ERISA; (i) making of any amendment to any Plan that could result in the imposition of a lien or the posting of a bond or other security; (j) the
occurrence of a nonexempt prohibited transaction (within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Tax Code or Section 406 of ERISA) that could result in a Material Adverse
Effect; (k) the imposition of a Lien pursuant to Section 401(a)(29) or 412(n) of the Tax Code or pursuant to ERISA with respect to any Plan; and (l) the assertion of a material
claim (other than routine claims for benefits) against any Plan or the assets thereof, or against any Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates in connection with any Plan.
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     “Eurodollar Borrowing” means a Borrowing comprised of Eurodollar Loans.

     “Eurodollar Loan” means any Eurodollar Revolving Loan or Eurodollar Term Loan.

     “Eurodollar Revolving Loan” means any Revolving Loan bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the LIBOR Rate in accordance with the provisions of
Article II.

     “Eurodollar Term Loan” means any Term Loan bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the LIBOR Rate in accordance with the provisions of Article II.

     “Event of Default” has the meaning assigned to such term in Article VIII.

     “Excess Cash Flow” means, for any fiscal year of Holdings, the sum, without duplication, of

     (a) Consolidated EBITDA of Holdings for such fiscal year; plus

     (b) losses from Asset Sales; plus

     (c) reductions to noncash working capital of Holdings and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for such fiscal year (i.e., the decrease, if any, in Consolidated Current Assets
minus Consolidated Current Liabilities from the beginning to the end of such fiscal year); minus

     (d) the amount of any cash income taxes payable by Holdings and its Consolidated Subsidiaries with respect to such fiscal year; minus

     (e) Consolidated Interest Expense of Holdings during such fiscal year; minus

     (f) Capital Expenditures made in cash in accordance with Section 6.07(c) during such fiscal year, to the extent funded from internally generated funds; minus

     (g) permanent repayments of Indebtedness made by Holdings and its Consolidated Subsidiaries during such fiscal year (including payments of principal in respect of the
Revolving Loans to the extent there is an equivalent reduction in the Revolving Commitments hereunder); minus

     (h) aggregate cash payments made in respect of the Tax Indemnity not to exceed $15.0 million in any fiscal year; minus

     (i) additions to noncash working capital of Holdings and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for such fiscal year (i.e., the increase, if any, in Consolidated Current Assets
minus Consolidated Current Liabilities from the beginning to the end of such fiscal year); minus

     (j) gains from Asset Sales.

     “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

     “Excluded Taxes” means, with respect to the Administrative Agent, any Lender, the Issuing Bank or any other recipient of any payment to be made by or on account of
any obligation of Borrower hereunder, (a) foreign, federal, state or local income or franchise taxes imposed on
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(or measured by) its net income by the United States of America, or by the jurisdiction under the laws of which such recipient is doing business, is organized or in which its
principal office is located or, in the case of any Lender, in which its applicable lending office is located, (b) any branch profits taxes imposed by the United States of America
and (c) in the case of a Foreign Lender (other than an assignee pursuant to a request by Borrower under Section 2.16), any withholding tax that is imposed on amounts
payable to such Foreign Lender at the time such Foreign Lender becomes a party to this Agreement (or designates a new lending office) or is attributable to such Foreign
Lender’s failure to comply with Section 2.15(e), except to the extent that such Foreign Lender (or its assignor, if any) was entitled, at the time of designation of a new lending
office (or assignment), to receive additional amounts from Borrower with respect to such withholding tax pursuant to Section 2.15(a).

     “Existing Credit Agreement” has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals hereto.

     “Federal Funds Effective Rate” means, for any day, the weighted average of the rates on overnight federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve
System arranged by federal funds brokers, as published on the next succeeding Business Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such rate is not so published for
any day that is a Business Day, the average of the quotations for the day for such transactions received by the Administrative Agent from three federal funds brokers of
recognized standing selected by it.

     “Fee Letter” means the Fee Letter, dated June 27, 2006, among Herbalife International, Inc., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Incorporated, Merrill Lynch Capital
Corporation, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., as amended.

     “Fees” mean the Commitment Fees, the Administrative Agent Fees, the LC Participation Fees and the Fronting Fees.

     “Financial Officer” means, as applied to any person, the Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer, Treasurer or Controller of such person.

     “FIRREA” means the Federal Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989.

     “Foreign Lender” means any Lender that is not a United States person within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Tax Code.

     “Foreign Plan” means any employee benefit plan, program, policy, arrangement or agreement that would be an “employee pension benefit plan” under Section 3(2) of
ERISA if such plan, program, policy, arrangement or agreement was not maintained outside the United States primarily for the benefit of persons substantially all of whom
are nonresident aliens with respect to which any Company could incur liability.

     “Foreign Security Agreements” means each security, pledge or similar agreement necessary or desirable to evidence the grant of a security interest or pledge of assets of
any Subsidiary Guarantor that is a Foreign Subsidiary and that is required hereunder, in each case in form and substance satisfactory to the Collateral Agent and as such
agreement may thereafter be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
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     “Foreign Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary that is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than the United States or any state thereof or the District of Columbia.

     “Fronting Fees” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.05(c).

     “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

     “Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, local or foreign court or governmental agency, authority, instrumentality or regulatory body.

     “Guaranteed Obligations” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 7.01.

     “Guarantees” means the guarantees issued pursuant to Article VII (or pursuant to any other form of guarantee required by applicable Requirements of Law and in form
and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) by Holdings, Parent, the LuxCos, HIL Swiss, Cayman III, WH Capital and the Subsidiary Guarantors.

     “Guarantors” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereof.

     “Hazardous Materials” means all pollutants, contaminants, chemicals, wastes, substances and constituents including petroleum or petroleum distillates, asbestos or
asbestos containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls (“PCBs”) or PCB-containing materials or equipment, radon gas, infectious or medical wastes and all other substances
or wastes, of any nature subject to regulation, or that can give rise to liability under any Environmental Law.

     “Hedging Agreement” means any Interest Rate Protection Agreement, foreign currency exchange agreement, commodity price protection agreement or other interest or
currency exchange rate or commodity price hedging arrangement.

     “HIL Swiss” means HIL Swiss International G.m.b.H., a limited liability company organized under to the laws of Switzerland.

     “Holding Companies” means, collectively, Holdings, Parent, Cayman III, Luxembourg Holdings, New Lux, WH Capital, Luxembourg Intermediate Holdings and,
individually, each of the foregoing.

     “Holdings” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

     “Holdings Senior Note Agreement” means that certain Indenture dated as of March 8, 2004 (as in effect on the date hereof) by and among Holdings and WH Capital, as
issuers, and The Bank of New York, as trustee.

     “Holdings Senior Note Documents” means the Holdings Senior Notes, the Holdings Senior Note Agreement, and all other documents executed and delivered with respect
to either of the foregoing.

     “Holdings Senior Notes” means the $275.0 million in the aggregate principal amount of 91/2% Notes due 2011 issued by Holdings and WH Capital under the Holdings
Senior Note Agreement.

     “HV” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereof.
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     “Immaterial Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary that generates less than $1.0 million of net sales during any fiscal year (or, in the case of a Subsidiary without prior
operating history, is reasonably projected by Borrower to generate less than $1.0 million of net sales during its first full year of operation). Notwithstanding the foregoing,
Herbalife Hungary Trading, Limited and Herbalife International SDN, BHD shall be deemed Immaterial Subsidiaries. All Immaterial Subsidiaries in existence on the Closing
Date are identified on Schedule 1.01(b).

     “Indebtedness” of any person means, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such person for borrowed money; (b) all obligations of such person evidenced by bonds,
debentures, notes or similar instruments; (c) all obligations of such person upon which interest charges are customarily paid or accrued; (d) all obligations of such person
under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property purchased by such person; (e) all obligations of such person issued or assumed as the deferred
purchase price of property or services (excluding trade accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business); (f) all Indebtedness of others secured by (or for which the
holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by such person, whether or not the
obligations secured thereby have been assumed; (g) all Capital Lease Obligations, Purchase Money Obligations and Synthetic Lease Obligations of such person; (h) all
obligations of such person in respect of Hedging Agreements; provided that, the amount of Indebtedness of the type referred to in this clause (h) of any person shall be zero
unless and until such Indebtedness shall be terminated, in which case the amount of such Indebtedness shall be the termination payment due thereunder by such person; (i) all
obligations of such person as an account party in respect of letters of credit, letters of guaranty and bankers’ acceptances; (j) all Attributable Indebtedness of such person; and
(k) all Contingent Obligations of such person in respect of Indebtedness or obligations of others of the kinds referred to in clauses (a) through (j) above. The Indebtedness of
any person shall include the Indebtedness of any other entity (including any partnership in which such person is a general partner) to the extent such person is liable therefor
as a result of such person’s ownership interest in or other relationship with such entity, except to the extent that the terms of such Indebtedness provide that such person is not
liable therefor.

     “Indemnified Taxes” means Taxes other than Excluded Taxes.

     “Indemnitee” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.03(b).

     “Information” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.12.

     “Intellectual Property” has the meaning assigned to such term in the U.S. Security Agreement.

     “Intercompany Note” means a promissory note, substantially in the form of Exhibit G, evidencing Indebtedness payable by a payor Company to a payee Loan Party.

     “Interest Election Request” means a request by Borrower to convert or continue a Revolving Borrowing or Term Borrowing in accordance with Section 2.08(b),
substantially in the form of Exhibit D.

     “Interest Payment Date” means (a) with respect to any ABR Loan, the last day of each March, June, September and December to occur during the period that such Loan
is outstanding and the final maturity date of such Loan; and (b) with respect to any Eurodollar Loan, the last day of the Interest Period applicable to the Borrowing of which
such Loan is a part, and in the case of
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a Eurodollar Loan with an Interest Period of more than three-months’ duration, each day prior to the last day of such Interest Period that occurs at intervals of three-months’
duration after the first day of such Interest Period.

     “Interest Period” means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Borrowing and ending on the numerically corresponding
day in the calendar month that is one, two, three or six, or if available by all Lenders, one week, nine months or twelve months thereafter (provided that one week Interest
Periods may only be used for purposes of minimizing breakage costs in connection with a proposed prepayment of all or a portion of the Loans) provided that, (A) if any
Interest Period would end on a day other than a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless such next succeeding
Business Day would fall in the next calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day; and (B) any Interest Period that
commences on the last Business Day of a calendar month, or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the last calendar month of such Interest Period,
shall end on the last Business Day of the last calendar month of such Interest Period. For purposes hereof, the date of a Borrowing initially shall be the date on which such
Borrowing is made and thereafter shall be the effective date of the most recent conversion or continuation of such Borrowing.

     “Interest Rate Protection Agreement” means any interest rate swap agreement, interest rate cap agreement, interest rate collar agreement or similar agreement or
arrangement designed to protect Holdings or its Subsidiaries against fluctuations in interest rates and not entered into for speculation.

     “internally generated funds” means funds not constituting the proceeds of any Loan, Debt Issuance, Asset Sale, insurance recovery or Indebtedness (in each case without
regard to the exclusions from the definition thereof).

     “Investments” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.03.

     “Issuing Bank” means, as the context may require, (a) Cooperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank, B.A. “Rabobank International”, New York Branch with respect
to Letters of Credit issued by it; (b) any other Lender that may become an Issuing Bank pursuant to Section 2.17(i), with respect to Letters of Credit issued by such Lender; or
(c) collectively, all of the foregoing.

     “Joinder Agreement” means a joinder agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit H.

     “LC Commitment” means the commitment of the Issuing Bank to issue Letters of Credit pursuant to Section 2.17.

     “LC Disbursement” means a payment or disbursement made by the Issuing Bank pursuant to a Letter of Credit.

     “LC Exposure” means at any time the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit at such time, plus (b) the aggregate principal amount
of all LC Disbursements that have not yet been reimbursed at such time. The LC Exposure of any Revolving Lender at any time shall mean its Pro Rata Percentage of the
aggregate LC Exposure at such time.

     “LC Participation Fee” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.05(c).
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     “LC Sub-Account” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.01(d).

     “Leases” means any and all leases, subleases, tenancies, options, concession agreements, rental agreements, occupancy agreements, franchise agreements, access
agreements and any other agreements (including all amendments, extensions, replacements, renewals, modifications and/or guarantees thereof), whether or not of record and
whether now in existence or hereafter entered into, affecting the use or occupancy of all or any portion of any Real Property.

     “Lenders” means (a) the financial institutions listed on Annex II (other than any such financial institution that has ceased to be a party hereto pursuant to an Assignment
and Acceptance) and (b) any financial institution that has become a party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and Acceptance.

     “Lender Affiliate” means with respect to any Lender that is a fund that invests in bank loans, any other fund that invests in commercial loans and is managed or advised
by the same investment advisor as such Lender or by an Affiliate of such advisor.

     “Letter of Credit” means any (i) Standby Letter of Credit and (ii) Commercial Letter of Credit, in each case, issued or to be issued by an Issuing Bank for the account of
Borrower pursuant to Section 2.17.

     “Letter of Credit Request” means a request by Borrower in accordance with the terms of Section 2.17 and substantially in the form of Exhibit M, or such other form as
shall be approved by the Administrative Agent and the Issuing Bank.

     “Leverage Ratio” means, as of the last day of any fiscal quarter of Holdings, the ratio of: (a) Consolidated Indebtedness of Holdings on such date to (b) Consolidated
EBITDA of Holdings computed for the period consisting of such fiscal quarter and each of the three immediately preceding fiscal quarters.

     “LIBOR Rate” means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing for any Interest Period therefor, the rate per annum determined by the Administrative Agent to be the
arithmetic mean (rounded to the nearest 1/100th of 1%) of the offered rates for deposits in dollars with a term comparable to such Interest Period that appears on the Telerate
British Bankers Assoc. Interest Settlement Rates Page (as defined below) at approximately 11:00 a.m., London, England time, on the second full Business Day preceding the
first day of such Interest Period; provided, however, that (i) if no comparable term for an Interest Period is available, the LIBOR Rate shall be determined using the weighted
average of the offered rates for the two terms most nearly corresponding to such Interest Period, and (ii) if there shall at any time no longer exist a Telerate British Bankers
Assoc. Interest Settlement Rates Page, “LIBOR Rate” shall mean, with respect to each day during each Interest Period pertaining to Eurodollar Borrowings comprising part
of the same Borrowing, the rate per annum equal to the rate at which the Administrative Agent determines that prime banks are offered deposits in dollars at approximately
11:00 a.m., London, England time, two Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period in the London interbank market for delivery on the first day of such Interest
Period for the number of days comprised therein and in an amount comparable to its portion of the amount of such Eurodollar Borrowing to be outstanding during such
Interest Period. “Telerate British Bankers Assoc. Interest Settlement Rates Page” means the display designated as Page 3750 on the Telerate System Incorporated Service
(or such other page as may replace such page on such service for the purpose of displaying the rates at which dollar deposits are offered by leading banks in the London
interbank deposit market).

21



 

     “Lien” means, with respect to any property, (a) any mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, encumbrance, claim, charge, assignment, hypothecation, security interest or
encumbrance of any kind, any other type of preferential arrangement in respect of such property, including any easement, right-of-way or other encumbrance on title to Real
Property, in each of the foregoing cases whether voluntary or imposed by law; and (b) the interest of a vendor or a lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or
title retention agreement (or any financing lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing) relating to such property.

     “Loan Documents” means this Agreement, each Guarantee, the Letters of Credit, the Notes (if any) and the Security Documents.

     “Loan Parties” means Holdings, Parent, Cayman III, the LuxCos, WH Capital, Borrower, and each other Guarantor.

     “Loan” means, as the context may require, a Revolving Loan or a Term Loan.

     “LuxCos” means Luxembourg Holdings, New Lux and Luxembourg Intermediate Holdings.

     “Luxembourg Distribution” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereof.

     “Luxembourg Holdings” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereof.

     “Luxembourg Intermediate Holdings” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereof.

     “Margin Stock” has the meaning assigned to such term in Regulation U.

     “Material Adverse Effect” means (a) a material adverse effect on the business, property, results of operations or condition, financial or otherwise, of Holdings and its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; (b) material impairment of the ability of the Loan Parties to perform their obligations under any Loan Document; (c) material impairment of the
rights of or benefits or remedies available to the Lenders or the Collateral Agent under any Loan Document; or (d) a material adverse effect on the Collateral or the Liens in
favor of the Collateral Agent (for its benefit and for the benefit of the other Secured Parties) on the Collateral or the priority of such Liens.

     “Material Agreement” means those agreements, documents or instruments to which Holdings or any of its Subsidiaries is a party and which the breach thereof by such
party or failure by such party to maintain such agreement, document or instrument in effect would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

     “Maximum Rate” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.13.

     “Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.

     “Moody’s Rating” means the debt rating of Borrower’s senior secured debt rating most recently announced by Moody’s.

     “Multiemployer Plan” means a multiemployer plan within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA (a) to which any Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates is then
making or

22



 

accruing an obligation to make contributions, (b) to which any Company or any ERISA Affiliate has within the preceding five plan years made contributions, or (c) with
respect to which any Company or any ERISA Affiliate could incur liability.

     “Net Cash Proceeds” means:

     (a) with respect to any Asset Sale, the cash proceeds received by any Loan Party (including cash proceeds subsequently received (as and when received by any Loan Party)
in respect of noncash consideration initially received) net of (i) selling expenses (including reasonable brokers’ fees or commissions, legal fees, transfer and similar taxes and
Borrower’s reasonable and good faith estimate of income, franchise, sales, and other applicable taxes required to be paid by Holdings or any of its Subsidiaries in connection
with such Asset Sale in the taxable year that such sale is consummated or in the immediately succeeding taxable year, the computation of which shall take into account the
reduction in tax liability resulting from any available operating losses and net operating loss carryovers, tax credits, and tax credit carry forwards, and similar tax attributes;
(ii) amounts escrowed or provided as a reserve, in accordance with GAAP, against any liabilities under any indemnification obligations or purchase price adjustment
associated with such Asset Sale (provided that, to the extent and at the time any such amounts are released from such escrow or reserve, such amounts shall constitute Net
Cash Proceeds); (iii) Borrower’s good faith estimate of payments required to be made with respect to unassumed liabilities relating to the assets sold within 90 days of such
Asset Sale (provided that, to the extent such cash proceeds are not used to make payments in respect of such unassumed liabilities within 90 days of such Asset Sale, such cash
proceeds shall constitute Net Cash Proceeds); and (iv) the principal amount, premium or penalty, if any, interest and other amounts on any Indebtedness for borrowed money
that is secured by a senior Lien on the asset sold in such Asset Sale and that is repaid with such proceeds (other than any such Indebtedness assumed by the purchaser of such
asset);

     (b) with respect to any Debt Issuance, the cash proceeds thereof, net of customary fees, commissions, discounts, costs and other expenses incurred in connection therewith;
and

     (c) with respect to any Casualty Event, the cash insurance proceeds, condemnation awards and other compensation received in respect thereof, net of all reasonable costs
and expenses incurred in connection with the collection of such proceeds, awards or other compensation in respect of such Casualty Event.

     “New Lux” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereof.

     “New Wholly Owned Subsidiary” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.11(b).

     “Non-Guarantor Subsidiary” means (a) all of the Companies designated on Schedule 3.06(a) (as in effect on the Closing Date) as a “Non-Guarantor Subsidiary”, (b) each
Subsidiary that has been and remains released from its Guarantee in accordance with Section 7.09 hereof, and (c) each New Wholly Owned Subsidiary that is not required to
become a Guarantor hereunder in accordance with Section 5.11.

     “Notes” means any notes evidencing the Term Loans or Revolving Loans issued pursuant to this Agreement, if any, substantially in the form of Exhibit J-1 or J-2, as
applicable.
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     “Obligations” means (a) obligations of each Loan Party from time to time arising under or in respect of the due and punctual payment of (i) the principal of and premium,
if any, and interest (including interest accruing during the pendency of any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or other similar proceeding, regardless of whether allowed or
allowable in such proceeding) on the Loans, when and as due, whether at maturity, by acceleration, upon one or more dates set for prepayment or otherwise, (ii) each payment
required to be made by each Loan Party under this Agreement in respect of any Letter of Credit, when and as due, including payments in respect of reimbursement of
disbursements, interest thereon and obligations to provide cash collateral, and (iii) all other monetary obligations, including fees, costs, expenses and indemnities, whether
primary, secondary, direct, contingent, fixed or otherwise (including monetary obligations incurred during the pendency of any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or other
similar proceeding, regardless of whether allowed or allowable in such proceeding), of each Loan Party under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents; (b) the due and
punctual performance of all covenants, agreements, obligations and liabilities of each Loan Party under or pursuant to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents; (c) the
due and punctual payment and performance of all obligations of each Loan Party under each Hedging Agreement entered into with any counterparty that was a Lender or
Affiliate of a Lender at the time such Hedging Agreement was entered into; and (d) the due and punctual payment and performance of all obligations in respect of overdrafts
and related liabilities owed to any Lender, any Affiliate of a Lender, the Administrative Agent or the Collateral Agent arising from treasury, depositary and cash management
services or in connection with any automated clearinghouse transfer of funds.

     “Officers’ Certificate” means, as applied to any person, a certificate executed on behalf of such person by its Chairman of the Board (if an officer), its Chief Executive
Officer, its President or one of its Vice Presidents (or an equivalent officer) or by its Chief Financial Officer, Vice President-Finance or its Treasurer (or an equivalent
officer), each in their official (and not individual) capacity.

     “Other Taxes” means any and all present or future stamp or documentary taxes or any other excise or property taxes, charges or similar levies arising from any payment
made under any Loan Document or from the execution, delivery or enforcement of, or otherwise with respect to, any Loan Document.

     “Parent” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

     “Participant” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.04(e).

     “PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation referred to and defined in ERISA.

     “Perfection Certificate” means a certificate in the form of Exhibit I-1.

     “Permitted Acquisitions” means any acquisition of 100% of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of, or assets constituting a business, division or product line of,
any other person, provided, that (a) Holdings shall be in compliance on a pro forma basis with Section 6.07(a) and (b) after giving effect to such acquisition as of the last
measurement date (to be determined on a basis consistent with Article 1 of Regulation S-X promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 (as amended) and as interpreted by
the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission as of January 1, 1997) which pro forma adjustments shall be certified by the principal financial officer or principal
accounting officer of Holdings using the historical financial statements of the acquired business and the consolidated financial statements of Holdings and its Subsidiaries
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which shall be reformulated (i) as if such acquisition and any other acquisitions which have been consummated during such period, any Indebtedness or other liabilities
incurred or repaid in connection with any such acquisition had been consummated or incurred or repaid at the beginning of such period (and assuming that such Indebtedness
bears interest during any portion of the applicable measurement period prior to the relevant acquisition at the interest rates applicable to outstanding Loans as of the date of
calculation of such pro forma adjustments), (ii) solely if quantifiable based on the underlying accounting records of such property, entity or business unit, (iii) only if factually
supportable and (iv) otherwise in conformity with certain procedures to be agreed upon between Administrative Agent and the Borrower, all such calculations to be in form
and substance reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent and (b) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or result therefrom and (c) the
Borrower shall have complied with the provisions of Section 5.11.

     “Permitted Holders” means the Sponsors and their Affiliates.

     “Permitted Liens” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.02.

     “person” means any natural person, corporation, business trust, joint venture, association, company, limited liability company, partnership or government, or any agency
or political subdivision thereof.

     “Plan” means any employee pension benefit plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) subject to the provisions of Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Tax Code or
Section 307 of ERISA, and in respect of which any Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates is (or, if such plan were terminated, would under Section 4069 of ERISA be
deemed to be) an “employer” as defined in Section 3(5) of ERISA or with respect to which any Company could incur liability.

     “Preferred Stock” means, with respect to any person, any and all preferred or preference Equity Interests (however designated) of such person whether now outstanding or
issued after the Closing Date.

     “Pro Rata Percentage” of any Revolving Lender at any time means the percentage of the total Revolving Commitment represented by such Lender’s Revolving
Commitment.

     “property” means any right, title or interest in or to property or assets of any kind whatsoever, whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible and
including Equity Interests or other ownership interests of any person and whether now in existence or owned or hereafter entered into or acquired.

     “Purchase Money Obligation” means, for any person, the obligations of such person in respect of Indebtedness incurred for the purpose of financing all or any part of the
purchase price of any property (including Equity Interests of any person) or the cost of installation, construction or improvement of any property or assets and any refinancing
thereof; provided, however, that such Indebtedness is incurred within 90 days after such acquisition of such property by such person.

     “Real Property” means, collectively, all right, title and interest (including any leasehold estate) in and to any and all parcels of or interests in real property owned, leased
or operated by any person, whether by lease, license or other means, together with, in each case, all easements, hereditaments and appurtenances relating thereto, all
improvements and appurtenant fixtures and
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equipment, all general intangibles and contract rights and other property and rights incidental to the ownership, lease or operation thereof.

     “Redemption” has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals hereto.

     “Register” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.04(c).

     “Refinancing” has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals hereto.

     “Regulation D” means Regulation D of the Board as from time to time in effect and all official rulings and interpretations thereunder or thereof.

     “Regulation T” means Regulation T of the Board as from time to time in effect and all official rulings and interpretations thereunder or thereof.

     “Regulation U” means Regulation U of the Board as from time to time in effect and all official rulings and interpretations thereunder or thereof.

     “Regulation X” means Regulation X of the Board as from time to time in effect and all official rulings and interpretations thereunder or thereof.

     “Release” means any spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping, disposing, depositing, dispersing,
emanating or migrating of any Hazardous Material in, into, onto or through the environment.

     “Released Guarantor” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 7.09.

     “Required Lenders” means, at any time, Lenders having Loans, LC Exposure and unused Revolving Commitments representing at least a majority of the sum of all
Loans outstanding, LC Exposure and unused Revolving Commitments at such time.

     “Requirements of Law” means, collectively, any and all requirements of any Governmental Authority including any and all laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or similar
statutes or case law.

     “Response” means (a) “response” as such term is defined in CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(24), and (b) all other actions required by any Governmental Authority or
voluntarily undertaken to: (i) clean up, remove, treat, abate or in any other way address any Hazardous Material in the environment; (ii) prevent the Release or threat of
Release, or minimize the further Release, of any Hazardous Material; or (iii) perform studies and investigations in connection with, or as a precondition to, clause (i) or (ii)
above.

     “Responsible Officer” of any corporation means any executive officer or Financial Officer of such corporation and any other officer or similar official thereof responsible
for the administration of the obligations of such corporation in respect of this Agreement.

     “Revolving Availability Period” means the period from and including the Closing Date to but excluding the earlier of the Revolving Maturity Date and the date of
termination of the Revolving Commitments.

     “Revolving Borrowing” means a Borrowing comprised of Revolving Loans.
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     “Revolving Commitment” means, with respect to each Lender, the commitment of such Lender to make Revolving Loans hereunder as set forth on Annex II, or in the
Assignment and Acceptance pursuant to which such Lender assumed its Revolving Commitment, as applicable, as the same may be (a) reduced from time to time pursuant to
Section 2.07 and (b) reduced or increased from time to time pursuant to assignments by or to such Lender pursuant to Section 11.04. The amount of each Lender’s Revolving
Commitment is set forth on Annex II, or in the Assignment and Acceptance pursuant to which such Lender shall have assumed its Revolving Commitment, as applicable. The
aggregate amount of the Lenders’ Revolving Commitments as of the Closing Date is $100.0 million.

     “Revolving Commitment Fee” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.05(a).

     “Revolving Exposure” means, with respect to any Lender at any time, the aggregate principal amount at such time of all outstanding Revolving Loans of such Lender,
plus the aggregate amount at such time of such Lender’s LC Exposure.

     “Revolving Lender” means a Lender with a Revolving Commitment.

     “Revolving Loans” means a Loan made by the Lenders to Borrower pursuant to Section 2.01(b).

     “Revolving Maturity Date” means the sixth anniversary of the Closing Date.

     “S&P” mean Standard & Poor’s Rating Service, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies.

     “S&P Rating” means the rating of Borrower’s senior secured debt rating most recently announced by S&P.

     “Secured Parties” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Security Documents.

     “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

     “Security Agreements” means, collectively, the U.S. Security Agreement and each Foreign Security Agreement.

     “Security Agreement Collateral” has the meaning set forth in any Security Agreement delivered on the Closing Date or thereafter pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement.

     “Security Documents” means the Security Agreements, the Perfection Certificate and each other security document or pledge agreement required by applicable local law
to grant a valid, perfected security interest in any property acquired or developed, and all instruments of perfection required by this Agreement or any Security Agreement to
be filed with respect to the security interests in property and fixtures created pursuant to any Security Agreement and any other document or instrument utilized to pledge as
collateral for the Obligations any property of whatever kind or nature.

     “Sponsor” means each of Whitney V, L.P., Whitney Strategic Partners V, L.P. and CCG Investments (BVI), L.P.
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     “Standby Letter of Credit” means any standby letter of credit or similar instrument issued for the purpose of supporting (a) workers’ compensation liabilities of Borrower
or any Subsidiary, (b) the obligations of third-party insurers of Borrower or any Subsidiary arising by virtue of the laws of any jurisdiction requiring third-party insurers to
obtain such letters of credit, or (c) performance, payment, deposit or surety obligations of Borrower or any Subsidiary if required by law or governmental rule or regulation or
in accordance with custom and practice in the industry.

     “Subsidiary” means, with respect to any person (the “parent”) at any date, any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity the accounts
of which would be consolidated with those of the parent in the parent’s consolidated financial statements if such financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP
as of such date, as well as any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity (a) of which securities or other ownership interests
representing more than 50% of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a partnership, more than 50% of the general partnership interests are, as of such date, owned,
controlled or held, or (b) that is, as of such date, otherwise Controlled, by the parent or one or more Subsidiaries of the parent or by the parent and one or more subsidiaries of
the parent.

     “Subsidiary Guarantor” means each Subsidiary listed on Schedule 1.01(e), each other Subsidiary that is or becomes a party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.11
(but excluding any Released Guarantor that remains released from its Guarantee in accordance with Section 7.09).

     “Synthetic Lease” means, as applied to any person, any lease (including leases that may be terminated by the lessee at any time) of any property (whether real, personal or
mixed) (a) that is not a capital lease in accordance with GAAP and (b) in respect of which the lessee retains or obtains ownership of the property so leased for federal income
tax purposes, other than any such lease under which that person is the lessor.

     “Synthetic Lease Obligation” means the monetary obligation of a person under a Synthetic Lease.

     “Tax Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

     “Tax Indemnity” means that certain indemnity payable by Holdings and Borrower to certain shareholders of Holdings in respect of certain tax matters as set forth in that
certain Indemnification Agreement dated as of December 1, 2004 among Holdings, Whitney Strategic Partners V, L.P., Whitney Private Debt Fund, L.P., Green River
Offshore Fund, CCG Investments (BVI), L.P., CCG Associates-QP, LLC, CCG Associates-AI, LLC, CCG AV, LLC-Series C, CCG AV, LLC-Series E, CCG CI, LLC, and
GGC Administration, LLC.

     “Tax Refund” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(f).

     “Tax Return” means all returns, statements, filings, attachments and other documents or certifications required to be filed in respect of Taxes or any amendments thereof
or thereto.

     “Taxes” mean any and all present or future taxes, duties, levies, fees, assessments, imposts, deductions, charges or withholdings, whether computed on a separate,
consolidated, unitary, combined or other basis and any and all liabilities (including interest, fines, penalties or additions to tax) with respect to the foregoing.
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     “Term Lender” means a Lender with an outstanding Term Loan.

     “Term Loan” means the term loans made by the Lenders to Borrower on the Delayed Draw Closing Date; unless the context otherwise requires, “Term Loan” includes
any term loans made by the Lenders to Borrower pursuant to any Additional Term Loan Commitments extended in accordance with Section 2.18. Each Term Loan shall be
either an ABR Term Loan or a Eurodollar Term Loan.

     “Term Loan Commitment” means, with respect to each Lender, the commitment, if any, of such Lender to make a Term Loan hereunder on the Delayed Draw Closing
Date, expressed as an amount representing the maximum principal amount of the Term Loan to be made by such Lender hereunder. The initial amount of each Lender’s Term
Loan Commitment is set forth in Annex II. The initial aggregate amount of the Lenders’ Term Loan Commitments is $200.0 million. Unless the context otherwise requires,
“Term Loan Commitments” includes any Additional Term Loan Commitments.

     “Term Loan Commitment Fee” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.05(d).

     “Term Loan Maturity Date” means the seventh anniversary of the Closing Date.

     “Term Loan Repayment Date” haves the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.09(a).

     “Transaction Costs” has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals hereto.

     “Transaction Documents” means any and all documents entered into or delivered in connection with the Transactions, including, without limitation, the Loan Documents
delivered on the Closing Date and documents entered into in connection with the Redemption.

     “Transactions” has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals hereto.

     “Type,” when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether the rate of interest on such Loan, or on the Loans comprising such Borrowing, is determined
by reference to the LIBOR Rate or the Alternate Base Rate.

     “UCC” has the meaning set forth in the U.S. Security Agreement.

     “U.S. Security Agreement” means a Security Agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit F among the Loan Parties and Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured
Parties, as the same may be amended in accordance with the terms thereof and hereof, or such other agreements reasonably acceptable to Collateral Agent as shall be
necessary to comply with applicable Requirements of Law and effective to grant to Collateral Agent (on behalf of the Secured Parties) a perfected, first-priority security
interest in the Security Agreement Collateral covered thereby.

     “WH Capital” has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals hereto.

     “Voting Stock” means any class or classes of capital stock of Holdings pursuant to which the holders thereof have the general voting power under ordinary circumstances
to elect at least a majority of the Board of Directors of Holdings.
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     “Wholly Owned Subsidiary” means, as to any person, (a) any corporation 100% of whose capital stock (other than directors’ qualifying shares) is at the time owned by
such person and/or one or more Wholly Owned Subsidiaries of such person and (b) any partnership, association, joint venture, limited liability company or other entity in
which such person and/or one or more Wholly Owned Subsidiaries of such person have a 100% equity interest at such time.

     “Withdrawal Liability” means liability to a Multiemployer Plan as a result of a complete or partial withdrawal from such Multiemployer Plan, as such terms are defined
in Part I of Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA.

     SECTION 1.02. Classification of Loans and Borrowings. For purposes of this Agreement, Loans may be classified and referred to by Class (e.g., a “Revolving Loan”)
or by Type (e.g., a “Eurodollar Loan”) or by Class and Type (e.g., a “Eurodollar Revolving Loan”). Borrowings also may be classified and referred to by Class (e.g., a
“Revolving Borrowing”) or by Type (e.g., a “Eurodollar Borrowing”) or by Class and Type (e.g., a “Eurodollar Revolving Borrowing”).

     SECTION 1.03. Terms Generally. The definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. Whenever the context may
require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words “include,” “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be modified
by the phrase “without limitation.” The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall.” Unless the context requires otherwise (a) any
definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument of other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from
time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified in accordance with the provisions hereof and thereof; (b) any reference herein to any person shall be construed to
include such person’s successors and assigns; (c) the words “herein,” “hereof” and “hereunder,” and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in
its entirety and not to any particular provision of this Agreement; (d) all references herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to articles
and sections of, and exhibits and schedules to, this Agreement; and (e) the words “asset” and “property” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer to
any and all tangible and intangible assets and properties, including cash, securities, accounts and contract rights. All references to the knowledge of any Company or to facts
known by any Company shall mean actual knowledge of any Responsible Officer of any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries.

     SECTION 1.04. Accounting Terms; GAAP. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all accounting terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings
assigned to them in conformity with GAAP, as in effect from time to time. Financial statements and other information required to be delivered by Holdings to Lenders
pursuant to Sections 5.01(a), (b) and (c) shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP as in effect at the time of such preparation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, calculations in
connection with the definitions, covenants and other provisions hereof shall utilize accounting principles and policies in conformity with those used to prepare the historical
financial statements delivered on the Closing Date. If at any time any change in GAAP would affect the computation of any financial ratio or requirement set forth in any
Loan Document, and Borrower, the Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders shall so request, the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and Borrower shall negotiate in
good faith to amend such ratio or requirement to preserve the original intent thereof in light of such change in GAAP (subject to the approval of the Required Lenders);
provided that, until so amended, such ratio or requirement shall continue to be computed in accordance with GAAP prior to such change therein.
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ARTICLE II

The Credits

     SECTION 2.01. Commitments. Subject to the terms and conditions and relying upon the representations and warranties herein set forth:

     (a) each Term Lender agrees, severally and not jointly, to make a Term Loan to Borrower on the Delayed Draw Closing Date in a principal amount equal to its Term
Loan Commitment; and

     (b) each Revolving Lender agrees, severally and not jointly to make Revolving Loans to Borrower, at any time and from time to time after the Closing Date, and until
the earlier of the Revolving Maturity Date and the termination of the Commitment of such Lender in accordance with the terms hereof, in an aggregate principal amount at
any time outstanding that will not result in such Lender’s Revolving Exposure exceeding such Lender’s Revolving Commitment.

Amounts paid or prepaid in respect of Term Loans may not be reborrowed. Within the limits set forth in clause (b) above and subject to the terms, conditions and limitations
set forth herein, Borrower may borrow, pay or prepay and reborrow Revolving Loans.

     SECTION 2.02. Loans.

     (a) Each Loan shall be made as part of a Borrowing consisting of Loans made by the Lenders ratably in accordance with their applicable Commitments; provided,
however, that the failure of any Lender to make any Loan shall not in itself relieve any other Lender of its obligation to lend hereunder (it being understood, however, that
no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any other Lender to make any Loan required to be made by such other Lender). Except for Loans deemed made pursuant to
Section 2.02(f), Loans comprising any Borrowing shall be in an aggregate principal amount that is (i) an integral multiple of $1.0 million or (ii) equal to the remaining
available balance of the applicable Commitments.

     (b) Subject to Sections 2.11 and 2.12, each Borrowing shall be comprised entirely of ABR Loans or Eurodollar Loans as Borrower may request pursuant to
Section 2.03. Each Lender may at its option make any Eurodollar Loan by causing any domestic or foreign branch or Affiliate of such Lender to make such Loan; provided
that, any exercise of such option shall not affect the obligation of Borrower to repay such Loan in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. Borrowings of more than
one Type may be outstanding at the same time; provided, however, that Borrower shall not be entitled to request any Borrowing that, if made, would result in more than
ten Eurodollar Borrowings outstanding hereunder at any time. For purposes of the foregoing, Borrowings having different Interest Periods, regardless of whether they
commence on the same date, shall be considered separate Borrowings.

     (c) Except with respect to Loans made pursuant to Section 2.02(f), each Lender shall make each Loan to be made by it hereunder on the proposed date thereof by wire
transfer of immediately available funds to such account in New York City as the Administrative Agent may designate not later than 12:00 noon, New York City time, and
the Administrative Agent shall promptly credit the amounts so received to an account as
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directed by Borrower in the applicable Borrowing Request maintained with the Administrative Agent or, if a Borrowing shall not occur on such date because any condition
precedent herein specified shall not have been met, return the amounts so received to the respective Lenders.

     (d) Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from a Lender prior to the date of any Borrowing that such Lender will not make available to the
Administrative Agent such Lender’s portion of such Borrowing, the Administrative Agent may assume that such Lender has made such portion available to the
Administrative Agent on the date of such Borrowing in accordance with Section 2.02(c), and the Administrative Agent may, in reliance upon such assumption, make
available to Borrower on such date a corresponding amount. If the Administrative Agent shall have so made funds available, then, to the extent that such Lender shall not
have made such portion available to the Administrative Agent, such Lender and Borrower severally agree to repay to the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand such
corresponding amount together with interest thereon, for each day from the date such amount is made available to Borrower until the date such amount is repaid to the
Administrative Agent at (i) in the case of Borrower, the interest rate applicable at the time to the Loans comprising such Borrowing and (ii) in the case of such Lender, a
rate determined by the Administrative Agent to represent its cost of overnight or short-term funds (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error). If such
Lender shall repay to the Administrative Agent such corresponding amount, such amount shall constitute such Lender’s Loan as part of such Borrowing for purposes of
this Agreement.

     (e) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Borrower shall not be entitled to request, or to elect to convert or continue, any Borrowing of Eurodollar
Loans if the Interest Period requested with respect thereto would end after the Revolving Maturity Date or the Term Loan Maturity Date, as applicable.

     (f) If the Issuing Bank shall not have received from Borrower the payment required to be made by Section 2.17(e) within the time specified in such section, the Issuing
Bank will promptly notify the Administrative Agent of the LC Disbursement and the Administrative Agent will promptly notify each Revolving Lender of such LC
Disbursement and its Pro Rata Percentage thereof. Each Revolving Lender shall pay by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the Administrative Agent on such
date (or, if such Revolving Lender shall have received such notice later than 12:00 noon, New York City time, on any day, not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time,
on the immediately following Business Day), an amount equal to such Lender’s Pro Rata Percentage of such LC Disbursement (it being understood that such amount shall
be deemed to constitute an ABR Revolving Loan of such Lender, and such payment shall be deemed to have reduced the LC Exposure), and the Administrative Agent will
promptly pay to the Issuing Bank amounts so received by it from the Revolving Lenders. The Administrative Agent will promptly pay to the Issuing Bank any amounts
received by it from Borrower pursuant to Section 2.17(e) prior to the time that any Revolving Lender makes any payment pursuant to this Section 2.02(f); any such
amounts received by the Administrative Agent thereafter will be promptly remitted by the Administrative Agent to the Revolving Lenders that shall have made such
payments and to the Issuing Bank, as their interests may appear. If any Revolving Lender shall not have made its Pro Rata Percentage of such LC Disbursement available
to the Administrative Agent as provided above, such Lender and Borrower severally agree to pay interest on such amount, for each day from and including the date such
amount is required to be paid in accordance
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with this Section 2.02(f) to but excluding the date such amount is paid, to the Administrative Agent for the account of the Issuing Bank at (i) in the case of Borrower, a rate
per annum equal to the interest rate applicable to Revolving Loans pursuant to Section 2.06(a), and (ii) in the case of such Lender, for the first such day, the Federal Funds
Effective Rate, and for each day thereafter, the Alternate Base Rate.

     SECTION 2.03. Borrowing Procedure. To request a Borrowing (including in respect of a Borrowing of the Term Loans to be made hereunder), Borrower shall notify the
Administrative Agent of such request by telephone (promptly confirmed by telecopy) or by delivering a duly completed Borrowing Request (a) in the case of a Eurodollar
Borrowing, not later than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, three Business Days before the date of the proposed Borrowing or (b) in the case of an ABR Borrowing, not later
than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, one Business Day before the date of the proposed Borrowing; provided that, any such notice of an ABR Revolving Borrowing to finance
the reimbursement of an LC Disbursement as contemplated by Section 2.17(e) may be given not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the date of the proposed
Borrowing. Each such telephonic Borrowing Request shall be irrevocable and shall be confirmed not later than 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on such Business Day by
hand delivery or telecopy to the Administrative Agent of a written Borrowing Request substantially in the form of Exhibit C and signed by Borrower. Each such telephonic
and written Borrowing Request shall specify the following information in compliance with Section 2.02:

     (a) the aggregate amount of such Borrowing;

     (b) the date of such Borrowing, which shall be a Business Day;

     (c) whether such Borrowing is to be an ABR Borrowing or a Eurodollar Borrowing;

     (d) in the case of a Eurodollar Borrowing, the initial Interest Period to be applicable thereto, which shall be a period contemplated by the definition of the term “Interest
Period”; and

     (e) the location and number of Borrower’s account to which funds are to be disbursed, which shall comply with the requirements of Section 2.02.

If no election as to the Type of Borrowing is specified, then the requested Borrowing shall be an ABR Borrowing. If no Interest Period is specified with respect to any
requested Eurodollar Revolving Borrowing, then Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of one month’s duration. Promptly following receipt of a
Borrowing Request in accordance with this Section 2.03, the Administrative Agent shall advise each Lender of the details thereof and of the amount of such Lender’s Loan to
be made as part of the requested Borrowing.

     SECTION 2.04.` Evidence of Debt; Repayment of Loans. (a) Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to pay to (i) each Lender holding Term Loans, the principal
amount of each Term Loan of such Lender as provided in Section 2.09; and (ii) each Revolving Lender, the then unpaid principal amount of each Revolving Loan of such
Lender on the Revolving Maturity Date.

     (b) Each Lender shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice an account or accounts evidencing the indebtedness of Borrower to such Lender resulting from
each
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Loan made by such Lender from time to time, including the amounts of principal and interest payable and paid to such Lender from time to time under this Agreement.

     (c) The Administrative Agent shall maintain accounts in which it will record (i) the amount of each Loan made hereunder, the Type and Class thereof and the Interest
Period applicable thereto; (ii) the amount of any principal or interest due and payable or to become due and payable from Borrower to each Lender hereunder; and (iii) the
amount of any sum received by the Administrative Agent hereunder for the account of the Lenders and each Lender’s share thereof.

     (d) The entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to Sections 2.04(b) and (c) shall be prima facie evidence of the existence and amounts of the obligations
therein recorded (in the absence of manifest error); provided, however, that the failure of any Lender or the Administrative Agent to maintain such accounts or any error
therein shall not in any manner affect the obligations of Borrower to repay the Loans in accordance with their terms.

     (e) Any Lender may request that Loans of any Class made by it be evidenced by a Note. In such event, Borrower shall prepare, execute and deliver to such Lender a
Note payable to the order of such Lender (or, if requested by such Lender, to such Lender and its registered assigns) and in a form approved by the Administrative Agent.
Thereafter, the Loans evidenced by such Note and interest thereon shall at all times (including after assignment pursuant to Section 11.04) be represented by one or more
Notes in such form payable to the order of the payee named therein (or, if such Note is a registered note, to such payee and its registered assigns).

All payments shall be made on the dates due, in immediately available funds, to the Administrative Agent for distribution, if and as appropriate, among the Lenders.

     SECTION 2.05. Fees.

     (a) Revolving Commitment Fee. Borrower agrees to pay to each Revolving Lender, a revolving commitment fee (a “Revolving Commitment Fee”) equal to the
Applicable Commitment Fee Percentage times the average daily unused amount of the Revolving Commitments of such Revolving Lender. All Revolving Commitment
Fees shall be payable quarterly in arrears on the last Business Day of March, June, September and December in each year (commencing with the first such date to occur
after the Closing Date) and on each date (including the Revolving Maturity Date) on which the Revolving Commitment of such Lender shall expire or be terminated as
provided herein. All Revolving Commitment Fees shall be computed on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed in a year of 360 days. The Revolving Commitment
Fee due to each Lender shall commence to accrue on the Closing Date and shall cease to accrue on the date on which the Revolving Commitment of such Lender shall
expire or be terminated as provided herein.

     (b) Administrative Agent Fees. Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for its own account, the administrative fees set forth in the Fee Letter or such
other fees payable in the amounts and at the times separately agreed upon between Borrower and the Administrative Agent (the “Administrative Agent Fees”).
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     (c) LC and Fronting Fees. Borrower agrees to pay (i) to each Revolving Lender a participation fee (“LC Participation Fee”) with respect to its participations in
Letters of Credit, which shall accrue at a rate equal to the Applicable Margin from time to time used to determine the interest rate on Eurodollar Revolving Loans pursuant
to Section 2.06 on the average daily amount of such Lender’s LC Exposure (excluding any portion thereof attributable to unreimbursed LC Disbursements) during the
period from and including the Closing Date to but excluding the later of the date on which such Lender’s Revolving Commitment terminates and the date on which such
Lender ceases to have any LC Exposure, and (ii) to the Issuing Bank a fronting fee (“Fronting Fee”), which shall accrue at the rate of 0.125% per annum on the average
daily amount of the LC Exposure (excluding any portion thereof attributable to unreimbursed LC Disbursements) during the period from and including the Closing Date to
but excluding the later of the date of termination of the Revolving Commitments and the date on which there ceases to be any LC Exposure, as well as the Issuing Bank’s
standard fees with respect to the issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of any Letter of Credit or processing of drawings thereunder. LC Participation Fees and
Fronting Fees accrued through and including the last day of March, June, September and December of each year shall be payable on the third Business Day following such
last day, commencing on the first such date to occur after the Closing Date; provided that, all such fees shall be payable on the date on which the Revolving Commitments
terminate and any such fees accruing after the date on which the Revolving Commitments terminate shall be payable on demand. Any other fees payable to the Issuing
Bank pursuant to this Section 2.05(c) shall be payable within ten days after demand. All LC Participation Fees and Fronting Fees shall be computed on the basis of a year
of 360 days and shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day).

     (d) Term Loan Commitment Fee. Borrower agrees to pay to each Lender with a Term Loan Commitment, a term loan commitment fee (a “Term Loan Commitment
Fee”) equal to the Applicable Commitment Fee Percentage times the unused amount of the Term Loan Commitments of such Lender. All Term Loan Commitment Fees
shall be payable in arrears on the date on which the Term Loan Commitment of such Lender shall expire or be terminated as provided herein. All Term Loan Commitment
Fees shall be computed on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed in a year of 360 days. The Term Loan Commitment Fee due to each Lender shall commence to
accrue on the Closing Date and shall cease to accrue on the date on which the Term Loan Commitment of such Lender shall expire or be terminated as provided herein.

All Fees shall be paid on the dates due, in immediately available funds, to the Administrative Agent for distribution, if and as appropriate, among the Lenders, except that the
Fronting Fees shall be paid directly to the Issuing Bank. Once paid, none of the Fees shall be refundable under any circumstances.

     SECTION 2.06. Interest on Loans.

     (a) Subject to the provisions of Section 2.06(c), the Loans comprising each ABR Borrowing shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the Alternate Base Rate plus
the Applicable Margin in effect from time to time.

     (b) Subject to the provisions of Section 2.06(c), the Loans comprising each Eurodollar Borrowing shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the LIBOR Rate for
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the Interest Period in effect for such Borrowing plus the Applicable Margin in effect from time to time.

     (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the occurrence and during the continuation of any Event of Default, and at the election of the Required Lenders following
written notice thereof to the Borrower, the outstanding principal amount of all Loans and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, any interest payments thereon and any
fees and other amounts hereunder, in each case that are due and payable and have not been paid, shall thereafter bear interest (including post-petition interest in any
proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code or other applicable bankruptcy laws) payable upon demand at a rate that is 2% per annum in excess of the interest rate otherwise
applicable under this Agreement with respect to the applicable Loans (or, in the case of any such fees and other amounts, at a rate that is 2% per annum in excess of the
interest rate otherwise payable under this Agreement for ABR Loans); provided that, in the case of Eurodollar Loans, upon the expiration of the Interest Period in effect at
the time any such increase in interest rate is effective, such Eurodollar Rate Loans, at the time the Borrower is notified in accordance with Section 2.08(c), shall thereupon
become ABR Loans and shall thereafter bear interest payable upon demand at a rate that is 2% per annum in excess of the interest rate otherwise payable under this
Agreement for ABR Loans. Payment or acceptance of the increased rates of interest provided for in this Section 2.06(c) is not a permitted alternative to timely payment and
shall not constitute a waiver of any Event of Default or otherwise prejudice or limit any rights or remedies of Administrative Agent or any Lender.

     (d) Accrued interest on each Loan shall be payable in arrears on each Interest Payment Date for such Loan and, in the case of Revolving Loans, upon termination of the
Revolving Commitments; provided that, (i) interest accrued pursuant to Section 2.06(c) shall be payable on demand, (ii) in the event of any repayment or prepayment of
any Loan (other than a prepayment of an ABR Revolving Loan prior to the end of the Revolving Availability Period), accrued interest on the principal amount repaid or
prepaid shall be payable on the date of such repayment or prepayment and (iii) in the event of any conversion of any Eurodollar Loan prior to the end of the current Interest
Period therefor, accrued interest on such Loan shall be payable on the effective date of such conversion.

     (e) All interest hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days, except that interest computed by reference to the Alternate Base Rate shall be computed
on the basis of a year of 365 days (or 366 days in a leap year), and in each case shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding
the last day). The applicable Alternate Base Rate or LIBOR Rate shall be determined by the Administrative Agent, and such determination shall be conclusive absent
manifest error.

     SECTION 2.07. Termination and Reduction of Commitments.

     (a) The Revolving Commitments and the LC Commitment shall automatically terminate on the Revolving Maturity Date.

     (b) Borrower may at any time terminate, or from time to time reduce, the Revolving Commitments; provided that, (i) each reduction of the Revolving Commitments
shall be in an amount that is an integral multiple of $500,000 and not less than $1.0 million and (ii) the Revolving Commitments shall not be terminated or reduced

36



 

if, after giving effect to any concurrent prepayment of the Revolving Loans in accordance with Section 2.10(b), the sum of the Revolving Exposures would exceed the
aggregate amount of Revolving Commitments.

     (c) Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent of any election to terminate or reduce the Revolving Commitments under Section 2.07(b) at least three Business
Days prior to the effective date of such termination or reduction, specifying such election and the effective date thereof. Promptly following receipt of such notice, the
Administrative Agent shall advise the Lenders of the contents thereof. Each notice delivered by Borrower pursuant to this Section 2.07(b) shall be irrevocable. Any
termination or reduction of the Revolving Commitments shall be permanent. Each reduction of the Revolving Commitments shall be made ratably among the Revolving
Lenders in accordance with their respective Revolving Commitments.

     (d) The Term Loan Commitments shall terminate on the earliest to occur of (i) the Delayed Draw Closing Date, (ii) that date that is 45 days after the Closing Date and
(iii) the termination of the Term Loan Commitments in accordance with Article VIII.

     SECTION 2.08. Interest Elections.

     (a) Each Revolving Borrowing and Term Borrowing initially shall be of the Type specified in the applicable Borrowing Request and, in the case of a Eurodollar
Borrowing, shall have an initial Interest Period as specified in such Borrowing Request. Thereafter, Borrower may elect to convert such Borrowing to a different Type or
to continue such Borrowing and, in the case of a Eurodollar Borrowing, may elect Interest Periods therefor, all as provided in this Section 2.08. Borrower may elect
different options with respect to different portions of the affected Borrowing, in which case each such portion shall be allocated ratably among the Lenders holding the
Loans comprising such Borrowing, and the Loans comprising each such portion shall be considered a separate Borrowing.

     (b) To make an election pursuant to this Section 2.08, Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent of such election by telephone by the time that a Borrowing
Request would be required under Section 2.03 if Borrower were requesting a Revolving Borrowing or Term Borrowing of the Type resulting from such election to be
made on the effective date of such election. Each such telephonic Interest Election Request shall be irrevocable and shall be confirmed promptly by hand delivery or
telecopy to the Administrative Agent of a written Interest Election Request substantially in the form of Exhibit D.

     (c) Each telephonic and written Interest Election Request shall specify the following information in compliance with Section 2.02:

     (i) the Borrowing to which such Interest Election Request applies and, if different options are being elected with respect to different portions thereof, the portions
thereof to be allocated to each resulting Borrowing (in which case the information to be specified pursuant to clauses (iii) and (iv) below shall be specified for each
resulting Borrowing);
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     (ii) the effective date of the election made pursuant to such Interest Election Request, which shall be a Business Day;

     (iii) whether the resulting Borrowing is to be an ABR Borrowing or a Eurodollar Borrowing; and

     (iv) if the resulting Borrowing is a Eurodollar Borrowing, the Interest Period to be applicable thereto after giving effect to such election, which shall be a period
contemplated by the definition of the term “Interest Period”.

If any such Interest Election Request requests a Eurodollar Borrowing but does not specify an Interest Period, then (except in the case of clause (iv) above) Borrower shall
be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of one month’s duration.

     (d) Promptly following receipt of an Interest Election Request, the Administrative Agent shall advise each Lender of the details thereof and of such Lender’s portion of
each resulting Borrowing.

     (e) If an Interest Election Request with respect to a Eurodollar Borrowing is not timely delivered prior to the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto, then, unless
such Borrowing is repaid as provided herein, at the end of such Interest Period such Borrowing shall be converted to an ABR Borrowing. Notwithstanding any contrary
provision hereof, if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and the Administrative Agent, at the request of the Required Lenders, so notifies Borrower, then,
after the occurrence and during the continuance of a Default, (i) no outstanding Borrowing may be converted to or continued as a Eurodollar Borrowing and (ii) unless
repaid, each Eurodollar Borrowing shall be converted to an ABR Borrowing at the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto.

     SECTION 2.09. Amortization of Term Borrowings.

     (a) Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account of the Term Lenders, on the dates set forth on Annex I, or if any such date is not a Business Day, on
the next preceding Business Day (each such date being a “Term Loan Repayment Date”), a principal amount of the Term Loans (as adjusted from time to time pursuant
to Sections 2.09(b) and 2.10) equal to the amount set forth on Annex I for such date (less all mandatory and optional prepayments made thereon), together in each case
with accrued and unpaid interest on the principal amount to be paid to but excluding the date of such payment.

     (b) To the extent not previously paid, all Term Loans shall be due and payable on the Term Loan Maturity Date.

     SECTION 2.10. Optional and Mandatory Prepayments of Loans.

     (a) Optional Prepayments. Borrower shall have the right at any time and from time to time to prepay any Borrowing, in whole or in part, subject to the requirements of
this Section 2.10; provided that, each partial prepayment shall be in an amount that is an integral multiple of $1.0 million and, in the case of any prepayment of the Term
Loans, not less than $5.0 million.
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     (b) Revolving Loan Prepayments. In the event of any termination of all the Revolving Commitments, Borrower shall, on the date of such termination, repay or prepay
all its outstanding Revolving Borrowings and replace all outstanding Letters of Credit, cause the issuance of backstop letters of credit, and/or deposit an amount equal to
the LC Exposure in the LC Sub-Account. In the event of any partial reduction of the Revolving Commitments, (i) at or prior to the effective date of such reduction, the
Administrative Agent shall notify Borrower and the Revolving Lenders of the sum of the Revolving Exposures after giving effect thereto and (ii) if the sum of the
Revolving Exposures would exceed the aggregate amount of Revolving Commitments after giving effect to such reduction or termination, then Borrower shall, on the date
of such reduction or termination, repay or prepay Revolving Borrowings and/or replace or cash collateralize outstanding Letters of Credit in an amount sufficient to
eliminate such excess.

     (c) Asset Sales. Not later than five Business Days following the receipt of any Net Cash Proceeds of any Asset Sale (in the case of Asset Sales by non-U.S. parties, to
the extent such amounts can be repatriated to the United States without materially adverse tax or other economic consequences taking into account the amount of proceeds
received from such Asset Sale as determined by the Administrative Agent (after consultation with Borrower)), Borrower shall apply 100% of the Net Cash Proceeds
received with respect thereto to make prepayments in accordance with Sections 2.10(i) and (j); provided that:

     (i) no such prepayment shall be required with respect to (A) any Asset Sale permitted by Sections 6.04(b)(i), 6.04(d), 6.04(e), 6.04(g), 6.04(i), and 6.04(k), (B) the
disposition of assets subject to a condemnation or eminent domain proceeding or insurance settlement to the extent it does not constitute a Casualty Event, (C) Asset
Sales resulting in no more than $2.5 million in Net Cash Proceeds in any fiscal year and (D) an issuance of Equity Interests by a Non-Guarantor Subsidiary to another
Non-Guarantor Subsidiary; and

     (ii) so long as no Default or Event of Default shall then exist or would arise therefrom, no such prepayment shall be required to the extent that Borrower shall
have delivered an Officers’ Certificate to the Administrative Agent on or prior to such date stating that the Net Cash Proceeds of such Asset Sale will be used to
purchase replacement assets or other assets useful in such person’s business within 270 days of such Asset Sale and setting forth estimates of the proceeds to be so
expended; provided, however, that if any portion of such Net Cash Proceeds are not reinvested in accordance with this clause (ii), such unused portion shall be applied
on the last day of such period as a mandatory prepayment as provided in this Section 2.10(c).

     (d) Debt Issuance. Upon any Debt Issuance after the Closing Date, Borrower shall make prepayments in accordance with Sections 2.10(h) and (i) in an aggregate
principal amount equal to 100% of the Net Cash Proceeds of such Debt Issuance.

     (e) [Reserved]
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     (f) Casualty Events. Not later than one Business Day following the receipt of any Net Cash Proceeds from a Casualty Event (in the case of a Casualty Event by non-
U.S. parties, to the extent such amounts can be repatriated to the United States without materially adverse tax or other economic consequences taking into account the
amount of proceeds received from such Casualty Event as determined by the Administrative Agent (after consultation with Borrower)), Borrower shall make prepayments
in accordance with Sections 2.10(i) and (j) in an amount equal to 100% of such Net Cash Proceeds; provided, however, that:

     (i) so long as no Default or Event of Default then exists or would arise therefrom, the Net Cash Proceeds thereof shall not be required to be so applied on such
date to the extent that Borrower has delivered an Officers’ Certificate to the Collateral Agent on or prior to such date stating that such proceeds shall be used to fund
the acquisition of property used or usable in the business of a Loan Party or a Subsidiary thereof or repair, replace or restore the property in accordance with the
provisions of the applicable Security Document in respect of which such Casualty Event has occurred, in each case within 270 days following the date of the receipt
of such Net Cash Proceeds;

     (ii) to the extent such Casualty Event affects any of the Collateral, all property acquired to effect any repair, replacement or restoration of such Collateral shall be
made subject to the Lien of the Security Documents in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.11;

     (iii) if all or any portion of such Net Cash Proceeds shall not be so applied within such 270-day period, such unused portion shall be applied on the last day of
such period as a mandatory prepayment as provided in this Section 2.10(f); and

     (iv) no such prepayment shall be required with respect to Casualty Events resulting in no more than $1.0 million in Net Cash Proceeds in any fiscal year.

     (g) Excess Cash Flow. Within 10 days of the date of the delivery of the audited annual financial statements contemplated by Section 5.01(a), commencing with the
fiscal year ending on December 31, 2006, Borrower shall make prepayments in accordance with Section 2.10(i)(ii) and Section 2.10(j) in an aggregate principal amount
equal to 50% of Excess Cash Flow for the fiscal year then ended; provided, that if the Moody’s Rating is equal to or greater than Ba1 and the S&P Rating is equal to or
greater than BB+, then Borrower shall make prepayments in accordance with Section 2.10(i)(ii) and Section 2.10(j) in an aggregate principal amount equal to 25% of
Excess Cash Flow for the fiscal year then ended; provided, further, in the event of a split rating, the higher of such Debt Ratings shall be used to determine the applicable
percentage above, except that, if there is a two tier difference in the Debt Ratings, the Debt Rating one notch higher than the lower of the two Debt Ratings shall be used to
determine the applicable percentage above.

     (h) Redemption of Holdings Senior Notes. If Holdings does not redeem all of the aggregate principal amount of Holdings Senior Notes outstanding as of the Closing
Date within 45 days after the Closing Date, (i) the Borrower shall make prepayments in
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accordance with Section 2.10(i) and Section 2.10(j), in an aggregate principal amount equal to the excess of (x) the sum of (A) all Term Loans outstanding as of such date
plus (B) all Holdings Senior Notes outstanding as of such date over (y) the aggregate principal amount of all Holdings Senior Notes outstanding as of the Closing Date and
(ii) all unused Term Loan Commitments outstanding as of such date shall immediately terminate.

     (i) Application of Prepayments.

     (i) Optional prepayments under this Agreement shall be applied to Loans of the Class and Type (and, in the case of prepayment of Term Loans, to reduce the
scheduled installments of principal) as specified by Borrower in the applicable notice of prepayment in Section 2.10(j); provided that, in the event Borrower fails to
specify the Loans to which any such prepayment shall be applied, such prepayment shall be applied first to repay outstanding Revolving Loans to the full extent
thereof, and second to repay outstanding Term Loans to the full extent thereof. Mandatory prepayments of Term Loans made under this Agreement shall be applied to
reduce the remaining scheduled installments of principal due in respect of the Term Loans under Section 2.09 pro rata on the basis of the respective amounts thereof
then unpaid. After application of mandatory prepayments pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence and to the extent there are mandatory prepayment amounts
remaining after such application, any such remaining portion of the mandatory prepayment amounts shall be applied (i) to prepay the Revolving Loans to the full
extent thereof and to further permanently reduce the Revolving Commitments ratably among the Revolving Lenders by the amount of such prepayment (and
Borrower shall comply with Section 2.10(b)), and (ii) then, to the extent of any remaining portion of the mandatory prepayment amounts, to further permanently
reduce the Revolving Commitments ratably among the Revolving Lenders to the full extent thereof.

     (ii) Amounts to be applied pursuant to this Section 2.10 to the prepayment of Term Loans and Revolving Loans shall be applied, as applicable, first to reduce
outstanding ABR Term Loans and ABR Revolving Loans, respectively. Any amounts remaining after each such application shall be applied to prepay Eurodollar
Term Loans or Eurodollar Revolving Loans, as applicable. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the amount of any prepayment of Loans required under this Section 2.10
shall be in excess of the amount of the ABR Loans at the time outstanding, only the portion of the amount of such prepayment as is equal to the amount of such
outstanding ABR Loans shall be immediately prepaid and, at the election of Borrower, the balance of such required prepayment shall be either (x) deposited in the
Collateral Account and applied to the prepayment of Eurodollar Loans on the last day of the then next-expiring Interest Period for Eurodollar Loans (with all interest
accruing thereon for the account of Borrower) or (y) prepaid immediately, together with any amounts owing to the Lenders under Section 2.13. Notwithstanding any
such deposit in the Collateral
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Account, interest shall continue to accrue on such Loans until prepayment.

     (j) Notice of Prepayment. Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent by telephone (confirmed by telecopy) of any prepayment hereunder (i) in the case of
prepayment of a Eurodollar Borrowing, not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, three Business Days before the date of prepayment, (ii) in the case of prepayment
of an ABR Borrowing, not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, one Business Day before the date of prepayment, and (iii) in the case of any mandatory prepayment
under Section 2.10(g), not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, ten Business Days before the date of prepayment. Each such notice shall be irrevocable and shall
specify the prepayment date, the principal amount of each Borrowing or portion thereof to be prepaid and, in the case of a mandatory prepayment, a reasonably detailed
calculation of the amount of such prepayment. Promptly following receipt of any such notice, the Administrative Agent shall advise the Lenders of the contents thereof.
Each partial prepayment of any Borrowing shall be in an amount that would be permitted in the case of an advance of a Borrowing of the same Type as provided in
Section 2.02, except as necessary to apply fully the required amount of a mandatory prepayment. Each prepayment of a Borrowing shall be applied ratably to the Loans
included in the prepaid Borrowing. Prepayments shall be accompanied by accrued interest to the extent required by Section 2.06.

     SECTION 2.11. Alternate Rate of Interest. If prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for a Eurodollar Borrowing:

     (a) the Administrative Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error) that adequate and reasonable means do not exist for
ascertaining the LIBOR Rate for such Interest Period; or

     (b) the Administrative Agent is advised by the Required Lenders that the LIBOR Rate for such Interest Period will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such
Lenders of making or maintaining their Loans included in such Borrowing for such Interest Period;

then the Administrative Agent shall give notice thereof to Borrower and the Lenders by telephone or telecopy as promptly as practicable thereafter and, until the
Administrative Agent notifies Borrower and the Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer exist, (i) any Interest Election Request that requests the
conversion of any Borrowing to, or continuation of any Borrowing as, a Eurodollar Borrowing shall be ineffective and (ii) if any Borrowing Request requests a Eurodollar
Borrowing, such Borrowing shall be made as an ABR Borrowing.

     SECTION 2.12. Increased Costs.

     (a) If any Change in Law shall:

     (i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended
by, any Lender or the Issuing Bank; or

     (ii) impose on any Lender or the Issuing Bank or the London interbank market any other condition affecting this Agreement or
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Eurodollar Loans made by such Lender or any Letter of Credit or participation therein;

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to such Lender of making or maintaining any Eurodollar Loan (or of maintaining its obligation to make any
such Loan) or to increase the cost to such Lender or the Issuing Bank of participating in, issuing or maintaining any Letter of Credit or to reduce the amount of any sum
received or receivable by such Lender or the Issuing Bank hereunder (whether of principal, interest or otherwise) (except for purposes of this subsection (a) any such increased
cost or reduction resulting from Taxes or Other Taxes (as to which Section 2.15 shall govern)), then Borrower will pay to such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be,
such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, for such additional costs incurred or reduction suffered.

     (b) If any Lender or the Issuing Bank determines that any Change in Law regarding capital requirements has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on
such Lender’s or the Issuing Bank’s capital or on the capital of such Lender’s or the Issuing Bank’s holding company, if any, as a consequence of this Agreement or the
Loans made by, or participations in Letters of Credit held by, such Lender, or the Letters of Credit issued by the Issuing Bank, to a level below that which such Lender or
the Issuing Bank or such Lender’s or the Issuing Bank’s holding company could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into consideration such Lender’s or the
Issuing Bank’s policies and the policies of such Lender’s or the Issuing Bank’s holding company with respect to capital adequacy), then from time to time Borrower will
pay to such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or the Issuing Bank or such Lender’s or
the Issuing Bank’s holding company for any such reduction suffered.

     (c) A certificate of a Lender or the Issuing Bank setting forth the amount or amounts necessary to compensate such Lender or the Issuing Bank or its holding company,
as the case may be, as specified in Section 2.12(a) or Section 2.12(b), in detail sufficient to allow the Borrower to verify the computation thereof, shall be delivered to
Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Borrower shall pay such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, the amount shown as due on any such
certificate within ten days after receipt thereof.

     (d) Failure or delay on the part of any Lender or the Issuing Bank to demand compensation pursuant to this Section 2.12 shall not constitute a waiver of such Lender’s or
the Issuing Bank’s right to demand such compensation; provided that, Borrower shall not be required to compensate a Lender or the Issuing Bank pursuant to this
Section 2.12 for any increased costs or reductions incurred more than 180 days prior to the date that such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, notifies
Borrower of the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of such Lender’s or the Issuing Bank’s intention to claim compensation therefor;
provided further that, if the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the 180-day period referred to above shall be extended to
include the period of retroactive effect thereof.

     (e) Borrower shall pay to each Lender, as long as such Lender shall be required to maintain reserves under Regulation D with respect to “Eurocurrency liabilities”
within the meaning of Regulation D, or under any similar or successor regulation with respect
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Eurocurrency liabilities or Eurocurrency funding, additional interest on the unpaid principal amount of each Eurodollar Loan equal to the actual costs of such reserves
allocated to such Eurodollar Loan by such Lender (as determined by such Lender in good faith, which determination shall be conclusive), which shall be due and payable
on each date on which interest is payable on such LIBOR Loan, provided Borrower shall have received at least 10 days’ prior notice (with a copy to the Administrative
Agent) of such additional interest from such Lender. If a Lender fails to give notice 10 days prior to the relevant interest payment date, such additional interest shall be due
and payable 10 days from receipt of such notice.

     SECTION 2.13. Breakage Payments. In the event of (a) the payment of any principal of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the last day of an Interest Period applicable
thereto (including as a result of an Event of Default), (b) the conversion of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto, (c) the
failure to borrow, convert, continue or prepay any Revolving Loan or Term Loan on the date specified in any notice delivered pursuant hereto or (d) the assignment of any
Eurodollar Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto as a result of a request by Borrower pursuant to Section 2.16, then, in any such event,
Borrower shall compensate each Lender for the reasonable loss, cost and expense attributable to such event. In the case of a Eurodollar Loan, such loss, cost or expense to any
Lender shall be deemed to include an amount determined by such Lender to be the excess, if any, of (i) the amount of interest that would have accrued on the principal
amount of such Loan had such event not occurred, at the LIBOR Rate that would have been applicable to such Loan, for the period from the date of such event to the last day
of the then current Interest Period therefor (or, in the case of a failure to borrow, convert or continue, for the period that would have been the Interest Period for such Loan),
over (ii) the amount of interest that would accrue on such principal amount for such period at the interest rate that such Lender would bid were it to bid, at the commencement
of such period, for dollar deposits of a comparable amount and period from other banks in the Eurodollar market. A certificate of any Lender setting forth any amount or
amounts that such Lender is entitled to receive pursuant to this Section 2.13, in detail sufficient to allow the Borrower to verify the computation thereof, shall be delivered to
Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Borrower shall pay such Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within ten days after receipt thereof.

     SECTION 2.14. Payments Generally; Pro Rata Treatment; Sharing of Set-offs.

     (a) Borrower shall make each payment required to be made by it hereunder or under any other Loan Document (whether of principal, interest, fees or reimbursement of
LC Disbursements, or of amounts payable under Section 2.12, 2.13 or 2.15, or otherwise) on or before the time expressly required hereunder or under such other Loan
Document for such payment (or, if no such time is expressly required, prior to 2:00 p.m., New York City time), on the date when due, in immediately available funds,
without set-off or counterclaim. Any amounts received after such time on any date may, in the discretion of the Administrative Agent, be deemed to have been received on
the next succeeding Business Day for purposes of calculating interest thereon. All such payments shall be made to the Administrative Agent at its offices at 4 World
Financial Center, 22nd Floor, New York, New York 10080, Attention: Nancy Meadows, except payments to be made directly to the Issuing Bank as expressly provided
herein and except that payments pursuant to Sections 2.12, 2.13, 2.15 and 11.03 shall be made directly to the persons entitled thereto and payments pursuant to other Loan
Documents shall be made to the persons specified therein. The Administrative Agent shall distribute any such payments received by it for the account of any other person
to the appropriate recipient promptly
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following receipt thereof. If any payment under any Loan Document shall be due on a day that is not a Business Day, the date for payment shall be extended to the next
succeeding Business Day, and, in the case of any payment accruing interest, interest thereon shall be payable for the period of such extension. All payments under each
Loan Document shall be made in dollars.

     (b) If at any time insufficient funds are received by and available to the Administrative Agent to pay fully all amounts of principal, unreimbursed LC Disbursements,
interest and fees then due hereunder, such funds shall be applied (i) first towards payment of interest and fees then due hereunder, ratably among the parties entitled thereto
in accordance with the amounts of interest and fees then due to such parties, and (ii) second towards payment of principal and unreimbursed LC Disbursements then due
hereunder, ratably among the parties entitled thereto in accordance with the amounts of principal and unreimbursed LC Disbursements then due to such parties.

     (c) If any Lender shall, by exercising any right of set-off or counterclaim or otherwise, obtain payment in respect of any principal of or interest on any of its Revolving
Loans, Term Loans or participations in LC Disbursements resulting in such Lender receiving payment of a greater proportion of the aggregate amount of its Revolving
Loans, Term Loans and participations in LC Disbursements and accrued interest thereon than the proportion received by any other Lender, then the Lender receiving such
greater proportion shall purchase (for cash at face value) participations in the Revolving Loans, Term Loans and participations in LC Disbursements of the other Lenders to
the extent necessary so that the benefit of all such payments shall be shared by the Lenders ratably in accordance with the aggregate amount of principal of and accrued
interest on their respective Revolving Loans, Term Loans and participations in LC Disbursements; provided that, (i) if any such participations are purchased and all or any
portion of the payment giving rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of such recovery, without
interest, and (ii) the provisions of this Section 2.14(c) shall not be construed to apply to any payment made by Borrower pursuant to and in accordance with the express
terms of this Agreement or any payment obtained by a Lender as consideration for the assignment or sale of a participation in any of its Loans or participations in LC
Disbursements to any assignee or participant, other than to Borrower or any Subsidiary or Affiliate thereof (as to which the provisions of this Section 2.14(c) shall apply).
Borrower consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it may effectively do so under applicable law, that any Lender acquiring a participation pursuant to the
foregoing arrangements may exercise against Borrower rights of set-off and counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor
of Borrower in the amount of such participation.

     (d) Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from Borrower prior to the date on which any payment is due to the Administrative Agent for the
account of the Lenders or the Issuing Bank hereunder that Borrower will not make such payment, the Administrative Agent may assume that Borrower has made such
payment on such date in accordance herewith and may, in reliance upon such assumption, distribute to the Lenders or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, the amount
due. In such event, if Borrower has not in fact made such payment, then each of the Lenders or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, severally agrees to repay to the
Administrative Agent forthwith on demand the amount so distributed to such Lender or Issuing Bank with interest
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thereon, for each day from and including the date such amount is distributed to it to but excluding the date of payment to the Administrative Agent, at the greater of the
Federal Funds Effective Rate and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation.

     (e) If any Lender shall fail to make any payment required to be made by it pursuant to Section 2.02(f), 2.14(d), 2.17(d) or 11.03(d), then the Administrative Agent may,
in its discretion (notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof), apply any amounts thereafter received by the Administrative Agent for the account of such Lender to
satisfy such Lender’s obligations under such sections until all such unsatisfied obligations are fully paid.

     SECTION 2.15. Taxes.

     (a) Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of Borrower hereunder or under any other Loan Document shall be made without set-off, counterclaim or
other defense and free and clear of and without deduction or withholding for any and all Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes; provided that, if Borrower shall be required by
law to deduct any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes from such payments, then (i) the sum payable shall be increased as necessary so that after making all required
deductions or withholdings (including deductions or withholdings applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 2.15) the Administrative Agent, Lender or
Issuing Bank (as the case may be) receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions or withholdings been made, (ii) Borrower shall
make such deductions or withholdings and (iii) Borrower shall pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with
applicable law.

     (b) In addition, Borrower shall pay any Other Taxes to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law.

     (c) Borrower shall indemnify the Administrative Agent, each Lender and the Issuing Bank, within ten Business Days after written demand therefor, for the full amount
of any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes paid by the Administrative Agent, such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, on or with respect to any payment by or
on account of any obligation of Borrower hereunder or under any other Loan Document (including Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes imposed or asserted on or
attributable to amounts payable under this Section 2.15) and any penalties, interest and reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such
Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. If in the reasonable opinion of Borrower, any
amount has been paid to, by or on behalf of the Administrative Agent, any Lender or the Issuing Bank (as the case may be) pursuant to clause (a), (b) or this (c) of this
Section 2.15 with respect to Taxes or Other Taxes which are not correctly or legally asserted, the Administrative Agent, such Lender or the Issuing Bank (as the case may
be) will cooperate with Borrower in seeking to obtain a refund for the benefit of Borrower of such amount, provided that, the rendering of any such cooperation by the
Administrative Agent, such Lender, or the Issuing Bank, would not, in the reasonable opinion of the Administrative Agent, such Lender, or the Issuing Bank, (i) cause the
Administrative Agent, such Lender, or the Issuing Bank, to incur any expense or liability (which is not otherwise paid in full by Borrower prior to or at the time that such
expense or liability is incurred) or (ii) have any adverse effect on the Administrative Agent, such Lender, or the Issuing Bank.
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A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability, in detail sufficient to allow the Borrower to verify the computation thereof, delivered to Borrower by a Lender or
the Issuing Bank, or by the Administrative Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender or the Issuing Bank, shall be conclusive absent manifest error. If the
Administrative Agent, any Lender, or the Issuing Bank receives a written notice of Tax assessment from any Governmental Authority regarding any Tax in respect of
which indemnification may be required pursuant to this Section 2.15(c), the Administrative Agent, such Lender, or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, shall notify
Borrower within 120 days following the receipt of such notice that such notice has been received; provided, however, that the failure of the Administrative Agent, such
Lender, or the Issuing Bank to provide such notice shall not relieve Borrower of its obligation to make any indemnification payment under this Agreement.

     (d) As soon as practicable after any payment of Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes by Borrower to a Governmental Authority, Borrower shall deliver to the
Administrative Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such
payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

     (e) On or before the Closing Date in the case of the Administrative Agent, any Lender or the Issuing Bank, or on or before the acceptance of any appointment as the
Administrative Agent in the case of a successor Agent, or on or before the effective date of an Assignment and Acceptance pursuant to which it became a Lender in the
case of an assignee, or on or prior to the date that any Lender becomes an Issuing Bank pursuant to Section 2.17(i), and if otherwise reasonably requested from time to
time by Borrower or the Administrative Agent, within 30 days of such request, the Administrative Agent, each Lender or the Issuing Bank which is not a U.S. Person
within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Tax Code shall provide to each of the Administrative Agent and Borrower two duly completed and signed copies of
Internal Revenue Service Forms W-8BEN, or W-8ECI or successor form(s), as the case may be, certifying as to such Administrative Agent’s, Lender’s or Issuing Bank’s
(if applicable) status for purposes of determining exemption from United States withholding taxes with respect to all payments to be made to the Administrative Agent,
each Lender or the Issuing Bank under this Agreement. Until Borrower and the Administrative Agent have received such forms and indicating that payments under this
Agreement are subject to an exemption from or reduction of United States withholding tax, Borrower or the Administrative Agent (if not withheld by Borrower) shall
withhold taxes from such payments at the applicable statutory rate, without any obligation to “gross-up” or make the Administrative Agent, such Lender or Issuing Bank
whole under clause (a) of this Section. In the case of an Administrative Agent, Lender, or Issuing Bank that is subject to a reduction of, rather than exemption from, United
States withholding tax, the obligation of Borrower to “gross-up” under clause (a) of this Section shall not apply in respect of the amount of United States withholding tax
that the Administrative Agent, such Lender, or the Issuing Bank is subject to at the time they become a party to this Agreement (provided, however, that in the case of an
assignee that becomes a Lender pursuant to Section 11.04, the obligation of Borrower to “gross-up” under clause (a) of this Section, or indemnify for Indemnified Taxes
under clause (c) of this Section, shall apply in respect of the amount of United States withholding tax that is applicable to payments made on or after the date upon which
the assignee first becomes a Lender to the same extent that Borrower would have been obligated to “gross-up” under clause (a) of this Section, or indemnify for
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Indemnified Taxes under clause (c) of this Section, had the Administrative Agent, relevant Lender, or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, not made such assignment to
such assignee).

     (f) If (i) the Administrative Agent, any Lender, or the Issuing Bank receives a cash refund in respect of an overpayment of Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes from a
Governmental Authority with respect to, and actually resulting from, an amount of Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes actually paid to or on behalf of the Administrative
Agent, such Lender, or Issuing Bank by Borrower (a “Tax Refund”) and (ii) the Administrative Agent, such Lender, or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, determines in
its reasonable opinion that such Tax Refund has been correctly paid by such Governmental Authority and will not be required to be repaid to such Governmental
Authority, then the Administrative Agent, such Lender, or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, shall use its reasonable efforts to notify Borrower of such Tax Refund and
to forward the proceeds of such Tax Refund (or relevant portion thereof) to Borrower as reduced by any expense or liability incurred by the Administrative Agent, such
Lender, or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, in connection with obtaining such Tax Refund.

     SECTION 2.16. Mitigation Obligations; Replacement of Lenders.

     (a) Mitigation of Obligations. If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.12, or if Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender or any
Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.15, then such Lender shall use reasonable efforts to designate a different lending office for
funding or booking its Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder to another of its offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the reasonable judgment of
such Lender, such designation or assignment (i) would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Section 2.12 or 2.15, as the case may be, in the future and
(ii) would not subject such Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense and would not otherwise be disadvantageous to such Lender. Borrower hereby agrees to pay all
reasonable costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in connection with any such designation or assignment.

     (b) Replacement of Lenders. If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.12, or if Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender or any
Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.15, or if any Lender defaults in its obligation to fund Loans hereunder, then Borrower may, at
its sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Administrative Agent, require such Lender to assign and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with and
subject to the restrictions contained in Section 11.04), all of its interests, rights and obligations under this Agreement to an assignee selected by Borrower that shall assume
such obligations (which assignee may be another Lender, if a Lender accepts such assignment); provided that, (i) Borrower shall have received the prior written consent of
the Administrative Agent (and, if a Revolving Commitment is being assigned, the Issuing Bank), which consent shall not unreasonably be withheld; (ii) such Lender shall
have received payment of an amount equal to the outstanding principal of its Loans and participations in LC Disbursements, accrued interest thereon, accrued fees and all
other amounts payable to it hereunder, from the assignee (to the extent of such outstanding principal and accrued interest and fees) or Borrower (in the case of all other
amounts); and (iii) in the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim for compensation under Section 2.12 or payments required to be made pursuant to
Section 2.15, such assignment will result in a material reduction in such compensation or payments. A
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Lender shall not be required to make any such assignment and delegation if, prior thereto, as a result of a waiver by such Lender or otherwise, the circumstances entitling
Borrower to require such assignment and delegation cease to apply.

     SECTION 2.17. Letters of Credit.

     (a) General. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, Borrower may request the issuance of Letters of Credit for its own account or the account of any other
Loan Party or Subsidiary thereof in a form reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and the Issuing Bank, at any time and from time to time during the
Revolving Availability Period (provided that, Borrower shall be a co-applicant with respect to each Letter of Credit issued for the account of or in favor of another Loan
Party or Subsidiary). In the event of any inconsistency between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the terms and conditions of any form of letter-of-credit
application or other agreement submitted by Borrower to, or entered into by Borrower with, the Issuing Bank relating to any Letter of Credit, the terms and conditions of
this Agreement shall control.

     (b) Notice of Issuance, Amendment, Renewal, Extension; Certain Conditions. To request the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or the amendment, renewal or extension
of an outstanding Letter of Credit), Borrower shall hand deliver or telecopy (or transmit by electronic communication, if arrangements for doing so have been approved by
the Issuing Bank) to the Issuing Bank and the Administrative Agent (at least three Business Days in advance of the requested date of issuance, amendment, renewal or
extension, or such shorter period as is acceptable to such respective Issuing Bank) a duly completed Letter of Credit Request, together with such other information as shall
be necessary to prepare, amend, renew or extend such Letter of Credit. If requested by the Issuing Bank, Borrower also shall submit a letter-of-credit application on the
Issuing Bank’s standard form in connection with any request for a Letter of Credit. A Letter of Credit shall be issued, amended, renewed or extended only if (and upon
issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of each Letter of Credit, Borrower shall be deemed to represent and warrant that) after giving effect to such issuance,
amendment, renewal or extension, (i) the LC Exposure shall not exceed $25.0 million, (ii) the total Revolving Exposures shall not exceed the total Revolving
Commitments, (iii) the stated amount of each Letter of Credit shall be no less than $500,000, or such lesser amount as is acceptable to the Issuing Bank, and (iv) each
Letter of Credit shall be denominated in dollars.

     (c) Expiration Date. Each Letter of Credit shall expire no later than the close of business on the earlier of (i) in the case of a Standby Letter of Credit, (x) the date one
year after the date of the issuance of such Standby Letter of Credit (or, in the case of any renewal or extension thereof, one year after such renewal or extension) and (y) the
date that is 15 Business Days prior to the Revolving Maturity Date and (ii) in the case of a Commercial Letter of Credit, (x) the date that is 180 days after the date of
issuance of such Commercial Letter of Credit (or, in the case of any renewal or extension thereof, one year after such renewal or extension) and (y) the date that is 15
Business Days prior to the Revolving Maturity Date.

     (d) Participations. By the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or an amendment to a Letter of Credit increasing the amount thereof) and without any further action on the part
of the Issuing Bank or the Lenders, the Issuing Bank hereby grants to each Revolving Lender, and each Revolving Lender hereby acquires from the Issuing Bank, a
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participation in such Letter of Credit equal to such Lender’s Pro Rata Percentage of the aggregate amount available to be drawn under such Letter of Credit. In
consideration and in furtherance of the foregoing, each Revolving Lender hereby absolutely and unconditionally agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account
of the Issuing Bank, such Lender’s Pro Rata Percentage of each LC Disbursement made by the Issuing Bank and not reimbursed by Borrower on the date due as provided
in Section 2.17(e), or of any reimbursement payment required to be refunded to Borrower for any reason. Each Lender acknowledges and agrees that its obligation to
acquire participations pursuant to this Section 2.17(d) in respect of Letters of Credit is absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstance
whatsoever, including any amendment, renewal or extension of any Letter of Credit or the occurrence and continuance of a Default or Event of Default or reduction or
termination of the Commitments, and that each such payment shall be made without any offset, abatement, withholding or reduction whatsoever.

     (e) Reimbursement. If the Issuing Bank shall make any LC Disbursement in respect of a Letter of Credit, Borrower shall reimburse such LC Disbursement by paying
to the Issuing Bank an amount equal to such LC Disbursement not later than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date that such LC Disbursement is made, if Borrower
shall have received notice of such LC Disbursement prior to 11:00 a.m., New York City time on such date, or, if such notice has not been received by Borrower prior to
such time on such date, then not later than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, on (i) the Business Day that Borrower receives such notice, if such notice is received prior to
11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the day of receipt, or (ii) the Business Day immediately following the day that Borrower receives such notice, if such notice is not
received prior to such time on the day of receipt; provided that, Borrower may, subject to the conditions to borrowing set forth herein, request in accordance with
Section 2.03 that such payment be financed with an ABR Revolving Borrowing in an equivalent amount and, to the extent so financed, Borrower’s obligation to make such
payment shall be discharged and replaced by the resulting ABR Revolving Borrowing. If Borrower fails to make such payment when due, the Issuing Bank shall notify the
Administrative Agent and the Administrative Agent shall notify each Revolving Lender of the applicable LC Disbursement, the payment then due from Borrower in
respect thereof and such Lender’s Pro Rata Percentage thereof. Promptly following receipt of such notice, each Revolving Lender shall pay to the Administrative Agent its
Pro Rata Percentage of the unreimbursed LC Disbursement in the same manner as provided in Section 2.02(f), with respect to Loans made by such Lender, and the
Administrative Agent shall promptly pay to the Issuing Bank the amounts so received by it from the Revolving Lenders. Promptly following receipt by the Administrative
Agent of any payment from Borrower pursuant to this Section 2.17(e), the Administrative Agent shall, to the extent that Revolving Lenders have made payments pursuant
to this Section 2.17(e) to reimburse the Issuing Bank, distribute such payment to such Lenders and the Issuing Bank as their interests may appear. Any payment made by a
Revolving Lender pursuant to this Section 2.17(e) to reimburse the Issuing Bank for any LC Disbursement (other than the funding of ABR Revolving Loans as
contemplated above) shall not constitute a Loan and shall not relieve Borrower of its obligation to reimburse such LC Disbursement.

     (f) Obligations Absolute. The obligation of Borrower to reimburse LC Disbursements as provided in Section 2.17(e) shall be absolute, unconditional and irrevocable,
and shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement under any and all circumstances whatsoever and irrespective of (i) any lack of validity or
enforceability of any Letter of Credit or this Agreement, or any term or
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provision therein, (ii) any draft or other document presented under a Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent or invalid in any respect or any statement therein
being untrue or inaccurate in any respect, (iii) payment by the Issuing Bank under a Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or other document that does not comply
with the terms of such Letter of Credit, or (iv) any other event or circumstance whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing, that might, but for the provisions
of this Section 2.17(f), constitute a legal or equitable discharge of, or provide a right of set-off against, the obligations of Borrower hereunder. Neither the Administrative
Agent, the Lenders nor the Issuing Bank, nor any of their Affiliates, shall have any liability or responsibility by reason of or in connection with the issuance or transfer of
any Letter of Credit or any payment or failure to make any payment thereunder (irrespective of any of the circumstances referred to in the preceding sentence), or any error,
omission, interruption, loss or delay in transmission or delivery of any draft, notice or other communication under or relating to any Letter of Credit (including any
document required to make a drawing thereunder), any error in interpretation of technical terms or any consequence arising from causes beyond the control of the Issuing
Bank; provided that, the foregoing shall not be construed to excuse the Issuing Bank from liability to Borrower to the extent of any direct damages (as opposed to
consequential damages, claims in respect of which are hereby waived by Borrower to the extent permitted by applicable law) suffered by Borrower that are caused by the
Issuing Bank’s failure to exercise care when determining whether drafts and other documents presented under a Letter of Credit comply with the terms thereof. The parties
hereto expressly agree that, in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Issuing Bank (as finally determined by a court of competent
jurisdiction), the Issuing Bank shall be deemed to have exercised care in each such determination. In furtherance of the foregoing and without limiting the generality
thereof, the parties agree that, with respect to documents presented that appear on their face to be in substantial compliance with the terms of a Letter of Credit, the Issuing
Bank may, in its sole discretion, either accept and make payment upon such documents without responsibility for further investigation, regardless of any notice or
information to the contrary, or refuse to accept and make payment upon such documents if such documents are not in strict compliance with the terms of such Letter of
Credit.

     (g) Disbursement Procedures. The Issuing Bank shall, promptly following its receipt thereof, examine all documents purporting to represent a demand for payment
under a Letter of Credit. The Issuing Bank shall promptly notify the Administrative Agent and Borrower by telephone (confirmed by telecopy) of such demand for
payment and whether the Issuing Bank has made or will make an LC Disbursement thereunder; provided that, any failure to give or delay in giving such notice shall not
relieve Borrower of its obligation to reimburse the Issuing Bank and the Revolving Lenders with respect to any such LC Disbursement (other than with respect to the
timing of such reimbursement obligation set forth in Section 2.17(e)).

     (h) Interim Interest. If the Issuing Bank shall make any LC Disbursement, then, unless Borrower shall reimburse such LC Disbursement in full on the date such LC
Disbursement is made, the unpaid amount thereof shall bear interest, for each day from and including the date such LC Disbursement is made to but excluding the date that
Borrower reimburses such LC Disbursement, at the rate per annum then applicable to ABR Revolving Loans; provided that, if Borrower fails to reimburse such LC
Disbursement when due pursuant to Section 2.17(e), then Section 2.06(c) shall apply. Interest accrued pursuant to this Section 2.17(h) shall be for the account of the
Issuing
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Bank, except that interest accrued on and after the date of payment by any Revolving Lender pursuant to Section 2.17(e) to reimburse the Issuing Bank shall be for the
account of such Lender to the extent of such payment.

     (i) Resignation or Removal of the Issuing Bank; Additional Issuing Banks. The Issuing Bank may resign as Issuing Bank or be replaced at any time by written
agreement among Borrower, the Administrative Agent, the replaced Issuing Bank and the successor Issuing Bank. Borrower may, at any time and from time to time with
the consent of the Administrative Agent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld) and such Lender, by written agreement designate one or more additional
Lenders to act as an issuing bank under the terms of this Agreement. The Administrative Agent shall notify the Lenders of any such replacement of the Issuing Bank or any
such additional Issuing Bank. At the time any such replacement shall become effective, Borrower shall pay all unpaid fees accrued for the account of the replaced Issuing
Bank pursuant to Section 2.05(c). From and after the effective date of any such replacement or addition, as applicable, (i) the successor or additional Issuing Bank shall
have all the rights and obligations of the Issuing Bank under this Agreement with respect to Letters of Credit to be issued thereafter by such Lender, and (ii) references
herein and in the other Loan Documents to the term “Issuing Bank” shall be deemed to refer to such successor or such addition to any previous Issuing Bank, or to such
successor or such addition and all previous Issuing Banks, as the context shall require. After the replacement of an Issuing Bank hereunder, the replaced Issuing Bank shall
remain a party hereto and shall continue to have all the rights and obligations of an Issuing Bank under this Agreement with respect to Letters of Credit issued by it prior to
such replacement, but shall not be required to issue additional Letters of Credit. If at any time there is more than one Issuing Bank hereunder, Borrower may, in its
discretion, select which Issuing Bank is to issue any particular Letter of Credit.

     (j) Cash Collateralization. If any Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, on the Business Day that Borrower receives notice from the Administrative Agent or
the Required Lenders (or, if the maturity of the Loans has been accelerated, Revolving Lenders with LC Exposure representing greater than 50% of the total LC Exposure)
demanding the deposit of cash collateral pursuant to this Section 2.17(j), Borrower shall deposit in the LC Sub-Account, in the name of the Collateral Agent and for the
benefit of the Lenders, an amount in cash equal to the LC Exposure as of such date plus any accrued and unpaid interest thereon; provided that, the obligation to deposit
such cash collateral shall become effective immediately, and such deposit shall become immediately due and payable, without demand or other notice of any kind, upon
the occurrence of any Event of Default with respect to Borrower described in paragraph (g) or (h) of Article VIII. Each such deposit shall be held by the Collateral Agent as
collateral for the payment and performance of the obligations of Borrower under this Agreement. The Collateral Agent shall have exclusive dominion and control,
including the exclusive right of withdrawal, over such account. Other than any interest earned on the investment of such deposits, which investments shall be made at the
option and sole discretion of the Collateral Agent and at the risk and expense of Borrower, such deposits shall not bear interest. Interest or profits, if any, on such
investments shall accumulate in such account. Moneys in such account shall be invested in Cash Equivalents and applied by the Collateral Agent to reimburse the Issuing
Bank for LC Disbursements for which it has not been reimbursed and, to the extent not so applied, shall be held for the satisfaction of the reimbursement obligations of
Borrower for the LC Exposure at such time or, if the maturity of the Loans has been accelerated (but subject to the consent of Revolving
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Lenders with LC Exposure representing greater than 50% of the total LC Exposure), be applied to satisfy other Obligations of Borrower under this Agreement. If Borrower
is required to provide an amount of cash collateral hereunder as a result of the occurrence of an Event of Default, such amount plus any accrued interest or realized profits
or such amounts (to the extent not applied as aforesaid) shall be returned to Borrower within three Business Days after all Events of Default have been cured or waived.

     SECTION 2.18. Facility Increase. Borrower may by written notice to the Administrative Agent elect to request on one or more occasions (i) the establishment of one or
more additional term loan commitments (each, an “Additional Term Loan Commitment”; and the term loans made pursuant to such Additional Term Loan Commitments
are referred to herein as “Additional Term Loans”) and/or (ii) an increase in the aggregate Revolving Commitments, so long as after giving affect to any such request the
aggregate amount of Additional Term Loan Commitments and increases in the aggregate Revolving Commitments does not exceed $200.0 million. Each such notice shall
specify (a) the date (each, an “Increased Amount Date”) on which Borrower proposes that the Additional Term Loan Commitments and/or increase in Revolving
Commitments, as the case may be, shall be effective, which shall be a date not less than 10 Business Days nor more than 90 days after the date on which such notice is
delivered to the Administrative Agent or such earlier date as may reasonably be acceptable to the Administrative Agent and (b) the amount of the Additional Term Loan
Commitments being requested (which shall be in minimum increments of $5.0 million and a minimum amount of $25.0 million, or the amount equal to the then remaining
Additional Term Loan Commitment. Each Revolving Lender shall, by notice to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent given not more than 10 days after the date of the
Borrower’s notice, either agree to increase its Revolving Commitments by all or a portion of such Revolving Lender’s pro rata portion of the offered amount or decline to
increase its Revolving Commitment (and any Revolving Lender that does not deliver such a notice within such period of 10 days shall be deemed to have so declined). Each
Term Lender shall, by notice to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent given not more than 10 days after the date of the Borrower’s notice, either agree to make such
Additional Term Loan Commitment by all or a portion of such Term Lender’s pro rata portion of the offered amount or decline to make such Additional Term Loan
Commitment (and any Term Lender that does not deliver such a notice within such period of 10 days shall be deemed to have so declined). In the event that, on the 10th day
after the Borrower shall have delivered a notice pursuant to this Section 2.18, the amount of the Additional Term Loan Commitments agreed to are less than the Additional
Term Loan Commitments requested by the Borrower, the Borrower may arrange for one or more banks or other entities to extend Additional Term Loan Commitments in an
aggregate amount equal to the unsubscribed amount; provided, however, that each Additional Lender, if not already a Lender hereunder, shall be subject to the prior approval
of the Administrative Agent (and, in the case of an increase in the Revolving Commitments, the Issuing Bank), which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed
(each, an “Additional Lender”); provided that any Lender approached to provide all or a portion of the Additional Term Loan Commitments or increase in Revolving
Commitments, as the case may be, may elect or decline, in its sole discretion, to provide an Additional Term Loan Commitment or increase its Revolving Commitment. Any
such Additional Term Loan Commitments and increase in the aggregate Revolving Commitments shall become effective, as of such Increased Amount Date; provided that
(1) no Default or Event of Default shall exist on the Increased Amount Date before or immediately after giving effect to such Additional Term Loan Commitments or increase
in Revolving Commitments, as the case may be; (2) Borrower shall be in pro forma compliance with each of the covenants set forth in Section 6.07 as of the last day of the
most recently ended fiscal quarter for which financial statements are available to Borrower after giving effect to such Additional Term Loan Commitments or increase in
Revolving Commitments, as the case may be;
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and (3) the Additional Term Loan Commitments or increase in Revolving Commitments, as the case may be, shall be effected pursuant to one or more joinder agreements (in
form and substance reasonable acceptable) executed and delivered by Borrower, Administrative Agent and the corresponding Lenders, and each of which shall be recorded in
the Register. Any Additional Term Loans made on an Increased Amount Date shall, for all purposes, constitute “Term Loans” hereunder. On any Increased Amount Date on
which any Additional Term Loan Commitments are effective, subject to the satisfaction of the foregoing terms and conditions, (i) each Additional Lender with an Additional
Term Loan Commitment shall make an Additional Term Loan to Borrower in an amount equal to its Additional Term Loan Commitment, and (ii) each Additional Lender
with an Additional Term Loan Commitment shall become a Lender hereunder with respect to the Additional Term Loan Commitment and the Additional Term Loans made
pursuant thereto. Administrative Agent shall notify Lenders promptly upon receipt of Borrower’s notice of each Increased Amount Date of the Additional Term Loan
Commitments or the increase in Revolving Commitments and the Additional Lenders, if any.

     The terms and provisions of the Additional Term Loans and Additional Term Loan Commitments shall be identical to the initial Term Loans made hereunder. The
Additional Term Loans will constitute Obligations hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement and the Security Documents and will be secured by the Collateral securing the
other Obligations. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the Administrative Agent may hereunder or pursuant to any Joinder Agreement may, without the consent of
any other Lenders, effect such amendments to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents as may be necessary or appropriate, in the opinion of the Administrative Agent,
to effect the provisions of this Section 2.18, including, without limitation, conforming amendments (which may be in the form of an amendment and restatement) to provide
for the Additional Term Loans to share ratably in the benefits of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents with the Term Loans and Revolving Loans; provided that such
amendments may not alter the obligations of the Loan Parties under the Loan Documents except as provided in this Section.

ARTICLE III

Representations and Warranties

     Each of the Loan Parties, as applicable, represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Issuing Bank and each of the Lenders that:

     SECTION 3.01. Organization; Powers. Each Company (a) is duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, (b) has all requisite
power and authority to carry on its business as now conducted, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in
a Material Adverse Effect, and (c) is qualified and in good standing (to the extent such concept is applicable in the applicable jurisdiction) to do business in every jurisdiction
where such qualification is required, except in such jurisdictions where the failure to so qualify, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a
Material Adverse Effect.

     SECTION 3.02. Authorization; Enforceability. The Transactions to be entered into by each Loan Party are within such Loan Party’s powers and have been duly
authorized by all necessary action. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each Loan Party and constitutes, and each other Loan Document to which any
Loan Party is to be a party, when executed and delivered by such Loan Party, will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation
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of such Loan Party, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors’ rights
generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

     SECTION 3.03. Governmental Approvals; No Conflicts. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.03, the Transactions (a) do not require any consent or approval of,
registration or filing with, or any other action by, any Governmental Authority, except (i) such as have been obtained or made and are in full force and effect, (ii) filings
necessary to perfect Liens created under the Loan Documents and (iii) consents, approvals, registrations, filings or actions the failure of which to obtain or perform could not
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; (b) will not violate (i) any applicable law or regulation except for violations that could not reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, or (ii) the charter, bylaws or other organizational documents of any Company (other than any Immaterial Subsidiary) or any
order of any Governmental Authority; (c) will not violate, result in a default or require any consent or approval under any indenture, agreement or other instrument binding
upon any Company or its assets, or give rise to a right thereunder to require any payment to be made by any Company, except for violations, defaults or the creation of such
rights that could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and (d) will not result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of any
Company, except Liens created under the Loan Documents and Permitted Liens.

     SECTION 3.04. Financial Statements. All financial statements delivered to the Lenders by Borrower have been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a
consistent basis throughout the periods presented (except as disclosed therein, and in the case of interim financial statements for the absence of footnotes and year-end
adjustments). The unaudited pro forma financial statements and the notes thereto delivered to the Lenders by Borrower have been prepared on a basis consistent with the
historical financial statements of Holdings and its Subsidiaries and give effect to assumptions used in the preparation thereof on a reasonable basis and in good faith and
present fairly in all material respects the historical transactions and the proposed Transactions.

     SECTION 3.05. Properties.

     (a) Each Loan Party has good title to, or valid leasehold interests in or other valid rights to use, all of such Company’s Real Property, and all of such Loan Party’s
personal property material to its business. Title to all such property held by such Loan Party is free and clear of all Liens except for Permitted Liens. The property of the
Companies, taken as a whole, (i) is in good operating order, condition and repair (ordinary wear and tear excepted) (except to the extent such condition could not
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect) and (ii) constitutes all the properties that are required for the business and operations of the Companies as
currently conducted.

     (b) Each Company owns, or is licensed to use, all Intellectual Property used in the conduct of its business as currently conducted, except for those the failure to own or
license that, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. No claim has been asserted and is pending by any
person challenging or questioning the use of any such Intellectual Property or the validity or effectiveness of any such Intellectual Property, nor does any Company know
of any valid basis for any such claim. The use of such Intellectual Property by each Company does
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not infringe the rights of any person, except for such claims and infringements that, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Effect.

     (c) No Company has received any notice of, nor has any knowledge of, the occurrence or pendency or contemplation of any Casualty Event, zoning change, variance or
special zoning exception affecting or that would affect all or any portion of the property that would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

     SECTION 3.06. Equity Interests and Subsidiaries; Consent.

     (a) Schedule 3.06(a) sets forth a list of (i) all Subsidiaries of Holdings and their jurisdiction of organization as of the Closing Date; (ii) the number of shares of each
class of its Equity Interests authorized, and the number outstanding, on the Closing Date and the number of shares covered by all outstanding options, warrants, rights of
conversion or purchase and similar rights at the Closing Date of each such Subsidiary; and (iii) a designation as to whether such Subsidiary constitutes a Non-Guarantor
Subsidiary. Schedule 3.06(a) designates the only Subsidiaries of Borrower that constitute Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries on the Closing Date. Such schedule may be
amended from time to time without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent so long as the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries comply with all related
obligations under this Agreement (including obligations described in Section 5.11 hereof). All Equity Interests of each direct and indirect Subsidiary of Holdings are duly
and validly issued, are fully paid and non-assessable. Each Loan Party is the record and beneficial owner of, and has good and marketable title to, the Equity Interests
pledged by it under the applicable Security Agreement, free of any and all Liens, rights or claims of other persons, except for the security interest created by the Security
Agreements.

     (b) No consent of any person including any other general or limited partner, any other member of a limited liability company, any other shareholder or any trust
beneficiary is necessary or desirable in connection with the creation, perfection or first priority status of the security interest of the Collateral Agent in any Equity Interests,
pledged to the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties under any Security Agreement or the exercise by the Collateral Agent of the voting or other rights
provided for in any Security Agreement or the exercise of remedies in respect thereof.

     SECTION 3.07. Litigation; Compliance with Laws.

     (a) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.07, there are no investigations, actions, suits or proceedings at law or in equity by or before any Governmental Authority now
pending or, to the knowledge of any Company, threatened against or affecting any Company or any business, property or rights of any such person (i) that involve any
Loan Document or the Transactions or (ii) as to which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse determination and that could reasonably be expected, individually or
in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

     (b) Except for matters covered by Section 3.17, no Company or any of its property is in violation of, nor will the continued operation of their property as currently
conducted violate, any Requirements of Law (including any zoning or building ordinance, code or approval or any building permits) or any restrictions of record or
agreements affecting the Real Property or is in default with respect to any judgment, writ,
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injunction, decree or order of any Governmental Authority, in each case where such violation or default could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse
Effect.

     SECTION 3.08. Agreements.

     (a) No Company is a party to any agreement or instrument or subject to any corporate or other constitutional restriction that has resulted or could reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

     (b) No Company is in default in any manner under any provision of any indenture or other agreement or instrument evidencing Indebtedness, or any other agreement or
instrument to which it is a party or by which it or any of its property are or may be bound, where such default could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse
Effect.

     (c) Schedule 3.08 accurately and completely lists all Material Agreements (other than Leases of Real Property) to which any Loan Party is a party that were in effect on
the Closing Date and Borrower has delivered to the Administrative Agent complete and correct copies of all such Material Agreements, including any amendments,
supplements or modifications with respect thereto in effect as of the Closing Date.

     SECTION 3.09. Federal Reserve Regulations.

     (a) No Company is engaged principally, or as one of its important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of buying or carrying Margin Stock.

     (b) No part of the proceeds of any Loan or any Letter of Credit will be used in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, for any purpose that violates, or that is
inconsistent with, the provisions of the regulations of the Board, including Regulation T, U or X. The pledge of the Securities Collateral (as defined in the Security
Agreement) pursuant to the Security Agreements does not violate such regulations.

     SECTION 3.10. Investment Company Act. No Company is an “investment company” or a company “controlled” by an “investment company,” as defined in, or subject
to regulation under, the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

     SECTION 3.11. Use of Proceeds. Borrower will use the proceeds of the Loans (a) to finance a portion of the Transactions, (b) to pay fees and expenses related thereto and
(c) for general corporate purposes of Holdings and its Subsidiaries.

     SECTION 3.12. Taxes. Each Company has (a) filed or caused to be filed all federal Tax Returns and all material state, local and foreign Tax Returns or materials required
to have been filed by it and (b) duly paid or caused to be duly paid all Taxes (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) due and payable by it and all assessments received by
it, except Taxes that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which such Company shall have set aside on its books adequate reserves in
accordance with GAAP.

     SECTION 3.13. No Material Misstatements. No written information, report, financial statement, exhibit or schedule furnished by or on behalf of any Company to any
Agent or any Lender in connection with the negotiation of any Loan Document or included therein or delivered pursuant thereto, taken together with all related information so
furnished, contained,
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contains or will contain (when delivered) any material misstatement of fact or omitted, omits or will omit (when delivered) to state any material fact necessary to make the
statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were, are or will be made, not misleading as of the date such information is dated or certified; provided
that, to the extent any such information, report, financial statement, exhibit or schedule was based upon or constitutes a forecast, projection or pro forma adjustment, each
Company represents only that it acted in good faith and utilized reasonable assumptions and due care in the preparation of such information, report, financial statement,
exhibit or schedule (it being understood that, with respect to projected financial information, actual results may vary significantly from such projected results).

     SECTION 3.14. Labor Matters. As of the Closing Date, there are no strikes, lockouts or slowdowns against any Company pending or, to the knowledge of any Company,
threatened which could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. The hours worked by and payments made to employees of any Company have not been
in violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act or any other applicable federal, state, local or foreign law dealing with such matters in any manner that could reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. All payments due from any Company, or for which any claim may be made against any Company, on account of wages and
employee health and welfare insurance and other benefits, have been paid or accrued as a liability on the books of such Company except where the failure to do so could not
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. The consummation of the Transactions will not give rise to any right of termination or right of renegotiation on
the part of any union under any collective bargaining agreement to which any Company is bound.

     SECTION 3.15. Solvency. Immediately after the consummation of the Transactions to occur on the Closing Date and immediately following the making of each Loan and
after giving effect to the application of the proceeds of each Loan, (a) the fair value of the assets of the Loan Parties, taken as a whole, will exceed their debts and liabilities,
subordinated, contingent or otherwise; (b) the present fair saleable value of the property of the Loan Parties, taken as a whole, will be greater than the amount that will be
required to pay the probable liability of their collective debts and other liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, as such debts and other liabilities become absolute
and matured; (c) the Loan Parties, taken as a whole, will be able to pay their debts and liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, as such debts and liabilities become
absolute and matured; and (d) the Loan Parties, taken as a whole, will not have unreasonably small capital with which to conduct the business in which they are engaged as
such business is now conducted and is proposed to be conducted following the Closing Date.

     SECTION 3.16. Employee Benefit Plans.

     (a) Each Company and its ERISA Affiliates are in compliance in all material respects with the applicable provisions of ERISA and the Tax Code and the regulations
and published interpretations thereunder. No ERISA Event has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur that, when taken together with all other such ERISA Events,
could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. No liability to the PBGC (other than required premium payments), the Internal Revenue Service, any
Plan or any trust established under Title IV of ERISA has been or is expected to be incurred by any Company or any ERISA Affiliate. No Company or any of its ERISA
Affiliates sponsor, contribute, participate in or have any liability under a plan established under Title IV of ERISA or a Multiemployer Plan.
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     (b) Each Foreign Plan has been maintained in substantial compliance with its terms and with the requirements of any and all applicable laws, statutes, rules, regulations
and orders and has been maintained, where required, in good standing with applicable regulatory authorities, except when such failure to comply is not reasonably
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. No Company has incurred any material obligation in connection with the termination of or withdrawal from any Foreign
Plan that is reasonably expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. The present value of the accrued benefit liabilities (whether or not vested) under each Foreign Plan
that is funded, determined as of the end of the most recently ended fiscal year of the respective Company on the basis of actuarial assumptions, each of which is
reasonable, did not exceed the current value of the assets of such Foreign Plan by an amount that is reasonably expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

     SECTION 3.17. Environmental Matters.

     (a) The Real Property of the Companies does not contain, and has not previously contained, therein, thereon or thereunder, including the soil and groundwater
thereunder, any Hazardous Materials in amounts or concentrations that (i) constitute or constituted a violation of, (ii) require a Response under, or (iii) could give rise to
liability under, Environmental Laws, which violations, Response and liabilities, in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;

     (b) All operations of the Companies are in compliance, and, to the knowledge of the Companies, the Real Property is, and in the last three years such operations and the
Real Property have been in compliance, with all Environmental Laws and all necessary permits have been obtained and are in effect, except to the extent that such non-
compliance or failure to obtain any necessary permits, in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;

     (c) There have been no Releases or threatened Releases by any Company or, to their knowledge, by any other party, at, from, under or proximate to the Real Property or
otherwise in connection with the operations of any Company, which Releases or threatened Releases, in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Effect;

     (d) None of the Companies has received any notice of an Environmental Claim in connection with the Real Property or operations of any Company or with regard to any
person whose liabilities for environmental matters any of the Companies has retained or assumed, in whole or in part, contractually, by operation of law or otherwise, that,
in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;

     (e) Hazardous Materials have not been transported from Real Property of the Companies by or on behalf of any of the Companies, nor have Hazardous Materials been
generated, treated, stored or disposed of at, on or under any of such Real Property in a manner that could give rise to liability under, or in violation of, any Environmental
Law, nor has any Company retained or assumed any liability, contractually, by operation of law or otherwise, with respect to the generation, treatment, storage, transport or
disposal of Hazardous Materials, which transportation, generation, treatment, storage or disposal, or retained or assumed liabilities, in the aggregate, could reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;
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     (f) No Lien has been recorded, or to the knowledge of any Company threatened, under any Environmental Law with respect to any owned Real Property or relating to
any operations or assets of any Company;

     (g) No Real Property of the Companies is (i) listed or proposed for listing on the National Priorities List under CERCLA or (ii) to the knowledge of the Companies,
listed on the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Information System promulgated pursuant to CERCLA, or (iii) to the knowledge of the
Companies, included on any similar list maintained by any Governmental Authority (except in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii), for listings relating to events or conditions
that could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect); and

     (h) No Company is currently conducting any Response pursuant to any Environmental Law with respect to any Real Property or any other location except such waste
management activities, air emission or water discharges which are conducted in compliance with Environmental Laws in the normal course of the Companies’ operations or
any other Response that could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

     SECTION 3.18. Insurance. Schedule 3.18 sets forth a true, complete and correct description of all insurance maintained by each Loan Party as of the Closing Date. As of
such date, such insurance is in full force and effect and all premiums have been duly paid. Each Company has insurance in such amounts and covering such risks and
liabilities as are in accordance with normal industry practice.

     SECTION 3.19. Security Documents.

     (a) The Security Agreements are effective to create in favor of the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a legal, valid and enforceable security interest
in and Lien on the Security Agreement Collateral and, when (i) financing statements and other filings in appropriate form are filed in the appropriate governmental offices
and (ii) the Loan Parties have complied with Article III of the U.S. Security Agreement, the security interest granted under the U.S. Security Agreement shall constitute a
fully perfected Lien on, and security interest in, all right, title and interest of the grantors thereunder in such Collateral (other than (A) the Intellectual Property and
(B) such Collateral in which a security interest cannot be perfected under the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect at the relevant time in the relevant jurisdiction for
filing), in each case subject to no Liens other than Permitted Liens.

     (b) When the appropriate financing statements are filed in the appropriate filing offices and the U.S. Security Agreement is filed in the United States Patent and
Trademark Office and the United States Copyright Office, the security interests granted under the U.S. Security Agreement shall constitute a fully perfected Lien on, and
security interest in, all right, title and interest of the grantors thereunder in the Intellectual Property (as defined in the U.S. Security Agreement), in each case subject to no
Liens other than Permitted Liens (it being understood that subsequent recordings in the United States Patent and Trademark Office and the United States Copyright Office
may be necessary to perfect a Lien on registered trademarks, trademark applications and copyrights acquired by the grantors after the Closing Date).
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     (c) Each Security Document delivered pursuant to Section 5.11 will, upon execution and delivery thereof, be effective to create in favor of the Collateral Agent, for the
ratable benefit of the Secured Parties, a legal, valid and enforceable Lien on all of the Loan Parties’ right, title and interest in and to the Collateral described therein, and
when such Security Document is filed or recorded in the appropriate offices as may be required under applicable law, such Security Document will constitute a fully
perfected Lien on, and security interest in, all right, title and interest of the Loan Parties in such Security Agreement Collateral, in each case subject to no Liens other than
the applicable Permitted Liens.

     SECTION 3.20. Material Adverse Changes. Since December 31, 2005, there has been no change that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse
Effect.

ARTICLE IV

Conditions of Lending

     The obligations of the Lenders to make Loans and of the Issuing Bank to issue Letters of Credit hereunder are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:

     SECTION 4.01. All Credit Extensions. On the date of each Borrowing (including the date that the Term Loans hereunder are made), and on the date of each issuance,
amendment, extension or renewal of a Letter of Credit (each such event being called a “Credit Extension”):

     (a) The Administrative Agent shall have received a notice of such Borrowing as required by Section 2.03 (or such notice shall have been deemed given in accordance
with Section 2.03) or, in the case of the issuance, amendment, extension or renewal of a Letter of Credit, the Issuing Bank and the Administrative Agent shall have
received a notice requesting the issuance, amendment, extension or renewal of such Letter of Credit as required by Section 2.17(b).

     (b) No Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and no Default or Event of Default will result from such Borrowing.

     (c) Each of the representations and warranties set forth in Article III hereof or in any other Loan Document shall be true and correct in all material respects (except that
any representation and warranty that is qualified as to “materiality” or “Material Adverse Effect” shall be true and correct in all respects) on and as of the date of such
Credit Extension with the same effect as though made on and as of such date, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in
which case shall have been true and correct in all material respects (except that those that are qualified as to “materiality” or “Material Adverse Effect” shall be true and
correct in all respects) on and as of such earlier date).

Each Credit Extension shall be deemed to constitute a representation and warranty by Borrower and each other Loan Party on the date of such Credit Extension as to the
matters specified in paragraphs (b) and (c) above.
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     SECTION 4.02. Initial Credit Extension. The effectiveness of this Agreement is subject to the fulfillment, to the satisfaction of the Administrative Agent, of each of the
following conditions:

     (a) Loan Documents. All legal matters incident to this Agreement, the Borrowings and extensions of credit hereunder and the other Loan Documents shall be
satisfactory to the Lenders, to the Issuing Bank and to the Administrative Agent and the Administrative Agent shall have received a duly executed counterpart of each of
the Loan Documents, including, without limitation, this Agreement, each Security Agreement and the Perfection Certificate.

     (b) Corporate Documents. The Administrative Agent shall have received:

     (i) a certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of each Loan Party dated the Closing Date and certifying (A) that attached thereto is a true and complete
copy of the certificate or articles of incorporation or other constitutive documents, including all amendments thereto certified as of a recent date by the Secretary of
State (or like official) of the jurisdiction of its organization (if such document is of a type that may be so certified), (B) that attached thereto is a true and complete
copy of the bylaws or other organizational documents of each Loan Party as in effect on the Closing Date and at all times since a date prior to the date of the
resolutions described in clause (C) below, (C) that attached thereto is a true and complete copy of resolutions duly adopted by the Board of Directors or other
governing body of such person authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of the Loan Documents to which such person is a party and, in the case of
Borrower, the borrowings hereunder, and that such resolutions have not been modified, rescinded or amended and are in full force and effect and (D) as to the
incumbency and specimen signature of each officer executing any Loan Document or any other document delivered in connection herewith on behalf of such person
(together with a certificate of another officer as to the incumbency and specimen signature of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary executing the certificate in this
clause (i));

     (ii) certificates as to the good standing of each Loan Party as of a recent date, from the Secretary of State (or like official) of the jurisdiction of its organization, to
the extent such certificates or their equivalent are issued by such jurisdiction; and

     (iii) such other documents as the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank or the Lenders may reasonably request.

     (c) Officer’s Certificate. The Administrative Agent shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date and signed by a Financial Officer of Borrower, confirming
compliance with the conditions precedent set forth in Section 4.01 and stating that each of Holdings and its Subsidiaries is compliance with all applicable Requirements of
Law, including all applicable environmental laws and regulations, except to the extent such noncompliance could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect.

     (d) Redemption of the Holdings Senior Notes and Other Transactions, Etc.
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     (i) The Lenders shall be reasonably satisfied with the form and substance of the Transaction Documents; the Transactions scheduled to occur on the Closing Date
shall have been consummated or shall be consummated simultaneously on the Closing Date, in each case in all material respects in accordance with the terms hereof
and the terms of the Transaction Documents (and without the waiver or amendment of any such terms not approved by the Administrative Agent and the Arrangers).

     (ii) The Administrative Agent shall have received copies of the Holdings Senior Note Documents certified by a Responsible Officer of Holdings as true, complete
and current.

     (iii) The Refinancing shall have been consummated in full to the satisfaction of the Lenders with all Liens in favor of the lenders to the Existing Credit Agreement
being unconditionally released; the Administrative Agent shall have received a “pay-off” letter with respect to all debt being refinanced in the Refinancing; the
Administrative Agent shall have received from any person holding any Lien securing any such debt, such UCC (or other) termination statements, mortgage releases,
releases of assignments of leases and rents and other instruments, in each case in proper form for recording, as the Administrative Agent shall have reasonably
requested to release and terminate of record the Liens securing such debt.

     (iv) The Lenders shall be reasonably satisfied with the capitalization, the terms and conditions of any equity arrangements, the ownership, management, tax,
corporate, legal or other organizational structure of Borrower and each Guarantor.

     (v) Holdings shall have delivered or shall deliver substantially contemporaneously with the closing hereunder to the indenture trustee (with a copy to the
Administrative Agent) under the Holdings Senior Note Agreement a notice of redemption of all Holdings Senior Notes.

     (e) Indebtedness. After giving effect to the Transactions (other than the Redemption) and the other transactions contemplated hereby, no Company shall have
outstanding any Indebtedness, Preferred Stock or minority interests other than (i) the Loans and extensions of credit hereunder, (ii) the Holdings Senior Notes, (iii) the
Indebtedness described on Schedule 6.01 attached hereto and (iv) the minority interests described on Schedule 3.06(a) attached hereto.

     (f) Financial Statements; Pro Forma Balance Sheet; Projections. The Lenders shall have received, reviewed, and be reasonably satisfied with, (i) the unaudited
consolidated balance sheets and related statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows of Holdings and its Subsidiaries for each fiscal quarter of the fiscal year
in which the Closing Date occurs ended prior to 45 days prior to the Closing Date and for the comparable periods of the preceding fiscal year; (ii) the pro forma
consolidated balance sheets and statements of income for Holdings and its Subsidiaries, as well as the pro forma levels of EBITDA and other operating data, for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2005 and each fiscal quarter of the fiscal year in which the Closing Date
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occurs ended prior to 45 days prior to the Closing Date and for the comparable periods of the preceding fiscal year, after giving effect to the transactions contemplated
hereby; and (iii) final forecasts of the financial performance of Holdings and its Subsidiaries. The forecasts provided to the Lenders and any cost savings shall be included
in such financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP only to the extent permitted to be included in pro forma financial statements set forth in a registration
statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

     (g) Opinions of Counsel. The Administrative Agent shall have received, on behalf of itself, the other Agents, the Arrangers, the Lenders and the Issuing Bank, a
favorable written opinion of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, special counsel for certain of the Loan Parties, and of each other local counsel listed on Schedule 4.02(g), in
each case (A) in form reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent, (B) dated the Closing Date, (C) addressed to the Agents, the Arrangers, the Issuing Bank, and the
Lenders and (D) covering such other matters relating to the Loan Documents and the Transactions as the Administrative Agent shall reasonably request.

     (h) Requirements of Law. The Administrative Agent shall be satisfied that the Transactions shall be in full compliance with all material Requirements of Law,
including Regulations T, U and X of the Board.

     (i) Financial Condition Certificate. The Administrative Agent shall have received a certificate from the chief financial officer of Borrower, substantially in the form of
Exhibit L, dated the Closing Date and with appropriate attachments, demonstrating, after giving effect to the Transaction, the solvency of the Loan Parties on a
consolidated basis.

     (j) Consents. The Administrative Agent shall be satisfied that all material consents and approvals required from Governmental Authorities and third parties in
connection with the Transactions have been obtained and remain in effect, and there shall be no governmental or judicial action (or any adverse development therein),
actual or threatened, that the Lenders shall reasonably determine has or could have, singly or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or could materially and adversely
affect the ability of Holdings and its Subsidiaries to fully and timely perform their respective obligations under the Transaction Documents, or the ability of the parties to
consummate the financings contemplated hereby or the other Transactions.

     (k) Litigation. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.07, there shall be no litigation, public or private, or administrative proceedings, governmental investigation or other
legal or regulatory developments that, singly or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, or could materially and adversely
affect the ability of Holdings and its Subsidiaries to fully and timely perform their respective obligations under the Transaction Documents, or the ability of the parties to
consummate the financings contemplated hereby or the other Transactions.

     (l) Sources and Uses. The sources and uses of the Loans shall be as set forth in Section 3.11.

     (m) Fees and Expenses. The Arrangers, Lenders and Administrative Agent shall have received all fees and other amounts due and payable on or prior to the Closing
Date, including, to the extent invoiced, reimbursement or payment of all reasonable out-of-

64



 

pocket expenses (including the reasonable legal fees and expenses of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, special counsel to the Administrative Agent and other
foreign and local counsel to the Administrative Agent) required to be reimbursed or paid by Borrower hereunder or under any other Loan Document.

     (n) Personal Property Requirements. The Collateral Agent shall have received from each Loan Party (except to the extent the Administrative Agent determines that
any of the following is not commercially feasible, taking into account the cost to procure and the effectiveness and enforceability under local law):

     (i) all certificates, agreements or instruments representing or evidencing the Pledged Equity Interests and the Pledged Intercompany Debt (each as defined in the
U.S. Security Agreement) accompanied by instruments of transfer and stock powers endorsed in blank;

     (ii) all other certificates, agreements, including Control Agreements, or instruments necessary to perfect security interests in all Chattel Paper, all Instruments, all
Deposit Accounts and all Investment Property of each Loan Party (as each such term is defined in the U.S. Security Agreement and to the extent required by the terms
of the U.S. Security Agreement);

     (iii) UCC financing statements in appropriate form for filing under the UCC and such other documents under applicable Requirements of Law in each jurisdiction
as may be necessary or appropriate to perfect the Liens created, or purported to be created, by the Security Documents;

     (iv) certified copies of Requests for Information (Form UCC-11), tax lien, judgment lien, bankruptcy and pending lawsuit searches or equivalent reports or lien
search reports, each of a recent date listing all effective financing statements, lien notices or comparable documents that name (A) any domestic Loan Party as debtor
and that are filed in those state and county jurisdictions in which any of the property of such domestic Loan Party is located and the state and county jurisdictions in
which such domestic Loan Party’s principal place of business is located, and (B) any foreign Loan Party, to the extent obtainable from the District of Columbia, none
of which encumber the Collateral covered or intended to be covered by the Security Documents (other than those relating to Liens acceptable to the Collateral Agent);

     (v) delivery of such documents and instruments and instruments as the Collateral Agent may request for filing with the United States Patent, Trademark and
Copyright Offices, and the execution and/or delivery of such other security and other documents, and the taking of all actions as may be necessary or, in the
reasonable opinion of the Collateral Agent, desirable, to perfect the Liens created, or purported to be created, by the Security Agreements;

     (vi) any documents required to be submitted to the Collateral Agent by the Loan Parties as may be necessary or desirable to perfect the
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security interest of the Collateral Agent pursuant to each Foreign Security Agreement; and

     (vii) evidence acceptable to the Collateral Agent of payment by the Loan Parties of all applicable recording taxes, fees, charges, costs and expenses required for the
recording of the Security Documents.

     (o) Insurance. The Administrative Agent shall have received a copy of, or a certificate as to coverage under, the insurance policies required by Section 5.04 and the
applicable provisions of the Security Documents, each of which shall be endorsed or otherwise amended to include a “standard” or “New York” lender’s loss payable
endorsement and to name the Collateral Agent as additional insured, in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

     (p) Subsidiary Guarantors. Each Subsidiary Guarantor listed on Schedule 1.01(e) that is a Foreign Subsidiary and is not a signatory to this Agreement (including,
without limitation, HIL Swiss) shall have executed and delivered a Guarantee in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

     (q) Ratings. The Administrative Agent shall have received certified copies of the Moody’s Rating and the S&P Rating.

ARTICLE V

Affirmative Covenants

     Each Loan Party covenants and agrees with each Lender that so long as this Agreement shall remain in effect and until the Commitments have been terminated and the
principal of and interest on each Loan, all Fees and all other expenses or amounts payable under any Loan Document shall have been paid in full and all Letters of Credit have
been canceled or have expired and all amounts drawn thereunder have been reimbursed in full, unless the Required Lenders shall otherwise consent in writing, each Loan
Party will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to:

     SECTION 5.01. Financial Statements, Reports, Etc. In the case of Borrower, furnish to the Administrative Agent and each Lender:

     (a) Annual Reports. Contemporaneously with the date on which consolidated financial statements for such year are required to be delivered to the Securities and
Exchange Commission under the Exchange Act, (i) the consolidated balance sheet of Holdings as of the end of such fiscal year and related consolidated statements of
income, cash flows and stockholders’ equity for such fiscal year, and notes thereto (including a note with a balance sheet and statements of income and cash flows
separating out the Loan Parties (other than Holdings) from the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries), all prepared in accordance with Regulation S-X under the Securities Act and
in a manner acceptable to the Securities and Exchange Commission and accompanied by an opinion of KPMG LLP or other independent public accountants of recognized
national standing satisfactory to the Administrative Agent (which opinion shall not be qualified as to scope or contain any going concern or other qualification), stating that
such financial statements fairly present, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition, results of operations, cash
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flows and changes in stockholders’ equity of the Consolidated Companies as of the end of and for such fiscal year in accordance with GAAP; and (ii) a management’s
discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations for such fiscal year, as compared to the previous fiscal year;

     (b) Quarterly Reports. Contemporaneously with the date on which consolidated financial statements for such year are required to be delivered to the Securities and
Exchange Commission under the Exchange Act, (i) the consolidated balance sheet of Holdings as of the end of such fiscal quarter and related consolidated statements of
income and cash flows for such fiscal quarter and for the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year, in comparative form with the consolidated statements of income and cash
flows for the comparable periods in the previous fiscal year, and notes thereto (including a note with a balance sheet and statements of income and cash flows separating
out the Loan Parties from the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries), all prepared in accordance with Regulation S-X under the Securities Act and in a manner acceptable to the
Securities and Exchange Commission and accompanied by a certificate of a Financial Officer stating that such financial statements fairly present, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Consolidated Companies as of the date and for the periods specified in accordance with
GAAP and on a basis consistent with the audited financial statements referred to in Section 5.01(a), subject to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of
footnotes; and (ii) a management’s discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations for such fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of the
fiscal year, as compared to the comparable periods in the previous fiscal year;

     (c) Financial Officer’s Compliance Certificate. (i) Concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under Sections 5.01(a) and (b), a certificate of a Financial
Officer certifying that no Default or Event of Default has occurred or, if such a Default or Event of Default has occurred, specifying the nature and extent thereof and any
corrective action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto; (ii) concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under Sections 5.01(a) and (b), a certificate
of a Financial Officer, substantially in the form of Exhibit K attached hereto, setting forth computations in reasonable detail satisfactory to the Administrative Agent
demonstrating compliance with the covenants contained in Section 6.07 and, in the case of Section 5.01(a), setting forth Borrower’s calculation of Excess Cash Flow (if
applicable); and (iii) in the case of Section 5.01(a) above, a report of the accounting firm opining on or certifying such financial statements stating that in the course of its
regular audit of the financial statements of Holdings and its Subsidiaries, which audit was conducted in accordance with GAAP, nothing came to their attention that caused
them to believe that the any Loan Party failed to comply with the terms, covenants, provisions or conditions of Article VI of this Agreement, insofar as they relate to
financial and accounting matters, or if any Default or Event of Default has been noted, specifying the nature and extent thereof;

     (d) Public Reports. Promptly after the same become publicly available, copies of all periodic and other reports, proxy statements and other materials filed by any
Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any Governmental Authority succeeding to any or all of the functions of said Commission, or with any
national securities exchange, as the case may be;

67



 

     (e) Management Letters. Promptly after the receipt thereof by any Company, a copy of any “management letter” received by any such person from its certified public
accountants and management’s responses thereto;

     (f) Budgets. At least once in any calendar year, and in any event within 30 days of the date the below referenced budget or strategic plan, as the case may be, is
approved by the Board of Directors of Holdings, (i) an annual budget of Holdings and its Subsidiaries in form reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent
(including budgeted statements of income by each of Borrower’s business units and sources and uses of cash and balance sheets) prepared by Holdings for each fiscal
month of the fiscal year covered by such budget prepared in detail and (ii) a strategic plan prepared in summary form; and, in the case of the annual budget, such budget
shall be prepared in detail with appropriate presentation and discussion of the principal assumptions upon which such budget is based, accompanied by the statement of a
Financial Officer of each of Holdings and Borrower to the effect that the budget is a reasonable estimate for the period covered thereby (it being understood that actual
results may vary significantly from any such projected or forecasted results);

     (g) Annual Meetings with Lenders. Within 120 days after the close of each fiscal year of Borrower (commencing with fiscal year 2006), each of Holdings and
Borrower shall, at the request of the Administrative Agent or Required Lenders, hold a meeting (at a mutually agreeable location and time and at the expense of the
participating Lenders (other than with respect to the cost of the location of such meeting, which shall be paid by Borrower)) with all Lenders who choose to attend such
meeting at which meeting shall be reviewed the financial results of the previous fiscal year and the financial condition of the Companies and the budgets presented for the
current fiscal year of the Companies;

     (h) Notices in Connection with the Holdings Senior Note Documents. Until the Redemption has been consummated, promptly following the delivery or receipt by
any Loan Party of any written notice or other written communication pursuant to or in connection with any Holdings Senior Note Document, a copy of such notice or
communication; and

     (i) Other Information. Promptly, from time to time, such other information regarding the operations, business affairs and financial condition of any Company, or
compliance with the terms of any Loan Document, as the Administrative Agent or any Lender may reasonably request.

     (j) Deemed Delivery. Information required to be delivered pursuant to clauses (a), (b) and (d) of this Section shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date on
which the Borrower posts such information on the Borrower’s website on the Internet at http://ir.herbalife.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=183888&p=irol-irhome, at
www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/webusers.htm or at another website identified in a notice to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders and accessible by the Lenders
without charge, provided that the Borrower shall deliver paper copies of the information required to be delivered pursuant to clauses (a), (b) and (d) to any Lender that
requests such delivery.
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     SECTION 5.02. Litigation and Other Notices. Furnish to the Administrative Agent and each Lender prompt written notice upon any Responsible Officer of a Loan Party
becoming aware of the following:

     (a) any Default or Event of Default, specifying the nature and extent thereof and the corrective action (if any) taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto;

     (b) the filing or commencement of, or any threat or notice of intention of any person to file or commence, any action, suit or proceeding, whether at law or in equity by
or before any Governmental Authority (i) against any Company (or any Affiliate thereof) that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect or
(ii) with respect to any Loan Document;

     (c) any development that has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;

     (d) the occurrence of a Casualty Event in excess of $1.0 million; provided that the Net Cash Proceeds of any such event (whether in the form of insurance proceeds,
condemnation awards or otherwise) are to be applied in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Agreement and the Security Documents; and

     (e) the incurrence of any material Lien (other than Permitted Liens) on, or claim asserted against any of the Collateral.

     SECTION 5.03. Existence; Businesses and Properties.

     (a) Do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect its legal existence, except as otherwise expressly permitted under
Section 6.05 or, in the case of any Subsidiary, where the failure to perform such obligations, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a
Material Adverse Effect.

     (b) Do or cause to be done all things necessary to obtain, preserve, renew, extend and keep in full force and effect the rights, licenses, permits, franchises,
authorizations, patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade names material to the conduct of its business; comply with all applicable Requirements of Law (including any and
all zoning, building, Environmental Law, ordinance, code or approval or any building permits or any restrictions of record or agreements affecting the Real Property) and
decrees and orders of any Governmental Authority, whether now in effect or hereafter enacted, except where the failure to comply, individually or in the aggregate, could
not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; pay and perform its obligations under all Leases, except where the failure to comply, individually or in
the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and at all times maintain and preserve all property material to the conduct of such
business and keep such property in good repair, working order and condition and from time to time make, or cause to be made, all needful and proper repairs, renewals,
additions, improvements and replacements thereto necessary in order that the business carried on in connection therewith may be properly conducted at all times; provided,
however, that nothing in this Section 5.03(b) shall prevent (i) sales of assets, consolidations or mergers by or involving any Company in accordance with Section 6.04;
(ii) the withdrawal by any Company of its qualification as a foreign corporation in any jurisdiction where such withdrawal, individually or in the
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aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; or (iii) the abandonment by any Company of any property, rights, franchises, licenses,
trademarks, tradenames, copyrights or patents that such person reasonably determines are not useful to its business.

     SECTION 5.04. Insurance.

     (a) Keep its insurable property adequately insured at all times by financially sound and reputable insurers; maintain such other insurance, to such extent and against
such risks, including fire, flood (provided that, with respect to flood insurance, the Borrower shall not be required to acquire flood insurance to the extent such coverage is
not available on commercially reasonable terms) and other risks insured against by extended coverage, as is customary with companies in the same or similar businesses
operating in the same or similar locations, including public liability insurance against claims for personal injury or death or property damage occurring upon, in, about or in
connection with the use of any property owned, occupied or controlled by it, to the extent obtainable on commercially reasonable terms; and maintain such other insurance
as may be required by law.

     (b) All such insurance shall (i) provide that no cancellation, material reduction in amount or material change in coverage thereof shall be effective until at least 30 days
after receipt by the Collateral Agent of written notice thereof; (ii) name the Collateral Agent as insured party or loss payee; (iii) if reasonably requested by the Collateral
Agent, include a breach-of-warranty clause; and (iv) be reasonably satisfactory in all other respects to the Collateral Agent.

     (c) Notify the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent immediately whenever any separate insurance concurrent in form or contributing in the event of loss with
that required to be maintained under this Section 5.04 is taken out by any Company; and promptly deliver to the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent a duplicate
original copy of such policy or policies.

     (d) Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent and the Lenders a report of a reputable insurance broker annually with respect to such
insurance and such supplemental reports with respect thereto as the Administrative Agent or the Collateral Agent may from time to time reasonably request.

     SECTION 5.05. Taxes. Pay and discharge promptly when due all Taxes before the same shall become delinquent or in default, as well as all lawful claims for labor,
materials and supplies or otherwise that, if unpaid, might give rise to a Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) upon such properties or any part thereof; provided, however, that
such payment and discharge shall not be required with respect to any such Taxes, as well as all lawful claims for labor, materials and supplies or otherwise, so long as the
validity or amount thereof shall be contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and the applicable Company shall have set aside on its books adequate reserves with
respect thereto in accordance with GAAP and such proceeding (or orders entered in connection with such proceedings) operate to prevent the forfeiture or sale of the property
or assets subject to any such Lien and suspend collection of the contested Tax and enforcement of a Lien and, in the case of Collateral, the applicable Company shall have
otherwise complied with the provisions of the applicable Security Document in connection with such nonpayment.
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     SECTION 5.06. Employee Benefits. (a) Comply in all material respects with the applicable provisions of ERISA and the Tax Code, and (b) furnish to the Administrative
Agent (i) as soon as possible after, and in any event within ten days after any Responsible Officer of the Companies or their ERISA Affiliates or any ERISA Affiliate knows
or has reason to know that any ERISA Event has occurred that, alone or together with any other ERISA Event, could reasonably be expected to result in liability of the
Companies or their ERISA Affiliates under Title IV of ERISA, Section 302 of ERISA or Section 401(a)(29) or 412(n) of the Tax Code in any amount or other liability in an
aggregate amount exceeding $1.0 million, a statement of a Financial Officer of Holdings setting forth details as to such ERISA Event and the action, if any, that the
Companies propose to take with respect thereto, and (ii) upon request by the Administrative Agent, copies of: (w) each Schedule B (Actuarial Information) to the annual report
(Form 5500 Series) filed by any Company or any ERISA Affiliate with the Internal Revenue Service with respect to each Plan, (x) the most recent actuarial valuation report
for each Plan, (y) all notices received by any Company or any ERISA Affiliate from a Multiemployer Plan sponsor or any governmental agency concerning an ERISA Event,
and (z) such other documents or governmental reports or filings relating to any Plan (or employee benefit plan sponsored or contributed to by any Company) as the
Administrative Agent shall reasonably request.

     SECTION 5.07. Maintaining Records; Access to Properties and Inspections. Keep proper books of record and account (i) in which full, true and correct entries are
made in conformity with GAAP and in all material respects in conformity with all Requirements of Law, and (ii) in which all material dealings and transactions in relation to
its business and activities are recorded. Each Company will permit any representatives designated by the Administrative Agent or any Lender to visit and inspect the financial
records and the property of such Company at reasonable times during normal business hours and upon reasonable advance notice (no more frequently than twice during any
fiscal year of Holdings and at the sole cost and expense of the Lenders unless a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing) and to make extracts from
and copies of such financial records, and permit any representatives designated by the Administrative Agent or any Lender to discuss the affairs, finances and condition of any
Company with and be advised as to the same by the officers thereof and the independent accountants therefor.

     SECTION 5.08. Use of Proceeds. Use the proceeds of the Loans and request the issuance of Letters of Credit only for the purposes set forth in Section 3.11.

     SECTION 5.09. Compliance with Environmental Laws; Environmental Reports.

     (a) Comply and cause all lessees and other persons occupying Real Property, to the extent owned, operated or otherwise controlled by any Company, to comply, in all
material respects with all Environmental Laws and Environmental Permits applicable to its operations and property and obtain and renew all material Environmental
Permits applicable to its operations and property and conduct any Response in accordance with Environmental Laws; provided, however, that no Company shall be
required to comply with the foregoing to the extent that either (i) its obligation to do so is being contested in good faith and by proper proceedings and appropriate reserves
are being maintained with respect to such circumstances in accordance with GAAP or (ii) the failure to so comply could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Effect.

     (b) If a Default caused by reason of a breach of Section 3.17 or 5.09(a) shall have occurred and be continuing for more than 20 days without the Companies
commencing activities reasonably likely to cure such Default, at the written request of the
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Required Lenders through the Administrative Agent, provide to the Lenders within 45 days after such request, at the expense of Borrower, an environmental site
assessment report regarding the matters that are the subject of such default, including where appropriate, any soil and/or groundwater sampling prepared by an
environmental consulting firm and in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and indicating the presence or absence of Hazardous Materials
and the estimated cost of any compliance or Response to address them in connection with such Default.

     SECTION 5.10. Interest Rate Protection. No later than the 90th day after the Closing Date, Borrower shall enter into, for a minimum of three years after the Closing
Date, Interest Rate Protection Agreements acceptable to the Administrative Agent that result in an amount to be determined by the Administrative Agent of up to 25% of the
aggregate principal amount of Terms Loans outstanding hereunder being effectively subject to a fixed or maximum interest rate acceptable to the Administrative Agent.

     SECTION 5.11. Additional Collateral; Additional Guarantors.

     (a) Subject to this Section 5.11 and except to the extent the Administrative Agent (after consultation with Borrower) determines that any of the following is not
commercially reasonable (taking into account the expense of obtaining the same, the ability of Borrower or the relevant Subsidiary to obtain any necessary approvals or
consents required to be obtained under applicable law in connection therewith, and the effectiveness and enforceability thereof under applicable law), with respect to any
assets acquired after the Closing Date by Borrower or any other Loan Party that are intended to be subject to the Lien created by any of the Security Documents but that
are not so subject, and with respect to any assets held by Borrower or any other Loan Party on the Closing Date not made subject to a Lien created by any of the Security
Documents but of a type intended to be subject to the Lien created by the applicable Security Documents (but, in any event, excluding any assets described in
Section 5.11(b)), promptly (and in any event within 60 days after the acquisition thereof or upon the Administrative Agent’s request): (i) execute and deliver to the
Collateral Agent such amendments or supplements to the relevant Security Documents or such other documents as the Collateral Agent shall deem necessary or advisable
to grant to the Collateral Agent, for its benefit and for the benefit of the other Secured Parties, a Lien on such properties or assets, subject to no Liens other than Permitted
Liens, and (ii) take all actions necessary to cause such Lien to be duly perfected to the extent required by such Security Document in accordance with all applicable
Requirements of Law, including the filing of financing statements in such jurisdictions as may be reasonably requested by the Collateral Agent. Borrower or any such Loan
Party shall otherwise take such actions and execute and/or deliver to the Collateral Agent such documents as the Collateral Agent shall require to confirm the validity,
perfection and priority of the Lien of Security Documents against such after-acquired properties or assets, and such assets held on the Closing Date not made subject to a
Lien created by any of the Security Documents.

     (b) To the extent the Administrative Agent (after consultation with Borrower) determines that any of the following is commercially reasonable (taking into account the
expense (including taxes) of obtaining the same, the ability of Borrower or the relevant Subsidiary to obtain any necessary approvals or consents required to be obtained
under applicable law in connection therewith, and the effectiveness and enforceability thereof under applicable law), with respect to any person that becomes, after the
Closing Date, a Wholly Owned Subsidiary directly owned by a Loan Party and organized under the laws
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of the United States, Cayman Islands, Luxembourg, England and Wales, Japan, Mexico, Switzerland or a political subdivision of any thereof (a “New Wholly Owned
Subsidiary”), promptly, and in any event no later than 60 days after each such person becomes a New Wholly Owned Subsidiary, cause such Subsidiary (i) to become a
Guarantor and deliver to the Collateral Agent the certificates representing the Equity Interests of such Subsidiary (provided, that, in no event shall the stock of any such
Subsidiary be required to be pledged if such pledge is illegal under applicable law and no reasonable alternative structure can be devised having substantially the same
effect as such pledge that would not be illegal under applicable law), together with undated stock powers executed and delivered in blank by a duly authorized officer of
such Subsidiary’s parent, as the case may be, and all Intercompany Notes owing from such Subsidiary to any Loan Party; and (ii) (A) to execute a Joinder Agreement or
such comparable documentation, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, and (B) to take all actions reasonably necessary or advisable
to cause the Lien created by each Security Agreement to be duly perfected to the extent required by such agreement in accordance with all applicable Requirements of
Law, including the filing of financing statements in such jurisdictions as may be reasonably requested by the Collateral Agent (provided, that any such Subsidiary shall not
be required to comply with clause (ii)(A) and (B) above if satisfying such requirements is illegal under applicable law and no reasonable alternative structure can be
devised having substantially the same effect as such pledge that would not be illegal under applicable law).

     (c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in the case of any (x) New Wholly Owned Subsidiary that has not previously become (and, if so, does
not remain) a Guarantor or (y) other Non-Guarantor Subsidiary directly owned by a Loan Party, 66% of the Equity Interests of any such Subsidiary (and 100% of the
Equity Interests of any Domesticated Foreign Subsidiary) (exclusive, however, of Herbalife China LLC, Herbalife Del Ecuador, S.A., Herbalife International Products,
N.V. or any Immaterial Subsidiary) shall be subject to a Lien or be required to be pledged under the applicable Loan Document (except to the extent the Administrative
Agent, after consultation with Borrower, determines that such Lien or pledge is not commercially reasonable (taking into account the expense, including taxes, of obtaining
the same, the ability of Borrower or such Subsidiary to obtain any necessary approvals or consents required to be obtained under applicable law in connection therewith,
and the effectiveness and enforceability thereof under applicable law)); and, in any event, no Loan Party shall be required to deliver any supplemental Loan Document to
give effect to this clause (c) that is governed by any law other than the laws of the United States, Cayman Islands, Luxembourg, England and Wales, Japan, Mexico,
Switzerland or any political subdivision of any thereof).

     SECTION 5.12. Security Interests; Further Assurances.(a)(i) Promptly, upon the reasonable request of the Administrative Agent, any Lender or the Collateral Agent, at
Borrower’s expense, execute, acknowledge and deliver, or cause the execution, acknowledgment and delivery of, and thereafter register, file or record, or cause to be
registered, filed or recorded, in an appropriate governmental office, any document or instrument supplemental to or confirmatory of the Security Documents or otherwise
deemed by Administrative Agent or the Collateral Agent reasonably necessary or desirable for the continued validity, perfection and priority of the Liens on the Collateral
covered thereby superior and prior to the rights of all third persons other than the holders of Permitted Liens and subject to other Liens except as permitted by the Security
Documents, or use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any consents as may be necessary or appropriate in connection therewith, to the extent contemplated hereby; (ii)
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deliver or cause to be delivered to the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent from time to time such other documentation, consents, authorizations, approvals and
orders in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent as the Administrative Agent or the Collateral Agent shall deem
necessary to perfect or maintain the Liens on the Collateral pursuant to the Security Documents; and (iii) upon the exercise by the Administrative Agent or the Collateral
Agent of any power, right, privilege or remedy pursuant to any Loan Document that requires any consent, approval, registration, qualification or authorization of any
Governmental Authority or any other person, execute and deliver and/or obtain all applications, certifications, instruments and other documents and papers that the
Administrative Agent or the Collateral Agent may be so required to obtain (other than in respect of any registration under the Securities Act).

     (b) Each Loan Party shall, at its own cost and expense, take any and all actions necessary to defend title to the Collateral against all persons and to defend the security
interest of the Collateral Agent in the Collateral and the priority thereof against any Lien not expressly permitted pursuant to Section 6.02. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained herein, if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent shall have the right to require any Loan
Party to execute and deliver documentation, consents, authorizations, approvals and orders in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and the
Collateral Agent as the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent shall deem necessary to grant to the Collateral Agent, for its benefit and for the benefit of the other
Secured Parties, a valid and perfected Lien subject to no Liens other than Permitted Liens on such assets and properties not otherwise required hereunder, except to the extent
such requirements are illegal under applicable law, and no reasonable alternative structure can be devised having substantially the same effect as such actions that would not
be illegal under applicable law. If the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Required Lenders determine that they are required by law or regulation to have
appraisals prepared in respect of the Real Property of any Loan Party constituting Collateral, Borrower shall provide to the Administrative Agent appraisals that satisfy the
applicable requirements of the Real Estate Appraisal Reform Amendments of FIRREA and are in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and the
Collateral Agent.

     SECTION 5.13. Know-Your-Customer Rules.

     If :

     (a) (i) the introduction of or any change in (or in the interpretation, administration or application of) any law or regulation made after the date of this Agreement;

     (i) any change in the status of a Loan Party after the date of this Agreement; or

     (ii) a proposed assignment or transfer by a Lender of any of its rights and obligations under this Agreement to a party that is not a Lender prior to such assignment
or transfer,

     obliges the Administrative Agent or any Lender (or, in the case of clause (iii) above, any prospective new Lender) to comply with “know your customer” or similar
identification procedures in circumstances where the necessary
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information is not already available to it, each Loan Party shall promptly upon the request of the Administrative Agent or any Lender supply, or procure the supply of, such
documentation and other evidence as is reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent (for itself or on behalf of any Lender) or any Lender (for itself or, in the case of
the event described in clause (iii) above, on behalf of any prospective new Lender) in order for the Administrative Agent, such Lender or, in the case of the event described
in clause (iii) above, any prospective new Lender to carry out and be satisfied it has complied with all necessary “know your customer” or other similar checks under all
applicable laws and regulations pursuant to the transactions contemplated in the Loan Documents.

     (b) Each Lender shall promptly upon the request of the Administrative Agent supply, or procure the supply of, such documentation and other evidence as is reasonably
requested by the Administrative Agent (for itself) in order for the Administrative Agent to carry out and be satisfied it has complied with all necessary “know your customer”
or other similar checks under all applicable laws and regulations pursuant to the transactions contemplated in the Loan Documents.

     SECTION 5.14. Post-Closing Matters. Execute and deliver the documents and complete the tasks set forth on Schedule 5.14, in each case within the time limits specified
on such schedule or as such time as may be extended by the Collateral Agent in its sole discretion.

ARTICLE VI

Negative Covenants

     Each Loan Party covenants and agrees with each Lender that, so long as this Agreement shall remain in effect and until the Commitments have been terminated and the
principal of and interest on each Loan, all Fees and all other expenses or amounts payable under any Loan Document have been paid in full and all Letters of Credit have been
canceled or have expired and all amounts drawn thereunder have been reimbursed in full, unless the Required Lenders shall otherwise consent in writing, no Loan Party will,
nor will any Loan Party cause or permit any of its Subsidiaries to:

     SECTION 6.01. Indebtedness. Incur, create, assume or permit to exist, directly or indirectly, any Indebtedness, except:

     (a) Indebtedness incurred pursuant to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents;

     (b) Indebtedness under Interest Rate Protection Agreements entered into in compliance with Section 5.10 and such other non-speculative Interest Rate Protection
Agreements that may be entered into from time to time by any Company and that such Company in good faith believes will provide protection against fluctuations in
interest rates with respect to floating rate Indebtedness then outstanding, and permitted to remain outstanding, pursuant to the other provisions of this Section 6.01;

     (c) Indebtedness under Hedging Agreements (other than Interest Rate Protection Agreements) entered into from time to time by any Company in accordance with
Section 6.03(c);
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     (d) intercompany Indebtedness of the Companies outstanding to the extent permitted by Sections 6.03(d), (k), (l), (m), (n) and (o);

     (e) Indebtedness of a Company in respect of Purchase Money Obligations, Synthetic Leases and Capital Lease Obligations and refinancings or renewals thereof, in an
aggregate amount not to exceed at any time outstanding (i) if in respect of lease obligations incurred in connection with the establishment of new real estate leasehold
interests, $100.0 million, so long as such payments are made over not less than ten years, (ii) if in respect of the build out and related tenant improvements for the new
leasehold interests contemplated by the preceding clause (i), $25.0 million, and (iii) otherwise $20.0 million outstanding at any time;

     (f) Indebtedness in respect of workers’ compensation claims, self-insurance obligations, performance bonds, surety appeal or similar bonds and completion guarantees
provided by a Company in the ordinary course of its business;

     (g) (i) Indebtedness (other than as described in clause (iii) below) actually outstanding on the Closing Date and listed on Schedule 6.01, provided, that, any such
scheduled Indebtedness that constitutes intercompany Indebtedness (A) owing to a Loan Party by a Loan Party must be subordinated to the Obligations of the Loan Parties
in accordance with a subordination agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, and (B) shall be permitted under Section 6.03;
(ii) refinancings or renewals thereof, provided, that, (A) any such refinancing Indebtedness is in an aggregate principal amount not greater than the aggregate principal
amount of the Indebtedness being renewed or refinanced, plus the amount of any premiums required to be paid thereon and fees and expenses associated therewith,
(B) such refinancing Indebtedness has a later or equal final maturity and longer or equal weighted average life than the Indebtedness being renewed or refinanced and
(C) the covenants, events of default subordination and other provisions thereof (including any guarantees thereof) shall be, in the aggregate, not materially less favorable to
the Lenders than those contained in the Indebtedness being renewed or refinanced; and (iii) the Holdings Senior Notes (including any notes issued in exchange therefor in
accordance with any registration rights agreement entered into in connection with the issuance of the Holdings Senior Notes);

     (h) so long as no Default or Event of Default exists or would result therefrom, Indebtedness of Borrower in respect of the Tax Indemnity, so long as Borrower is not
obligated to make payments in excess of $15.0 million in any fiscal year and the obligation to make any such payment relates to a taxable year that closed prior to the
Closing Date;

     (i) other Indebtedness of a Company or any Subsidiary thereof not to exceed $25.0 million in aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding;

     (j) Indebtedness assumed in connection with a Permitted Acquisition so long as such Indebtedness is in existence at the time of the consummation of the Permitted
Acquisition and is not created in anticipation thereof;

     (k) Indebtedness of a Company or any Subsidiary thereof incurred in respect of bank guarantees, letters of credit or similar instruments to support local regulatory,
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solvency, consumer requirements and tax disputes not to exceed $25.0 million in the aggregate at any time outstanding; and

     (l) Indebtedness of a Company or any Subsidiary thereof incurred in connection with the acquisition of a corporate jet designated by Borrower to the Administrative
Agent for an aggregate purchase price (including (i) fees and expenses related to such purchase and (ii) costs associated with retrofitting, refurbishing or otherwise
modifying such airplane) not to exceed $20.0 million;

provided, however, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, no Subsidiary of Holdings (other than WH Capital) may guarantee or otherwise become liable for
any obligations in respect of the Holdings Senior Notes or any other Holdings Senior Note Document.

     SECTION 6.02. Liens. Create, incur, assume or permit to exist, directly or indirectly, any Lien on any property now owned or hereafter acquired by it or on any income or
revenues or rights in respect of any thereof, except (each of the following being the “Permitted Liens”):

     (a) inchoate Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable or delinquent and Liens for Taxes (including in respect of deposits made in respect of such Taxes) that (i) are being
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP, which proceedings (or orders entered in
connection with such proceedings) have the effect of preventing the forfeiture or sale of the property or assets subject to any such Lien, or (ii) in the case of any such
charge or claim that has or may become a Lien against any of the Collateral, such Lien and the contest thereof shall satisfy the Contested Collateral Lien Conditions;

     (b) Liens in respect of property of a Company or any Subsidiary thereof imposed by law that were incurred in the ordinary course of business and do not secure
Indebtedness for borrowed money, such as carriers’, warehousemen’s, materialmen’s, landlords’, workmen’s, suppliers’, repairmen’s and mechanics’ Liens and other
similar Liens arising in the ordinary course of business (i) for amounts not yet overdue or (ii) for amounts that are overdue and that are being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings, so long as (A) adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP, and (B) in the case of any such Lien that has or may become a
Lien against any of the Collateral, such Lien and the contest thereof shall satisfy the Contested Collateral Lien Conditions;

     (c) easements, rights-of-way, restrictions (including zoning restrictions), covenants, encroachments, protrusions and other similar charges or encumbrances, and minor
title deficiencies on or with respect to any Real Property, in each case whether now or hereafter in existence, not (i) securing Indebtedness and (ii) individually or in the
aggregate materially interfering with the conduct of the business of the Companies at such Real Property;

     (d) Liens arising out of judgments or awards not resulting in an Event of Default and in respect of which such Company shall in good faith be prosecuting an appeal or
proceedings for review in respect of which there shall be secured a subsisting stay of execution pending such appeal or proceedings;
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     (e) Liens (other than any Lien imposed by ERISA or Section 401(a)(29) or 412(n) or the Tax Code) (i) imposed by law or deposits made in connection therewith in the
ordinary course of business in connection with workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance and other types of social security; (ii) incurred in the ordinary course of
business to secure the performance of tenders, statutory obligations (other than excise taxes), surety, stay, customs and appeal bonds, statutory bonds, bids, leases,
government contracts, trade contracts, performance and return of money bonds and other similar obligations (including obligations imposed by the applicable laws of
foreign jurisdictions and exclusive of obligations for the payment of borrowed money); or (iii) arising by virtue of deposits made in the ordinary course of business to
secure liability for premiums to insurance carriers; provided that, (x) with respect to clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) above such Liens are set amounts not yet due and payable or
delinquent or, to the extent such amounts are so due and payable, such amounts are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings for which adequate reserves
have been established in accordance with GAAP, which proceedings for orders entered in connection with such proceedings have the effect of preventing the forfeiture or
sale of the property or assets subject to any such Lien, (y) to the extent such Liens are not imposed by law, such Liens shall in no event encumber any property other than
cash and Cash Equivalents, and (z) in the case of any such Lien against any of the Collateral, such Lien and the contest thereof shall satisfy the Contested Collateral Lien
Conditions;

     (f) Liens arising out of conditional sale, title retention, consignment or similar arrangements for the sale of goods entered into by a Company or any Subsidiary thereof
in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the past practices of a Company or Subsidiary;

     (g) Liens arising pursuant to Purchase Money Obligations, Synthetic Lease Obligations or Capital Lease Obligations incurred pursuant to Section 6.01(e); provided that,
(i) the Indebtedness secured by any such Lien (including refinancings thereof) does not exceed 100% of the cost (including financing cost) of the property being acquired
or leased at the time of the incurrence of such Indebtedness and (ii) any such Liens attach only to the property being financed pursuant to such Purchase Money
Obligations, Synthetic Lease Obligations or Capital Lease Obligations and directly related assets, such as proceeds (including insurance proceeds), products, accessions
and substitutions, and do not encumber any other property of any Company;

     (h) bankers’ Liens, rights of set-off and other similar Liens existing solely with respect to cash and Cash Equivalents on deposit in one or more accounts maintained by a
Company or any Subsidiary, in each case granted in the ordinary course of business in favor of the bank or banks with which such accounts are maintained, securing
amounts owing to such bank with respect to cash management and operating account arrangements, including those involving pooled accounts and netting arrangements;
provided that, in no case shall any such Liens secure (either directly or indirectly) the repayment of any Indebtedness;

     (i) Liens on assets of a person (and its Subsidiaries) existing at the time such person is acquired or merged with or into or consolidated with a Company or any of its
Subsidiaries (and not created in anticipation or contemplation thereof); provided that, such Liens do not extend to assets not subject to such Liens at the time of acquisition
(other than improvements thereon) and, in respect of a Replacement Lien, such Liens do not encumber any property other than the property subject thereto on the date such
person
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is acquired or merged with or into or consolidated with a Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

     (j) Liens pursuant to the Security Documents;

     (k) Liens in existence on the Closing Date and set forth on Schedule 6.02, including Liens replacing such Liens (“Replacement Liens”); provided that, (i) the aggregate
principal amount of the Indebtedness, if any, secured by such Liens does not increase; and (ii) such Liens do not encumber any property other than the property subject
thereto on the Closing Date;

     (l) Licenses of Intellectual Property (i) granted by Holdings and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business and not interfering in any material respect with the
ordinary conduct of the business of Holdings and its Subsidiaries and (ii) between or among the Loan Parties;

     (m) cash deposits required to secure obligations in respect of (i) letters of credit and bank guarantees actually outstanding on the Closing Date and listed on Schedule
6.01 and (ii) refinancings or renewals thereof permitted under Section 6.01(g);

     (n) restrictions on transfers of securities imposed by applicable securities laws;

     (o) Liens securing Indebtedness permitted under Section 6.01(k) in an amount not to exceed $25.0 million at any one time;

     (p) Liens securing Indebtedness and other obligations in an amount not to exceed $25.0 million at any one time; and

     (q) Liens securing Indebtedness permitted under Section 6.01(1) in an amount not to exceed $20.0 million;

provided, however, that no Liens shall be permitted to exist, directly or indirectly, on any Securities Collateral (as defined in the U.S. Security Agreement) except to the extent
permitted under Section 6.02(m) above).

     SECTION 6.03. Investments, Loans and Advances. Directly or indirectly, lend money or credit or make advances to any person, or purchase or acquire any stock,
obligations or securities of, or any other interest in, or make any capital contribution to, any other person, or purchase or own a futures contract or otherwise become liable for
the purchase or sale of currency or other commodities at a future date in the nature of a futures contract (all of the foregoing, collectively, “Investments”), except that the
following shall be permitted:

     (a) the Companies may consummate the Transactions in accordance with the provisions of the Transaction Documents;

     (b) Holdings and its Subsidiaries may (i) acquire and hold accounts receivables owing to any of them if created or acquired in the ordinary course of business and
payable or dischargeable in accordance with customary terms, (ii) acquire and hold cash and Cash Equivalents, (iii) endorse negotiable instruments for collection in the
ordinary course of business, or (iv) make lease, utility and other similar deposits in the ordinary course of business;
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     (c) the Loan Parties may enter into Interest Rate Protection Agreements to the extent permitted by Section 6.01(b) and may enter into and perform its obligations under
Hedging Agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business and so long as any such Hedging Agreement is not speculative in nature;

     (d) any Loan Party may make an Investment in any other Loan Party; provided that, if such Investment is in the form of an intercompany loan, such loan shall be
(i) evidenced by an Intercompany Note, (ii) pledged (and delivered) by such Loan Party that is the lender of such intercompany loan as Collateral pursuant to the
applicable Security Agreement and (iii) subordinated to the prior payment in full of the Obligations pursuant to a subordination agreement in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent;

     (e) Holdings and its Subsidiaries may make Investments in the form of advances to employees for travel, relocation and like expenses, in each case, in the ordinary
course of business and consistent with such Company’s past practices;

     (f) Holdings and its Subsidiaries may make Investments in the form of loans and advances not to exceed $7.0 million in the aggregate at any one time outstanding
pursuant to this Section 6.03(f) to employees, directors and distributors of Holdings and its Subsidiaries for the purpose of funding the purchase of Equity Interests of
Holdings by such employees, directors and distributors;

     (g) Holdings and its Subsidiaries may sell or transfer amounts to the extent permitted by Section 6.04;

     (h) Investments in securities of trade creditors or customers in the ordinary course of business and consistent with such Company’s past practices that are received in the
settlement of bona fide disputes or pursuant to any plan of reorganization or liquidation or similar arrangement upon the bankruptcy or insolvency of such trade creditors or
customers;

     (i) Investments made by Holdings or any Subsidiary as a result of consideration received in connection with an Asset Sale or other transaction effected in compliance
with Section 6.04;

     (j) Investments outstanding on the Closing Date and identified on Schedule 6.03;

     (k) the Loan Parties may make Investments in other persons, including Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries; provided that, (i) after giving pro forma effect to each such
Investment, the aggregate amount of all such Investments made by all Loan Parties on and after the Closing Date pursuant to this Section 6.03(k) that are outstanding at
any time does not exceed $100.0 million (excluding any amounts invested in any Non-Guarantor Subsidiary that subsequently becomes a Guarantor (effective only upon
such person becoming a Guarantor and only for so long as such person remains a Guarantor)) and (ii) if such Investment is in the form of an intercompany loan, such loan
shall be (A) evidenced by an Intercompany Note and (B) pledged (and delivered) by the Loan Party that is the lender of such intercompany loan as Collateral pursuant to
the applicable Security Agreement;
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     (l) the Loan Parties may make Investments in Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries for the purposes of enabling such Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries to comply with statutory
obligations imposed by Governmental Authorities; provided that, if such Investment is in the form of an intercompany loan, each such intercompany loan shall be
evidenced by an Intercompany Note and shall be pledged (and delivered) by the Loan Party that is the lender of such intercompany loan as Collateral pursuant to the
applicable Security Agreement; provided, further that after giving pro forma effect to each such Investment, the aggregate amount of all such Investments made by all Loan
Parties on and after the Closing Date pursuant to this Section 6.03(l) that are outstanding at any time does not exceed $25.0 million (excluding any amounts invested in any
Non-Guarantor Subsidiary that subsequently becomes a Guarantor (effective only upon such person becoming a Guarantor and only for so long as such person remains a
Guarantor));

     (m) Investments by the Loan Parties in Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries; provided, that, (i) such Investments are contemporaneously or within five Business Days remitted
to the Loan Parties, and (ii) such Investments are made to facilitate repatriation of monies to the United States;

     (n) Investments by Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries in Loan Parties;

     (o) Investments by Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries in Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries;

     (p) Investments by Borrower in the Collateral Account and LC Sub-Account;

     (q) Permitted Acquisitions; and

     (r) so long as no Default or Event of Default exists or would result therefrom, Investments resulting from the purchase, repurchase, redemption or other acquisition for
value of Holdings Senior Notes.

     SECTION 6.04. Mergers, Consolidations, Sales and Purchases of Assets. Wind up, liquidate or dissolve its affairs or enter into any transaction of merger or
consolidation, or convey, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of all or any part of its property or assets (other than sales and other dispositions of inventory in the ordinary course
of business), or purchase or otherwise acquire (in one or a series of related transactions) any part of the property or assets (other than purchases or other acquisitions of assets
used or useful in the Companies’ business, but not all or substantially all of a person’s assets) of any person, except that:

     (a) Capital Expenditures shall be permitted to the extent permitted by Section 6.07(c);

     (b) (i) Asset Sales of used, worn out, obsolete or surplus property by any Company in the ordinary course of business and the abandonment or other Asset Sale of
Intellectual Property that is, in the reasonable judgment of Borrower, no longer economically practicable to maintain or useful in the conduct of the business of the
Companies, taken as a whole, shall be permitted; (ii) any Company shall be permitted to barter obsolete inventory for advertising media and for other ordinary course trade
purposes; and (iii) subject to Section 2.10(c), sell, lease or otherwise dispose of any assets, provided that, the aggregate consideration received in respect of all Asset Sales
pursuant to this clause (iii) shall not exceed $6.0 million in any four fiscal quarters of Holdings;
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     (c) Investments shall be permitted to the extent permitted by Section 6.03;

     (d) Holdings and its Subsidiaries may sell Cash Equivalents in the ordinary course of business;

     (e) Holdings and its Subsidiaries may lease (as lessee or lessor) real or personal property and may guaranty such lease in the ordinary course of business;

     (f) any Subsidiary may be merged into Borrower (as long as Borrower is the surviving corporation of such merger and remains a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of
Holdings) or any other Wholly Owned Subsidiary Guarantor; provided, however, that the Lien on and security interest in such property granted in favor of the Collateral
Agent under the Security Documents shall be maintained in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.11;

     (g) (i) any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof (in any case, other than Borrower) may merge, convey, sell, transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of assets to Borrower
or any other Loan Party and (ii) Borrower may convey, sell, transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of assets constituting Equity Interests of Designated Subsidiaries and
other intangible assets relating to the operations of such Foreign Subsidiary to HIL;

     (h) Holdings and its Subsidiaries may incur Liens that are not prohibited hereunder;

     (i) any Non-Guarantor Subsidiary may merge, convey, sell, transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of assets to any Company;

     (j) Holdings and its Subsidiaries may make Investments pursuant to and in accordance with Section 6.03;

     (k) licenses and sublicenses by any Company of software, Intellectual Property and other general intangibles in the ordinary course of business and which do not
materially interfere with the ordinary conduct of business of such Company;

     (l) Holdings and its Subsidiaries may settle, release or surrender tort or other litigation claims in the ordinary course of business;

     (m) any Non-Guarantor Subsidiary and any Immaterial Subsidiary may voluntarily dissolve, liquidate or wind up; and

     (n) Holdings may sell its capital stock to officers, directors, distributors and employees of Holdings and its Subsidiaries.

To the extent the Required Lenders waive the provisions of this Section 6.04 with respect to the sale of any Collateral, or any Collateral is sold as permitted by this
Section 6.04, such Collateral (unless sold to a Company) shall be sold free and clear of the Liens created by the Security Documents, and the Agents shall take all actions
deemed appropriate to effect the foregoing.

     SECTION 6.05. Dividends. Pay any Dividends with respect to any Company, except that:
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     (a) any Subsidiary of Borrower (i) may pay cash Dividends to Borrower or any Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Borrower and (ii) if such Subsidiary is not a Wholly
Owned Subsidiary of Borrower, may pay cash Dividends to its shareholders generally so long as Borrower or its Subsidiary that owns the equity interest or interests in the
Subsidiary paying such Dividends receives at least its proportionate share thereof (based upon its relative holdings of Equity Interests in the Subsidiary paying such
Dividends and taking into account the relative preferences, if any, of the various classes of Equity Interests in such Subsidiary);

     (b) any Non-Guarantor Subsidiary (i) may pay cash Dividends to its parent and (ii) if such Non-Guarantor Subsidiary is not a Wholly Owned Subsidiary, may pay cash
Dividends to its shareholders generally so long as the Subsidiary of Holdings that owns the Equity Interest in the Subsidiary paying such Dividends receives at least its
proportionate share thereof (based upon its relative holdings of Equity Interests in the Subsidiary paying such Dividends and taking into account the relative preferences, if
any, of the various classes of Equity Interests in such Subsidiary)

     (c) so long as no Default or Event of Default exists or would result therefrom, Borrower and each Guarantor may pay Dividends for the purpose of enabling Holdings
to, and Holdings may, repurchase outstanding shares of its capital stock (or options to purchase such common stock) following the death, disability, retirement or
termination of employment of current or former employees, officers, distributors or directors of any Company; provided that, (i) all amounts used to effect such
repurchases are obtained by Holdings from a substantially concurrent issuance of its capital stock (or exercise of options to purchase such capital stock) to other
employees, members of management, distributors, executive officers or directors of Holdings, Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries; or (ii) to the extent the proceeds used to
effect any repurchase pursuant to this clause (ii) are not obtained as described in preceding clause (i), the aggregate amount of Dividends paid by Holdings pursuant to this
Section 6.05(c) (exclusive of amounts paid as described pursuant to preceding clause (i)) shall not exceed $10.0 million in the aggregate on and after the Closing Date plus
the amount of any key-man life insurance proceeds actually received in any fiscal year of Holdings;

     (d) so long as no Default or Event of Default exists or would result therefrom, Borrower and each Guarantor may pay cash Dividends for the purpose of paying, so long
as all proceeds thereof are promptly used to pay, each Loan Party’s operating expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business and other corporate overhead costs and
expenses (including legal and accounting expenses and similar expenses); provided that, the aggregate amount of Dividends paid pursuant to this Section 6.05(d) shall not
exceed $150,000 in any fiscal year of Holdings;

     (e) so long as, after giving effect to any such cash Dividend on a pro forma basis, no Default or Event of Default exists or would result therefrom, Borrower and each
Guarantor may pay cash Dividends for the purpose of enabling Holdings to pay (so long as all proceeds thereof are used by Holdings to pay) regularly scheduled payments
of stated interest (and any applicable withholding tax gross-up payments or other tax indemnity payments in respect thereof) on, or the redemption price (including any
premium required and interest on amounts redeemed) in respect of, the Holdings Senior Notes (pursuant to the terms of the Holdings Senior Note Documents as in effect
on the Closing Date), so long as, until such time as the amount of cash Dividends made by Borrower pursuant to this Section 6.05(e) are applied to the payment of such
regularly
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scheduled payments of stated interest (and any applicable withholding tax gross-up payments or other tax indemnity payments in respect thereof) on, or the redemption
price (including any premium required and interest on amounts redeemed) in respect of, the Holdings Senior Notes, the Collateral Agent shall have a valid and perfected
Lien on and security interest in such proceeds in accordance with Sections 5.11 and 5.12;

     (f) so long as no Default or Event of Default exists or would result therefrom, Holdings and any Subsidiary of Holdings may make Dividends in respect of any stock
appreciation rights, plans, equity incentive or achievement plans or any similar plan, so long as such rights or similar plans are approved by the board of directors of
Holdings (or a duly constituted committee thereof);

     (g) so long as no Default or Event of Default exists or would result therefrom, any Subsidiary of Holdings may purchase the capital stock of Holdings in connection
with the exercise of stock option or similar arrangements by a director, officer or employee of such Subsidiary; provided, that such capital stock is immediately granted to
the applicable director, officer or employee of such Subsidiary;

     (h) Borrower and each Guarantor may pay cash Dividends to allow Holdings to pay cash Dividends so long as (i) no Default or Event of Default exists or would result
therefrom and (ii) after giving effect to any such Dividend by Holdings the aggregate amount of Dividends paid by Holdings after the Closing Date pursuant to this
Section 6.05(h) does not exceed the sum of (i) $300.0 million plus (ii) 50% of cumulative Consolidated Net Income of Holdings and its Subsidiaries for the period (taken
as one accounting period) from the beginning of the first fiscal quarter of the 2007 fiscal year to the last day of the fiscal quarter most recently ended prior to the date of the
Dividend to be made by Holdings for which financial statements are available; and

     (i) Borrower and its direct and indirect parent companies may pay cash Dividends to their respective parent companies (and such parent companies may pay cash
Dividends) to the extent of U.S. federal and state income and other tax obligations of WH Capital to the extent that such U.S. federal and state income and tax obligations
are reasonably attributable to income or operations of the Borrower and any of its Subsidiaries. Any payments made pursuant to this Section 6.05(i) shall, no later than the
30th day after receipt, either be used to pay such obligations to the applicable taxing authority or be remitted to the Borrower.

     SECTION 6.06. Transactions with Affiliates. Enter into, directly or indirectly, any transaction or series of related transactions, whether or not in the ordinary course of
business, with any Affiliate of any Company, other than in the ordinary course of business and on terms and conditions substantially as favorable to such Company as would
reasonably be obtained by such Company at that time in a comparable arm’s-length transaction with a person other than an Affiliate, except that:

     (a) Dividends that are not otherwise restricted hereby may be made;

     (b) loans may be made and other transactions may be entered into between and among any Company and its Affiliates to the extent permitted by Sections 6.01 and
6.03;

     (c) assets sales permitted by Section 6.04 may be consummated;
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     (d) customary fees may be paid to non-officer directors of the Loan Parties, and customary indemnities may be provided to all directors of the Loan Parties;

     (e) transactions between or among the Loan Parties may be effected; and

     (f) the Transactions may be effected.

     SECTION 6.07. Financial Covenants.

     (a) Maximum Leverage Ratio. Permit the Leverage Ratio of Holdings, as of the last day of the fiscal quarter of Holdings ending on September 30, 2006 and every
fiscal quarter thereafter, to exceed 2.50:1.00.

     (b) Minimum Interest Coverage Ratio. Permit the Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio of Holdings, as of the last day of the fiscal quarter of Holdings ending on
September 30, 2006 and every fiscal quarter thereafter, to be less than 4.00:1.00.

     (c) Limitation on Capital Expenditures. (i) Make any Capital Expenditures, other than Capital Expenditures made by Holdings and its Consolidated Subsidiaries (A)
which in the aggregate do not exceed $62.5 million in any fiscal year or (B) for purposes of (i) acquiring the office buildings designated by Borrower to the Administrative
Agent for an aggregate purchase price for all such acquisitions not to exceed $50.0 million and (ii) the build out and tenant improvements for the new leasehold interests
contemplated by Section 6.01(e) which in the aggregate do not exceed $25.0 million or (C) for purposes of acquiring a corporate jet designated by Borrower to the
Administrative Agent for an aggregate purchase price (including (i) fees and expenses related to such purchase and (ii) costs associated with retrofitting, refurbishing or
otherwise modifying such airplane) not to exceed $20.0 million. (ii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in clause (i) above, to the extent that the Capital
Expenditures made by Holdings and its Consolidated Subsidiaries in any period set forth in clause (i) above are less than the amount permitted to be made in such period
(without giving effect to any additional amount available as a result of this clause (ii)), the amount of such difference may be carried forward and used to make Capital
Expenditures in the next succeeding fiscal year of Holdings.

     SECTION 6.08. Limitation on Modifications of Indebtedness; Modifications of Certificate of Incorporation, Other Constitutive Documents or Bylaws and
Certain Other Agreements, Etc.

     (a) Amend or modify, or permit the amendment or modification of, any provision of any agreement comprising a Material Agreement other than any amendments,
modifications, agreements or changes pursuant to this clause (a) that could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and

     (b) In respect of the Borrower, amend, modify or change its articles of incorporation or other constitutive documents (including by the filing or modification of any
certificate of designation) or bylaws, or any agreement entered into by it, with respect to its capital stock (including any shareholders’ agreement) that could reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
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     SECTION 6.09. Limitation on Certain Restrictions on Subsidiaries. Directly or indirectly, create or otherwise cause or suffer to exist or become effective any
encumbrance or restriction on the ability of any Subsidiary of Borrower to (a) pay dividends or make any other distributions on its capital stock or any other interest or
participation in its profits owned by Borrower or any Subsidiary of Borrower, or pay any Indebtedness owed to Borrower or a Subsidiary of Borrower; (b) make loans or
advances to Borrower or any of Borrower’s Subsidiaries; or (c) transfer any of its properties to Borrower or any of Borrower’s Subsidiaries, except for such encumbrances or
restrictions existing under or by reason of (i) applicable law, (ii) this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, (iii) customary provisions restricting subletting or assignment
of any lease governing a leasehold interest of Borrower or a Subsidiary of Borrower, (iv) existing restrictions under Indebtedness existing on the Closing Date and described in
Schedule 6.01 attached hereto, (v) restrictions with respect solely to any Subsidiary of Holdings imposed pursuant to a binding agreement which has been entered into for the
sale or disposition of all of the Equity Interests or assets of such Subsidiary; provided that, such restrictions apply solely to the Equity Interests or assets of such Subsidiary
which are being sold, (vi) in connection with and pursuant to refinancings permitted under this Agreement, replacements of restrictions imposed pursuant to clause (iv) or this
clause (vi) that are not more restrictive taken as a whole than those being replaced and do not apply to any other person or assets other than those that would have been
covered by the restrictions in the Indebtedness so refinanced or replaced, or (vii) customary provisions with respect to the disposition or distribution of assets in joint venture
agreements and other similar agreements relating solely to the assets subject to such agreement.

     SECTION 6.10. Sale and Leaseback Transactions. Enter into any arrangement, directly or indirectly, with any person whereby it shall sell or transfer any property, real
or personal, used or useful in its business, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, and thereafter rent or lease such property or other property that it intends to use for
substantially the same purpose or purposes as the property being sold or transferred, except such transactions among Loan Parties, unless (i) the sale of such property is
permitted by Section 6.04 and (ii) any Liens arising in connection with its use of such property are permitted by Section 6.02.

     SECTION 6.11. Holding Companies. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, with respect to the Holding Companies, (i) incur, directly or
indirectly, any Indebtedness other than the Obligations under the Loan Documents to which any such Company is a party, the Holdings Senior Notes and any intercompany
Indebtedness between Holding Companies permitted hereunder or incurred in connection with the payments required to consummate the Transactions, (ii) create or suffer to
exist any Lien upon any property or assets now owned or hereafter acquired by such Company other than the Liens permitted to exist under Sections 6.02(a), (b), (d), (h),
(j) and (l), (iii) engage in any business or own any assets other than holding the Equity Interest of such Company’s direct Subsidiaries, claims against another Company,
proceeds received in connection with the Transactions, and activities reasonably related to each of the foregoing; (iv) consolidate with or merge with or into, or convey,
transfer (except in connection with the Transactions) or lease all or any portion of its assets to, any person other than a Loan Party or (iv) sell or otherwise dispose of any
Equity Interest of any of such Company’s Subsidiaries other than to Loan Party.

     SECTION 6.12. Business. Holding and its Subsidiaries, engage (directly or indirectly) in any business other than those businesses in which Borrower and its Subsidiaries
are engaged on the Closing Date (or that are incidental, complementary or substantially related thereto or are reasonable extensions thereof).
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     SECTION 6.13. Limitation on Accounting Changes. Make or permit any change in accounting policies or reporting practices without the consent of the Required
Lenders, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, except changes that, in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect or
are required by GAAP.

     SECTION 6.14. Fiscal Year. Change its fiscal year-end to a date other than December 31.

ARTICLE VII

Guarantee

     SECTION 7.01. The Guarantee. The Guarantors hereby irrevocably and unconditionally, jointly and severally guarantee as primary obligors and not as sureties to each
Secured Party and their respective successors and assigns the prompt payment in full when due (whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) of the principal of
and interest on (including any interest, fees, costs or charges that would accrue but for the provisions of Title 11 of the United States Code after any bankruptcy or insolvency
petition under Title 11 of the United States Code) the Loans made by the Lenders to, and the Notes held by each Lender of, Borrower, and all other Obligations from time to
time owing to the Secured Parties by any Loan Party under any Loan Document or Interest Rate Protection Agreement relating to the Loans, in each case strictly in
accordance with the terms thereof (such obligations being herein collectively called the “Guaranteed Obligations”). The Guarantors hereby irrevocably and unconditionally,
jointly and severally agree that if Borrower or other Guarantor(s) shall fail to pay in full when due (whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) any of the
Guaranteed Obligations, the Guarantors will promptly pay the same, without any demand or notice whatsoever, and that in the case of any extension of time of payment or
renewal of any of the Guaranteed Obligations, the same will be promptly paid in full when due (whether at extended maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) in accordance
with the terms of such extension or renewal.

     SECTION 7.02. Obligations Unconditional. The obligations of the Guarantors under Section 7.01 shall constitute a guaranty of payment (and not of collection) and are
absolute, irrevocable and unconditional, joint and several (except to the extent otherwise limited in accordance with applicable Requirements of Law as described in Annex III
attached hereto or in any other Guarantee required by applicable Requirements of Law), irrespective of the value, genuineness, validity, regularity or enforceability of the
Guaranteed Obligations of Borrower under this Agreement, the Notes, if any, or any other agreement or instrument referred to herein or therein, or any substitution, release or
exchange of any other guarantee of or security for any of the Guaranteed Obligations and, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, irrespective of any other
circumstance whatsoever that might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of a surety or Guarantor (except for payment in full). Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, it is agreed that the occurrence of any one or more of the following shall not alter or impair the liability of the Guarantors hereunder, which shall
remain absolute, irrevocable and unconditional under any and all circumstances as described above:

     (i) at any time or from time to time, without notice to the Guarantors, the time for any performance of or compliance with any of the Guaranteed Obligations shall
be extended, or such performance or compliance shall be waived;
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     (ii) any of the acts mentioned in any of the provisions of this Agreement or the Notes, if any, or any other agreement or instrument referred to herein or therein
shall be done or omitted;

     (iii) the maturity of any of the Guaranteed Obligations shall be accelerated, or any of the Guaranteed Obligations shall be amended in any respect, or any right
under the Loan Documents or any other agreement or instrument referred to herein or therein shall be amended or waived in any respect or any other guarantee of any
of the Guaranteed Obligations or any security therefor shall be released or exchanged in whole or in part or otherwise dealt with;

     (iv) any Lien or security interest granted to, or in favor of, the Issuing Bank or any Lender or Agent as security for any of the Guaranteed Obligations shall fail to
be perfected; or

     (v) the release of any other Guarantor.

     The Guarantors hereby expressly waive diligence, presentment, demand of payment, protest and all notices whatsoever, and any requirement that any Loan Party exhaust
any right, power or remedy or proceed against Borrower under this Agreement or the Notes, if any, or any other agreement or instrument referred to herein or therein, or
against any other person under any other guarantee of, or security for, any of the Guaranteed Obligations. The Guarantors waive any and all notice of the creation, renewal,
extension, waiver, termination or accrual of any of the Guaranteed Obligations and notice of or proof of reliance by any Secured Party upon this Guarantee or acceptance of
this Guarantee, and the Guaranteed Obligations, and any of them, shall conclusively be deemed to have been created, contracted or incurred in reliance upon this Guarantee,
and all dealings between Borrower and the Secured Parties shall likewise be conclusively presumed to have been had or consummated in reliance upon this Guarantee. This
Guarantee shall be construed as a continuing, absolute, irrevocable and unconditional guarantee of payment without regard to any right of offset with respect to the
Guaranteed Obligations at any time or from time to time held by the Secured Parties, and the obligations and liabilities of the Guarantors hereunder shall not be conditioned or
contingent upon the pursuit by the Secured Parties or any other person at any time of any right or remedy against Borrower or against any other person that may be or become
liable in respect of all or any part of the Guaranteed Obligations or against any collateral or guarantee therefor or right of offset with respect thereto. This Guarantee shall
remain in full force and effect and be binding in accordance with and to the extent of its terms upon the Guarantors and the successors and assigns thereof, and shall inure to
the benefit of the Lenders, and their respective successors and assigns, notwithstanding that from time to time during the term of this Agreement there may be no Guaranteed
Obligations outstanding.

     For purposes of this paragraph only, references to the “principal” include each Loan Party and references to the “creditor” include each Secured Party. In accordance with
Section 2856 of the California Civil Code, each Guarantor waives all rights and defenses (i) available to such Guarantor by reason of Sections 2787 through 2855, 2899, and
3433 of the California Civil Code, including all rights or defenses such Guarantor may have by reason of protection afforded to the principal with respect to any of the
Guaranteed Obligations, or to any other guarantor of any of the Guaranteed Obligations with respect to any of such guarantor’s obligations under its guarantee, in either case
in accordance with the antideficiency or other laws of the State of California limiting or discharging the principal’s Indebtedness or such other guarantor’s
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obligations, including Sections 580a, 580b, 580d and 726 of the California Code of Civil Procedure; and (ii) arising out of an election of remedies by the creditor, even though
such election, such as a nonjudicial foreclosure with respect to security for any Guaranteed Obligation (or any obligation of any other guarantor of any of the Guaranteed
Obligations), has destroyed such Guarantor’s right of subrogation and reimbursement against the principal (or such other guarantor) by the operation of Section 580d of the
California Code of Civil Procedure or otherwise. No other provision of this Guarantee shall be construed as limiting the generality of any of the covenants and waivers set
forth in this paragraph. As provided below, this Agreement shall be governed by, and shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.
This paragraph is included solely out of an abundance of caution, and shall not be construed to mean that any of the above-referenced provisions of California law are in any
way applicable to this Agreement or to any of the Guaranteed Obligations.

     SECTION 7.03. Reinstatement. The obligations of the Guarantors under this Article VII shall be automatically reinstated if and to the extent that for any reason any
payment by or on behalf of Holdings, Borrower or any other Loan Party in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations is rescinded or must be otherwise restored by any holder of
any of the Guaranteed Obligations, whether as a result of any proceedings in bankruptcy or reorganization or otherwise. The Guarantors jointly and severally (except to the
extent otherwise limited in accordance with applicable Requirements of Law as described in Annex III attached hereto or in any other Guarantee required by applicable
Requirements of Law) agree that they will indemnify each Secured Party on demand for all reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable fees of counsel) incurred by
such Secured Party in connection with such rescission or restoration, including any such costs and expenses incurred in defending against any claim alleging that such
payment constituted a preference, fraudulent transfer or similar payment under any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law, other than any costs or expenses resulting from the
gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct of such Secured Party.

     SECTION 7.04. Subrogation; Subordination. Each Guarantor hereby agrees that until the indefeasible payment and satisfaction in full in cash of all Guaranteed
Obligations and the expiration and termination of the Commitments of the Lenders under this Agreement it shall not exercise any right or remedy arising by reason of any
performance by it of its guarantee in Section 7.01, whether by subrogation or otherwise, against Borrower or any other Guarantor of any of the Guaranteed Obligations or any
security for any of the Guaranteed Obligations. The payment of any amounts due with respect to any indebtedness of Borrower or any other Guarantor now or hereafter owing
to any Guarantor or Borrower by reason of any payment by such Guarantor under the Guarantee in this Article VII is hereby subordinated to the prior indefeasible payment in
full in cash of the Guaranteed Obligations. In addition, any Indebtedness of the Guarantors now or hereafter held by any Guarantor is hereby subordinated in right of payment
in full in cash to the Guaranteed Obligations. Each Guarantor agrees that it will not demand, sue for or otherwise attempt to collect any such indebtedness of Borrower or any
other Guarantor to such Guarantor until the Obligations shall have been indefeasibly paid in full in cash. If, notwithstanding the preceding sentence, any Guarantor shall, prior
to the indefeasible payment in full in cash of the Guaranteed Obligations, collect, enforce or receive any amounts in respect of such indebtedness, such amounts shall be
collected, enforced and received by such Guarantor as trustee for the Secured Parties and be paid over to Administrative Agent on account of the Guaranteed Obligations
without affecting in any manner the liability of such Guarantor under the other provisions of the guaranty contained herein.

     SECTION 7.05. Remedies. The Guarantors jointly and severally (except to the extent otherwise limited in accordance with applicable Requirements of Law as described
in
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Annex III attached hereto) agree that, as between the Guarantors and the Lenders, the obligations of Borrower under this Agreement and the Notes, if any, may be declared to
be forthwith due and payable as provided in Article VIII (and shall be deemed to have become automatically due and payable in the circumstances provided in said
Article VIII) for purposes of Section 7.01, notwithstanding any stay, injunction or other prohibition preventing such declaration (or such obligations from becoming
automatically due and payable) as against Borrower and that, in the event of such declaration (or such obligations being deemed to have become automatically due and
payable), such obligations (whether or not due and payable by Borrower) shall forthwith become due and payable by the Guarantors for purposes of Section 7.01.

     SECTION 7.06. Instrument for the Payment of Money. Each Guarantor hereby acknowledges that the guarantee in this Article VII constitutes an instrument for the
payment of money, and consents and agrees that any Lender or Agent, at its sole option, in the event of a dispute by such Guarantor in the payment of any moneys due
hereunder, shall have the right to bring a motion-action under New York CPLR Section 3213 to the extent permitted thereunder.

     SECTION 7.07. General Limitation on Guarantee Obligations. In any action or proceeding involving any state corporate law, or any state, federal or foreign
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other law affecting the rights of creditors generally, if the obligations of any Guarantor under Section 7.01 would otherwise be held
or determined to be void, voidable, invalid or unenforceable, or subordinated to the claims of any other creditors, on account of the amount of its liability under Section 7.01,
then, notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, the amount of such liability shall, without any further action by such Guarantor, any Loan Party or any other person,
be automatically limited and reduced to the highest amount that is valid and enforceable and not subordinated to the claims of other creditors as determined in such action or
proceeding.

     SECTION 7.08. Continuing Guarantee. The Guarantees in this Article VII are continuing guarantees of payment, and shall apply to all Guaranteed Obligations whenever
arising.

     SECTION 7.09. Release of Guarantors. If at any time after the Closing Date and in connection with the Guarantee of any Loan Party in this Article VII (i) subject to the
requirements of Section 5.11(c), in the case of a Foreign Subsidiary, the Administrative Agent (after consultation with Borrower) determines that in the case of any existing
Guarantor, it would not be commercially reasonable for such Guarantor to remain a Guarantor (taking into account the expense (including taxes), the ability of Borrower or
such Guarantor to obtain any necessary approvals or consents required to be obtained under applicable law (but have not been previously obtained) in connection therewith,
and the effectiveness and enforceability thereof under applicable law) or (ii) such Guarantee becomes illegal under applicable law and such Loan Party delivers to the
Administrative Agent, the Lenders and the Collateral Agent a legal opinion from its counsel to such effect, and no reasonable alternative structure can be devised having
substantially the same effect as the issuance of a Guarantee that would not be illegal under applicable law, then, so long as such Guarantor has been released or is
contemporaneously released under any other guaranty such Guarantor may be a party to, in case of each of the immediately preceding clauses (i) and (ii), the Collateral Agent
shall (at the expense of Borrower) take all action necessary to release its security interest in that portion of the Security Agreement Collateral owned by such Guarantor
(provided, however, that 66% of the Equity Interests of such Guarantor (and 100% of the Equity Interests of any Domesticated Foreign Subsidiary) shall not be released from
the Security Agreement Collateral)), and such Guarantor shall be released from its obligations in respect of the Guarantees in this Article VII (such Guarantor being
hereinafter
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referred to as a “Released Guarantor,” so long as it continues to be a Non-Guarantor Subsidiary), which release from such Guarantees, in the case of an event described in
the immediately preceding clause (i), shall become effective as of the closing of the last day of the taxable year that immediately precedes the date that the Administrative
Agent makes a determination described in such clause (i); provided that, such Released Guarantor shall continue to be subject to Section 5.11(b).

ARTICLE VIII

Events of Default

     In case of the happening of any of the following events (“Events of Default”):

     (a) default shall be made in the payment of any principal of any Loan or the reimbursement with respect to any LC Disbursement when and as the same shall become due
and payable, whether at the due date thereof (including a Term Loan Repayment Date) or at a date fixed for prepayment thereof or by acceleration thereof or otherwise;

     (b) default shall be made in the payment of any interest on any Loan or any Fee or any other amount (other than an amount referred to in paragraph (a) above) due under
any Loan Document, when and as the same shall become due and payable, and such default shall continue unremedied for a period of five Business Days;

     (c) any representation or warranty made or deemed made in or in connection with any Loan Document or the borrowings or issuances of Letters of Credit hereunder, or
any representation, warranty, statement or information contained in any report, certificate, financial statement or other instrument furnished in connection with or pursuant to
any Loan Document, shall prove to have been false or misleading in any material respect when so made, deemed made or furnished;

     (d) default shall be made in the due observance or performance by any Company of any covenant, condition or agreement contained in Section 5.02, 5.03, 5.08, or 5.14 or
in Article VI;

     (e) default shall be made in the due observance or performance by any Company of any covenant, condition or agreement contained in any Loan Document (other than
those specified in paragraph (a), (b) or (d) above), or under any Hedging Agreement entered into with any Lender or Affiliate of a Lender, and such default shall continue
unremedied or shall not be waived for a period of 30 days after the earlier of (i) an officer of such Company becoming aware of such default or (ii) receipt by Borrower and
such Company of notice from the Administrative Agent or any Lender of such default; provided, however, that with respect to any default in obligations under
Section 5.09(a), such 30-day period shall be extended if the relevant Company has commenced and continues diligently to pursue prudent and necessary response actions
and otherwise complies with Section 5.09(b) and any applicable Environmental Laws;

     (f) any Company (other than any Immaterial Subsidiary) shall (i) fail to pay any principal or interest, regardless of amount, due in respect of any Indebtedness (other than
the Obligations) when and as the same shall become due and payable (after all applicable grace periods have expired); or (ii) fail to observe or perform any other term,
covenant,
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condition or agreement contained in any agreement or instrument evidencing or governing any such Indebtedness if the effect of any failure referred to in this clause (ii) is to
cause, or to permit the holder or holders of such Indebtedness or a trustee on its or their behalf (with or without the giving of notice, the lapse of time or both) to cause, such
Indebtedness to become due prior to its stated maturity; provided that, it shall not constitute an Event of Default pursuant to this paragraph (f) unless the aggregate amount
of all such Indebtedness referred to in clauses (i) and (ii) exceeds $10.0 million at any one time;

     (g) an involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an involuntary petition shall be filed in a court of competent jurisdiction seeking (i) relief in respect of any
Company (other than any Immaterial Subsidiary), or of a substantial part of the property or assets of any Company (other than any Immaterial Subsidiary), under the
Bankruptcy Code, or any other federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law; (ii) the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian,
sequestrator, conservator or similar official for any Company (other than any Immaterial Subsidiary) or for a substantial part of the property or assets of any Company; or
(iii) the winding-up or liquidation of any Company (other than any Immaterial Subsidiary); and such proceeding or petition shall continue undismissed for 60 days or an
order or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered;

     (h) any Company (other than any Immaterial Subsidiary) shall (i) voluntarily commence any proceeding or file any petition seeking relief under the Bankruptcy Code, or
any other federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law; (ii) consent to the institution of, or fail to contest in a timely and appropriate manner,
any proceeding or the filing of any petition described in paragraph (g) above; (iii) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator,
conservator or similar official for any Company (other than any Immaterial Subsidiary) or for a substantial part of the property or assets of any Company (other than any
Immaterial Subsidiary); (iv) file an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it in any such proceeding; (v) make a general assignment for the
benefit of creditors; (vi) become unable, admit in writing its inability or fail generally to pay its debts as they become due; (vii) take any action for the purpose of effecting
any of the foregoing; or (viii) wind up or liquidate (except as otherwise permitted under Section 6.04);

     (i) one or more judgments for the payment of money in an aggregate amount in excess of $10.0 million (to the extent not covered by insurance as to which the insurer
does not dispute coverage thereof) shall be rendered against any Company or any combination thereof and the same shall remain undischarged for a period of 30 consecutive
days during which execution shall not be effectively stayed;

     (j) an ERISA Event occurs, an event of noncompliance with respect to any Foreign Plan occurs or, if the present value of the accrued benefit liabilities (whether or not
vested) under any Foreign Plan that is funded, determined as of the end of the most recently ended fiscal year of the respective Loan Party on the basis of actuarial
assumptions proper under applicable foreign law, exceeds the current value of the assets of such Foreign Plan by more than $2.5 million, that in the opinion of the Required
Lenders, when taken together with all other such ERISA Events, noncompliance and underfunding, could reasonably be expected to result in liability to any Company or its
ERISA Affiliates in an aggregate amount exceeding $2.5 million;
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     (k) any security interests and Liens on an asset or assets of the Loan Parties whose fair market value in the aggregate is greater than $500,000, purported to be created by
any Security Document shall cease to be in full force and effect, or shall cease to give the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, the Liens, rights, powers
and privileges purported to be created and granted under such Security Documents (including a perfected first priority security interest in and Lien on all of the Collateral
thereunder (except as otherwise expressly provided in such Security Documents)) in favor of the Collateral Agent, or shall be asserted by Holdings, Borrower or any other
Loan Party not to be a valid, perfected, first priority (except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement or such Security Document) security interest in or Lien on the
Collateral covered thereby;

     (l) any Guarantee or any Security Document shall cease to be in full force and effect, except to the extent expressly permitted to be released hereunder in accordance with
Section 7.09;

     (m) any Loan Document or any material provisions thereof shall at any time and for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be null and void, or a
proceeding shall be commenced by any Loan Party or any other person, or by any Governmental Authority, seeking to establish the invalidity or unenforceability thereof
(exclusive of questions of interpretation of any provision thereof), or any Loan Party shall repudiate or deny that it has any liability or obligation for the payment of principal
or interest or other obligations purported to be created under any Loan Document; or

     (n) there shall have occurred a Change in Control;

then, and in every such event (other than an event described in paragraph (g) or (h) above), and at any time thereafter during the continuance of such event, the Administrative
Agent may, and at the request of the Required Lenders shall, by notice to Borrower, take any or all of the following actions, at the same or different times: (i) terminate
forthwith the Commitments (including any unused Term Loan Commitments); (ii) declare the Loans then outstanding to be forthwith due and payable in whole or in part,
whereupon the principal of the Loans so declared to be due and payable, together with accrued interest thereon and any unpaid accrued Fees and all other liabilities of
Borrower accrued hereunder and under any other Loan Document, shall become forthwith due and payable, without presentment, demand, protest or any other notice of any
kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by Borrower and the Guarantors, anything contained herein or in any other Loan Document to the contrary notwithstanding;
and (iii) direct Borrower to pay (and Borrower hereby agrees upon receipt of such notice, or upon the occurrence of any event specified in paragraph (g) or (h) above to pay) to
the Administrative Agent such additional amounts of cash, to be invested in Cash Equivalents and held as security for Borrower’s reimbursement Obligations in respect of
Letters of Credit then outstanding, equal to the LC Exposure at such time. In any event described in paragraph (g) or (h) above, the Commitments (including any unused Term
Loan Commitments) shall automatically terminate and the principal of the Loans then outstanding, together with accrued interest thereon and any unpaid accrued Fees and all
other liabilities of Borrower accrued hereunder and under any other Loan Document, shall automatically become due and payable, without presentment, demand, protest or
any other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by Borrower and the Guarantors, anything contained herein or in any other Loan Document to the
contrary notwithstanding.
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ARTICLE IX

Collateral Account; Application of Collateral Proceeds

     SECTION 9.01. Collateral Account.

     (a) The Collateral Agent is hereby authorized to establish and maintain at its office at 4 World Financial Center, 22nd Floor, New York, NY 10080, Attention: Nancy
Meadows, in the name of the Collateral Agent with a copy to Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, Four Times Square, New York, NY 10036, Attention: Robert A.
Copen and pursuant to a Control Agreement, a restricted deposit account designated “Collateral Account.” Each Loan Party shall deposit into the Collateral Account from
time to time (i) the cash proceeds of any of the Collateral (including pursuant to any disposition thereof) to the extent contemplated herein or in any other Loan Document,
and (ii) any cash such Loan Party is required to pledge as additional collateral security hereunder pursuant to the Loan Documents.

     (b) The balance from time to time in the Collateral Account shall constitute part of the Collateral and shall not constitute payment of the Obligations until applied as
hereinafter provided. So long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or will result therefrom, the Collateral Agent shall, within two Business Days of
receiving a request of the applicable Loan Party for release of cash proceeds constituting (i) Net Cash Proceeds from the Collateral Account, remit such cash proceeds on
deposit in the Collateral Account to or upon the order of such Loan Party, so long as such Loan Party has satisfied the conditions relating thereto set forth in Section 9.02;
(ii) Net Cash Proceeds from any sale or other disposition of Collateral from the Collateral Account, remit such cash proceeds on deposit in the Collateral Account, so long as
such Loan Party has satisfied the conditions relating thereto set forth in Section 9.02; and (iii) with respect to the LC Sub-Account at such time as all Letters of Credit shall
have been terminated and all of the liabilities in respect of the Letters of Credit have been indefeasibly paid in full. At any time following the occurrence and during the
continuance of an Event of Default, the Collateral Agent may (and, if instructed by the Required Lenders as specified herein, shall) in its (or their) discretion apply or cause
to be applied (subject to collection) the balance from time to time outstanding to the credit of the Collateral Account to the payment of the Obligations in the manner
specified in Section 9.03, subject, however, in the case of amounts deposited in the LC Sub-Account, to the provisions of Sections 2.17(j) and 9.03. The Loan Parties shall
have no right to withdraw, transfer or otherwise receive any funds deposited in the Collateral Account except to the extent specifically provided herein.

     (c) Amounts on deposit in the Collateral Account shall be invested from time to time in Cash Equivalents as the applicable Loan Party (or, after the occurrence and
during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Collateral Agent) shall determine, which Cash Equivalents shall be held in the name and be under the control of the
Collateral Agent (or any sub-agent); provided that, at any time after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Collateral Agent may (and, if
instructed by the Required Lenders as specified herein, shall) in its (or their) discretion at any time and from time to time elect to liquidate any such Cash Equivalents and to
apply or cause to be applied the proceeds thereof to the payment of the Obligations in the manner specified in Section 9.03.
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     (d) Amounts deposited into the Collateral Account as cover for liabilities in respect of Letters of Credit under any provision of this Agreement requiring such cover shall
be held by the Administrative Agent in a separate sub-account designated as the “LC Sub-Account” (the “LC Sub-Account”).

     SECTION 9.02. Proceeds of Casualty Events and Collateral Dispositions.

     (a) So long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, in the event there shall be any Net Cash Proceeds in respect of any Casualty Event or from any
Asset Sale of Collateral, the applicable Loan Party shall have the right, at such Loan Party’s option, to apply such Net Cash Proceeds in accordance with the applicable
provisions of this Agreement.

     (b) In the event any Net Cash Proceeds are required to be deposited in the Collateral Account in accordance with Section 2.10, the Collateral Agent shall not release any
part of such Net Cash Proceeds until the applicable Loan Party has furnished to the Collateral Agent (i) an Officers’ Certificate setting forth: (A) a brief description of the
reason for the release, (B) the dollar amount of the expenditures to be made, or costs incurred by such Loan Party in connection with such release and (C) each request for
payment shall be made on at least ten day’s prior notice to the Collateral Agent and such request shall state that the properties acquired in connection with such release have
a fair market value at least equal to the amount of such Net Cash Proceeds requested to be released from the Collateral Account; and (ii) all security agreements and other
items required by the provisions of Sections 5.11 and 5.12 to, among other things, subject such reinvestment properties or assets to the Lien of the Security Documents in
favor of the Collateral Agent, for its benefit and for the benefit of the other Secured Parties.

     SECTION 9.03. Application of Proceeds. The proceeds received by the Collateral Agent in respect of any sale of, collection from or other realization upon all or any part
of the Collateral pursuant to the exercise by the Collateral Agent of its remedies shall be applied, together with any other sums then held by the Collateral Agent pursuant to
this Agreement, promptly by the Collateral Agent as follows:

     (a) First, to the payment of all reasonable costs and expenses, fees, commissions and taxes of such sale, collection or other realization, including compensation to the
Collateral Agent and its agents and counsel, and all expenses, liabilities and advances made or incurred by the Collateral Agent in connection therewith, together with
interest on each such amount at the highest rate then in effect under this Agreement from and after the date such amount is due, owing or unpaid until paid in full;

     (b) Second, to the payment of all other reasonable costs and expenses of such sale, collection or other realization, including compensation to the other Secured Parties and
their agents and counsel and all costs, liabilities and advances made or incurred by the other Secured Parties in connection therewith, together with interest on each such
amount at the highest rate then in effect under this Agreement from and after the date such amount is due, owing or unpaid until paid in full;

     (c) Third, without duplication of amounts applied pursuant to clauses (a) and (b) above, to the indefeasible payment in full in cash, pro rata, of (i) interest, principal and
other amounts constituting Obligations (other than the Obligations arising under the Interest Rate Protection Agreements), in each case equally and ratably in accordance
with
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the respective amounts thereof then due and owing and (ii) the Obligations arising under the Interest Rate Protection Agreements in accordance with the terms of the Interest
Rate Protection Agreements; and

     (d) Fourth, the balance, if any, to the person lawfully entitled thereto (including the applicable Loan Party or its successors or assigns).

In the event that any such proceeds are insufficient to pay in full the items described in clauses (a) through (c) of this Section 9.03, the Loan Parties shall remain liable for any
deficiency.

ARTICLE X

The Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent

     Each of the Lenders and the Issuing Bank hereby irrevocably appoints the Administrative Agent (it being understood that reference in this Article X to the Administrative
Agent shall be deemed to include the Collateral Agent) as its agent and authorizes the Administrative Agent to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers as
are delegated to the Administrative Agent by the terms of the Loan Documents, together with such actions and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto.

     The bank serving as the Administrative Agent hereunder shall have the same rights and powers in its capacity as a Lender as any other Lender and may exercise the same
as though it were not the Administrative Agent, and such bank and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to and generally engage in any kind of business with
Borrower or any Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof as if it were not the Administrative Agent hereunder.

     The Administrative Agent shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly set forth in the Loan Documents. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
(a) the Administrative Agent shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties, regardless of whether a Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;
(b) the Administrative Agent shall not have any duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any discretionary powers, except discretionary rights and powers expressly
contemplated by the Loan Documents that the Administrative Agent is required to exercise in writing by the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the
Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as provided in Section 11.02); and (c) except as expressly set forth in the Loan Documents, the Administrative Agent
shall not have any duty to disclose, and shall not be liable for the failure to disclose, any information relating to Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries that is communicated to or
obtained by the bank serving as Administrative Agent or any of its Affiliates in any capacity. The Administrative Agent shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by
it with the consent or at the request of the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as provided in
Section 11.02) or in the absence of its own gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Administrative Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge of any Default or an
Event of Default unless and until written notice of a Default is given to the Administrative Agent by Borrower or a Lender, and the Administrative Agent shall not be
responsible for or have any duty to ascertain or inquire into (i) any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection with any Loan Document; (ii) the contents of
any certificate, report or other document delivered thereunder or in connection therewith; (iii) the performance or observance of any of the covenants, agreements or other
terms or conditions set forth in any Loan Document; (iv) the validity, enforceability, effectiveness or
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genuineness of any Loan Document or any other agreement, instrument or document; or (v) the satisfaction of any condition set forth in Article IV or elsewhere in any Loan
Document, other than to confirm receipt of items expressly required to be delivered to the Administrative Agent.

     The Administrative Agent shall be entitled to rely upon, and shall not incur any liability for relying upon, any notice, request, certificate, consent, statement, instrument,
document or other writing believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or sent by the proper person.

     The Administrative Agent also may rely upon any statement made to it orally or by telephone and believed by it to be made by the proper person, and shall not incur any
liability for relying thereon. The Administrative Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be counsel for Borrower), independent accountants and other experts
selected by it, and shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it in accordance with the advice of any such counsel, accountants or experts.

     The Administrative Agent may perform any and all its duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through any one or more sub-agents appointed by the Administrative
Agent. The Administrative Agent and any such sub-agent may perform any and all its duties and exercise its rights and powers through their respective Affiliates. The
exculpatory provisions of the preceding paragraphs shall apply to any such sub-agent and to the Affiliates of each Administrative Agent and any such sub-agent, and shall
apply to their respective activities in connection with the syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein as well as activities as Administrative Agent.

     The Administrative Agent may resign as administrative agent hereunder at any time upon at least 30-days’ prior notice to the Lenders, the Issuing Bank and Borrower.
Upon any such resignation, the Required Lenders shall have the right, in consultation with Borrower, to appoint a successor from among the Lenders. If no successor shall
have been so appointed by the Required Lenders or shall have accepted appointment within 30 days after the retiring Administrative Agent gives notice of its resignation,
then the retiring Administrative Agent may, on behalf of the Lenders and the Issuing Bank, appoint a successor Administrative Agent, which successor shall be a commercial
banking institution organized under the laws of the United States (or any state thereof) or a United States branch or agency of a commercial banking institution, and having
combined capital and surplus of at least $250.0 million; provided, however, that if such retiring Administrative Agent is unable to find a commercial banking institution which
is willing to accept such appointment and which meets the qualifications set forth above, the retiring Administrative Agent’s resignation shall nevertheless thereupon become
effective, and the Lenders shall assume and perform all of the duties of the Administrative Agent hereunder until such time, if any, as the Required Lenders appoint a
successor as provided above. Upon the acceptance by a successor of its appointment as Administrative Agent hereunder, such successor shall succeed to and become vested
with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Administrative Agent, and the retiring Administrative Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations
hereunder. The fees payable by Borrower to a successor Administrative Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise agreed between
Borrower and such successor. After the Administrative Agent’s resignation hereunder, the provisions of this Article X and Section 11.03 shall continue in effect for the benefit
of such retiring Administrative Agent, its sub-agents and their respective Affiliates in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by any of them while it was acting as
Administrative Agent.

     Each Lender acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent or any other Lender and based on such documents and
information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement. Each
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Lender also acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent or any other Lender and based on such documents and information
as it shall from time to time deem appropriate, continue to make its own decisions in taking or not taking action under or based upon this Agreement, any other Loan
Document or related agreement or any document furnished hereunder or thereunder.

     The Lenders identified in this Agreement, the Co-Syndication Agents and the Co-Documentation Agents shall not have any right, power, obligation, liability, responsibility
or duty under this Agreement other than those applicable to all Lenders. Without limiting the foregoing, neither the Co-Syndication Agents nor the Co-Documentation Agents
shall have or be deemed to have a fiduciary relationship with any Lender. Each Lender hereby makes the same acknowledgments with respect to the Co-Syndication Agents
and the Co-Documentation Agents as it makes with respect to the Administrative Agent or any other Lender in this Article X. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties
hereto acknowledge that the Co-Documentation Agents and Co-Syndication Agents hold such titles in name only, and that such titles confer no additional rights or obligations
relative to those conferred on any Lender hereunder.

ARTICLE XI

Miscellaneous

     SECTION 11.01. Notices. Notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed
by certified or registered mail or sent by telecopy, as follows:

 (a) if to any Loan Party, to Borrower at:

Herbalife International, Inc.
1800 Century Park East
Los Angeles, California 90067
Attention: William D. Lowe
Phone: (310) 410-9600
Telecopy No.: (310) 557-3913;

With a copy to:

Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
2029 Century Park East
Los Angeles, California 90067-3026
Attention: Brian D. Kilb, Esq.
Phone: (310) 552-8500
Telecopy No.: (310) 551-8741;

 (b) if to the Administrative Agent or the Collateral Agent, to it at:

Merrill Lynch Capital Corporation
4 World Financial Center
22nd Floor
New York, New York 10080
Attention: Nancy Meadows
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Phone: (212) 449-2879
Telecopy No.: (212) 738-1186

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
Four Times Square
New York, NY 10036
Attention: Robert A. Copen
Phone: (212) 735-3536
Telecopy No.: (917) 777-3536; and

     (c) if to a Lender, to it at its address (or telecopy number) set forth on Annex II or in the Assignment and Acceptance pursuant to which such Lender shall have become a
party hereto.

All notices and other communications given to any party hereto in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been given on the date of receipt
if delivered by hand or overnight courier service or sent by telecopy or by certified or registered mail, in each case delivered, sent or mailed (properly addressed) to such party
as provided in this Section 11.01 or in accordance with the latest unrevoked direction from such party given in accordance with this Section 11.01, and failure to deliver
courtesy copies of notices and other communications shall in no event affect the validity or effectiveness of such notices and other communications.

     SECTION 11.02. Waivers; Amendment.

     (a) No failure or delay by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Issuing Bank or any Lender in exercising any right or power hereunder or under any other
Loan Document shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to
enforce such a right or power, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power. The rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent,
the Collateral Agent, the Issuing Bank and the Lenders hereunder and under the other Loan Documents are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies that
they would otherwise have. No waiver of any provision of any Loan Document or consent to any departure by any Loan Party therefrom shall in any event be effective
unless the same shall be permitted by Section 11.02(b), and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the making of a Loan or issuance of a Letter of Credit shall not be construed as a waiver of any Default or Event of Default,
regardless of whether the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, any Lender or the Issuing Bank may have had notice or knowledge of such Default or Event of Default
at the time.

     (b) Neither this Agreement nor any other Loan Document nor any provision hereof or thereof may be waived, amended or modified except, in the case of this Agreement,
pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by Borrower and the Required Lenders or, in the case of any other Loan Document, pursuant to an agreement
or agreements in writing entered into by the Administrative Agent and the Loan Party or Loan Parties that are parties thereto, in each case with the written consent of the
Required Lenders; provided that, no such agreement shall (i) increase the Commitment of any Lender without the written consent of such Lender; (ii) reduce the principal
amount of any Loan or LC Disbursement or reduce the rate of interest thereon,
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or reduce any Fees payable hereunder, without the written consent of each Lender affected thereby (except in connection with any waiver of the applicability of any post-
default increase in interest rates); (iii) postpone the maturity of any Loan, or any scheduled date of payment of or installment otherwise due on the principal amount of any
Term Loan under Section 2.09, or the required date of reimbursement of any LC Disbursement, or any date for the payment of any interest or fees payable hereunder, or
reduce the amount of, waive or excuse any such payment, or postpone the scheduled date of expiration of any Commitment or postpone the scheduled date of expiration of
any Letter of Credit beyond the Revolving Maturity Date, without the written consent of each Lender affected thereby; (iv) change Section 2.14(b) or (c) in a manner that
would alter the pro rata sharing of payments or set-offs required thereby without the written consent of each Lender; (v) change the percentage set forth in the definition of
“Required Lenders” or any other provision of any Loan Document (including this Section 11.02(b)) specifying the number or percentage of Lenders (or Lenders of any
Class) required to waive, amend or modify any rights thereunder or make any determination or grant any consent thereunder without the written consent of each Lender (or
each Lender of such Class, as the case may be); (vi) except as otherwise expressly permitted under this Agreement, (A) release Holdings, Parent, Cayman III, any of the
LuxCos and WH Capital from their respective Guarantees or limit its liability in respect of such Guarantee or (B) release all or substantially all of the Subsidiary Guarantors
from their Guarantees, or limit the liability of all or substantially all of the Subsidiary Guarantors in respect of their Guarantees, in each case without the written consent of
each Lender; (vii) release all or substantially all of the Collateral from the Liens of the Security Documents or alter the relative priorities of the Obligations entitled to the
Liens of the Security Documents (except in connection with securing additional Obligations equally and ratably with the other Obligations), in each case without the written
consent of each Lender; or (viii) change any provisions of any Loan Document in a manner that by its terms adversely affects the rights in respect of payments due to
Lenders holding Loans of any Class differently than those holding Loans of any other Class without the written consent of Lenders holding a majority in interest of the
outstanding Loans and unused Commitments of each affected Class; provided further that, (1) no such agreement shall amend, modify or otherwise affect the rights or duties
of the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, or the Issuing Bank without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, or the Issuing
Bank, as the case may be; and (2) any waiver, amendment or modification of this Agreement that by its terms affects the rights or duties under this Agreement of the
Revolving Lenders (but not the Term Lenders) or the Term Lenders (but not the Revolving Lenders) may be effected by an agreement or agreements in writing entered into
by Borrower and the requisite percentage in interest of the affected Class of Lenders that would be required to consent thereto under this Section 11.02(b) if such Class of
Lenders were the only Class of Lenders hereunder at the time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any provision of this Agreement may be amended by an agreement in writing
entered into by Borrower, the Required Lenders and the Administrative Agent (and, if its rights or obligations are affected thereby, the Issuing Bank) if (x) by the terms of
such agreement the Commitment of each Lender not consenting to the amendment provided for therein shall terminate upon the effectiveness of such amendment and (y) at
the time such amendment becomes effective, each Lender not consenting thereto receives payment in full of the principal of and interest accrued on each Loan made by it
and all other amounts owing to it or accrued for its account under this Agreement.
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     (c) If, in connection with any proposed change, waiver, discharge or termination of any of the provisions of this Agreement as contemplated by Section 11.02(b), the
consent of the Required Lenders is obtained but the consent of one or more of such other Lenders whose consent is required is not obtained, then Borrower shall have the
right to replace one or more of such non-consenting Lender or Lenders (so long as all non- consenting Lenders are so replaced) with one or more persons pursuant to Section
2.16 so long as at the time of such replacement each such new Lender consents to the proposed change, waiver, discharge or termination.

     SECTION 11.03. Expenses; Indemnity.

     (a) Borrower agrees to pay all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable legal fees and expenses of counsel, expenses incurred in connection with due
diligence and travel, courier, reproduction, printing and delivery expenses) incurred by the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers and the Issuing Bank in connection with the
syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein and the preparation, execution and delivery, administration of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents or in
connection with any amendments, modifications, enforcement costs or waivers of the provisions hereof or thereof (whether or not the transactions hereby or thereby
contemplated shall be consummated), or incurred by the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers or any Lender in connection with the enforcement or protection of its rights in
connection with this Agreement and the other Loan Documents or in connection with the Loans made or Letters of Credit issued hereunder, including the reasonable fees,
charges and disbursements of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, special counsel for the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent (and one local counsel in
each foreign jurisdiction where the Administrative Agent deems such local counsel advisable and any additional counsel to the Lenders required in the event of a conflict of
interest), and, in connection with any such enforcement or protection, the fees, charges and disbursements of any consultants and advisors in connection with any out-of-
court workout or in any bankruptcy case.

     (b) Except to the extent otherwise limited in accordance with applicable Requirements of Law as described in Annex III attached hereto, the Loan Parties agree, jointly
and severally, to indemnify the Agents, the Arrangers, each Lender, and the Issuing Bank, each Affiliate of any of the foregoing persons, and each of their respective
directors, officers, trustees, employees and agents (each such person being called an “Indemnitee”) against, and to hold each Indemnitee harmless from, all reasonable out-
of-pocket costs and any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and related expenses, including reasonable counsel fees, charges and disbursements, incurred by or
asserted against any Indemnitee arising out of, in any way connected with, or as a result of (i) any actual or proposed use of the proceeds of the Loans or issuances of Letters
of Credit; (ii) any claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing, whether or not any Indemnitee is a party thereto; or (iii) any actual or alleged
presence or Release or threatened Release of Hazardous Materials, on, under or from any property owned, leased or operated by any Company, or any Environmental Claim
related in any way to any Company; provided that, such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be available to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or
related expenses are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the bad faith, gross negligence or willful
misconduct of such Indemnitee. No Loan Party shall assert any claim against any Indemnitee for special, indirect, consequential, punitive or exemplary damages on any
theory of liability in
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connection in any way with this Agreement or any Loan Document or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby or thereby or referred to herein or therein, the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, any Loan, Letter of Credit or the use of the proceeds thereof or any act or omission or event occurring in connection therewith.

     (c) The provisions of this Section 11.03 shall remain operative and in full force and effect regardless of the expiration of the term of this Agreement, the consummation of
the transactions contemplated hereby, the repayment of any of the Loans, the expiration of the Commitments, the expiration of any Letter of Credit, the invalidity or
unenforceability of any term or provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or any investigation made by or on behalf of the Agents, the Arrangers, the Issuing
Bank or any Lender. All amounts due under this Section 11.03 shall be payable on written demand therefor accompanied by reasonable documentation with respect to any
reimbursement, indemnification or other amount requested.

     (d) To the extent that the Loan Parties fail to pay any amount required to be paid by it to the Agents, the Arrangers or the Issuing Bank under Section 11.03(a) or (b), each
Lender severally agrees to pay to the Agents, the Arrangers or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, such Lender’s pro rata share (determined as of the time that the
applicable unreimbursed expense or indemnity payment is sought) of such unpaid amount; provided that, the unreimbursed expense or indemnified loss, claim, damage,
liability or related expense, as the case may be, was incurred by or asserted against any of the Agents, the Arrangers or the Issuing Bank in its capacity as such. For purposes
hereof, a Lender’s “pro rata share” shall be determined based upon its share of the sum of the total Revolving Exposure, outstanding Term Loans and unused Commitments
at the time.

     SECTION 11.04. Successors and Assigns.

     (a) The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby
(including any Affiliate of the Issuing Bank that issues any Letter of Credit), except that no Loan Party may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations
hereunder (except in a transaction permitted under Section 6.04(f) or 6.04(g)) without the prior written consent of each Lender (and any attempted assignment or transfer by
any Loan Party without such consent shall be null and void). Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any person (other than the
parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby (including any Affiliate of the Issuing Bank that issues any Letter of Credit) and, to the extent
expressly contemplated hereby, the Affiliates of each of the Agents, the Issuing Bank and the Lenders) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of
this Agreement.

     (b) Any Lender may assign to one or more assignees (other than Holdings or any of its Affiliates or Subsidiaries) all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this
Agreement (including all or a portion of its Commitment and the Loans at the time owing to it); provided that, (i) except in the case of an assignment to a Lender, an
Affiliate of a Lender or a Lender Affiliate, each of Borrower and the Administrative Agent (and, in the case of an assignment of all or a portion of a Revolving Commitment
or any Lender’s obligations in respect of its LC Exposure, the Issuing Bank) must give their prior written consent to such assignment (which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed); (ii) except in the case of an assignment to a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender or a Lender Affiliate, any assignment made in connection
with the primary syndication of
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the Commitment and Loans by the Arrangers or an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender’s Commitment or Loans, the amount of the
Commitment or Loans of the assigning Lender subject to each such assignment (determined as of the date the Assignment and Acceptance with respect to such assignment is
delivered to the Administrative Agent) shall be in a principal amount that is an integral multiple of $500,000 and not less than $1.0 million, unless each of Borrower and the
Administrative Agent otherwise consent; (iii) each partial assignment shall be made as an assignment of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lender’s rights and
obligations under this Agreement, except that this clause (iii) shall not be construed to prohibit the assignment of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lender’s rights and
obligations in respect of one Class of Commitments or Loans; (iv) the parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent an Assignment and
Acceptance; and (v) the assignee, if it shall not be a Lender, shall deliver to the Administrative Agent an Administrative Questionnaire; provided further that, any consent of
Borrower otherwise required under this Section 11.04(b) shall not be required if a Default or an Event of Default under Article VIII has occurred and is continuing. Subject
to acceptance and recording thereof pursuant to Section 11.04(d), from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Acceptance the assignee thereunder
shall be a party hereto and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Acceptance, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement
(provided that, any liability of Borrower to such assignee under Section 2.12, 2.13 or 2.15 shall be limited to the amount, if any, that would have been payable thereunder by
Borrower in the absence of such assignment), and the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Acceptance, be
released from its obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Acceptance covering all of the assigning Lender’s rights and obligations under
this Agreement, such Lender shall cease to be a party hereto but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Sections 2.12, 2.13, 2.15 and 11.03). Any assignment or
transfer by a Lender of rights or obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with this Section 11.04(b) shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale
by such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in accordance with Section 11.04(e).

     (c) The Administrative Agent, acting for this purpose as an agent of Borrower, shall maintain at one of its offices in Stamford, Connecticut a copy of each Assignment
and Acceptance delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the Commitment of, and principal amount of the Loans and
LC Disbursements owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the “Register”). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive and Borrower, the
Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank and the Lenders may treat each person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for
all purposes of this Agreement. The Register shall be available for inspection by Borrower, the Issuing Bank and any Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time
upon reasonable prior notice.

     (d) Upon its receipt of a duly completed Assignment and Acceptance executed by an assigning Lender and an assignee, the assignee’s completed Administrative
Questionnaire (unless the assignee shall already be a Lender hereunder) and any written consent to such assignment required by Section 11.04(b), together with payment to
the Administrative Agent of a registration and processing fee of $3,500 (provided that the Administrative Agent may, in its sole discretion, waive any such fee), the
Administrative Agent shall accept such Assignment and Acceptance and record the information
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contained therein in the Register. No assignment shall be effective for purposes of this Agreement unless it has been recorded in the Register as provided in this
Section 11.04(d).

     (e) Any Lender may, without the consent of Borrower, the Administrative Agent or the Issuing Bank, sell participations to one or more banks or other entities (a
“Participant”) in all or a portion of such Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Commitment and the Loans owing to it);
provided that, (i) such Lender’s obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the
performance of such obligations and (iii) Borrower, the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such
Lender in connection with such Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement. Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation
shall provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce the Loan Documents and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of the Loan
Documents; provided that, such agreement or instrument may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment,
modification or waiver described in the first proviso to Section 11.02(b) that affects such Participant. Subject to Section 11.04(f), Borrower agrees that each Participant shall
be entitled to the benefits of Sections 2.12, 2.13 and 2.15 to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to Section 11.04(b),
provided, that the respective Lender shall provide to the Borrower written notice of the name and address of such Participant, which notice may be delivered via email or
facsimile, in each case, with a copy thereof to the Borrower via U.S. mail. To the extent permitted by law, each Participant also shall be entitled to the benefits of
Section 11.08 as though it were a Lender; provided that, such Participant agrees to be subject to Section 2.14(c) as though it were a Lender, provided, further, that the
respective Lender shall provide to the Borrower written notice of the name and address of such Participant, which notice may be delivered via email or facsimile, in each
case, with a copy thereof to the Borrower via U.S. mail.

     (f) A Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Section 2.12, 2.13 or 2.15 than the applicable Lender would have been entitled to receive with
respect to the participation sold to such Participant, unless the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the prior written consent of Borrower. A Participant
that would be a Foreign Lender if it were a Lender shall not be entitled to the benefits of Section 2.15 unless Borrower is notified of the participation sold to such Participant
and such Participant agrees, for the benefit of Borrower, to comply with Section 2.15(e) as though it were a Lender.

     (g) Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement to secure obligations of such Lender, including
any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank, and the other provisions of this Section 11.04 shall not apply to any such pledge or assignment of
a security interest; provided that, no such pledge or assignment of a security interest shall release a Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such
pledgee or assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.

     SECTION 11.05. Survival of Agreement. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made by the Loan Parties in the Loan Documents and in the
certificates or other instruments delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan
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Document shall be considered to have been relied upon by the other parties hereto and shall survive the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents and the making of any
Loans and issuance of any Letters of Credit, regardless of any investigation made by any such other party or on its behalf and notwithstanding that the Agents, the Issuing
Bank or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of any Default or Event of Default or incorrect representation or warranty at the time any credit is extended hereunder,
and shall continue in full force and effect as long as the principal of or any accrued interest on any Loan or any fee or any other amount payable under this Agreement is
outstanding and unpaid or any Letter of Credit is outstanding and so long as the Commitments have not expired or terminated. The provisions of Sections 2.12, 2.14, 2.15 and
11.03 and Article X shall survive and remain in full force and effect regardless of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the repayment of the Loans, the
expiration or termination of the Letters of Credit and the Commitments or the termination of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

     SECTION 11.06. Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts),
each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. This Agreement, the other Loan Documents, the
Commitment Letter and the Fee Letter constitute the entire contract among the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and
understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof. Except as provided in Section 4.01, this Agreement shall become effective when it shall have been
executed by the Administrative Agent and when the Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts hereof that, when taken together, bear the signatures of each of the
other parties hereto, and thereafter shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. Delivery of an executed
counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by telecopy shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement.

     SECTION 11.07. Severability. Any provision of this Agreement held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective
to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of
a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.

     SECTION 11.08. Right of Set-off. If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, each Lender and each of its Affiliates are hereby authorized at any time
and from time to time, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final (other than
deposits in trust accounts)) at any time held and other obligations at any time owing by such Lender or Affiliate to or for the credit or the account of any Loan Party against
any of and all the obligations of any Loan Party now or hereafter existing under this Agreement held by such Lender, irrespective of whether or not such Lender shall have
made any demand under this Agreement and although such obligations may be unmatured. The rights of each Lender under this Section 11.08 are in addition to other rights
and remedies (including other rights of set-off) that such Lender may have.

     SECTION 11.09. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process.

     (a) THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND GOVERNED BY THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK (INCLUDING
SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK).
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     (b) Each Loan Party hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of the State of New
York sitting in New York County and of the United States District Court of the Southern District of New York, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or
proceeding arising out of or relating to any Loan Document, or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment, and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and
unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such New York State or, to the extent permitted by law, in
such federal court. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by
suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Nothing in this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall affect any right that the Administrative Agent,
the Issuing Bank or any Lender may otherwise have to bring any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document against any Loan Party or its
properties in the courts of any jurisdiction.

     (c) Each Loan Party hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any objection that it may now or hereafter
have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document in any court referred to in Section
11.09(b). Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action
or proceeding in any such court.

     (d) Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in the manner provided for notices in Section 11.01. Nothing in this Agreement or any other
Loan Document will affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.

     SECTION 11.10. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE
LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON
CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF
ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF
LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE
BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS
SECTION 11.10.

     SECTION 11.11. Headings. Article and section headings and the table of contents used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this Agreement and
shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Agreement.

     SECTION 11.12. Confidentiality. Each of the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as
defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) to its and its Lender Affiliates’ directors,
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officers, employees and agents, including accountants, legal counsel and other advisors (it being understood that the persons to whom such disclosure is made will be
informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential pursuant to the terms hereof); (b) to the extent requested by any
regulatory authority; (c) to the extent required by applicable laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process; (d) to any other party to this Agreement; (e) in
connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or any suit, action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the enforcement of rights
hereunder or thereunder; (f) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section 11.12, to (i) any assignee of or Participant in, or any
prospective assignee of or Participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement or (ii) any actual or prospective counterparty (or its advisors) to any swap or
derivative transaction relating to Borrower and its obligations; (g) with the consent of Borrower; or (h) to the extent such Information (i) is publicly available at the time of
disclosure or becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section 11.12, or (ii) becomes available to the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank or any
Lender on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than Borrower or any Subsidiary. For the purposes of this Section 11.12, “Information” shall mean all information
received from a Company or any Subsidiary on a confidential basis relating to a Company or any Subsidiary or its business, other than any such information that is available
to the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by Borrower or any Subsidiary. Any person required to maintain
the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section 11.12 shall be considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if such person has exercised the same
degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such person would accord to its own confidential information.

     SECTION 11.13. Interest Rate Limitation. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if at any time the interest rate applicable to any Loan, together with all fees,
charges and other amounts that are treated as interest on such Loan under applicable law (collectively the “Charges”), shall exceed the maximum lawful rate (the “Maximum
Rate”) that may be contracted for, charged, taken, received or reserved by the Lender holding such Loan in accordance with applicable law, the rate of interest payable in
respect of such Loan hereunder, together with all Charges payable in respect thereof, shall be limited to the Maximum Rate and, to the extent lawful, the interest and Charges
that would have been payable in respect of such Loan but were not payable as a result of the operation of this Section 11.13 shall be cumulated and the interest and Charges
payable to such Lender in respect of other Loans or periods shall be increased (but not above the Maximum Rate therefor) until such cumulated amount, together with interest
thereon at the Federal Funds Effective Rate to the date of repayment, shall have been received by such Lender.

     SECTION 11.14. USA Patriot Act Notice. Each Lender and the Agents (for the Agents and not on behalf of any Lender) hereby notifies Borrower that pursuant to the
requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-5 (signed into law on October 26, 2001)) (the “Act”), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that
identifies Borrower, which information includes the name and address of Borrower and other information that will allow such Lender or the Agent, as applicable, to identify
Borrower in accordance with the Act.

[signature pages follow]
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     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of the day and year first above
written.
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL, INC.,   
  a Nevada corporation, as Borrower   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  WH CAPITAL CORPORATION,   
  a Nevada corporation, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL OF AMERICA, INC.,   
  a Nevada corporation, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL OF EUROPE, INC.,   
  a California corporation, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNICATIONS, INC.,   
  a California corporation, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   

Credit Agreement

 



 

       
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL DISTRIBUTION, INC.,   
  a California corporation, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE TAIWAN, INC.,   
  a California corporation, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL (THAILAND), LTD.,   
  a California corporation, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL DO BRASIL LTDA.,   
  a corporation dually organized in Brazil and Delaware, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   

Credit Agreement

 



 

       
  HERBALIFE LTD.,   
  a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  WH INTERMEDIATE HOLDINGS LTD.,   
  a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HBL LTD.,   
  a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HV HOLDINGS LTD.,   
  a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE DISTRIBUTION LTD.,   
  a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
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  WH LUXEMBOURG HOLDINGS S.à.R.L.,   
  a Luxembourg corporation, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HLF LUXEMBOURG HOLDINGS S.à R.L.,   
  a Luxembourg corporation, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  WH LUXEMBOURG INTERMEDIATE HOLDINGS S.à.R.L.,   
  a Luxembourg corporation, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL LUXEMBOURG S.à.R.L.,   
  a Luxembourg corporation, as a Guarantor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE LUXEMBOURG DISTRIBUTION S.à.R.L.,   
  a Luxembourg corporation, as a Guarantor   
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
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  MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INCORPORATED,   
  as Joint Lead Arranger and Joint Bookrunner   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  MERRILL LYNCH CAPITAL CORPORATION,   
  as a Lender, Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   

Credit Agreement

 



 

       
  J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES INC.,   
  as Joint Lead Arranger, Joint Bookrunner and Co-Syndication Agent   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,   
  as a Lender   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   

Credit Agreement

 



 

       
  MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC.,   
  as Joint Lead Arranger, Joint Bookrunner and Co-Syndication Agent   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INCORPORATED,   
  as a Lender   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   

Credit Agreement

 



 

       
 

 

COOPERATIEVE CENTRALE RAIFFEISEN-BOERENLEENBANK,
B.A. “RABOBANK INTERNATIONAL”, NEW YORK BRANCH, as
Co-Documentation Agent, a Lender and Issuing Bank  

 

       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   

Credit Agreement

 



 

       
 

 
HSBC BANK USA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Co-
Documentation Agent and a Lender  

 

       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   

Credit Agreement

 



 

       
 

 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Co-Documentation Agent and a
Lender  

 

       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   

Credit Agreement

 



 

       
 

 
FORTIS CAPITAL CORP., as Co-Documentation Agent and a
Lender  

 

       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   

Credit Agreement

 



 

       
  CITICORP USA, INC., as Co-Documentation Agent and a Lender   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   

Credit Agreement

 



 

       
  [LENDERS], as a Lender   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
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Annex I

Amortization Table
     

Date  Term Loan Amount
December 31, 2006  $ 500,000 

March 31, 2007  $ 500,000 
June 30, 2007  $ 500,000 

September 30, 2007  $ 500,000 
December 31, 2007  $ 500,000 

March 31, 2008  $ 500,000 
June 30, 2008  $ 500,000 

September 30, 2008  $ 500,000 
December 31, 2008  $ 500,000 

March 31, 2009  $ 500,000 
June 30, 2009  $ 500,000 

September 30, 2009  $ 500,000 
December 31, 2009  $ 500,000 

March 31, 2010  $ 500,000 
June 30, 2010  $ 500,000 

September 30, 2010  $ 500,000 
December 31, 2010  $ 500,000 

March 31, 2011  $ 500,000 
June 30, 2011  $ 500,000 

September 30, 2011  $ 500,000 
December 31, 2011  $ 500,000 

March 31, 2012  $ 500,000 
June 30, 2012  $ 500,000 

September 30, 2012  $ 500,000 
December 31, 2012  $ 500,000 

March 31, 2013  $ 500,000 
June 30, 2013  $ 500,000 

Tranche B Maturity Date  $ 186,500,000 

Annex I-1

 



 

Annex II

Lenders’ Notice Information and Commitments
         

Lender  Revolving Commitment  Term Loan Commitment
Merrill Lynch Capital Corporation  $ 5,000,000  $ 63,000,000 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.  $ 15,000,000  $ 5,000,000 
Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc.  $ 5,000,000  $ 0 
HSBC Bank USA, National Association  $ 12,000,000  $ 20,000,000 
Cooperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank, B.A. “Rabobank International”, New York Branch  $ 12,000,000  $ 20,000,000 
Bank of America, N.A.  $ 16,500,000  $ 0 
Citicorp USA, Inc.  $ 16,500,000  $ 0 
Fortis Capital Corp.  $ 5,000,000  $ 15,000,000 
General Electric Capital Corporation  $ 0  $ 20,000,000 
The Governor and Company of the Bank of Ireland  $ 0  $ 20,000,000 
Bayerische Hypo- Und Vereinsbank AG, New York Branch  $ 5,000,000  $ 10,000,000 
Union Bank of California, N.A.  $ 5,000,000  $ 10,000,000 
The CIT Group/Equipment Financing, Inc.  $ 0  $ 10,000,000 
Comerica West Incorporated  $ 3,000,000  $ 7,000,000 

Total $ 100,000,000  $ 200,000,000 
   
Merrill Lynch Capital Corporation  JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
   
Merrill Lynch Capital Corporation  JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
4 World Financial Center  1999 Avenue of the Stars
22nd Floor  Floor 27
New York, NY 10080  Los Angeles, CA 90067-6022
Attention: Nancy Meadows  Attention: Jana Chiat
Phone: (212) 449-2879  Phone: (310) 760-7274
Telecopy No.: (212) 738-1186; and  Telecopy No.: (310) 860-7110; and
   
Merrill Lynch Bank USA  J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.
Attention: Document Compliance Specialist  1999 Avenue of the Stars
15 West South Temple, 3rd FL  Floor 27
Salt Lake City, UT 84101  Los Angeles, CA 90067-6022
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Phone: (801) 526-8300  Attention: Lucy B. Nixon
Telecopy No.: (801) 531-7470  Phone: (310) 860-7257
  Telecopy No.: (310) 860-7110
   
Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc.  HSBC Bank USA, National Association
   
Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc.  HSBC Bank USA, National Association
One Pierrepont Plaza, 7th Floor  660 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 800
300 Cadman Plaza West  Los Angeles, CA 90017
Brooklyn, NY 11201  Attention: Steven Brennan
Attention: Joshua Rawlins/Darragh Dempsey  Phone: (213) 553-8003
Phone: (718) 754-7291/1288  Telecopy No.: (213) 553-8056
Telecopy No.: (718) 754-7249/7250   
   
Cooperatieve Centrale  Bank of America, N.A.
Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank, B.A. “Rabobank   
International”, New York Branch  Bank of America, N.A.
  333 South Hope Street, Suite 1300
  Los Angeles, CA 90071-1406
Rabobank Support Services, Inc.  Attention: Matthew Koenig
Corp. Services – Loan Admin.  Phone: (213) 621-7190
10 Exchange Place, 16th Floor  Telecopy No.: (213) 621-3612
Jersey City, NJ 07302   
Attention: Alishia Hazell   
Phone: (201) 449-5319   
Telecopy No.: (201) 449-5326; and   
   
Rabobank International   
13355 Noel Road, Suite 1000

 
 

Dallas, TX 75240   
Attention: J. David Thomas   
Phone: (972) 419-5266   
Telecopy No.: (972) 419-6315   
   
Citicorp USA, Inc.  Fortis Capital Corp.
   
Citicorp USA, Inc.  Fortis Capital Corp.
388 Greenwich Street, 21st Floor  Two Emarcadero Center, Suite 1330
New York, NY 10013  San Francisco, CA 94111
Attention: Rory Boyle  Attention: Ignacio Solveyra
Phone: (212) 816-7964  Phone: (415) 283-3009
Telecopy No.: (646)291-1866  Telecopy No.: (415) 283-3013
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General Electric Capital Corporation  The Governor and Company of the Bank of Ireland
   
General Electric Capital Corporation   
Corporate Financial Services  The Governor and Company of the Bank of
201 Merritt 7, P.O. Box 5201  Ireland
Norwalk, CT 06856-5201  Bank of Ireland Leveraged Finance
Attention: Ante Sucic  U.S. Representative Office
Phone: (203) 956-4223  75 Holly Hill Lane
Telecopy No.: (203) 956-4003  Greenwich, CT 06830
  Attention: Eimear Lillis
  Phone: (203) 861-8969
  Telecopy No.: (203) 552-0656
   
Bayerische Hypo- Und Vereinsbank AG,
New York Branch  

Union Bank of California, N.A.

  Union Bank of California, N.A.
Bayerische Hypo- Und Vereinsbank AG, New  445 S. Figueroa Street
York Branch  Los Angeles, CA 90071
150 East 42nd Street  Attention: Gail Boyle
New York, NY 10017  Phone: (213) 236-5076
Attention: Marianne Weinzinger  Telecopy No.: (213) 236-7558
Phone: (212) 672-5352   
Telecopy No.: (212) 672-5530   
   
The CIT Group/Equipment Financing, Inc.  Comerica West Incorporated
   
The CIT Group/Equipment Financing, Inc.  Comerica Bank
CIT Syndicated Loan Group  611 Anton Boulevard, 4th Floor
One Stamford Plaza, 263 Tresser Blvd, 9th  Costa Mesa, CA 92626
Floor  Attention: Elise Walker
Stamford, CT 06901  Phone: (714) 433-3226
Attention: Vincent J. Devito  Telecopy No.: (714) 433-3236

Phone: (203) 564-1423   
Telecopy No.: (203) 564-1482   
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Annex III

Limitations on Guarantees and Indemnities Under Applicable Foreign Laws

Limitations on the Guarantee Herbalife International Do Brasil Ltda.

Central bank approval is necessary if cash has to be sent out of Brazil for the Guarantee.

Limitations on the Guarantee Herbalife International (Thailand) Ltd.

Under the Exchange Control Law, to collect on the Guarantee the beneficiary must receive approval from the Bank of Thailand to remit money.

Limitation on the Guarantee by Herbalife International Luxembourg S.à.R.L. and Herbalife Luxembourg Distributions S.à.R.L.

The obligations and liabilities of any guarantor which is incorporated under the laws of Luxembourg under this guarantee shall be limited, at any time, to an aggregate
amount not exceeding ninety percent (90%) of such Guarantor’s capitaux propres where capitaux propres means such Luxembourg Guarantor’s shareholders’ equity
(including the share capital, share premium, legal and statutory reserves, other reserves, profits or losses carried forward, investment subsidies and regulated provisions) as
shown on the latest financial statements (“comptes annuels”) available at the date of the relevant payment hereunder and approved by the shareholders of the Guarantors
and certified by the statutory or the independent auditor, as the case may be.
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SECURITY AGREEMENT

          This SECURITY AGREEMENT (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, this “Agreement”), dated as of July 21, 2006, is made
by HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Nevada corporation (“Borrower”); HERBALIFE LTD., a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability
(“Holdings”); WH INTERMEDIATE HOLDINGS LTD., a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Holdings
(“Parent”); HBL LTD., a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“Cayman III”); WH LUXEMBOURG
HOLDINGS S.à.R.L., a Luxembourg corporation and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“Luxembourg Holdings”); HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL
LUXEMBOURG S.à.R.L., a Luxembourg corporation and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Luxembourg Holdings (“HIL”); HLF LUXEMBOURG HOLDINGS,
S.à.R.L., a Luxembourg corporation and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Luxembourg Holdings (“New Lux”); WH CAPITAL CORPORATION, a Nevada corporation
and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of New Lux (“WH Capital”); WH LUXEMBOURG INTERMEDIATE HOLDINGS S.à.R.L., a Luxembourg corporation and a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of WH Capital (“Luxembourg Intermediate Holdings”); HV HOLDINGS LTD., a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability and a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent ( “HV”); HERBALIFE DISTRIBUTION LTD., a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability and a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of HV ( “Cayman Distribution”); HERBALIFE LUXEMBOURG DISTRIBUTION S.à.R.L., a Luxembourg corporation and a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of HIL (“Luxembourg Distribution”); EACH OF THE SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS LISTED ON THE SIGNATURE PAGES HERETO OR FROM TIME
TO TIME BECOMING A PARTY HERETO BY EXECUTION OF A JOINDER AGREEMENT (together with Holdings, Parent, Cayman III, Luxembourg Holdings, HIL,
HIL Swiss, New Lux, WH Capital, Luxembourg Intermediate Holdings, HV, Cayman Distribution, Luxembourg Distribution and each other Subsidiary Guarantor from time
to time executing a Guarantee (defined herein) as required hereunder, the “Guarantors”), as pledgors and collateral assignors (Borrower, together with the Guarantors, in
such capacities and together with any successors in such capacities, the “Pledgors”), in favor of MERRILL LYNCH CAPITAL CORPORATION (“Merrill Lynch”), in its
capacity as collateral agent for the lending institutions from time to time party to the Credit Agreement (defined below) (such lending institutions, collectively, the “Lenders”),
as pledgee, collateral assignee and secured party (in such capacities and together with any successors in such capacities, “Collateral Agent”).

WITNESSETH:

          WHEREAS, simultaneously herewith, Borrower, certain of the Guarantors, the Lenders and Merrill Lynch, as Administrative Agent, have entered into that certain
Credit Agreement, dated as of the date hereof (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”), whereby the Lenders
have agreed to make certain Loans and to issue certain Credit Agreement L/Cs (defined below) to or for the account of Borrower;

          WHEREAS, in accordance with the Credit Agreement, it is contemplated that one or more of the Pledgors may enter into one or more Hedging Agreements with one or
more of the Lenders or their respective Affiliates;

 



 

          WHEREAS, in accordance with the Credit Agreement, each Guarantor has, among other things, guaranteed the obligations of Borrower under the Credit Agreement
and the other Loan Documents (the “Guarantees”);

          WHEREAS, each Guarantor will receive substantial benefits from the execution, delivery and performance of the Loan Documents and each is, therefore, willing to
enter into this Agreement;

          WHEREAS, each Pledgor is or will be the legal or beneficial owner of the rights in the Security Agreement Collateral (defined below) to be pledged by it hereunder;

          WHEREAS, it is a condition precedent to the obligations of the Lenders to make Loans under the Credit Agreement or to enter into Hedging Agreements, and of the
Issuing Bank to issue Credit Agreement L/Cs thereunder, that each Pledgor execute and deliver the applicable Loan Documents, including this Agreement; and

          WHEREAS, this Agreement is given by each Pledgor in favor of Collateral Agent for its benefit and the benefit of the Lenders and any of their respective Affiliates
party to any Hedging Agreement (collectively, the “Secured Parties”) to secure the payment and performance of all of the Secured Obligations (defined below).

          NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the Pledgors and Collateral Agent hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

Definitions and Interpretation; Perfection Certificate

          SECTION 1.01. Definitions.

               (a) The following capitalized terms have the meanings assigned to them in the UCC:

          “Account,” “Bank,” “Certificate of Title,” “Chattel Paper,” “Commercial Tort Claim,” “Commodity Account,” “Commodity Contract,” “Commodity
Intermediary,” “Contract,” “Document,” “Electronic Chattel Paper,” “Entitlement Holder,” “Entitlement Order,” “Equipment,” “Financial Asset,” “Fixtures,”
“General Intangible,” “Goods,” “Inventory,” “Investment Property,” “Letter-of-Credit Right,” “Letter of Credit,” “Money,” “Proceeds,” “Record,” “Securities
Entitlement,” “Securities Intermediary,” “Supporting Obligation,” and “Tangible Chattel Paper.”

               (b) Capitalized terms used in this Agreement (including the preamble and recitals hereof) but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to such terms
in the Credit Agreement. In this Agreement:

          “Agreement” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereof.

          “Borrower” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereof.
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          “Charges” mean any and all property and other taxes, assessments and special assessments, levies, fees and all governmental charges imposed on or assessed against,
and all claims (including landlords’, carriers’, mechanics’, workmen’s, repairmen’s, laborers’, materialmen’s, suppliers’ and warehousemen’s Liens and other claims arising
by operation of law) against, all or any portion of the Security Agreement Collateral.

          “Collateral Account” shall mean any account established and maintained in accordance with Article IX of the Credit Agreement, and all funds from time to time on
deposit in such account, including all Cash Equivalents, and all certificates and instruments from time to time representing or evidencing such Cash Equivalents.

          “Collateral Agent” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereof.

          “Collateral Records” means books, records, ledger cards, files, correspondence, customer lists, blueprints, technical specifications, manuals, computer software,
computer printouts, tapes, disks and related data processing software and similar items that at any time evidence or contain information relating to any of the Security
Agreement Collateral or are otherwise necessary or helpful in the collection thereof or realization thereupon.

          “Collateral Support” means all property (real or personal) assigned, hypothecated or otherwise securing any Security Agreement Collateral, including any security
agreement or other agreement granting a lien or security interest in such real or personal property.

          “Control Agreement” means an agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Collateral Agent sufficient to establish control over any applicable Investment
Property (including any Securities Account or Commodity Account) or Deposit Account.

          “Copyrights” mean, collectively, with respect to each Pledgor, all copyrights (whether statutory or common law and whether established or registered in the United
States or any other country) now owned or hereafter created or acquired by or assigned to such Pledgor, whether published or unpublished, and all copyright registrations and
applications made by such Pledgor, including the copyrights, registrations and applications listed in Section II.H of the Perfection Certificate, together with any and all
(a) rights and privileges arising under applicable law with respect to such Pledgor’s use of any copyrights, (b) reissues, renewals, continuations and extensions thereof,
(c) income, fees, royalties, damages, claims and payments now or hereafter due or payable with respect thereto, including damages and payments for past, present or future
infringements thereof, (d) rights corresponding thereto throughout the world and (e) rights to sue for past, present or future infringements thereof.

          “Credit Agreement” has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals hereof.

          “Credit Agreement L/C” has the meaning assigned to the term “Letter of Credit” in the Credit Agreement.

          “Deposit Account” means, collectively, with respect to each Pledgor, (a) all “deposit accounts” as such term is defined in the UCC and in any event shall include the
L/C Sub-Account and all accounts and sub-accounts relating to any of the foregoing accounts, and (b) all cash, funds, checks, notes and any instruments from time to time on
deposit in any of the accounts or sub-accounts described in clause (a) of this definition.
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          “Distributions” mean, collectively, with respect to each Pledgor, all dividends, cash, options, warrants, rights, instruments, distributions, returns of capital or principal,
income, interest, profits and other property, interests (debt or equity) or proceeds, including as a result of a split, revision, reclassification or other like change of the Pledged
Equity Interests, from time to time received, receivable or otherwise distributed to such Pledgor in respect of or in exchange for any or all of the Pledged Equity Interests or
Pledged Intercompany Debt.

          “Documents Evidencing Goods” means all Documents evidencing, representing or issued in connection with Goods.

          “Guarantee” has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals hereof.

          “Guarantor” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereof.

          “Indemnified Liabilities” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 7.04(a).

          “Indemnitees” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 7.04(a).

          “Instruments” mean, collectively, with respect to each Pledgor, all “instruments,” as such term is defined in Article 9, rather than Article 3, of the UCC to the extent
such instruments evidence any amounts payable under or in connection with any item of Security Agreement Collateral or such instruments constitute Proceeds of any item of
Security Agreement Collateral, and in any event shall include all promissory notes, drafts, bills of exchange or acceptances.

          “Insurance” means all insurance policies covering any or all of the Security Agreement Collateral (regardless of whether Collateral Agent is the loss payee thereof),
and all key-man life insurance policies.

          “Intellectual Property” means, collectively, with respect to each Pledgor, (a) all Patents, (b) all Trademarks, (c) all Copyrights, (d) all Licenses and (e) the goodwill
connected with such Pledgor’s business including (i) all goodwill connected with the use of and symbolized by any of the Intellectual Property in which such Pledgor has any
interest and (ii) all know-how, trade secrets, customer and supplier lists, proprietary information, inventions, methods, procedures, formulae, descriptions, compositions,
technical data, drawings, specifications, name plates, catalogs, confidential information and the right to limit the use or disclosure thereof by any person or entity, pricing and
cost information, business and marketing plans and proposals, consulting agreements, engineering contracts and such other assets that relate to such goodwill.

          “Intercompany Indebtedness” means Indebtedness (whether or not evidenced by a writing) of any Company (including any Pledgor) payable to a Pledgor.

          “Issuer” means any issuer of any Pledged Equity Interests.

          “Lenders” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereof.

          “Licenses” mean, collectively, with respect to each Pledgor, all license and distribution agreements, covenants not to sue or any other agreement with any other party
with respect to any Patent, Trademark or Copyright, whether such Pledgor is a licensor or licensee, distributor or distributee under any such license or distribution agreement,
together with any and
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all (a) renewals, extensions, supplements and continuations thereof; (b) income, fees, royalties, damages, claims and payments now and hereafter due or payable thereunder
and with respect thereto, including damages and payments for past, present or future infringements or violations thereof; (c) rights to sue for past, present and future
infringements or violations thereof; and (d) any other rights to use, exploit or practice any or all of the Patents, Trademarks or Copyrights.

          “Material Contract” means any Contract or other arrangement that any Pledgor is a party to and for which breach, nonperformance, cancellation or failure to renew
could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each agreement set forth in Schedule 3.08 of the Credit Agreement shall
constitute a Material Contract.

          “Non-payment Contract” means any Contract or agreement to which any Pledgor is a party other than a contract whereby the account debtor’s principal obligation is a
monetary obligation; provided that, Non-payment Contracts shall not include Receivables.

          “Operative Agreement” means (a) in the case of any limited liability company or partnership or other noncorporate entity, any membership or partnership agreement
or other organizational agreement or document thereof and (b) in the case of any corporation, any charter or certificate of incorporation and bylaws thereof.

          “Patents” mean, collectively, with respect to each Pledgor, all patents issued or assigned to and all patent applications made by such Pledgor (whether established or
registered or recorded in the United States or any other country), including the patents, patent applications and recordings listed in Section II.H of the Perfection Certificate,
together with any and all (a) rights and privileges arising under applicable law with respect to such Pledgor’s use of any patents; (b) inventions and improvements described
and claimed therein; (c) reissues, divisions, continuations, renewals, extensions and continuations-in-part thereof; (d) income, fees, royalties, damages, claims and payments
now or hereafter due or payable thereunder and with respect thereto including damages and payments for past, present or future infringements thereof; (e) rights corresponding
thereto throughout the world; and (f) rights to sue for past, present or future infringements thereof.

          “Pledged Equity Interests” mean, collectively, with respect to each Pledgor, (a) the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of each person; and (b) all rights,
privileges, authority and powers of such Pledgor in and to each such person or under the Operative Agreements of each such person, and the certificates, instruments and
agreements representing the Pledged Equity Interests and any and all interest of such Pledgor in the entries on the books of any financial intermediary pertaining to the
Pledged Equity Interests, it being understood that, subject to Section 5.11 of the Credit Agreement, Pledged Equity Interests do not include any Equity Interests in excess of
66.0% of the Equity Interests of any Non-Guarantor Subsidiary, provided that, such Non-Guarantor Subsidiary is also a Foreign Subsidiary.

          “Pledged Intercompany Debt” means, with respect to each Pledgor, all Intercompany Indebtedness payable to such Pledgor by any Company (and each other
intercompany note hereafter acquired by such Pledgor) and all Intercompany Notes, certificates, Instruments or agreements evidencing such Intercompany Indebtedness, and
all assignments, amendments, restatements, supplements, extensions, renewals, replacements or modifications thereof.

          “Pledgor” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereof.
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          “Receivables” means all rights to payment, whether or not earned by performance, for Goods or other property sold, leased, licensed, assigned or otherwise disposed of,
or services rendered or to be rendered, including all such rights constituting or evidenced by any Account, Chattel Paper, Instrument, General Intangible or Investment
Related Property, together with all rights, if any, in any Goods or other property giving rise to such right to payment and all Collateral Support and Supporting Obligations
related thereto and all Accounts, Chattel Paper, General Intangibles, Instruments and Receivables Records.

          “Receivables Records” means (a) all original copies of all documents, instruments or other writings or electronic records or other Records evidencing the Receivables;
(b) all books, correspondence, credit or other files, Records, ledger sheets or cards, invoices, and other papers relating to Receivables, including all tapes, cards, computer
tapes, computer discs, computer runs, record keeping systems and other papers and documents relating to the Receivables, whether in the possession or under the control of the
Company or any computer bureau or agent from time to time acting for the Company or otherwise; (c) all evidences of the filing of financing statements and the registration of
other instruments in connection therewith, and amendments, supplements or other modifications thereto, notices to other creditors or secured parties, and certificates,
acknowledgments, or other writings, including lien-search reports, from filing or other registration officers; (d) all credit information, reports and memoranda relating thereto;
and (e) all other written or nonwritten forms of information related in any way to the foregoing.

          “Secured Obligations” mean all obligations (whether or not constituting future advances, obligatory or otherwise) of Borrower and all of the Guarantors from time to
time arising under or in respect of this Agreement, the Credit Agreement, the Notes (if any), the Guarantee, the Credit Agreement L/Cs, the other Loan Documents and all
Hedging Agreements entered into with any Lender (including the obligations to pay principal, interest and all other charges, fees, expenses, commissions, reimbursements,
premiums, indemnities and other payments related to or in respect of the obligations contained in this Agreement, the Credit Agreement, the Notes (if any), the Guarantee, the
Credit Agreement L/Cs, the other Loan Documents and all Hedging Agreements entered into with any Lender), in each case whether (a) such obligations are direct or indirect,
secured or unsecured, joint or several, absolute or contingent, reduced to judgment or not, liquidated or unliquidated, disputed or undisputed, legal or equitable, due or to
become due whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise; (b) arising in the regular course of business or otherwise; (c) for payment or performance; (d) discharged,
stayed or otherwise affected by any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar proceeding with respect to any Loan Party or any other person; or (e) now existing or
hereafter arising (including interest and other obligations arising or accruing after the commencement of any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar proceeding
with respect to any Loan Party or any other person, or that would have arisen or accrued but for the commencement of such proceeding, even if such obligation or the claim
therefor is not enforceable or allowable in such proceeding).

          “Secured Parties” has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals hereof.

          “Securities Account” has the meaning assigned to such term in the UCC; provided that, the Collateral Account shall be treated as a Securities Account.

          “Securities Collateral” means, collectively, the Pledged Equity Interests, the Pledged Intercompany Debt and the Distributions.
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          “Security Agreement Collateral” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.01.

          “Software Embedded in Goods” means, with respect to any Goods, any computer program embedded in such Goods and any supporting information provided in
connection with a transaction relating to such program if (a) the program is customarily considered part of such Goods or (b) by becoming the owner of such Goods a person
acquires a right to use such program in connection therewith.

          “Trademarks” mean, collectively, with respect to each Pledgor, all trademarks (including service marks), slogans, logos, certification marks, domain names, trade
dress, corporate names and trade names, whether registered or unregistered, owned by or assigned to such Pledgor and all registrations and applications for the foregoing
(whether statutory or common law and whether established or registered in the United States or any other country) including the registrations and applications listed in
Section II.H of the Perfection Certificate, together with any and all (a) rights and privileges arising under applicable law with respect to such Pledgor’s use of any trademarks;
(b) reissues, continuations, extensions and renewals thereof; (c) income, fees, royalties, damages and payments now and hereafter due or payable thereunder and with respect
thereto, including damages, claims and payments for past, present or future infringements thereof; (d) rights corresponding thereto throughout the world; and (e) rights to sue
for past, present and future infringements thereof.

          “UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect from time to time in the State of New York; provided that, if by reason of mandatory provisions of law, the
perfection or the effect of perfection or nonperfection of the security interest in any item or portion of the Security Agreement Collateral is governed by the Uniform
Commercial Code as in effect in a jurisdiction other than the State of New York, “UCC” also means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in such other jurisdiction for
purposes of the provisions hereof relating to such perfection or effect of perfection or nonperfection.

          SECTION 1.02. Interpretation. The rules of interpretation specified in the Credit Agreement, including Sections 1.03 and 11.11 thereof, shall be applicable to this
Agreement. If any conflict or inconsistency exists between this Agreement and the Credit Agreement, the Credit Agreement shall govern.

          SECTION 1.03. Perfection Certificate. Collateral Agent and each Loan Party agree that the Perfection Certificate and all descriptions of Security Agreement
Collateral, schedules, amendments and supplements thereto are and shall at all times remain a part of this Agreement.

ARTICLE II

Grant of Security and Secured Obligations

          SECTION 2.01. Pledge. As collateral security for the payment and performance in full of all the Secured Obligations, each Pledgor hereby grants to Collateral Agent,
for its benefit and for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a security interest in and continuing lien on all personal property of such Pledgor, including all of such Pledgor’s right,
title and interest in, to and under all of the following property, wherever located, whether now
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owned or existing, or hereafter arising or acquired from time to time (collectively, the “Security Agreement Collateral”):

               (i) all Accounts;

               (ii) all Chattel Paper;

                (iii) all Commercial Tort Claims;

                (iv) all Deposit Accounts;

               (v) all Documents;

               (vi) all General Intangibles;

               (vii) all Goods (including, in any event, Equipment, Fixtures, Inventory, Documents Evidencing Goods and Software Embedded in Goods);

               (viii) all Instruments;

               (ix) all Insurance;

               (x) all Intellectual Property;

               (xi) all Investment Property and Financial Assets;

               (xii) all Letters of Credit and Letter-of-Credit Rights;

               (xiii) all Material Contracts and Non-payment Contracts;

               (xiv) all Money;

               (xv) all Receivables;

               (xvi) all Securities Collateral;

               (xvii) all books and Records relating to any and/or all of the foregoing;

               (xviii) to the extent not otherwise included above, all Collateral Records, Collateral Support and Supporting Obligations relating to any and/or all of the foregoing;
and

               (xix) to the extent not otherwise included above, all other personal property and all Proceeds and products of, accessions and additions to, profits and rents from, and
replacements for or in respect of any of the foregoing;

it being understood that, subject to the other provisions hereof and of the Credit Agreement, the foregoing grant of a security interest shall not diminish any Pledgor’s

8



 

exclusive right and license to use, or grant to other persons license or sublicenses in, the Intellectual Property.

          SECTION 2.02. Certain Limited Exclusions. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in no event shall the security interest granted under Section 2.01(a)
attach to, and the Security Agreement Collateral shall not include:

               (a) any agreement to which any Pledgor is a party to the extent that the collateral assignment thereof or the creation of a security interest therein would constitute a
breach of the terms of such agreement, or would permit any party to such agreement to terminate such agreement, in each case as entered into by the applicable Pledgor;
provided that, any of the agreements excluded in accordance with the foregoing shall cease to be so excluded (x) to the extent such term is, or would be (in the case of after-
acquired property or changes to applicable law), rendered ineffective under Sections 9-406, 9-407, 9-408 or 9-409 of the UCC of any relevant jurisdiction (or any successor
provision) or any other applicable law (including the Bankruptcy Code) or principles of equity; or (y) if the applicable Pledgor has obtained all of the consents of the other
parties to such agreement necessary for the collateral assignment of, or creation of a security interest in, such agreement;

               (b) any property or asset hereafter acquired by any Pledgor that is subject to a Lien permitted to be incurred pursuant to Sections 6.02(g), (h), (i) and (k) of the Credit
Agreement, solely to the extent that the documents evidencing such Lien prohibit the grant of a security interest in or Lien on such property or asset; provided that, upon such
property or asset no longer being subject to such Lien or prohibition, such property or asset shall (without any act or delivery by any person) constitute Security Agreement
Collateral hereunder;

               (c) subject to Section 5.11 of the Credit Agreement, no more than 66.0% of the Equity Interests of Parent, Cayman III, Luxembourg Holdings, HIL, HV or any Non-
Guarantor Subsidiary, provided that, such Non-Guarantor Subsidiary is also a Foreign Subsidiary; or

               (d) the Equity Interests of the Designated Subsidiaries.

Collateral Agent agrees that, at any Pledgor’s reasonable request and expense, it will provide such Pledgor confirmation that the assets described in this Section 2.02 are in
fact excluded from the Security Agreement Collateral.

          SECTION 2.03. Secured Obligations; Continuing Liability.

               (a) Security for Obligations. This Agreement secures, and the Security Agreement Collateral is collateral security for, the payment and performance in full when
due of all the Secured Obligations.

               (b) Continuing Liability under Security Agreement Collateral. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (i) each Pledgor shall remain liable under each
of the obligations and agreements included in the Security Agreement Collateral, including any obligations or agreements relating to any Pledged Equity Interests, to perform
all of the obligations undertaken by it thereunder, all in accordance with the terms and provisions thereof, and neither Collateral Agent nor any Secured Party shall have any
obligation or liability (x) under any of such agreements by reason of this Agreement or any other document relating hereto, or (y) to make any inquiry regarding the nature or
sufficiency of any payment received by it, or have
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any obligation to take any action to collect or enforce any rights under any agreement included in the Security Agreement Collateral, including any agreements relating to any
Pledged Equity Interests; (ii) the exercise by Collateral Agent of any of its rights hereunder shall not release any Pledgor from any of its duties or obligations under the
contracts and agreements included in the Security Agreement Collateral; and (iii) nothing herein is intended to or shall be a delegation of duties to Collateral Agent or any
other Secured Party.

ARTICLE III

Perfection; Supplements; Further Assurances; Use of Security Agreement Collateral

          SECTION 3.01. Delivery of Certificated Securities Collateral. All certificates, agreements or instruments representing or evidencing the Securities Collateral, to the
extent not previously delivered to Collateral Agent, shall promptly upon receipt thereof by any Pledgor be delivered to and held by or on behalf of Collateral Agent pursuant
hereto. All certificated Securities Collateral shall be in suitable form for transfer by delivery or shall be accompanied by duly executed instruments of transfer or assignment
in blank, all in form and substance satisfactory to Collateral Agent. Collateral Agent shall have the right, at any time upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any
Event of Default, to endorse, assign or otherwise transfer to or to register in the name of Collateral Agent or any of its nominees or endorse for negotiation any or all of the
Securities Collateral, without any indication that such Securities Collateral is subject to the security interest hereunder. In addition, Collateral Agent shall have the right, at any
time upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, to exchange certificates representing or evidencing Securities Collateral for certificates of
smaller or larger denominations.

          SECTION 3.02. Perfection of Uncertificated Securities Collateral. If any Issuer of Pledged Equity Interests is organized in a jurisdiction that does not permit the use
of certificates to evidence equity ownership, or if any of the Pledged Equity Interests are at any time not evidenced by certificates of ownership, then each applicable Pledgor
shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law, record such pledge on the equityholder register or the books of the Issuer, cause the Issuer to execute and deliver to Collateral
Agent an acknowledgment of the pledge of such Pledged Equity Interests substantially in the form of Exhibit A annexed hereto and, upon Collateral Agent’s request therefor,
execute any customary pledge forms or other documents necessary or appropriate to complete the pledge and give Collateral Agent the right to transfer such Pledged Equity
Interests under the terms hereof and provide to Collateral Agent an opinion of counsel, in form and substance satisfactory to Collateral Agent, confirming such pledge and
perfection thereof; provided that there shall be no obligation to deliver, or cause to be delivered, any such documentation (other than an acknowledgment of the pledge) to the
extent the Issuer is organized in a jurisdiction other than the United States, Cayman Islands, Luxembourg, England and Wales, Japan, Mexico, Switzerland or any political
subdivision of any thereof).

          SECTION 3.03. Financing Statements and Other Filings. Each Pledgor agrees that at any time and from time to time, at the sole cost and expense of the Pledgors, it
will execute and file and refile (in accordance with Section 3.04), or permit Collateral Agent to file and refile, such financing statements, continuation statements and other
documents (including this Agreement), in form acceptable to Collateral Agent, in such offices (including the United States Patent and Trademark Office and the United States
Copyright Office) as Collateral Agent may deem necessary or appropriate, wherever required by law to perfect, continue and

10



 

maintain a valid, enforceable, first-priority security interest in the Security Agreement Collateral as provided herein and to preserve the other rights and interests granted to
Collateral Agent hereunder, as against third parties, with respect to any Security Agreement Collateral.

          SECTION 3.04. Other Actions. To further ensure the attachment, perfection and priority of, and the ability of Collateral Agent to enforce, Collateral Agent’s security
interest in the Security Agreement Collateral, each Pledgor acknowledges and agrees as follows:

               (a) UCC Financing Statements. Each Pledgor hereby irrevocably authorizes Collateral Agent at any time and from time to time to file in any relevant jurisdiction
any financing statements (including fixture filings), continuation statements, and amendments thereto that contain the information required by Article 9 of the UCC of each
applicable jurisdiction for the filing of any financing statement or amendment, including (i) whether the Pledgor is an organization, the type of organization and any
organizational identification number issued to such Pledgor and (ii) in the case of a financing statement filed as a fixture filing, a sufficient description of the real property to
which such Security Agreement Collateral relates. The Pledgor agrees to provide such information to Collateral Agent promptly upon request. Such financing statements or
amendments may describe the Security Agreement Collateral as “all assets” or “all personal property, whether now owned or hereafter acquired,” or in any other manner that
Collateral Agent, in its sole discretion, deems necessary, advisable or prudent to ensure the perfection of the security interests granted hereunder. Each Pledgor hereby ratifies
its authorization for Collateral Agent to file in any relevant jurisdiction any financing statements or amendments thereto if filed prior to the date hereof.

               (b) Intellectual Property Filings. Each Pledgor hereby irrevocably authorizes Collateral Agent to file documents with the United States Patent and Trademark
Office or United States Copyright Office (or any successor office or any similar office in any other country) for the purpose of perfecting, confirming, continuing, enforcing or
protecting the security interest granted by each Pledgor hereunder and naming any Pledgor or the Pledgors as debtors and Collateral Agent for its benefit and the benefit of the
Lenders as secured party.

               (c) Instruments and Tangible Chattel Paper. If any amount payable under or in connection with any of the Security Agreement Collateral shall be evidenced by
any Instrument or Tangible Chattel Paper, the Pledgor acquiring such Instrument or Tangible Chattel Paper shall contemporaneously with the delivery of financial statements
in accordance with Section 5.01(a) or (b) of the Credit Agreement endorse, assign and deliver the same to Collateral Agent, accompanied by such instruments of transfer or
assignment duly executed in blank as Collateral Agent may from time to time specify.

               (d) Deposit Accounts. Each Pledgor shall notify Collateral Agent of any new Deposit Account such Pledgor has opened contemporaneously with the delivery of
financial statements in accordance with Section 5.01(a) or (b) of the Credit Agreement and solely in the case of Deposit Accounts maintained in the United States of America
(unless waived in writing by Collateral Agent in its sole discretion) either (i) pursuant to a Control Agreement cause the depository Bank to agree to comply at any time with
instructions from Collateral Agent to such depository Bank directing the disposition of funds from time to time credited to such Deposit Account, without further consent of
such Pledgor or any other person, or (ii) arrange for Collateral Agent to become the customer of the Bank with respect to the Deposit Account, with the Pledgor being
permitted, so long as no Default or Event of Default exists and is continuing, to exercise rights to withdraw funds from such Deposit Account pursuant to an agreement in
form
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and substance satisfactory to Collateral Agent. The preceding sentence shall not apply to Deposit Accounts for which Collateral Agent is the depository. Each Pledgor
represents and warrants to Collateral Agent that, as of the date hereof, it maintains no Deposit Accounts other than (i) those set forth in the Perfection Certificate or (ii) those
for which the applicable Pledgor has provided notice thereof to Collateral Agent pursuant to the preceding sentence.

               (e) Investment Property.

                    (i) If any Pledgor shall at any time hold or acquire any certificated securities constituting Investment Property, such Pledgor shall contemporaneously with the
delivery of financial statements in accordance with Section 5.01(a) or (b) of the Credit Agreement endorse, assign and deliver the same to Collateral Agent, accompanied by
such instruments of transfer or assignment duly executed in blank, all in form and substance satisfactory to Collateral Agent. If any securities now or hereafter acquired by any
Pledgor constituting Investment Property are uncertificated and are issued to such Pledgor or its nominee directly by the issuer thereof, such Pledgor shall contemporaneously
with the delivery of financial statements in accordance with Section 5.01(a) or (b) of the Credit Agreement notify Collateral Agent thereof and such Pledgor shall either (A)
pursuant to a Control Agreement cause the issuer to agree to comply with instructions from Collateral Agent as to such securities, without further consent of any Pledgor, such
nominee or any other person, or (B) arrange for Collateral Agent to become the registered owner of the securities. If any securities constituting Investment Property, whether
certificated or uncertificated, or other Investment Property now or hereafter acquired by any Pledgor is held by such Pledgor or its nominee through a Securities Intermediary
or Commodity Intermediary, such Pledgor shall contemporaneously with the delivery of financial statements in accordance with Section 5.01(a) or (b) of the Credit
Agreement notify Collateral Agent thereof and, unless waived in writing by Collateral Agent in its sole discretion, either (A) pursuant to a Control Agreement cause such
Securities Intermediary or Commodity Intermediary, as the case may be, to agree to comply with Entitlement Orders or other instructions from Collateral Agent to such
Securities Intermediary as to such securities or other Investment Property, or to apply any value distributed on account of any Commodity Contract as directed by Collateral
Agent to such Commodity Intermediary, as the case may be, in each case without further consent of any Pledgor, such nominee or any other person, or (B) in the case of
Financial Assets constituting Investment Property or other Investment Property held through a Securities Intermediary, arrange for Collateral Agent to become the Entitlement
Holder with respect to such Investment Property, with the Pledgor being permitted, so long as no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, to exercise rights
to withdraw or otherwise deal with such Investment Property pursuant to an agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Collateral Agent. The preceding sentence shall
not apply to any Financial Assets credited to a Securities Account for which Collateral Agent is the Securities Intermediary. Each Pledgor represents and warrants to Collateral
Agent that, as of the date hereof, such Pledgor maintains no Securities Accounts or Commodity Accounts with any Securities Intermediary or Commodity Intermediary other
than (i) as set forth in Section II.E of the Perfection Certificate or (ii) those for which the applicable Pledgor has provided notice thereof to Collateral Agent pursuant to the
preceding sentence.
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               (ii) As between Collateral Agent and the Pledgors, the Pledgors shall bear the investment risk with respect to the Investment Property, and the risk of loss of,
damage to, or the destruction of the Investment Property, whether in the possession of, or maintained as a Security Entitlement by, or subject to the control of, Collateral
Agent, a Securities Intermediary, Commodities Intermediary, the Pledgor or any other person; provided that, nothing contained in this Section 3.04(e)(ii) shall release or
relieve any Securities Intermediary or Commodities Intermediary of its duties and obligations to the Pledgors or any other person under any Control Agreement or under
applicable law. Each Pledgor shall promptly pay all Charges and fees of whatever kind or nature with respect to the Investment Property pledged by it or this Agreement. In
the event any Pledgor shall fail to make such payment contemplated in the immediately preceding sentence, Collateral Agent may do so for the account of such Pledgor
and the Pledgors shall promptly reimburse and indemnify Collateral Agent from all costs and expenses incurred by Collateral Agent under this Section 3.04(e)(ii) in
accordance with Section 7.03.

               (f) Electronic Chattel Paper and Transferable Records. If any amount payable under or in connection with any of the Security Agreement Collateral shall be
evidenced by any Electronic Chattel Paper or any “transferable record,” as that term is defined in Section 201 of the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National
Commerce Act, or in Section 16 of the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act as in effect in any relevant jurisdiction, the Pledgor acquiring such Electronic Chattel Paper or
transferable record shall promptly notify Collateral Agent thereof and, at the request of Collateral Agent, shall take such action as Collateral Agent may request to vest in
Collateral Agent control under UCC Section 9-105 of such Electronic Chattel Paper or control under Section 201 of the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National
Commerce Act or, as the case may be, Section 16 of the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, as so in effect in such jurisdiction, of such transferable record. Collateral Agent
agrees with such Pledgor that Collateral Agent will arrange, pursuant to procedures satisfactory to Collateral Agent and so long as such procedures will not result in Collateral
Agent’s loss of control, for the Pledgor to make alterations to the Electronic Chattel Paper or transferable record permitted under UCC Section 9-105 or, as the case may be,
Section 201 of the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act of Section 16 of the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act for a party in control to
allow without loss of control, unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would occur after taking into account any action by such Pledgor with respect to
such Electronic Chattel Paper or transferable record.

               (g) Letter-of-Credit Rights. If any Pledgor is at any time a beneficiary under a Letter of Credit in excess of $1.0 million now or hereafter issued in favor of such
Pledgor, such Pledgor shall contemporaneously with the delivery of financial statements in accordance with Section 5.01(a) or (b) of the Credit Agreement notify Collateral
Agent thereof and, at the request of Collateral Agent, such Pledgor shall, pursuant to an agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Collateral Agent, either (i) arrange for
the issuer and any confirmer of such Letter of Credit to consent to an assignment to Collateral Agent of the proceeds of any drawing under the Letter of Credit or (ii) arrange
for Collateral Agent to become the transferee beneficiary of the Letter of Credit.

               (h) Commercial Tort Claims. If any Pledgor shall at any time hold or acquire a Commercial Tort Claim relating to any of the Security Agreement Collateral and
such Pledgor, in the exercise of its reasonable business judgment, elects to pursue such commercial tort claim, such Pledgor shall contemporaneously with the delivery of
financial
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statements in accordance with Section 5.01(a) or (b) of the Credit Agreement notify Collateral Agent in writing signed by such Pledgor of the brief details thereof and grant to
Collateral Agent in such writing a security interest therein and in the Proceeds thereof, all in accordance with this Agreement, with such writing to be in form and substance
satisfactory to Collateral Agent.

          SECTION 3.05. Supplements; Further Assurances.

               (a) The Pledgors shall cause each person that, from time to time after the date hereof, shall be required to pledge any assets to Collateral Agent for the benefit of the
Secured Parties pursuant to the provisions of the Credit Agreement, to execute and deliver to Collateral Agent a Joinder Agreement and, upon such execution and delivery,
such person shall constitute a “Guarantor” and a “Pledgor” for all purposes hereunder with the same force and effect as if originally named as a Guarantor and Pledgor herein.
The execution and delivery of such Joinder Agreement shall not require the consent of any Pledgor hereunder. The rights and obligations of each Pledgor hereunder shall
remain in full force and effect notwithstanding the addition of any new Guarantor and Pledgor as a party to this Agreement.

               (b) Upon obtaining any Pledged Equity Interests or Pledged Intercompany Debt of any person, each Pledgor shall accept the same in trust for the benefit of Collateral
Agent and contemporaneously with the delivery of financial statements in accordance with Section 5.01(a) or (b) of the Credit Agreement deliver to Collateral Agent the
certificates and other documents required under this Article III in respect of the additional Pledged Equity Interests, Pledged Intercompany Debt or other possessory Security
Agreement Collateral that is to be pledged pursuant to this Agreement, and confirming the attachment of the Lien hereby created on and in respect of such additional Pledged
Equity Interests or Pledged Intercompany Debt.

               (c) Each Pledgor agrees to take such further actions, and to execute and deliver to Collateral Agent such additional assignments, agreements, supplements, powers
and instruments, as Collateral Agent may in its reasonable judgment deem necessary or appropriate, to perfect, preserve and protect the security interest in the Security
Agreement Collateral as provided herein and the rights and interests granted to Collateral Agent hereunder, to carry into effect the purposes hereof or to better assure and
confirm unto Collateral Agent or permit Collateral Agent to exercise and enforce its rights, powers and remedies hereunder with respect to any Security Agreement Collateral.
By way of example, such actions may include appearing in and defending any action or proceeding, at Collateral Agent’s request, that may affect such Pledgor’s title to or
Collateral Agent’s security interest in all or any part of the Security Agreement Collateral. Upon the reasonable request of Collateral Agent, each Pledgor shall further make,
execute, endorse, acknowledge, file or refile or deliver to Collateral Agent from time to time such lists, descriptions and designations of the Security Agreement Collateral,
copies of warehouse receipts, receipts in the nature of warehouse receipts, bills of lading, documents of title, vouchers, invoices, schedules, confirmatory assignments,
supplements, additional security agreements, conveyances, financing statements, transfer endorsements, powers of attorney, certificates, reports and other assurances or
instruments. If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, Collateral Agent may institute and maintain, in its own name or in the name of any Pledgor, such suits and
proceedings as Collateral Agent deems necessary or expedient to prevent any impairment of the security interest in or the perfection thereof in the Security Agreement
Collateral. All of the foregoing shall be at the sole cost and expense of the Pledgors.

               (d) For the avoidance of doubt, the Pledgors and Collateral Agent acknowledge that this Agreement is intended to grant to Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the
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Secured Parties, a security interest in and continuing Lien on the Security Agreement Collateral, and does not constitute a present assignment of ownership rights, a transfer of
ownership or title to any Security Agreement Collateral, except as otherwise provided herein following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default.
Unless an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, Collateral Agent agrees from time to time to deliver, upon written request of any Pledgor and at such
Pledgor’s sole cost and expense (including reasonable expenses of counsel to, among other things, review the effect thereof on Collateral Agent’s security interest granted
hereunder), any and all instruments, certificates or other documents, in a form reasonably requested by such Pledgor, necessary or appropriate in the reasonable judgment of
such Pledgor to enable such Pledgor to continue to exploit, license, use and protect the Security Agreement Collateral in accordance with the terms hereof and of the Credit
Agreement.

ARTICLE IV

Representations, Warranties and Covenants

Each Pledgor represents, warrants and covenants as follows:

          SECTION 4.01. Title. Except for the security interest granted to Collateral Agent for its benefit and for the benefit of the Secured Parties pursuant to this Agreement
and Permitted Liens, such Pledgor owns the rights in each item of Security Agreement Collateral pledged by it hereunder, and with regard to each item of Security Agreement
Collateral now existing or hereafter acquired, will continue to own or have such rights, in each case free and clear of any and all Liens or claims of others. No effective
financing statement or other public notice with respect to all or any part of the Security Agreement Collateral is on file or of record in any public office, except such as have
been filed in favor of Collateral Agent pursuant to this Agreement, are permitted by the Credit Agreement, or for which proper termination statements or other release
documentation have been (or, in the case of financing statements or other public notices filed in connection with the Existing Credit Agreement, will be) delivered to
Collateral Agent for filing. No person other than Collateral Agent has control or possession of all or any part of the Security Agreement Collateral, except as permitted hereby
or by the Credit Agreement.

          SECTION 4.02. Organization; Authority; Enforceability. Such Pledgor (a) is duly organized or incorporated and validly existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of
its organization or incorporation, (b) has all requisite power and authority enter into this Agreement and to carry out the obligations hereunder, and (c) has duly executed and
delivered this Agreement. This Agreement and each other document, statement, or instrument relating hereto, when executed and delivered by such Pledgor, will constitute, a
legal, valid and binding obligation of such Pledgor, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or
other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

          SECTION 4.03. Authorizations and Approvals. No authorization, approval or other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any Governmental Authority is
required for either (i) the pledge or grant by such Pledgor of the Liens purported to be created in favor of Collateral Agent hereunder, or (ii) the exercise by Collateral Agent of
any rights or remedies in respect of any Security Agreement Collateral, in each case except for the filings and registrations contemplated under the Security Documents and as
may be required in connection
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with the disposition of any Securities Collateral (by laws generally affecting the offering and sale of securities) or by laws pertaining to Intellectual Property.

          SECTION 4.04. Reserved.

          SECTION 4.05. Limitation on Liens. Such Pledgor shall, at its own cost and expense, defend title to the Security Agreement Collateral pledged by it hereunder and
the security interest therein and Lien thereon granted to Collateral Agent and the priority thereof against all claims and demands of all persons, at its own cost and expense, at
any time claiming (except to the extent related to a Permitted Lien) any interest therein adverse to Collateral Agent or any other Secured Party.

          SECTION 4.06. Other Financing Statements. So long as any of the Secured Obligations remain unpaid, or the Commitments of the Lenders to make any Loan or to
issue any Credit Agreement L/Cs shall not have expired or been sooner terminated, such Pledgor shall not execute, authorize or permit to be filed in any public office any
financing statement (or similar statement or instrument of registration under the law of any jurisdiction) or statements relating to any Security Agreement Collateral, except, in
each case, financing statements filed or to be filed in respect of and covering the security interests granted by such Pledgor to the holder of Permitted Liens.

          SECTION 4.07. Chief Executive Office; Change of Name; Jurisdiction of Organization.

               (a) Such Pledgor’s exact legal name, type and jurisdiction of organization or incorporation, federal taxpayer and organizational identification numbers of such
Pledgor (if applicable) is set forth in the Perfection Certificate, and its chief executive office is set forth in the Perfection Certificate. Such Pledgor shall not (a) change its
corporate name, (b) change its identity or type of organization or corporate structure, or (c) change its federal taxpayer identification number or organizational identification
number (including by merging with or into any other entity, reorganizing, dissolving, liquidating, reincorporating or incorporating in any other jurisdiction) unless (A) it shall
have given Collateral Agent not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of its intention so to do, clearly describing such change and providing such other information in
connection therewith as Collateral Agent may request, and (B) with respect to such change, such Pledgor shall have taken all action that Collateral Agent deems necessary or
desirable to maintain the perfection and priority of the security interest of Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties in the Security Agreement Collateral intended
to be granted hereby. Each Pledgor agrees to promptly provide Collateral Agent with certified organizational documents reflecting any of the changes described in the
preceding sentence.

               (b) Such Pledgor agrees to maintain, at its own cost and expense, such complete and accurate records with respect to the Security Agreement Collateral owned by it
as is consistent with its current practices and in accordance with such prudent and standard practices used in industries that are the same as or similar to those in which such
Pledgor is engaged, but in any event to include complete accounting records as required by the Credit Agreement, and, at such time or times as Collateral Agent may request,
promptly to prepare and deliver to Collateral Agent a duly certified schedule or schedules in form and detail satisfactory to Collateral Agent showing in summary form the
identity, amount and location of any and all Security Agreement Collateral (except Security Agreement Collateral in the possession or control of Collateral Agent).
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               (c) Contemporaneously with the delivery of financial statements in accordance with Section 5.01(a) or (b) of the Credit Agreement, the Pledgors shall notify
Collateral Agent in writing (certified by an officer of the applicable Pledgor) of each location where Security Agreement Collateral is maintained, which notification may take
the form of supplementing or restating prior notifications.

          SECTION 4.08. Certain Provisions Concerning Securities Collateral.

               (a) Such Pledgor has delivered to Collateral Agent true, correct and complete copies of the Operative Agreements, which are in full force and effect and have not as
of the date hereof been amended or modified except as permitted by the Credit Agreement. Such Pledgor shall deliver to Collateral Agent a copy of any notice of default given
or received by it under any Operative Agreement within ten days after such Pledgor gives or receives such notice.

               (b) Such Pledgor is not in default in the payment of any portion of any mandatory capital contribution, if any, required to be made under any agreement to which
such Pledgor is a party relating to the Pledged Equity Interests pledged by it, and such Pledgor is not in violation of any other provisions of any such agreement to which such
Pledgor is a party, or otherwise in default or violation thereunder, except where such default or noncompliance, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. No Securities Collateral pledged by such Pledgor is subject to any defense, offset or counterclaim, nor have any of the foregoing
been asserted or alleged against such Pledgor by any person with respect thereto, and as of the date hereof, there are no certificates, instruments, documents or other writings
(other than the Operative Agreements and certificates, if any, delivered to Collateral Agent) that evidence any Pledged Equity Interests of such Pledgor.

               (c) So long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing (and Borrower or such Pledgor has not received written notice relating to such Event of
Default from Collateral Agent):

               (i) Such Pledgor shall be entitled to exercise any and all voting and other consensual rights pertaining to the Securities Collateral or any part thereof for any
purpose not inconsistent with the terms or purposes hereof, the Credit Agreement, or any other Loan Document evidencing the Secured Obligations; provided that, such
Pledgor shall not in any event exercise such rights in any manner that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the value of the Security
Agreement Collateral or the Lien and security interest intended to be granted to Collateral Agent hereunder;

               (ii) Such Pledgor shall be entitled to receive and retain, and to utilize free and clear of the Lien hereof, any and all Distributions, but only if and to the extent made
in accordance with the provisions of the Credit Agreement; provided that, any and all such Distributions consisting of rights or interests in the form of certificated
securities shall be delivered to Collateral Agent to hold as Security Agreement Collateral and shall, if received by such Pledgor, be received in trust for the benefit of
Collateral Agent, be segregated from the other property or funds of such Pledgor and be delivered to Collateral Agent as Security Agreement Collateral in the same form
as so received (with any necessary endorsement), in each case as and when required pursuant to Article III hereof; and
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               (iii) Without further action or formality, Collateral Agent shall be deemed to have granted to such Pledgor all necessary consents relating to voting rights and
shall, if necessary, upon written request of such Pledgor and at the sole cost and expense of the Pledgors, from time to time execute and deliver (or cause to be executed
and delivered) to such Pledgor all such instruments as such Pledgor may reasonably request to permit such Pledgor to exercise the voting and other rights that it is entitled
to exercise pursuant to Section 4.08(c)(i) and to receive the Distributions that it is authorized to receive and retain pursuant to Section 4.08(c)(ii).

               (d) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default (and once Borrower or any Pledgor has received written notice relating to such Event of
Default from Collateral Agent):

               (i) All rights of such Pledgor to exercise the voting and other consensual rights it would otherwise be entitled to exercise pursuant to Section 4.08(c)(i) without
any action or the giving of any notice shall cease, and all such rights shall thereupon become vested in Collateral Agent, which shall thereupon have the sole right to
exercise such voting and other consensual rights; and

               (ii) All rights of such Pledgor to receive Distributions that it would otherwise be authorized to receive and retain pursuant to Section 4.08(c)(ii) shall cease and all
such rights shall thereupon become vested in Collateral Agent, who shall thereupon have the sole right to receive and hold as Security Agreement Collateral such
Distributions;

provided that, the rights described in clauses (i) and (ii) above shall revert back to such Pledgor following the cure or waiver of such Event of Default.

               (e) Such Pledgor shall, at its sole cost and expense, from time to time execute and deliver to Collateral Agent appropriate instruments as Collateral Agent may
request to permit Collateral Agent to exercise the voting and other rights that it may be entitled to exercise pursuant to Section 4.08(d)(i) and to receive all Distributions that it
may be entitled to receive under Section 4.08(d)(ii).

               (f) All Distributions that are received by such Pledgor contrary to the provisions of Section 4.08(d)(ii) shall be received in trust for the benefit of Collateral Agent,
shall be segregated from other funds of such Pledgor and shall promptly be paid over to Collateral Agent as Security Agreement Collateral in the same form as so received
(with any necessary endorsement).

          SECTION 4.09. Certain Provisions Concerning Intellectual Property.

               (a) Such Pledgor agrees that it will not, nor will it knowingly permit or authorize any of its licensees to, do any act, or omit to do any act, whereby any issued Patent
may become invalidated, dedicated to the public, or unenforceable, and agrees that it shall continue to mark any products covered by a Patent with the relevant Patent Number
or indication that such product is subject to a pending Patent application as necessary and sufficient to establish and preserve its maximum rights under applicable patent laws,
except where the failure to so mark would not be reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
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               (b) Such Pledgor (either itself or through its licensees or its sublicensees) will, for each material Trademark, (i) maintain such Trademark in full force free from any
claim of abandonment or invalidity for nonuse, (ii) not materially diminish the value of such Trademark or the goodwill associated therewith, (iii) display such Trademark
with notice of federal or foreign registration to the extent necessary and sufficient to establish and preserve its maximum rights under applicable law, except where the failure
to display with such notice would not be reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect, and (iv) not knowingly use or knowingly permit the use of such Trademark
in violation of any third party rights.

               (c) Such Pledgor (either itself or through licensees) will, for each work covered by a material Copyright, continue to publish, reproduce, display, adopt and distribute
the work with appropriate copyright notice as necessary and sufficient to establish and preserve its maximum rights under applicable copyright laws, except where the failure
to include notice would not be reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

               (d) Such Pledgor shall notify Collateral Agent promptly if it knows or has reason to know that any Intellectual Property material to such Pledgor’s business (whether
individually or in the aggregate) may become, or knows of circumstances that would cause any such Intellectual Property to become: (i) abandoned, lost or dedicated to the
public; (ii) invalid or unenforceable; or (iii) subject to any adverse determination or development regarding such Pledgor’s ownership of any Intellectual Property, its right to
register the same, or to keep and maintain the same.

               (e) Such Pledgor will take all reasonable steps in the United States Patent and Trademark Office, United States Copyright Office or any office or agency in any
political subdivision of the United States, Canada or in any other country, to maintain and pursue each application relating to the Intellectual Property (and to obtain the
relevant grant or registration) and to maintain each issued Patent and each registration of the Trademarks and Copyrights, including timely filings of applications for renewal,
affidavits of use, affidavits of incontestability and payment of maintenance fees, and to initiate opposition, interference and cancellation proceedings against third parties, in
each case where necessary for the operation of such Pledgor’s business as presently conducted and as contemplated by the Credit Agreement.

               (f) In the event that such Pledgor knows that any Security Agreement Collateral consisting of Intellectual Property material to the conduct of such Pledgor’s business
has been or is about to be infringed, misappropriated or diluted by a third party, such Pledgor promptly shall notify Collateral Agent and shall promptly sue for infringement,
misappropriation or dilution and to recover any and all damages for such infringement, misappropriation or dilution, or take such other actions as are appropriate under the
circumstances to protect such Security Agreement Collateral, except where the failure to so notify or take such actions would not be reasonably likely to result in a Material
Adverse Effect.

               (g) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, such Pledgor shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all requisite
consents or approvals by the licensor of each License to effect the assignment of all of such Pledgor’s right, title and interest thereunder to the Security Agreement Collateral
Agent or its designee.

               (h) Solely for the purpose of enabling Collateral Agent to exercise its rights and remedies upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, such Pledgor hereby grants to
Collateral Agent, to the extent assignable, an irrevocable, nonexclusive license (exercisable without payment of royalty or other compensation to such Pledgor) to use, license
or sublicense
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any of the Intellectual Property now owned or hereafter acquired by such Pledgor, wherever the same may be located, including in such license access to all media in which
any of the licensed items may be recorded or stored and to all computer programs used for the compilation or printout thereof.

               (i) It shall contemporaneously with the delivery of financial statements in accordance with Section 5.01(a) or (b) of the Credit Agreement report to Collateral Agent
(i) the filing of any application to register any Intellectual Property with the United States Patent and Trademark Office, the United States Copyright Office, or any state
registry or foreign counterpart of the foregoing (whether such application is filed by such Pledgor or through any agent, employee, licensee, or designee thereof); and (ii) the
registration of any Intellectual Property by any such office.

               (j) It shall, promptly upon the reasonable request of Collateral Agent, execute and deliver to Collateral Agent any document required to acknowledge, confirm,
register, record, or perfect Collateral Agent’s security interest granted hereunder in any part of the Intellectual Property, whether now owned or hereafter acquired.

               (k) Except with the prior consent of Collateral Agent or as permitted under the Credit Agreement, such Pledgor shall not execute any financing statement or other
document or instrument, and there will not be on file in any public office any effective financing statement or other document or instruments, except financing statements or
other documents or instruments filed or to be filed in favor of Collateral Agent or in respect of Permitted Liens, and such Pledgor shall not sell, assign, transfer, license, grant
any option in, or create any Lien, claim, security interest or other encumbrance on or with respect to the Intellectual Property, or suffer to exist any effective Lien, claim,
security interest or other encumbrance on or with respect to the Intellectual Property, except for the security interest created by and under this Security Agreement and
Permitted Liens as otherwise permitted by the Credit Agreement.

               (l) It shall hereafter use commercially reasonable efforts so as not to permit the inclusion in any contract to which it hereafter becomes a party of any provision that
would materially impair or prevent the creation of a security interest in, or the assignment of, such Pledgor’s rights and interests in any property included within the definitions
of any Intellectual Property acquired under such contracts.

          SECTION 4.10. Inspection and Verification. Collateral Agent or any representative designated by Collateral Agent shall have the same access and inspection rights
as granted to the Administrative Agent by the Companies pursuant to Section 5.07 of the Credit Agreement; provided that, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of
an Event of Default, Collateral Agent and its representatives shall at all times have the right to enter any premises of such Pledgor and inspect any property of such Pledgor
where any of the Security Agreement Collateral of such Pledgor is located for the purpose of inspecting the same, observing its use, protecting its interests therein, or
otherwise exercising the remedies provided under Article V. For the avoidance of doubt, in respect of Accounts or Security Agreement Collateral in the possession of any
third person, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, Collateral Agent or any designated representative shall have the right to contact such
account debtors or third persons in possession of such Security Agreement Collateral for verification purposes. Collateral Agent shall have the absolute right to share any
information it gains from such inspection or verification with any other Secured Party.
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          SECTION 4.11. Payment of Taxes; Contesting Liens; Claims. Such Pledgor represents and warrants that all Charges imposed on or assessed against the Security
Agreement Collateral have been paid and discharged except to the extent such Charges (a) constitute a Permitted Lien or a Lien not yet due and payable or (b) are being
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which such Pledgor shall have set aside on its books adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, such Pledgor may at its own expense contest the validity, amount or applicability of any Charges so long as the contest thereof shall satisfy the Contested
Collateral Lien Conditions. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 4.11, no contest of any such obligation may be pursued by such Pledgor if such contest
would expose Collateral Agent or any other Secured Party to any possible criminal liability.

          SECTION 4.12. Transfers and Other Liens. Such Pledgor shall not sell, convey, assign or otherwise dispose of, or grant any option with respect to, any of the
Security Agreement Collateral pledged by it hereunder except as permitted by the Credit Agreement. Such Pledgor shall not make or permit to be made an assignment for
security, pledge or hypothecation of the Security Agreement Collateral or shall grant any other Lien in respect of the Security Agreement Collateral, except as permitted by
Section 6.02 of the Credit Agreement.

          SECTION 4.13. Insurance. Such Pledgor, at its own expense, shall maintain or cause to be maintained, insurance covering physical loss or damage to the Inventory
and Equipment in accordance with Section 5.04 of the Credit Agreement. Such Pledgor irrevocably makes, constitutes and appoints Collateral Agent (and all officers,
employees or agents designated by Collateral Agent) as such Pledgor’s true and lawful agent (and attorney-in-fact) for the purposes, during the continuance of an Event of
Default, of making, settling and adjusting claims in respect of Security Agreement Collateral under policies of insurance, endorsing the name of such Pledgor on any check,
draft, instrument or other item of payment for the proceeds of such policies of insurance and for making all determinations and decisions with respect thereto. In the event that
such Pledgor at any time or times fails to obtain or maintain any of the policies of insurance required hereby or to pay any premium in whole or in part relating thereto,
Collateral Agent may, without waiving or releasing any obligation or liability of any Pledgor hereunder or any Event of Default, in its sole discretion, obtain and maintain
such policies of insurance and pay such premium and take any other actions with respect thereto as Collateral Agent deems advisable. All sums disbursed by Collateral Agent
in connection with this Section 4.13, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, court costs, expenses and other charges relating thereto, shall be payable, upon demand, by the
Pledgors to Collateral Agent and shall be additional Secured Obligations.

ARTICLE V

Remedies

          SECTION 5.01. Remedies. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, Collateral Agent may from time to time exercise in respect of the
Security Agreement Collateral, in addition to the other rights and remedies provided for herein or otherwise available to it:

               (a) Personally, or by agents or attorneys, immediately take possession of the Security Agreement Collateral or any part thereof, from any Pledgor or any other person
who then has possession of any part thereof with or without notice or process of law, and for that
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purpose may enter on any Pledgor’s premises where any of the Security Agreement Collateral is located, remove such Security Agreement Collateral, remain present at such
premises to receive copies of all communications and remittances relating to the Security Agreement Collateral and use in connection with such removal and possession any
and all services, supplies, aids and other facilities of any Pledgor;

               (b) Demand, sue for, collect or receive any money or property at any time payable or receivable in respect of the Security Agreement Collateral including instructing
the obligor or obligors on any agreement, instrument or other obligation constituting part of the Security Agreement Collateral to make any payment required by the terms of
such agreement, instrument or other obligation directly to Collateral Agent, and in connection with any of the foregoing, compromise, settle, extend the time for payment and
make other modifications with respect thereto; provided that, in the event that any such payments are made directly to any Pledgor, prior to receipt by any such obligor of such
instruction, such Pledgor shall segregate all amounts received pursuant thereto in trust for the benefit of Collateral Agent and shall promptly (but in no event later than one
Business Day after receipt thereof) pay such amounts into the Collateral Account;

               (c) Sell, assign, grant a license to use or otherwise liquidate, or direct any Pledgor to sell, assign, grant a license to use or otherwise liquidate, any and all investments
made in whole or in part with the Security Agreement Collateral or any part thereof, and take possession of the proceeds of any such sale, assignment, license or liquidation;

               (d) Take possession of the Security Agreement Collateral or any part thereof by directing any Pledgor in writing to deliver the same to Collateral Agent at any place
or places so designated by Collateral Agent, in which event such Pledgor shall at its own expense: (i) forthwith cause the same to be moved to the place or places designated
by Collateral Agent and there delivered to Collateral Agent, (ii) store and keep any Security Agreement Collateral so delivered to Collateral Agent at such place or places
pending further action by Collateral Agent and (iii) while the Security Agreement Collateral shall be so stored and kept, provide such security and maintenance services as
shall be necessary to protect the same and to preserve and maintain them in good condition. Each Pledgor’s obligation to deliver the Security Agreement Collateral as
contemplated in this Section 5.01(d) is of the essence hereof. Upon application to a court of equity having jurisdiction, Collateral Agent shall be entitled to a decree requiring
specific performance by any Pledgor of such obligation;

               (e) Withdraw all moneys, instruments, securities and other property in any bank, financial securities, deposit or other account of any Pledgor constituting Security
Agreement Collateral for application to the Secured Obligations as provided in Article IX of the Credit Agreement;

               (f) Retain and apply the Distributions to the Secured Obligations as provided in the Credit Agreement;

               (g) Exercise any and all rights as beneficial and legal owner of the Security Agreement Collateral, including perfecting assignment of and exercising any and all
voting, consensual and other rights and powers with respect to any Security Agreement Collateral; and

               (h) All the rights and remedies of a secured party on default under the UCC, and Collateral Agent may also in its sole discretion, without notice except as specified in
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Section 5.02, sell, assign or grant a license to use the Security Agreement Collateral or any part thereof in one or more parcels at public or private sale, at any exchange,
broker’s board or at any of Collateral Agent’s offices or elsewhere, for cash, on credit or for future delivery, and at such price or prices and on such other terms as Collateral
Agent deems commercially reasonable. Collateral Agent or any other Secured Party or any of their respective Affiliates may be the purchaser, licensee, assignee or recipient
of any or all of the Security Agreement Collateral at any such sale and shall be entitled, for the purpose of bidding and making settlement or payment of the purchase price for
all or any portion of the Security Agreement Collateral sold, assigned or licensed at such sale, to use and apply any of the Secured Obligations owed to such person as a credit
on account of the purchase price of any Security Agreement Collateral payable by such person at such sale. Each purchaser, assignee, licensee or recipient at any such sale
shall acquire the property sold, assigned or licensed absolutely free from any claim or right on the part of any Pledgor, and each Pledgor hereby waives, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, all rights of redemption, stay and appraisal that it now has or may at any time in the future have under any rule of law or statute now existing or hereafter
enacted. Collateral Agent shall not be obligated to make any sale of Security Agreement Collateral regardless of notice of sale having been given. Collateral Agent may
adjourn any public or private sale from time to time by announcement at the time and place fixed therefor, and such sale may, without further notice, be made at the time and
place to which it was so adjourned. Each Pledgor hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any claims against Collateral Agent arising by reason of the fact that
the price at which any Security Agreement Collateral may have been sold, assigned or licensed at such a private sale was less than the price that might have been obtained at a
public sale, even if Collateral Agent accepts the first offer received and does not offer such Security Agreement Collateral to more than one offeree.

               (i) Upon the written demand of Collateral Agent, each Pledgor shall execute and deliver to Collateral Agent an assignment or assignments of the registered
Intellectual Property and such other documents as are necessary or appropriate to carry out the intent and purposes hereof.

          SECTION 5.02. Notice of Sale. Each Pledgor acknowledges and agrees that, to the extent notice of sale shall be required by law, ten days’ notice to such Pledgor of the
time and place of any public sale or of the time after which any private sale or other intended disposition is to take place shall be commercially reasonable notification of such
matters. No notification need be given to any Pledgor if it has signed, during the occurrence of an Event of Default, a statement renouncing or modifying any right to
notification of sale or other intended disposition.

          SECTION 5.03. Waiver of Notice and Claims. Each Pledgor hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, notice or judicial hearing in connection
with Collateral Agent’s taking possession or Collateral Agent’s disposition of any of the Security Agreement Collateral, including any and all prior notice and hearing for any
prejudgment remedy or remedies and any such right that such Pledgor would otherwise have under law, and each Pledgor hereby further waives, to the fullest extent
permitted by applicable law: (a) all damages occasioned by such taking of possession, (b) all other requirements as to the time, place and terms of sale or other requirements
with respect to the enforcement of Collateral Agent’s rights hereunder and (c) all rights of redemption, appraisal, valuation, stay, extension and moratorium now or hereafter in
force under any applicable law. Collateral Agent shall not be liable for any incorrect or improper payment made pursuant to this Article V in the absence of gross negligence
or willful misconduct. Any sale of, or the grant of options to purchase, or any other realization on, any Security Agreement Collateral shall operate to divest all right, title,
interest, claim and
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demand, either at law or in equity, of the applicable Pledgor therein and thereto, and shall be a perpetual bar both at law and in equity against such Pledgor and against any
and all persons claiming or attempting to claim the Security Agreement Collateral so sold, optioned or realized on, or any part thereof, from, through or under such Pledgor.

          SECTION 5.04. Certain Sales of Security Agreement Collateral. Each Pledgor recognizes that, by reason of certain prohibitions contained in the Securities Act, and
applicable state securities laws, Collateral Agent may be compelled, with respect to any sale of all or any part of the Securities Collateral, to limit purchasers to persons who
will agree, among other things, to acquire such Securities Collateral for their own account, for investment and not with a view to the distribution or resale thereof. Each
Pledgor acknowledges that any such private sales may be at prices and on terms less favorable to Collateral Agent than those obtainable through a public sale without such
restrictions (including a public offering made pursuant to a registration statement under the Securities Act), and, notwithstanding such circumstances, agrees that any such
private sale shall be deemed to have been made in a commercially reasonable manner and that Collateral Agent shall have no obligation to engage in public sales and no
obligation to delay the sale of any Securities Collateral for the period of time necessary to permit the issuer thereof to register it for a form of public sale requiring registration
under the Securities Act or under applicable state securities laws, even if such issuer would agree to do so.

          SECTION 5.05. No Waiver; Cumulative Remedies.

               (a) No failure on the part of Collateral Agent to exercise, no course of dealing with respect to, and no delay on the part of Collateral Agent in exercising, any right,
power or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right, power or remedy hereunder preclude any other or
further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy; nor shall Collateral Agent be required to look first to, enforce or exhaust any other security,
collateral or guarantees. The remedies herein provided are cumulative and are not exclusive of any remedies provided by law.

               (b) In the event that Collateral Agent shall have instituted any proceeding to enforce any right, power or remedy under this Agreement by foreclosure, sale, entry or
otherwise, and such proceeding shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason or shall have been determined adversely to Collateral Agent, then and in every such
case, the Pledgors, Collateral Agent and each other Secured Party shall be restored to their respective former positions and rights hereunder with respect to the Security
Agreement Collateral, and all rights, remedies and powers of Collateral Agent and the other Secured Parties shall continue as if no such proceeding had been instituted.

ARTICLE VI

Obligations Absolute; Waivers

          SECTION 6.01. Liability of the Pledgors Absolute. Each Pledgor agrees that its obligations hereunder are irrevocable, absolute, independent, unconditional, and shall
not be affected by any circumstance that constitutes a legal or equitable discharge of a pledgor or surety, except for payment in full of the Secured Obligations. In furtherance
of the foregoing and without limiting the generality thereof, each Pledgor agrees as follows:
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               (a) the obligations of each Pledgor hereunder are independent of the obligations of each other Pledgor and each guarantor of the obligations of the Loan Parties, and
separate actions may be brought and prosecuted against such Pledgor whether or not any action is brought against any other Pledgor or guarantor, and whether or not such
other Pledgor or guarantor is joined in any such actions;

               (b) payment by any Loan Party of a portion of the Secured Obligations shall in no way limit, affect, modify or abridge such Pledgor’s grant hereunder securing any
portion of the Secured Obligations that has not been paid. By way of example and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, if Collateral Agent is awarded a judgment
in any suit brought to enforce any Loan Party’s covenant to pay a portion of the Secured Obligations, such judgment shall not be deemed to release such Pledgor from its
grant hereunder securing the portion of the Secured Obligations that is not the subject of such suit, and such judgment shall not, except to the extent satisfied by such Pledgor,
limit, affect, modify or abridge any other Pledgor’s grant hereunder securing the Secured Obligations;

               (c) upon such terms as Collateral Agent deems appropriate, without obligation to give notice or demand, without affecting the validity or enforceability hereof, and
without giving rise to any reduction, limitation, impairment, discharge or termination of the security interests granted hereunder or such Pledgor’s liability hereunder,
Collateral Agent may, from time to time, (i) renew, extend, accelerate, increase the rate of interest on, or otherwise change the time, place and manner or terms of payment of
any of the Secured Obligations in accordance with the terms of the other Loan Documents; (ii) settle, compromise, release or discharge, or accept or refuse any offer of
performance with respect to, or substitutions for, any of the Secured Obligations or any agreement relating thereto, or subordinate the payment of the same to the payment of
any other obligations; (iii) request and accept other pledges as security for any of the Secured Obligations, and take and hold security for the payment hereof or any of the
Secured Obligations; (iv) release, surrender, exchange, substitute, compromise, settle, rescind, waive, alter, subordinate or modify, with or without consideration, any security
for payment of any of the Secured Obligations, any guarantees of any of the Secured Obligations, or any other obligation of any person (including any other Pledgor) with
respect to any of the Secured Obligations; (v) enforce and apply any security now or hereafter held by it in respect hereof or any of the Secured Obligations, and direct the
order or manner of sale thereof, or exercise any other right or remedy that it may have against any such security, including foreclosure on any such security in accordance with
one or more judicial or nonjudicial sales, whether or not every aspect of any such sale is economically reasonable, and even though such action operates to impair or
extinguish any right of reimbursement or subrogation or other right or remedy of any Pledgor against any other Loan Party, or any security for any of the Secured Obligations;
and (vi) exercise any other rights available to it under the Loan Documents; and

               (d) this Agreement and such Pledgor’s obligations hereunder shall be valid and enforceable, and shall not be subject to any reduction, limitation, impairment,
discharge or termination for any reason (other than payment in full of all the Secured Obligations), including the occurrence of any of the following (whether or not such
Pledgor shall have had notice or knowledge of any of them): (i) any failure or omission to assert or enforce, any agreement or election not to assert or enforce, or any stay or
enjoining by order of any court, by operation of law or otherwise, of the exercise or enforcement of any claim or demand, or any right, power or remedy (whether arising
under the Loan Documents, at law, in equity, or otherwise) with respect to the Secured Obligations or any agreement related thereto, or with respect to any other guarantee of
or security for the payment of the Secured Obligations; (ii) any rescission, waiver, amendment or modification of, or any consent to departure from, any of the
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terms or provisions (including provisions relating to events of default) hereof, any of the other Loan Documents, any agreement or instrument executed pursuant thereto, or
any guarantee or other security for the Secured Obligations or any agreement relating thereto at any time being found to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect;
(iv) the application of payments received form any source (other than payments received pursuant to the other Loan Documents or from the proceeds of any security for the
Secured Obligations, except to the extent such security also serves as collateral for Indebtedness other than the Secured Obligations); (v) consent of Collateral Agent or any
other Secured Party to the change, reorganization or termination of the corporate structure or existence of any Loan Party or any Subsidiary thereof, and to any corresponding
restructuring of the Secured Obligations; (vi) any failure to perfect or continue perfection of a security interest in any collateral that secures any of the Secured Obligations;
(vii) any defenses, set-offs or counterclaims that any Loan Party may allege or assert against Collateral Agent or any other Secured Party in respect of the Secured Obligations,
including failure of consideration, breach of warranty, payment, statute of frauds, statute of limitations, accord and satisfaction, and usury; and (viii) any other act, thing or
omission, or delay to do any other act or thing, that in any manner and to any extent may vary such Pledgor’s risk as a grantor of security securing the Secured Obligations.

          SECTION 6.02. General Waivers. Each Pledgor hereby waives, for the benefit of Collateral Agent and the Secured Parties: (a) all rights to require Collateral Agent or
any other Secured Party, as a condition to exercising Collateral Agent’s rights hereunder against the Security Agreement Collateral, to (i) proceed against any other Loan
Party, any other pledgor (including any other Pledgor) of security securing any of the Secured Obligations, or any other person, (ii) proceed against or exhaust any security
held from any other Loan Party, any such other pledgor or any other person, (iii) proceed against or have resort to any balance of any Deposit Account or credit on the books
of Collateral Agent or any other Secured Party in favor of any other Loan Party or any other person, or (iv) pursue any other remedy whatsoever in the capacity of secured
party; (b) any defense arising by reason of incapacity, lack of authority, or any disability or other defenses of any other Loan Party, including any defense based on or arising
from the lack of validity or enforceability of any of the Secured Obligations or any agreement or instrument relating thereto, or by reason of the cessation of the liability of any
other Loan Party from any cause other than the payment in full of all the Secured Obligations; (c) any defense based on any statute or rule of law that provides that the
obligation of a surety must be neither larger in amount nor in other respects more burdensome than that of the principal; (d) any defense based on errors or omissions by
Collateral Agent or any other Secured Party in the administration of any of the Secured Obligations, except behavior that amounts to bad faith, gross negligence or willful
misconduct; (e) any principles or provisions of law, statutory or otherwise, that are or may be in conflict with the terms hereof, and any legal or equitable discharge of such
Pledgor’s obligations hereunder; (f) the benefit of any statute of limitations affecting such Pledgor’s counterclaims; (g) promptness, diligence and any requirement that
Collateral Agent or any other Secured Party protect, secure, perfect or insure any security interest or Lien or any property subject thereto; (h) notices, demands, presentments,
protests, notices of protest, notices of dishonor and notices of any action or inaction, including acceptance hereof, notices of default hereunder, notices of any renewal,
extension or modification of any of the Secured Obligations or any agreement related thereto, notices of any extension of credit to any other Loan party and notices of any of
the matters referred to in Section 6.01, and any right to consent to any thereof; and (i) any defenses or benefits that may be derived from or afforded by law that limit the
liability of or exonerate pledgors or sureties, or that may conflict with the terms hereof.

          SECTION 6.03. California Waivers. For purposes of this Section 6.03 only, references to the “principal” include each Loan Party and references to the “creditor”
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include each Secured Party. In accordance with Section 2856 of the California Civil Code, each Pledgor waives all rights and defenses (i) available to such Pledgor by reason
of Sections 2787 through 2855, 2899, and 3433 of the California Civil Code, including all rights or defenses such Pledgor may have by reason of protection afforded to the
principal with respect to any of the Secured Obligations, or to any other person liable for any of the Secured Obligations, in either case in accordance with the antideficiency or
other laws of the State of California limiting or discharging the principal’s Indebtedness or such person’s obligations, including Sections 580a, 580b, 580d and 726 of the
California Code of Civil Procedure; and (ii) arising out of an election of remedies by the creditor, even though such election, such as a nonjudicial foreclosure with respect to
security for any Secured Obligation (or any obligation of any other person of any of the Secured Obligations), has destroyed such Pledgor’s right of subrogation and
reimbursement against the principal (or such other person), by operation of Section 580d of the California Code of Civil Procedure or otherwise. No other provision of this
Agreement shall be construed as limiting the generality of any of the covenants and waivers set forth in this Section 6.03. As provided below, this Agreement shall be
governed by, and shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York. This Section 6.03 is included solely out of an abundance of caution,
and shall not be construed to mean that any of the above-referenced provisions of California law are in any way applicable to this Agreement or to any of the Secured
Obligations.

ARTICLE VII

Miscellaneous

          SECTION 7.01. Concerning Collateral Agent.

               (a) Collateral Agent has been appointed as Collateral Agent pursuant to Article X of the Credit Agreement. The actions of Collateral Agent hereunder are subject to
the provisions of the Credit Agreement. Collateral Agent shall have the right hereunder to make demands, to give notices, to exercise or refrain from exercising any rights, and
to take or refrain from taking action (including the release or substitution of the Security Agreement Collateral), in accordance with this Agreement and the Credit Agreement.
Collateral Agent may employ agents and attorneys-in-fact in connection herewith. Collateral Agent may resign and a successor Collateral Agent may be appointed in the
manner provided in the Credit Agreement. Upon the acceptance of any appointment as Collateral Agent by a successor Collateral Agent, that successor Collateral Agent shall
thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Collateral Agent under this Agreement, and the retiring Collateral
Agent shall thereupon be discharged from its duties and obligations under this Agreement. After any retiring Collateral Agent’s resignation, the provisions hereof shall inure
to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it under this Agreement while it was Collateral Agent.

               (b) Collateral Agent shall be deemed to have exercised reasonable care in the custody and preservation of the Security Agreement Collateral in its possession if such
Security Agreement Collateral is accorded treatment substantially equivalent to that which Collateral Agent, in its individual capacity, accords its own property consisting of
similar instruments or interests, it being understood that neither Collateral Agent nor any of the Secured Parties shall have responsibility for (i) ascertaining or taking action
with respect to calls, conversions, exchanges, maturities, tenders or other matters relating to any Securities Collateral, whether or not Collateral Agent or any other Secured
Party has or is deemed to have knowledge
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of such matters, or (ii) taking any necessary steps to preserve rights against any person with respect to any Security Agreement Collateral.

               (c) Collateral Agent shall be entitled to rely on any written notice, statement, certificate, order or other document or any telephone message believed by it to be
genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or made by the proper person, and, with respect to all matters pertaining to this Agreement and its duties hereunder, on
advice of counsel selected by it.

               (d) With respect to any of its rights and obligations as a Lender, Collateral Agent shall have and may exercise the same rights and powers hereunder. The term
“Lenders,” “Lender” or any similar terms shall, unless the context clearly otherwise indicates, include Collateral Agent in its individual capacity as a Lender. Collateral Agent
may accept deposits from, lend money to, and generally engage in any kind of banking, trust or other business with such Pledgor or any Affiliate of such Pledgor to the same
extent as if Collateral Agent were not acting as Collateral Agent.

               (e) If any item of Security Agreement Collateral also constitutes collateral granted to Collateral Agent under any other security agreement, pledge or instrument of
any type, in the event of any conflict between the provisions hereof and the provisions of such other deed of trust, mortgage, security agreement, pledge or instrument of any
type in respect of such collateral, Collateral Agent, in its sole discretion, shall select which provision or provisions shall control.

          SECTION 7.02. Collateral Agent May Perform; Collateral Agent Appointed Attorney-in-Fact. If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing,
Collateral Agent may (but shall not be obligated to) remedy or cause to be remedied any such breach, and may expend funds for such purpose; provided that, Collateral Agent
shall in no event be bound to inquire into the validity of any tax, lien, imposition or other obligation that such Pledgor fails to pay or perform as and when required hereby and
that such Pledgor does not contest in accordance with the provision of Section 6.02 of the Credit Agreement. Any and all amounts so expended by Collateral Agent shall be
paid by the Pledgors in accordance with the provisions of Section 7.03. Neither the provisions of this Section 7.02 nor any action taken by Collateral Agent pursuant to the
provisions of this Section 7.02 shall prevent any such failure by any Pledgor to observe any covenant contained in this Agreement nor any breach of warranty from
constituting an Event of Default. Each Pledgor hereby appoints Collateral Agent its attorney-in-fact, with full authority in the place and stead of such Pledgor and in the name
of such Pledgor, or otherwise, from time to time during the continuance of an Event of Default in Collateral Agent’s discretion to take any action and to execute any
instrument consistent with the terms hereof and the other Loan Documents that Collateral Agent may deem necessary or advisable to accomplish the purposes hereof. The
foregoing grant of authority is an irrevocable power of attorney coupled with an interest and such appointment shall be irrevocable for the term hereof. Each Pledgor hereby
ratifies all that such attorney shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

          SECTION 7.03. Expenses. Each Pledgor will promptly pay to Collateral Agent the amount of any and all costs and expenses, including the reasonable fees and
expenses of its counsel and the fees and expenses of any experts and agents, that Collateral Agent may incur in connection with this Agreement, including all costs and
expenses relating to (a) any and all filings and other actions taken to ensure the attachment, perfection and priority of, and the ability of Collateral Agent to enforce, Collateral
Agent’s security interest in the Security
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Agreement Collateral; (b) any action, suit or other proceeding affecting the Security Agreement Collateral or any part thereof commenced, in which action, suit or proceeding
Collateral Agent is made a party or participates or in which the right to use the Security Agreement Collateral or any part thereof is threatened, or in which it becomes
necessary in the judgment of Collateral Agent to defend or uphold the Lien hereof (including any action, suit or proceeding to establish or uphold the compliance of the
Security Agreement Collateral with any requirements of any Governmental Authority or law); (c) the collection of the Secured Obligations; (d) the enforcement and
administration hereof; (e) the custody or preservation of, or the sale of, collection from, or other realization on, any of the Security Agreement Collateral; (f) the exercise or
enforcement of any of the rights of Collateral Agent or any Secured Party hereunder; or (g) the failure by any Pledgor to perform or observe any of the provisions hereof. All
amounts expended by Collateral Agent and payable by any Pledgor under this Section 7.03 shall be due upon demand therefor (together with interest thereon accruing at the
default rate during the period from and including the date on which such funds were so expended to the date of repayment) and shall be part of the Secured Obligations. Each
Pledgor’s obligations under this Section 7.03 shall survive the termination hereof and the discharge of such Pledgor’s other obligations under this Agreement, the Credit
Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

          SECTION 7.04. Indemnity.

               (a) Indemnity. Each Pledgor agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Collateral Agent and each of the other Secured Parties, and the officers, directors,
employees, agents and Affiliates of Collateral Agent and each of the other Secured Parties (collectively, the “Indemnitees”) from and against any and all liabilities,
obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, claims, costs (including settlement costs), expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever
(including the fees and disbursements of counsel for such Indemnitees in connection with any investigative, administrative or judicial proceeding, commenced or threatened,
whether or not such Indemnitee shall be designated a party thereto) that may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against that Indemnitee, in any manner relating to or
arising out of this Agreement or any other Loan Document (including any misrepresentation by any Pledgor in this Agreement or any other Loan Document) (the
“Indemnified Liabilities”); provided that, no Pledgor shall have any obligation to an Indemnitee hereunder with respect to Indemnified Liabilities if it has been determined
by a final decision of a court of competent jurisdiction that such Indemnified Liabilities arose from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of that Indemnitee. To the
extent that the undertaking to indemnify, pay and hold harmless set forth in the preceding sentence may be unenforceable because it is violative of any law or public policy,
each Pledgor shall contribute the maximum portion that it is permitted to pay and satisfy under applicable law to the payment and satisfaction of all Indemnified Liabilities
incurred by the Indemnitees or any of them.

               (b) Survival. The obligations of the Pledgors contained in this Section 7.04 shall survive the termination hereof and the discharge of the Pledgors’ other obligations
under this Agreement, any Hedging Agreement and under the other Loan Documents.

               (c) Reimbursement. Any amounts paid by any Indemnitee as to which such Indemnitee has the right to reimbursement shall constitute Secured Obligations secured
by the Security Agreement Collateral.

          SECTION 7.05. Continuing Security Interest; Assignment. This Agreement shall create a continuing security interest in the Security Agreement Collateral and shall
(a) remain in full force and effect until the payment in full of all Secured Obligations, (b) be
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binding on the Pledgors, their respective successors and assigns, and (b) inure, together with the rights and remedies of the Lender hereunder, to the benefit of Collateral Agent
and the other Secured Parties and each of their respective permitted successors, transferees and assigns. No other persons (including any other creditor of any Pledgor) shall
have any interest herein or any right or benefit with respect hereto. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing clause (b), any Secured Party may assign or otherwise
transfer any Indebtedness held by it that is secured by this Agreement to any other person, and such other person shall thereupon become vested with all the benefits in respect
thereof granted to such Secured Party, herein or otherwise, subject however, to the provisions of the other Loan Documents and any Hedging Agreement to which such
Secured Party is a party.

          SECTION 7.06. Termination; Release. Upon payment in full of all the Secured Obligations, or upon any partial release of Security Agreement Collateral in
accordance with the other Loan Documents, the security interests granted hereby shall terminate hereunder and of record, and all rights to the Security Agreement Collateral
shall revert to the Pledgors, it being understood that in the case any such partial release, the security interests granted hereby shall terminate hereunder and of record only with
respect to such Security Agreement Collateral subject to such partial release. Upon any such termination, Collateral Agent shall, at the Pledgors’ expense, execute and deliver
to the Pledgors such documents, and take such other actions, as the Pledgors reasonably request to evidence such termination.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Collateral Agent and the other Secured Parties agree to cooperate with each Pledgor with respect to any sale of
Security Agreement Collateral permitted by Section 6.04 of the Credit Agreement and promptly take such action and execute and deliver such instruments and documents
necessary to release the Liens and security interests created hereby relating to any of the assets or property affected by any sale of Security Agreement Collateral permitted by
Section 6.04 of the Credit Agreement (including, without limitation, any necessary Uniform Commercial Code amendment, termination or partial termination statement).

          SECTION 7.07. Modification in Writing. No amendment, modification, supplement, termination or waiver of or to any provision hereof, nor consent to any departure
by any Pledgor therefrom, shall be effective unless the same shall be made in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement and unless in writing and signed by
Collateral Agent. Any amendment, modification or supplement of or to any provision hereof, any waiver of any provision hereof and any consent to any departure by any
Pledgor from the terms of any provision hereof shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which made or given. Except where notice is
specifically required by this Agreement or any other document evidencing the Secured Obligations, no notice to or demand on any Pledgor in any case shall entitle any
Pledgor to any other or further notice or demand in similar or other circumstances.

          SECTION 7.08. Notices. Unless otherwise provided herein or in the Credit Agreement, any notice or other communication herein required or permitted to be given
shall be given in the manner and become effective as set forth in the Credit Agreement, if to any Pledgor, addressed to it at the address of Borrower set forth in the Credit
Agreement, and if to Collateral Agent, addressed to it at the address set forth in the Credit Agreement, or in each case at such other address as shall be designated by such
party in a written notice to the other party complying as to delivery with the terms of this Section 7.08.
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          SECTION 7.09. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process.

               (a) THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND GOVERNED BY THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
(INCLUDING SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK), EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT, IN
ACCORDANCE WITH CHOICE-OF-LAW PRINCIPLES, THAT THE PERFECTION OF THE SECURITY INTERESTS GRANTED HEREUNDER, OR REMEDIES
HEREUNDER IN RESPECT OF ANY ITEM OR TYPE OF SECURITY AGREEMENT COLLATERAL ARE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF A JURISDICTION
OTHER THAN THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

               (b) Each Pledgor hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of the State of
New York sitting in New York County and of the United States District Court of the Southern District of New York, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or
proceeding arising out of or relating to any Loan Document, or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment, and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and
unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such New York State or, to the extent permitted by law, in
such federal court. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by
suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Nothing in this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall affect any right that Collateral Agent or any other
Secured Party may otherwise have to bring any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document against any Pledgor or its properties in the courts
of any jurisdiction.

               (c) Each Pledgor hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any objection that it may now or hereafter
have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement in any court referred to in Section 7.09(b). Each of the parties hereto
hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court.

               (d) Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in the manner provided for notices in Section 7.08. Nothing in this Agreement will affect
the right of any party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.

          SECTION 7.10. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE
LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO
THIS AGREEMENT, OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH
PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR
OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND
(B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER
THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 7.10.
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          SECTION 7.11. Severability of Provisions. Any provision hereof that is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to
the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other
jurisdiction.

          SECTION 7.12. Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement and any amendments, waivers, consents or supplements hereto may be executed in any number of
counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts
together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

          SECTION 7.13. Business Days. In the event any time period or any date provided in this Agreement ends or falls on a day other than a Business Day, then such time
period shall be deemed to end and such date shall be deemed to fall on the next succeeding Business Day, and performance herein may be made on such Business Day, with
the same force and effect as if made on such other day.

          SECTION 7.14. No Credit for Payment of Taxes or Imposition. Each Pledgor shall not be entitled to any credit against the principal, premium (if any), or interest
payable under the Credit Agreement, and such Pledgor shall not be entitled to any credit against any other sums that may become payable under the terms thereof or hereof,
by reason of the payment of any Tax on the Security Agreement Collateral or any part thereof.

          SECTION 7.15. No Claims Against Collateral Agent. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall constitute any consent or request by Collateral Agent, express or
implied, for the performance of any labor or services or the furnishing of any materials or other property in respect of the Security Agreement Collateral or any part thereof,
nor as giving any Pledgor any right, power or authority to contract for or permit the performance of any labor or services or the furnishing of any materials or other property in
such fashion as would permit the making of any claim against Collateral Agent in respect thereof or any claim that any Lien based on the performance of such labor or
services or the furnishing of any such materials or other property is prior to the Lien hereof.

          SECTION 7.16. No Release Under Agreements; No Liability of Collateral Agent or Secured Parties. Nothing set forth in this Agreement shall relieve the Pledgor
from the performance of any term, covenant, condition or agreement on the Pledgor’s part to be performed or observed under or in respect of any of the Security Agreement
Collateral, or from any liability to any person under or in respect of any of the Security Agreement Collateral, or shall impose any obligation on Collateral Agent or any other
Secured Party to perform or observe any such term, covenant, condition or agreement on the Pledgor’s part to be so performed or observed, or shall impose any liability on
Collateral Agent or any other Secured Party for any act or omission on the part of the Pledgor relating thereto or for any breach of any Hedging Agreement, any representation
or warranty on the part of the Pledgor contained in this Agreement, Credit Agreement or the other Security Documents, or under or in respect of the Security Agreement
Collateral or made in connection herewith or therewith. The obligations of the Pledgor contained in this Section 7.16 shall survive the termination hereof and the discharge of
the Pledgor’s other obligations under this Agreement, the Credit Agreement, any Hedging Agreement and the other Security Documents.
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          SECTION 7.17. Obligations Absolute. Subject to Section 7.09 of the Credit Agreement, all obligations of each Pledgor hereunder shall be absolute and unconditional
irrespective of:

               (a) any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, readjustment, composition, liquidation or the like of any Pledgor or any other Loan Party;

               (b) any lack of validity or enforceability of the Credit Agreement, any Hedging Agreement or any other Loan Document, or any other agreement or instrument
relating thereto;

               (c) any change in the time, manner or place of payment of, or in any other term of, all or any of the Secured Obligations, or any other amendment or waiver of or any
consent to any departure from the Credit Agreement, any other Loan Document, any Hedging Agreement or any other agreement or instrument relating thereto;

               (d) any pledge, exchange, release or nonperfection of any other collateral, or any release or amendment or waiver of or consent to any departure from any guarantee,
for all or any of the Secured Obligations, except to the extent that any such amendment, waiver or consent expressly relieves such Pledgor of any obligations;

               (e) any exercise, nonexercise or waiver of any right, remedy, power or privilege under or in respect hereof, the Credit Agreement, any Hedging Agreement or any
other Loan Document except as specifically set forth in a waiver granted pursuant to the provisions of Section 5.03; or

               (f) any other circumstances that might otherwise constitute a defense available to, or a discharge of, any Pledgor.

          SECTION 7.18. Marshaling; Payments Set Aside. Collateral Agent shall not be under any obligation to marshal any assets in favor of any Pledgor or any other
person or against or in payment of ay or all of the Secured Obligations.

          SECTION 7.19. Release of Pledgors. If any Pledgor is released from its Guarantee in accordance with the provisions of the Credit Agreement, then Collateral Agent
shall (at the expense of Borrower) take all action necessary to release its security interest in that portion of the Security Agreement Collateral owned by such Pledgor, and
shall release such Pledgor from its obligations hereunder (other than obligations intended to survive the termination hereof), in each case subject to and in accordance with
Section 7.09 of the Credit Agreement.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Pledgors and Collateral Agent have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered by their duly authorized officers as of the
date first above written.
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL, INC.,   
  a Nevada corporation, as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  WH CAPITAL CORPORATION,   
  a Nevada corporation, as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL OF AMERICA, INC.,   
  a Nevada corporation, as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL OF EUROPE, INC.,   
  a California corporation, as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNICATIONS, INC.,   
  a California corporation, as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
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  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL DISTRIBUTION, INC.,   
  a California corporation, as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE TAIWAN, INC.,   
  a California corporation, as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL (THAILAND), LTD.,   
  a California corporation, as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL DO BRASIL LTDA.,   
  a corporation dually organized in Brazil and Delaware,   
  as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   

Security Agreement

 



 

       
  HERBALIFE LTD.,   
  a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability,   
  as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  WH INTERMEDIATE HOLDINGS LTD.,   
  a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability,   
  as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HBL LTD.,   
  a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability,   
  as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HV HOLDINGS LTD.,   
  a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability,   
  as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE DISTRIBUTION LTD.,   
  a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability,   
  as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   

Security Agreement

 



 

       
  WH LUXEMBOURG HOLDINGS S.à.R.L.,   
  a Luxembourg corporation, as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HLF LUXEMBOURG HOLDINGS S.à R.L.,   
  a Luxembourg corporation, as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  WH LUXEMBOURG INTERMEDIATE HOLDINGS S.à.R.L.,   
  a Luxembourg corporation, as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE INTERNATIONAL LUXEMBOURG S.à.R.L.,   
  a Luxembourg corporation, as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
       
  HERBALIFE LUXEMBOURG DISTRIBUTION S.à.R.L.,   
  a Luxembourg corporation, as a Pledgor   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   

Security Agreement

 



 

       
  MERRILL LYNCH CAPITAL CORPORATION,   
  as Collateral Agent   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   

Security Agreement

 



 

EXHIBIT A

Form of
ISSUER ACKNOWLEDGMENT

          The undersigned hereby (a) acknowledges receipt of a copy of that certain security agreement (as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time, the “Security Agreement”; capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Security
Agreement), dated as of July 21, 2006, among Herbalife International, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Borrower”), the Guarantors (defined therein), and Merrill Lynch Capital
Corporation, as collateral agent (in such capacity and together with any successors in such capacity, “Collateral Agent”); (b) agrees promptly to note on its books the security
interests granted to Collateral Agent and confirmed under the Security Agreement; (c) agrees that it will comply with Collateral Agent’s instructions with respect to the
applicable Securities Collateral without further consent by the applicable Pledgor; (d) agrees to notify Collateral Agent upon obtaining knowledge of any interest in favor of
any person in the applicable Securities Collateral that is adverse to the interest of Collateral Agent therein; and (e) waives any right or requirement at any time hereafter to
receive a copy of the Security Agreement in connection with the registration of any Securities Collateral thereunder in the name of Collateral Agent or its nominee or the
exercise of voting rights by Collateral Agent or its nominee.
       
  [NAME OF ISSUER]   
       
  By:     
    Name:   
    Title:   
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Exhibit 31.1

Section 302 Certification

I, Michael O. Johnson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Herbalife Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/  MICHAEL O. JOHNSON
Michael O. Johnson
Chief Executive Officer

Date: August 3, 2006
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Exhibit 31.2

Section 302 Certification

I, Richard Goudis, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Herbalife Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/  RICHARD GOUDIS
Richard Goudis
Chief Financial Officer

Date: August 3, 2006
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2006 of Herbalife Ltd. (the “Company”) as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “Commission”) on the date hereof (the “Report”) and pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, each of the undersigned officers of
the Company certifies that:

 • the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

 • the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/  MICHAEL O. JOHNSON
Michael O. Johnson
Chief Executive Officer

Date: August 3, 2006

/s/  RICHARD GOUDIS
Richard Goudis
Chief Financial Officer

Date: August 3, 2006

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Commission or its staff upon
request.
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